
 

Cabinet agenda 
Date: Tuesday 11 October 2022 

Time: 10.00 am 

Venue: The Oculus, Buckinghamshire Council, Gatehouse Road, Aylesbury HP19 8FF 

Membership: 

M Tett (Leader), Cllr A Macpherson (Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Health and 
Wellbeing), G Williams (Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Climate Change and 
Environment), S Bowles (Cabinet Member for Communities), S Broadbent (Cabinet Member 
for Transport), J Chilver (Cabinet Member for Accessible Housing and Resources), A Cranmer 
(Cabinet Member for Education and Children's Services), C Harriss (Cabinet Member for 
Culture and Leisure), P Strachan (Cabinet Member for Planning and Regeneration) and 
M Winn (Cabinet Member for Homelessness and Regulatory Services) 

Webcasting notice 

Please note: this meeting may be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the council's 
website. At the start of the meeting the chairman will confirm if all or part of the meeting is 
being filmed. 

You should be aware that the council is a data controller under the Data Protection Act. 
Data collected during this webcast will be retained in accordance with the council’s 
published policy. 

Therefore by entering the meeting room, you are consenting to being filmed and to the 
possible use of those images and sound recordings for webcasting and/or training purposes. 
If members of the public do not wish to have their image captured they should ask the 
committee clerk, who will advise where to sit. 

If you have any queries regarding this, please contact the monitoring officer at 
monitoringofficer@buckinghamshire.gov.uk. 

Agenda Item 
 

Page No 
 
1 Apologies  
    
2 Minutes 5 - 14 

mailto:monitoringofficer@buckinghamshire.gov.uk


 To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting held on 22 
September 2022. 
 

 

 
3 Declarations of interest  
    
4 Hot Topics  
    
5 Question Time  
     
6 Forward Plan (28 Day Notice) 15 - 30 
    
7 Select Committee Work Programme 31 - 42 
 For Cabinet to note the Select Committee Work Programme. 

 
 

 
8 Director of Public Health Annual Report 2021-2022: Hearts and Minds 43 - 124 
    
9 Safer Buckinghamshire Board Annual Report 2021/22 125 - 144 
    
10 Buckinghamshire Youth Justice Strategic Plan 2022-2023 145 - 176 
    
11 Little Marlow Lakes Country Park 177 - 194 
    
12 E-scooter trial extension (until May 2024) 195 - 218 
    
13 Cost of Living Support for Buckinghamshire Residents 219 - 230 
    
14 Climate Change & Air Quality Strategy 2021-22 Progress Report 231 - 288 
    
15 Children's Services Update 289 - 304 
    
16 Adult Social Care Update 305 - 318 
    
17 Exclusion of the public (if required)  
 To resolve that under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 

1972 the public be excluded from the meeting for the following item(s) 
of business on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of 
exempt information as defined in Part I of Schedule 12A of the Act. 
  

Paragraph 3 Information relating to the financial or business 
affairs of any particular  person (including 
the authority holding that information) 

  
 

 

 
18 Confidential Minutes of the meeting held on 22 September 2022 319 - 320 
    
19 Date of next meeting  
 15 November 2022 at 10am   



 
 
If you would like to attend a meeting, but need extra help to do so, for example because of 
a disability, please contact us as early as possible, so that we can try to put the right support 
in place. 

For further information please contact: Ian Hunt on 01296 382343, email 
democracy@buckinghamshire.gov.uk. 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Cabinet minutes 
Minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on Thursday 22 September 2022 in , 
commencing at 9.00 am and concluding at 10.30 am. 

Members present 

M Tett, Cllr A Macpherson, G Williams, S Bowles, S Broadbent, J Chilver, A Cranmer, 
C Harriss, P Strachan and M Winn 

Others in attendance 

D King, P Martin and R Stuchbury 

Agenda Item 
 
1 Apologies 
 There were none. 

  
2 Minutes 
 RESOLVED – 

  
That the Minutes of the meeting held on 12 July 2022 be approved as a correct 
record.  
  

3 Declarations of interest 
 There were none. 

  
4 Hot Topics 
 The following hot topics were raised:- 

  
Cabinet Member for Education and Children’s Services 
Following a question from the Leader, the Cabinet Member for Education and Skills 
reported that the Government were looking at removing restrictions on grammar 
schools moving to a school system with more Multi Academy Trusts. Cabinet would 
be updated once more information was released.  
  
Cabinet Member for Homelessness and Regulatory Services 
The Council had received a further grant of £2.274 million for the rough sleeping 
initiative with funding for the next three years. The Leader commented on the 
Council’s work to eliminate rough sleeping and the multi-disciplinary approach 
required. The Cabinet Member also paid tribute to the work of partners such as 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



 

 

Aylesbury Homeless Action Group, Oxford Health and Wycombe Connections. 
  
Cabinet Member for Communities 
The Council had been allocated another £2.4 million for the Household Support Fund 
for the period October to March. The Leader reported that he was delighted to hear 
the news and commented that the Helping Hands Programme had been one of the 
most successful programmes the Council had run and it would help residents 
through the winter particularly with rising costs.  The Cabinet Member then 
commented on the recent County Show where they had highlighted the work of the 
Community Boards which was well attended and the Community Safety Survey. The 
Survey would run until Sunday 16 October and residents were encouraged to take 
part including informing the Council on what areas they considered a priority. The 
Community Safety Team was also visiting Fresher Fairs at universities to help crime 
prevention particularly violence against women and girls and providing personal 
alarms. Teenage girls were particularly vulnerable.  
https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/cost-of-living/ 
https://yourvoicebucks.citizenspace.com/communities/safety-2022/ 
  
Cabinet Member for Planning and Regeneration  
The Cabinet Member referred to the development of the Local Plan and Call for all 
sites which had been completed on 13 September 2022. 700 sites had been put 
forward and officers needed to look at these sites to see if they were suitable for 
development. Reference was also made to that fact that the Government might 
abolish the topdown housing targets.  
  
Cabinet Member for Transport  
Buckinghamshire Council and Carousel Buses were launching a new ‘demand 
responsive transport’ (DRT) service in and around High Wycombe. The new DRT 
service came as part of a pilot scheme funded by the Government’s Rural Mobility 
Fund. The new service would run for the next 3 years, with scope to run for longer if 
the pilot is successful. The High Wycombe DRT pilot was set to launch from 27 
September, with an Aylesbury pilot launching later in the autumn. Sitting under 
Carousel’s ‘PickMeUp’ brand, the Wycombe pilot would serve several communities, 
including Booker, Daws Hill, Wooburn Green, Wycombe Marsh, Loudwater and 
Downley. These either have a limited bus service or a route which only served part 
of the community. Users would be able to book one of the five fully accessible 
minibuses to collect them either directly from their home, or from one of the 500+ 
pickup points – also known as ‘virtual bus stops’ – out and about in the local 
area. The Cabinet Member would report back on pilot data.  
https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/news/wycombe-residents-will-soon-be-able-
to-book-a-bus/ 
https://www.pickmeupwycombe.co.uk/ 
  
Cabinet Member for Accessible Housing and Resources  
The Cabinet Member referred to £150 energy rebate for most households in Council 
Tax bands A to D which could be distributed via post office vouchers if there were no 
bank details. Residents had a deadline of Friday 30 September 2022 to claim the 

Page 6

https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/cost-of-living/
https://yourvoicebucks.citizenspace.com/communities/safety-2022/
https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/news/wycombe-residents-will-soon-be-able-to-book-a-bus/
https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/news/wycombe-residents-will-soon-be-able-to-book-a-bus/
https://www.pickmeupwycombe.co.uk/


 

 

rebate. 8,000 vouchers had not been cashed and it was important for residents to 
do so before the deadline.  
https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/council-tax/150-council-tax-energy-rebate/ 
  
Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Health and Wellbeing 
Reference was made to the Health and Wellbeing Board which was meeting this 
afternoon to discuss the Integrated Care Partnership and the Joint Local Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy Refresh. Residents were encouraged to attend the meeting or 
watch the webcast; it was an important meeting addressing health inequalities and 
discussing major transformation in the Health Service. A plea was made for 
additional funding to help with hospital discharge to move patients out of hospital 
back into the community.  
https://buckinghamshire.moderngov.co.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=350 
  
Leader 
Following issues with bin collections in the South of the County regular meetings 
with the Waste Contractor’s Senior Management were being held to ensure that 
these issues were being addressed. There had been reports of misinformation and 
misreporting by operatives and this was being investigated. If residents had any 
issues with their bins they should report it online or escalate this to their local 
member if required.  
https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/waste-and-recycling/report-a-missed-bin-
collection 
  

5 Question Time 
 Question from Councillor Robin Stuchbury to Councillor Steve Broadbent, Cabinet 

Member for Transport and Councillor Peter Strachan , Cabinet Member for 
Planning and Regeneration 
  
“The section 106 agreement for the Osier Way development has designated part 
of the £840,000 funding for a specific route upgrade on the A421 and A413 to dual 
– 2 lane standard carriageway, which predetermines the question of the outcomes 
of the Buckingham transport study to be undertaken this autumn, the results of 
which were being submitted to the Town Council and other parishes in early 2023.  
This project funding has now been included in the signed section 106 agreement 
which implies that the study will be concentrating on the implementation details 
of an agreed scheme not the feasibility of alternatives. Buckingham Town Council 
is in the process of reviewing and updating its Neighbourhood Plan and as I 
understand it would definitely prefer to discuss such matters thoroughly before 
decisions are taken and funds committed. In what way does the Cabinet Member 
consider that pre-empting the results of a survey and not consulting the local 
Council until some months after a decision is made is in the spirit of the Town and 
Parish Charter, which is to enable Parish and Town Councils to contribute to the 
planning process and to work together with Buckinghamshire Council?  I look 
forward to a positive and engaging way forward within your response.” 
  
RESPONSE from Councillor Broadbent  

Page 7

https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/council-tax/150-council-tax-energy-rebate/
https://buckinghamshire.moderngov.co.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=350
https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/waste-and-recycling/report-a-missed-bin-collection
https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/waste-and-recycling/report-a-missed-bin-collection


 

 

 
 
“The S106 agreement for Osier Way secures £840k towards all/any relevant parts of 
the Buckingham Transport Strategy, as listed in Policy T3 of Vale of Aylesbury Local 
Plan. This includes; route upgrade on the A421 and A413 to dual, left turn slip at 
A422/A413/Stratford Road roundabout, Buckingham town wide cycle network 
improvements and the Buckingham to Silverstone Park cycle route.  As you are 
aware the Local Plan underwent consultation and considerable scrutiny through 
Examination before being adopted by the Council in September 2021. The schemes 
outlined in the Buckingham Transport Strategy were also agreed by the Town 
Council after consultation. 
  
As you are aware, the Transport Strategy team are also in the process of undertaking 
a technical study to assess the A421 corridor and its links into the neighbouring 
areas (especially towards Milton Keynes, Bicester, Silverstone Enterprise Zone and 
the new station planned for Winslow). As we discussed when you raised this at 
Cabinet on 12th July, the Transport Strategy team will report back on the 
recommendations made to the Buckingham Town Council, and other parish councils 
along the route, when the study is completed (expected early 2023). The s106 
funding you have referred to is for funding improvements to the A421 corridor, 
however the monies would not be committed until we have a defined scheme that 
has been through feasibility and assessment, to ensure it is both viable and 
represents value for money for the Council. 
  
We are also developing a Buckinghamshire Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure 
Plan (LCWIP) which will be an overarching strategy for cycling and walking 
investment in Buckinghamshire. This strategy will also help Community Boards and 
town and parish councils develop their own local LCWIPs to improve walking and 
cycling in their areas. The Buckingham Transport Strategy already identifies a 
number of walking and cycling initiatives. The identified s106 money could also be 
used to implement some of these schemes, as outlined above. 
  
In terms of the Town and Parish Charter, we remain committed to working with 
town and parish councils and are adopting a Statement of Community Involvement 
regarding consultation with town and parish councils on planning issues.” 
  

6 Forward Plan (28 Day Notice) 
 The Leader introduced the Forward Plan and commended it to all Members of the 

Council and the public, as document that gave forewarning of what Cabinet would 
be discussing at forthcoming meetings. 
  
RESOLVED  
  
That the Cabinet Forward Plan be noted. 
  

7 Select Committee Work Programme 
 The Leader introduced the Select Committee Work Programme and commended it 

Page 8



 

 

to all Members of the Council and the public, as a document that gave forewarning 
of what Select Committees would be discussing at forthcoming meetings.  
  
RESOLVED – 
  
That the Select Committee Work Programme be noted. 
  

8 Change to the Household Recycling Centre (HRC) service model from nine to ten 
sites 

 The Cabinet received a report which outlined a proposal to change the Household 
Recycling Centre (HRC) service model and HRC contract from a nine site model to a 
ten site model, with the opening of Bledlow HRC 5 days a week.  As part of the 
proposal, it was recommended that the site be opened for Buckinghamshire Council 
residents and other aspects of the service be provided in line with the draft Waste 
Access and Acceptance Policy (WAAP), which was attached at Appendix 1 to the 
Cabinet report.  
  
The Cabinet report also proposed that non-Buckinghamshire residents be charged 
for waste acceptance and access for all waste types in accordance with powers set 
out in Paragraph 51(3) of the EPA 1990, rather than prohibit use of the HRC 
amenities. To date the neighbouring Local Authority Oxfordshire County Council had 
not been amenable to enter into Service Level Agreements, therefore 
Buckinghamshire Council would be able to introduce charges for non-
Buckinghamshire residents, for waste acceptance and access for all waste types, 
who might use Bledlow HRC site.   
  
Buckinghamshire County Council introduced changes to the Household Recycling 
Centre service on 1st April 2019. This was a difficult decision made in the short term, 
due to the financial pressures the Council faced and the requirement to secure a 
balanced budget. The service changes included three HRCs opening 5 days (closing 
Wednesday and Thursday), Bledlow HRC being closed and the introduction of non-
household waste charging at all HRCs. Due to future growth demands near the 
Princes Risborough area, there was a growing demand for HRC provision. The long-
term aspiration would be to build a new HRC closer to the Princes Risborough area. 
However, a replacement site would have considerable lead in times, typically five 
years or more. This was due to the complexities such as land acquisition, 
development control (i.e. the planning process), procurement and construction 
phase. The recommendations, set out in the Cabinet report, would meet the 
Council’s future needs in the short to medium term, whilst an alternative site was 
found. 
  
Cabinet took into account the detailed representations which had been submitted 
by residents and external organisations including the supplementary information 
which was published on 21 September 2022 on the future tonnage and visitor 
forecast assumptions and a summary of the key themes where representations had 
been received such at traffic congestion, previous planning permissions, lack of 
consultation and site suitability. The supplementary information included 

Page 9



 

 

information on the methods used for calculating site use and tonnage forecast. 
Burnham HRC had been used as a suitable proxy site for modelling assumptions. 
  
The Cabinet Member made reference to concerns regarding traffic congestion. He 
reported that over the past three years there had been reduced total waste volumes 
across all HRC sites by approximately 42% and previously when this site had been 
open 35% of residents had come from Oxfordshire. The Council was not encouraging 
“out of area” users as this would introduce inconvenience to Buckinghamshire 
residents and the new charges could mean that out of area residents would not wish 
to use the facility. In addition the neighbouring authority Oxfordshire County Council 
had previously not been amenable to enter into a Service Level Agreement with the 
Council.  
  
 A Community Interest Company, which had been formed by one of the local 
councillors had put an application in for the site to be reopened which the Council, 
as Planning Authority had opposed. However, this does not impact on this decision 
as the Council has the original permission to reopen the site as the Waste Authority.  
  
With regard to consultation the Council was not legally required to carry out a 
consultation but the Cabinet Member had met with the Parish Council and spoken 
to local members. The Cabinet Member would continue to monitor the impact of 
any decision and liaise with the Parish Council. A consultation had been carried out 
in 2019 with a customer satisfaction survey.  
  
The final concern related to site suitability and in particular fire risk. The land has 
been surveyed which had confirmed its suitability and there was a Fire Management 
Plan. This proposal was in budget and would be covered within the existing contract. 
  
The Service Director for Legal and Democratic Services then referred to the Waste 
Access and Acceptance Policy Paragraph 2.7 which addressed some of the need 
across Buckinghamshire and there was a useful map on page 79 which showed the 
spread of the network for HRC’s. There was a space on the west side in relation to a 
suitable site for a HRC. The Waste Authority needed to look at this as a network and 
to balance the needs of the population. He referred to a letter he had sent to a 
resident of 20 September which had included some legal and technical points. There 
had been no promise of a consultation taking place. The earlier consultation had 
been a broader consultation not relating to this specific site. The argument relating 
to this being a breach of policy related to a separate application made by another 
organisation for permission which was refused on appeal and the Planning Inspector 
had given some reasons which did not apply to the Council as a Waste Disposal 
Authority. The Council were compliant with the relevant policies of the Waste and 
Minerals Local Plan. There were two duties that Cabinet Members needed to be 
aware of when making a decision; one was the Equalities Duty (the report included 
an Equalities Impact Assessment) and secondly under the Countryside and Rights of 
Way Act 2000 the Council needed to consider the impact of its decision on the Area 
of Outstanding Natural Beauty. This had been referred to in the Planning Inspector’s 
report as not being of concern and also there was no concern from a highways 

Page 10



 

 

perspective. If residents were driving around the county trying to dispose of their 
waste it would be more beneficial if the site was as close as possible to them which 
would enhance the AONB rather than have traffic driving a significant distance.  
  
Each Cabinet Member in turn confirmed that they had read and considered all of the 
representations in full including any documents which had been sent by residents or 
organisations.    
  
During discussion the following points were made:- 
  

         The Cabinet Member who had previously looked after this portfolio 
commented that the Council had considered alternative sites but that there 
was a long lead in time to open another commissioned facility of at least five 
years which included finding a site and the budget, assessing it, obtaining 
planning permission and then building it. There was funding in the capital 
programme for a new site.  

         In response to the representations a Cabinet Member asked about traffic 
management and fire risk. The Cabinet Member reported that the traffic 
flows would be monitored closely and he would liaise with the Parish Council 
but also referred to the fact they expected usage to drop. The Council would 
do their best to mitigate traffic congestion on the roads to the site. The 
Council had a fire management plan and would undertake due diligence. This 
was a requirement of the environmental permit. The plans were tailored to 
the site.  

         Another Cabinet Member agreed that there was a gap in the geographical 
provision and that in the longer term there were plans to commission a new 
site which should help with the additional housing growth expected in 
Princes Risborough and Haddenham. He also asked whether vehicle checks 
for out of county users would impact on traffic congestion. There was a 
similar system for non-household waste charges. There would be check 
points at the front of the site of ID and residency checks and in addition the 
operatives would quickly check the car size before they administer any 
charge. It would take no longer than non-household waste charging.  

         As it was a relatively high charge for out of county there were concerns 
about non local residents abusing the system by using other people’s ID who 
lived in Buckinghamshire. Out of county residents would be asked for a 
council tax bill or a digital form of ID but misuse could not be eliminated fully. 
With any waste spillage the operatives would be vigilant if any evidence was 
provided of misuse.  

         In terms of local feeling the Cabinet Member had been on a call with the 
Parish Council and there was a range of views; some in support and others 
against because of concerns raised by local residents who lived on the road 
of the site. There would be a review of the site in the next six months. He had 
also spoken to local members. Residents in the broader local area had been 
very supportive but there were some residents who were close to the site 
who would be impacted. It was a relatively small site and there were no 
plans for expansion.  

Page 11



 

 

         A query was raised about managing traffic flows and the data provided and 
whether residents would be aware of busy times so they could avoid 
travelling to the site at peak use. In response it was noted that there would 
be three webcams where officers could look at the demand on that site and 
they would show both directions on the external road as a livestream which 
residents could check before they travelled and an internal webcam to see 
how busy it was within the site. Google tools would help show traffic flows 
which would be posted on social media. Representatives from the team 
would be at the site in the first few weeks to ensure that there were no 
issues in accessing it. Traffic data counters were also installed.  

  
RESOLVED that Cabinet approves the following recommendations to take effect 
from the date the decision is taken unless otherwise stated –  
  
(1)               That the revised Waste Access and Acceptance Policy (WAAP), Appendix 1 

to the Cabinet report, be agreed. 
(2)               That the Bledlow Household Recycling Centre be re-opened in November 

2022, or earlier if it is operationally possible.  The HRC to operate on 5 days 
a week, with closing days being Wednesdays and Thursdays (Option F). 

(3)               That non-Buckinghamshire users be charged for waste acceptance and 
access for all waste types when using the Bledlow HRC. 

(4)               That the Service Director of Property and Assets, in consultation with the 
Cabinet Member for Accessible Housing and Resources be authorised to 
finalise, agree, exchange and complete the lease documentation. 

(5)               That the Service Director of Neighbourhood Services, in consultation with 
the Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Climate Change and 
Environment, be delegated authority to maintain service level 
agreement(s) and/or enter agreements with any other neighbouring 
authorities.  This is to share costs for their residents to use 
Buckinghamshire HRCs on a fair basis. 

(6)               That the Head of Strategic Waste Management and Enforcement be 
delegated authority to undertake all necessary appropriate steps in relation 
to the Household Recycling Centre contract by executing a Deed of 
Variation. 

(7)               That it be NOTED that the financial implication associated with the 
recommendations are contained within the Council’s Medium Term 
Financial Plan. 

   
9 Highways Service - Term Consultancy Contract Award 
 The procurement project team, with support from other disciplines from across the 

Council and externally, had made positive progress with the delivery of the new 
Highways operating model and the associated procurement activity and were on 
programme to deliver these key contracts for the Council. The first of these 
contracts was the appointment of a new Term Maintenance Contractor which was 
agreed by Cabinet on 12th July 2022.  
  
The Cabinet report, and the confidential Appendix 1, reported on the outcome of 

Page 12



 

 

the procurement exercise for the second of these contracts, the Term Consultancy 
Contract (TCC) and recommended the award of contract to the preferred bidder 
with the most economically advantageous tender in accordance with the agreed 
assessment model for quality and price.  
  
The Term Consultancy Contract was another key component of the new Highway 
service operating model for the Highways Service and would deliver a high-quality 
service and value for money.    
  
The range of services that the Term Consultant would provide comprise of specialist 
support on structures and street lighting, project management and supervision and 
to compliment the client team on various activities including procuring and 
supervision of works through the frameworks, as well as general top up of capacity, 
applying innovation and ensuring best value was being delivered. 
  
The Term Consultant had also been set up so that other service areas of the Council 
could make use of it for various disciplines and expertise and be able to provide 
advice and support on developing feasibility and detailed design for large scale 
capital funded infrastructure projects, flooding and environmental investigation and 
analysis and Traffic Modelling to deliver the most cost-effective solutions. A full list 
of activities was shown in Appendix 3. 
  
The Cabinet Member for Transport reported that after a Market Engagement Day in 
July 2021 they had a strong response from the market with multiple bidders and 
following a rigorous process the following recommendations have been put forward 
to start the contract on 1 April 2023. The confidential appendix was discussed in 
exempt session.  
  
RESOLVED –  
  
(1)               That progress made to date on the procurement of the new Highways 

Services Contracts be NOTED. 
(2)               That the award of the Highways Term Consultancy contract to the 

preferred bidder be AGREED, as detailed within Confidential Appendix 1. 
  

10 Exclusion of the public (if required) 
 RESOLVED – 

  
That pursuant to Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 the public be 
excluded from the meeting during consideration of Minute No 12 and on the 
grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
Part I of Schedule 12A of the Act as defined as follows: 
  
Minute 12 – Highways Term Consultancy Contract – Award 
  
The item includes Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 
particular person (including the authority holding that information) (Paragraph 3, 

Page 13



 

 

Part 1 of Schedule 12A, Local Government Act 1972) (The need to maintain the 
exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosure, because disclosure could 
prejudice the Council’s position in any future process or negotiations). 
  

11 Confidential minutes of 12 July 2022 
 RESOLVED –  

  
That the confidential Minutes of the meeting held on 12 July 2022 be approved as 
a correct record. 
  

12 Confidential appendix for Highways Service - Term Consultancy Contract Award 
 This item was undertaken in confidential session as part of Minute item 9 and details 

of the public discussion and the decisions taken are included within Minute number 
9. 
  

13 Date of next meeting 
 The next meeting would be held at 10am on Tuesday 11 October 2022. 

  

Page 14



 

 

Buckinghamshire Council Cabinet/Leader forward plan 

The local authorities (executive arrangements) (meetings and access to information) (England) regulations 
2012 

This is a notice of an intention to make a key decision on behalf of Buckinghamshire Council (regulation 9) and an intention to meet in private to 
consider those items marked as ‘private reports' (regulation 5). 

A further notice (the ‘agenda') will be published no less than five working days before the date of the decision meeting and will be available via 
the Buckinghamshire Council website (Cabinet agendas / Leader decisions). 

All reports will be open unless specified otherwise. 

Item and description Wards affected Councillor(s) /  
contact officer 

Private report? 
(relevant para) 

Date 
notified 

Cabinet 11 October 2022 

Adult Social Care Update 
To provide an update on the current challenges and issues in 
relation to adult social care services in Buckinghamshire 

 Councillor Angela 
Macpherson 
 
Clare Capjon 

 
 

16/6/22 
 

P
age 15

A
genda Item

 6

https://buckinghamshire.moderngov.co.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=337
https://buckinghamshire.moderngov.co.uk/mgDelegatedDecisions.aspx?bcr=1&DS=2&K=1


Item and description Wards affected Councillor(s) /  
contact officer 

Private report? 
(relevant para) 

Date 
notified 

 

 
 

Children's Services Update 
Bi-annual report detailing the national and local developments 
across the Children’s Services Directorate 

 Councillor Anita Cranmer 
 
John Macilwraith 

 
 

30/8/22 
 

Climate Change & Air Quality Strategy – Annual Update 
To receive the annual update on progress against the Climate 
Change 
 

 Councillor Gareth Williams 
 
Edward Barlow 

 
 

8/9/22 
 

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2021-2022 
To approve the Director of Public Health Annual Report 
(DPHAR) 2021-2022 which addresses cardio vascular disease 
and its impact on inequalities in Buckinghamshire. 

 Councillor Angela 
Macpherson 
 
Dr Jane O'Grady 

 
 

16/6/22 
 

P
age 16



Item and description Wards affected Councillor(s) /  
contact officer 

Private report? 
(relevant para) 

Date 
notified 

 

 
 

E-scooter trial extension (until May 2024) 
E-scooter trial extension (until May 2024) 

Abbey; Aston 
Clinton & 
Bierton; 
Aylesbury East; 
Aylesbury North; 
Aylesbury North 
West; Aylesbury 
South East; 
Aylesbury South 
West; Aylesbury 
West; Booker, 
Cressex & 
Castlefield; 
Downley; 
Hazlemere; 
Ryemead & 
Micklefield; 
Stone & 
Waddesdon; 
Terriers & 
Amersham Hill; 
The Risboroughs; 
Totteridge & 
Bowerdean; 
Tylers Green & 
Loudwater; West 
Wycombe; Wing 

Councillor Steve 
Broadbent 
 
Richard Lumley 

 
 

8/9/22 
 

P
age 17



Item and description Wards affected Councillor(s) /  
contact officer 

Private report? 
(relevant para) 

Date 
notified 

 

 
 

Household Support Fund 
The report will provide details on the Government Household 
Support Fund 3 allocation for Buckinghamshire and detail 
options for the usage of this fund to support financially 
vulnerable residents of Buckinghamshire during the Fund 
period 1st October 2022 – 31st March 2023. 

 Councillor Steve Bowles 
 
Matthew Everitt 

 
 

28/9/22 
 

Little Marlow Lakes Country Park 
Report to consider the delivery options for the Little Marlow 
Lakes Country Park. 

Flackwell Heath, 
Little Marlow & 
Marlow South 
East 

Councillor Peter Strachan 
 
Steve Bambrick 

 
 

8/9/22 
 

Safer Buckinghamshire Board Annual Report 2021/22 
To receive the annual report 2021/2022 of the Safer 
Buckinghamshire Board (the Community Safety Partnership 
for Buckinghamshire) 

 Councillor Steve Bowles 
 
Dr Jane O'Grady 

 
 

27/7/22 
 

Youth Justice Strategic Plan 2022-2023 
The Buckinghamshire Youth Justice Strategic Plan 2022-2023 
provides details of progress made against agreed outcomes 
for Children and Young People. It outlines priorities, alongside 
potential future challenges for the partnership over the 
coming year. It also highlights the partnership arrangements 
and budget position for the Youth Offending Service 
Partnership. 

 Councillor Anita Cranmer 
 
John Macilwraith 

 
 

30/8/22 
 

Cabinet 15 November 2022 

P
age 18



Item and description Wards affected Councillor(s) /  
contact officer 

Private report? 
(relevant para) 

Date 
notified 

 

 
 

Council Resilience Framework and Standards (CRF&S) 
To introduce the Council Resilience Framework and Standards 
Policy (CRF&S) 

 Councillor Steve Bowles 
 
Lloyd Jeffries 

 
 

28/9/22 
 

Horns Lane, High Wycombe 
Delivery options for development of 50 residential houses 

Booker, Cressex 
& Castlefield 

Councillor John Chilver 
 
John Reed 

Part exempt 
(para 3) 

30/6/22 
 

Housing Infrastructure Fund Strategic Update 
Anticipation of contractual update to the Grant Funding 
Agreement. 

Aston Clinton & 
Bierton; 
Aylesbury East; 
Aylesbury South 
East; Aylesbury 
South West; 
Aylesbury West; 
Stone & 
Waddesdon 

Councillor Martin Tett 
 
Robin Smith 

Part exempt 
(para 3) 

15/8/22 
 

Q2 Budget Monitoring Report 2022-23 
Quarterly report 

 Councillor John Chilver 
 
Dave Skinner 

 
 

30/8/22 
 

Q2 Performance Report 2022-23 
Quarterly report 

 Councillor John Chilver 
 
Matthew Everitt 

 
 

30/8/22 
 

P
age 19



Item and description Wards affected Councillor(s) /  
contact officer 

Private report? 
(relevant para) 

Date 
notified 

 

 
 

Transport, Environment & Climate Change Select Committee 
Review of Pollution in Buckinghamshire's Rivers and Chalk 
Streams 
The Transport, Environment & Climate Change Select 
Committee set up a small review group to investigate 
pollution in Buckinghamshire's rivers and chalk streams. This 
report details their key findings and recommendations to 
Cabinet. 

 Councillor Robert 
Carington 
 
Chris Ward 

 
 

22/9/22 
 

Woodlands In Principle CPO 
Seeking authority to proceed with an In-Principle CPO 
(compulsory purchase order) process 

Aston Clinton & 
Bierton 

Councillor John Chilver 
 
John Reed 

Part exempt 
(para 3) 

17/1/22 
 

Cabinet 6 December 2022 

Education Accessibility Strategy 
This strategy provides detail on the responsibilities of the 
Council and maintained schools, for ensuring all Children & 
Young People are able to access education, focusing on how 
to ensure those with disabilities are not disadvantaged. 

 Councillor Anita Cranmer 
 
Nichola Beagle 

 
 

11/8/22 
 

SEALR (South East Aylesbury Link Road) Update 
Project update for the South East Aylesbury Link Road. 

Aylesbury South 
East; Wendover, 
Halton & Stoke 
Mandeville 

Councillor Martin Tett 
 
Richard Lumley 

Part exempt 
(para 3) 

25/5/22 
 

P
age 20



Item and description Wards affected Councillor(s) /  
contact officer 

Private report? 
(relevant para) 

Date 
notified 

 

 
 

Woodlands strategy for negotiated acquisition 
Recommendations to Cabinet regarding the freehold interest 
in the Woodlands development site. 

Aston Clinton & 
Bierton 

Councillor John Chilver 
 
John Reed 

Part exempt 
(para 3) 

17/1/22 
 

Cabinet 5 January 2023 

Buckinghamshire Education Strategy 2022 - 2027 
The Buckinghamshire Education Strategy is a refresh of the 
Education and Skills Strategy that was approved in 2018. 
Following initial collaboration and engagement and a public 
consultation process, the Education Strategy has been shaped 
and developed with a focus on 5 key priority areas in order to 
further improve educational provision for children and young 
people in Buckinghamshire. 

 Councillor Anita Cranmer 
 
Simon James 

 
 

8/6/22 
 

Highways Frameworks 1 & 2 Award 
To agree the award for the frameworks of the Highways 
Services. 

 Councillor Steve 
Broadbent 
 
Kevin Goad 

Part exempt 
(para 3) 

8/9/22 
 

Cabinet 14 February 2022 

Kingsbury & Market Square, Aylesbury 
The regeneration of two historic town centre spaces. The aim 
is to make these spaces more accessible and attractive, giving 
priority to pedestrian use. 

Aylesbury North Councillor John Chilver, 
Councillor Peter Strachan 
 
John Reed 

Part exempt 
(para 3) 

22/4/22 
 

September 2022 Leader Decisions 

P
age 21



Item and description Wards affected Councillor(s) /  
contact officer 

Private report? 
(relevant para) 

Date 
notified 

 

 
 

Buckinghamshire, Oxfordshire and Berkshire West Integrated 
Care Partnership (BOB ICP) Joint Committee 
Approval for the Buckinghamshire, Oxfordshire and Berkshire 
West Integrated Care System (BOB ICS) to establish an 
Integrated Care Partnership through a Joint Committee 

 Councillor Angela 
Macpherson 
 
Gill Quinton 

 
 

8/6/22 
 

October 2022 Leader Decisions 

Assets of Community Value 
To agree the changes to procedure for managing 
Buckinghamshire Council's Assets of Community Value and 
Community Right to Bid Process 

 Councillor Steve Bowles 
 
Nick Graham 

 
 

8/9/22 
 

Aston Clinton - Traffic Calming 
Vertical traffic calming and speed limit reduction 

Aston Clinton & 
Bierton 

Councillor Steve 
Broadbent 
 
Daniel Pearson 

 
 

19/3/20 
 

Aylesbury A41 Woodlands Roundabout 
Funding allocation for future works delivered in conjunction 
with developers. 

Aston Clinton & 
Bierton 

Councillor John Chilver 
 
David Pearce, Robin Smith 

Part exempt 
(para 3) 

15/8/22 
 

Aylesbury Grid Reinforcements - New Primary 
Decision relating to progressing the Aylesbury Grid 
Reinforcement scheme design in South West Aylesbury. 

Aylesbury South 
East; Wendover, 
Halton & Stoke 
Mandeville 

Councillor Martin Tett 
 
David Johnson 

Part exempt 
(para 3) 

3/5/22 
 

P
age 22



Item and description Wards affected Councillor(s) /  
contact officer 

Private report? 
(relevant para) 

Date 
notified 

 

 
 

Bierton Traffic Calming 
Public consultation is to be carried out on a traffic calming 
scheme along the A418 through Bierton. The proposals 
include; narrowings, chicanes, build-outs, and pedestrian, 
cycle, and bus stop improvements.  Public consultation and 
the delivery of a traffic calming scheme was secured as a s106 
obligation of the nearby Kingsbrook development. 

Aston Clinton & 
Bierton 

Councillor Steve 
Broadbent 
 
Christine Urry 

 
 

25/5/22 
 

Budget Adjustments to the Approved Capital Programme 
To approve changes to the Approved Capital Programme 

 Councillor John Chilver 
 
Sue Palmer 

 
 

14/9/20 
 

Business Case for the recommissioning of The Vines (respite 
service for Children and Young People) 
To agree the Business Case for the recommissioning of The 
Vines - a six bedded unit providing residential short breaks to 
disabled young people aged 11 – 19 years old with behaviours 
that challenge which is due for renewal on 1st April 2022. This 
is for a 2 year contract with one year extension. 

 Councillor Anita Cranmer 
 
Tracey Ironmonger 

Part exempt 
(para 3) 

18/8/21 
 

Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 
Annual report detailing how the duty to secure sufficient 
childcare in Buckinghamshire is being met. The report will be 
made available and accessible to childcare providers and 
parents. 

 Councillor Anita Cranmer 
 
Simon James, John 
Macilwraith 

 
 

30/8/22 
 

P
age 23



Item and description Wards affected Councillor(s) /  
contact officer 

Private report? 
(relevant para) 

Date 
notified 

 

 
 

Denham Local Priority 
Key Decision Report for the S106 Denham Local Priority 
Scheme. 

Denham Councillor Steve 
Broadbent 
 
Daniel Pearson 

 
 

28/9/22 
 

Domiciliary Care Procurement Vehicle 
Decision to go out to tender to procure domiciliary care 
services for adults in Buckinghamshire. 

 Councillor Angela 
Macpherson 
 
Erica Taylor 

Part exempt 
(para 3) 

2/3/22 
 

Eastern Link Road, Aylesbury 
Current Business Case for delivery 

Aston Clinton & 
Bierton 

Councillor Martin Tett 
 
John Callaghan, Robin 
Smith 

Part exempt 
(para 3) 

30/8/22 
 

Extension of Public Space Protection Orders 
Decision and result of Public Consultation report in relation to 
6 PSPOs recommended for extension. 

 Councillor Steve Bowles 
 
Gideon Springer 

 
 

27/7/22 
 

Fair Cost of Care 
To agree the council’s Fair Cost of Care proposal for 
submission to the Department of Health & Social Care. The 
submission covers care homes for people aged 65+ and 
domiciliary care for people aged 18+. The Fair Cost of Care is 
one of the key measures to support the government’s Social 
Care Reforms 

 Councillor Angela 
Macpherson 
 
Tracey Ironmonger 

Part exempt 
(para 3) 

8/7/22 
 

P
age 24



Item and description Wards affected Councillor(s) /  
contact officer 

Private report? 
(relevant para) 

Date 
notified 

 

 
 

Gerrards Cross Waiting Restrictions 
Report to be written with recommendations upon the 
conclusion of a statutory consultation on waiting restrictions 
proposed in Gerrards Cross. 

Gerrards Cross Councillor Steve 
Broadbent 
 
John Pateman 

 
 

12/7/21 
 

Haddenham Parking Restrictions 
Scheme proposing to introduce parking restrictions on Tibbs 
Road, Haddenham. 

Bernwood Councillor Steve 
Broadbent 
 
Daniel Pearson 

 
 

24/3/22 
 

Harmonisation of Pest Control Fees 
The harmonisation of policy and fees regarding which 
residents are able to access subsidised pest control treatment. 

 Councillor Mark Winn 
 
Jacqui Bromilow 

 
 

30/8/22 
 

Land at Ashwells, Tylers Green and Bellfield, High Wycombe 
To approve the recommended Purchaser for land at Ashwells, 
Tylers Green and the Bellfield residential site in High 
Wycombe 

Tylers Green & 
Loudwater 

Councillor John Chilver 
 
John Reed 

Part exempt 
(para 3) 

28/9/22 
 

Russet Street/Worcester Street, Berryfields, Aylesbury – 
Prohibition of Motor Vehicles Traffic Regulation Order 
Proposal to introduce a ‘Prohibition of Motor Vehicles’ Traffic 
Regulation Order (TRO) on Russet Street/Worcester Street, 
Berryfields, Aylesbury. 

Stone & 
Waddesdon 

Councillor Steve 
Broadbent 
 
David Cairney 

 
 

16/6/22 
 

P
age 25



Item and description Wards affected Councillor(s) /  
contact officer 

Private report? 
(relevant para) 

Date 
notified 

 

 
 

Station Road, Quainton - Proposed Traffic Calming Build Out 
Barwood Homes propose to fully fund and construct a Traffic 
Calming Build Out on Station Road, Quainton. This is to 
facilitate the widening of the existing footway to 1.5m beside 
No.17 Station Road. Works would be carried out via a Section 
278 Legal Agreement. 

Great Brickhill Councillor Steve 
Broadbent 
 
Darryl Bonsor 

 
 

22/10/21 
 

Tree Planting Programme, Part of Burcott Hall and part of 
Soulbury Road Farm, Wing 
Tree Planting Programme on Council owned land 

Wing Councillor Gareth Williams 
 
David Johnson 

Part exempt 
(para 3) 

22/9/22 
 

November 2022 Leader Decisions 

Adult Social Care Travel Assistance Policy 
To agree the travel assistance policy for Adult Social Care 

 Councillor Angela 
Macpherson 
 
Tracey Ironmonger 

 
 

22/9/22 
 

December 2022 Leader Decisions 

Buckinghamshire Combatting Drugs Strategy 
To agree the Buckinghamshire Multi-Agency Combatting 
Drugs Strategy. 
 
This will support delivery of the government’s 10 year strategy 
to reduce drug use, drug-related crime, deaths and other 
harms. 
 

 Councillor Angela 
Macpherson 
 
Dr Jane O'Grady 

 
 

8/9/22 
 

P
age 26



Item and description Wards affected Councillor(s) /  
contact officer 

Private report? 
(relevant para) 

Date 
notified 

 

 
 

CYP Integrated Therapies 
Recommission of the Buckinghamshire Children and Young 
People's Integrated Therapies service 

 Councillor Anita Cranmer 
 
Marie-Claire Mickiewicz 

Part exempt 
(para 3) 

30/6/22 
 

CYP Integrated Therapies Strategy 
Sign off of CYP Integrated Therapies Strategy 

 Councillor Anita Cranmer 
 
Marie-Claire Mickiewicz 

Part exempt 
(para 3) 

30/6/22 
 

February 2023 Leader Decisions 

All-age Autism Strategy 
To agree the All-age Autism strategy for Buckinghamshire 

 Councillor Angela 
Macpherson 
 
Simon Brauner-Cave 

 
 

11/5/22 
 

P
age 27



 

 
 

Individual Leader decisions (in consultation with the Cabinet Member) are not discussed at meetings – a report is presented to the Cabinet 
Member and the Leader will decide whether to sign the decision.  

If you have any questions about the matters contained in this forward plan, please get in touch with the contact officer. If you have any views 
that you would like the cabinet member to consider please inform the democratic services team in good time ahead of the decision deadline 
date. This can be done by telephone 01296 382343 or email democracy@buckinghamshire.gov.uk. You can view decisions to be made and 
decisions taken on the council’s website. 

The council’s definition of a ‘key decision’ can be seen in part 1 of the council’s constitution. 

Each item considered will have a report; appendices will be included (as appropriate). Regulation 9(1g) allows that other documents relevant 
to the item may be submitted to the decision maker. Subject to prohibition or restriction on their disclosure, this information will be published 
on the website usually five working days before the date of the meeting. Paper copies may be requested using the contact details below. 

*The public can be excluded for an item of business on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt (private) information as 
defined in part I of schedule 12a of the Local Government Act 1972. The relevant paragraph numbers and descriptions are as follows: 

Paragraph 1 - Information relating to any individual 

Paragraph 2 - Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual 

Paragraph 3 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that information) 

Paragraph 4 - Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated consultations or negotiations, in connection with any 
labour relations matter arising between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or office holders under, the authority 

Paragraph 5 - Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be maintained in legal proceedings 

Paragraph 6 - Information which reveals that the authority proposes:  

(a) to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which requirements are imposed on a person; or 

P
age 28

mailto:democracy@buckinghamshire.gov.uk
https://buckinghamshire.moderngov.co.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=Council%20Constitution&ID=1033&RPID=5893201
https://buckinghamshire.moderngov.co.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=Council%20Constitution&ID=1033&RPID=5893201


 

 
 

(b) to make an order or direction under any enactment 

Paragraph 7 - Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime 

Part II of schedule 12a of the Local Government Act 1972 requires that information falling into paragraphs 1 - 7 above is exempt information if 
and so long, as in all the circumstances of the case, the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing 
the information. Nothing in the regulations authorises or requires a local authority to disclose to the public or make available for public 
inspection any document or part of a document if, in the opinion of the proper officer, that document or part of a document contains or may 
contain confidential information. Should you wish to make any representations in relation to any of the items being considered in private, you 
can do so – in writing – using the contact details below.  

Democratic services, Buckinghamshire Council, The Gateway, Gatehouse Road, Aylesbury, Buckinghamshire HP19 8FF 01296 382343  
democracy@buckinghamshire.gov.uk  

P
age 29

mailto:democracy@buckinghamshire.gov.uk


T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 Select Committee Work Programmes 2022/23 

Children’s and Education Select Committee (Chairman: Julie Ward, Scrutiny officer: Katie Dover) 

Date  Topic Description & Purpose Lead Officer Contributors 
3 November 
2022 

Children’s Services Six 
Month Update report 

To receive an update on Children’s Services in the 
months since the Ofsted inspection 

John Macilwraith John Macilwraith 

 Children Missing from 
Education 
 

For the Select Committee to receive a report on 
children missing from education, and in particular 
vulnerable children and those with EHCP, traveller 
children 
 

Gareth Drawmer Gareth Drawmer 
John Macilwraith 

 Buckinghamshire 
Safeguarding Children’s 
Partnership Annual Report 

To receive an annual report 2021/22 from the 
Partnership Chairman 

Richard 
Nash/Francis 
Habgood/John 
Macilwraith 

Chairman of the 
Partnership 
John Macilwraith 

26 January 
2023 

Education Standards Report For the Select Committee to receive the assessment 
outcomes for the years 2021/22 for children and 
young people in Buckinghamshire 

Simon James Simon James 
Anita Cranmer 
John Macilwraith 

 Education Strategy 2022-27 To receive an update on the agreed Strategy Simon James Simon james 
Anita Cranmer 
John Macilwraith 

 Update on Children’s 
Mental Health (CAMHS to 
present) 
 

To receive an update on service provision following 
the increased demand post-Covid 

Richard Nash/John 
Macilwraith 
 

CAMHS representatives –
Donna Clarke?  Grant 
Macdonald/Nick 
Broughton 
Anita Cranmer 
John Macilwraith 
 

P
age 31

A
genda Item

 7



 

 

 Update on progress of 
recommendations on Social 
Worker recruitment 
&retention report 

For the Select Committee to receive an update on 
departmental progress against the recommendations 
in the rapid review group’s report 

Richard Nash Richard Nash 
Anita Cranmer 

 Update on Progress of 
SEND Written Statement of 
Action 

The first update following the report to 30th June 22 
Select Committee on the SEND inspection  

Richard Nash Richard Nash 
John Macilwraith 

23 March 2023 Fostering and Adoption 
Service 

To receive an overview of the service and hear 
progress through 2021/22 

Palvinder Kudhail Anita Cranmer 
Richard Nash 
John Macilwraith 

 MacAlistair report – 
independent review of 
children’s social care 
 

Information report update Palvinder Kudhail Palvinder Kudhail 

 Out of County Placements To update the committee on the current challenges 
with regards to out of county placements 

Richard Nash/John 
Macilwraith 

John Macilwraith 

 

P
age 32



 

 

Communities and Localism Select Committee (Chairman: Mimi Harker, Scrutiny officer: Kelly Sutherland) 
 

Date  Topic  Description and Purpose Lead Officer  Contributors  
5 October 
2022 

Library Strategy  Early engagement discussion on the developing Library Strategy  David Jones   

 Update on Chiltern 
Lifestyles Centre  
 

The Select Committee will receive an update on the Chiltern Lifestyles 
Centre after its first full year of operation. 

 Sophie Payne   

 Support to Guests 
from Ukraine & 
Afghanistan 
 

The Select Committee will review the support that the Council has put 
in place to support guests from the Ukraine. 

Matt Everitt Arif Hussain, 
Richard Barker 

22 
November 
2022 

HS2 (TBC) A discussion with HS2 focussing on their engagement with communities 
impacted by construction and the opportunities available through their 
community investment funding. 

 Laura Leech  Steve Bowles 
Peter Martin 

 Devolution (TBC) 
 

The Select Committee will receive an update on devolution of services 
and assets and assess how effectively the Council has delivered 
devolution at pace. 

 Matt Everitt?  Steve Bowles 

 Community Board 
Review – 6-month 
progress report 
 

The Select Committee will review the progress of work on 
implementation of recommendations made in the Community Board 
review report which was presented to Cabinet on 10th May 2022. 

 Roger Goodes/ 
Wendy Morgan-
Brown 

 Steve Bowles 

8th February 
2023 

Violence against 
Women and Girls 

The Select Committee will review how the Council and Partner 
organisations are working together to prevent violence against women 
and girls.  

 Gideon Springer Zahir M for Public 
Health  

 Film Office Members will learn about the work of the newly established 
Buckinghamshire Film Office. 

Ruth Bryant Clive Harriss, 
Sophie P, Ruth 
Bryant 

P
age 33



 

 

19 April 
2023 

Community 
Resilience Update 
(TBC) 

Members will receive an update from the Resilience Service on their 
work with town and parish councils to strengthen community 
resilience. 

 Vince Grey  Steve Bowles, 
Vince Grey, Lloyd 
Jeffries 

 Town and Parish 
Charter  

Members will receive an update on the implementation of the Town 
and Parish Charter Action Plan. 

Simon Garwood Steve Bowles, 
Roger Goodes, 
Simon Garwood 

 

  

P
age 34



 

 

Finance and Resources Select Committee (Chairman: Ralph Bagge, Scrutiny officer: Chris Ward) 

Date  Topic Description & Purpose Lead Officer Contributors 
1 December 
2022 

Budget Performance 
Monitoring Q2 

To review the Quarter 2 Budget Monitoring Report David Skinner   John Chilver 

 Q2 Performance Report 
2022-23 

To review the Quarter 2 Performance Report Matthew Everitt   
Holly Pedrick 

John Chilver 

 Commercial Investments and 
Loans 

To consider a report on the council’s commercial 
investments and loans 

David Skinner   
Mark Preston 

John Chilver 

 Customer First To receive an update on the programme Sarah Murphy-
Brookman 

John Chilver 
Tim Butcher 

 Work Smart Programme To receive an update on the programme Sarah Murphy-
Brookman 
John Reed 

John Chilver 

 External Property Companies To consider a six-month update report.  John Reed John Chilver 
 Budget Scrutiny Inquiry 

Group Scoping Paper 
The Committee will discuss the budget scrutiny inquiry 
group proposals. 

Chris Ward Ralph Bagge 
Martin Tett 

9 – 13 January 
2023 

Budget Scrutiny All Corporate 
and Service 
Directors 

Cabinet Members, 
Deputies, Corporate 
and Service Directors 

23 February 
2023 

Budget Inquiry 2022 
Recommendations: 12-
month review 

To receive an update on the process of the budget scrutiny 
recommendations made in January 2022 

David Skinner 
 

Martin Tett 

 Budget Performance 
Monitoring Q3 

To review the Quarter 3 Budget Monitoring Report David Skinner John Chilver 

 Q3 Performance Report 
2022-23 

To review the Quarter 3 Performance Report Matthew Everitt   
Holly Pedrick 

John Chilver 

6 April 2023 
 

External Property Companies Report on the performance and business plans of the 
Council's companies: AVE, Consilio, London Road 
Management Company, and Buckinghamshire Advantage  

John Reed John Chilver 

P
age 35



 

 

 External Company 
Governance Annual Update 

To receive a report following one year of the new 
governance arrangements with the external property 
companies 

John Reed John Chilver 

  

P
age 36



 

 

Growth, Infrastructure and Housing Select Committee (Chairman: David Carroll, Scrutiny officer: Tom Fowler) 

Date  Topic Description & Purpose Lead Officer Contributors 
6 October 2022 National Model Design Code 

Pilot 
 

Buckinghamshire Council was chosen as one of 16 local 
authorities to pilot the National Model Design Code, which 
has been introduced to encourage quality design and to 
allow some local influence over design to preserve local 
character. The Select Committee will receive a report on 
how this pilot is progressing and review any key findings. 

 Ed Barlow, 
Rebecca Hart 

 Peter Strachan,  

 Local Plan Update  Members will receive an update on progress with the 
development of the Buckinghamshire Local Plan. 

 Darran Eggleton Peter Strachan, 
Darran 

 Affordable Housing (TBC) 
 

Members will receive an update on the Council’s approach 
to delivery of Affordable Housing, following Cabinet’s 
adoption of an Interim Affordable Housing Position 
Statement in May 2022.  This statement set out the 
Council’s plans for encouraging more Affordable Housing in 
the county including the possibility of delivering affordable 
residential properties on Council owned sites. 

 Nigel Dicker John Chilver, Peter 
Strachan?, Nigel 
Dicker 

1 December 
2022 

Local Plan Update  Members will receive an update on progress with the 
development of the Buckinghamshire Local Plan. 

 Darran Eggleton Peter Strachan, 
Darran 

 Member Engagement in 
Planning – 6-month progress 
update 

The Select Committee will review the progress of work on 
implementation of the 6 recommendations made in the 
Member Engagement in Planning review which was 
presented to Cabinet on 1st March 2022. 

 Steve 
Bambrick/Chrissy 
Urry 

Peter Strachan, Steve 
Bambrick 

 Regeneration Framework 
Update (TBC) 

 An opportunity for members to be updated on progress 
with the Regeneration Framework. 

 Lisa Michelson   

 Aylesbury Garden Town 
(TBC) 

The Select Committee will receive an update on progress 
with Aylesbury Garden Town. 

Lisa Michelson 
 

 

P
age 37



 

 

16 February 
2023 

Local Plan, LTP and 
Infrastructure Plan – How do 
these crucial plans link 
together? ** 

An opportunity for members to understand and discuss the 
synergies between the emerging Local Plan, Local Transport 
Plan and Infrastructure Plan. 

Steve Bambrick, 
Darran Eggleton, 
Richard Lumley,  

Peter Strachan, Steve 
Broadbent, Martin 
Tett?  

 Planning Enforcement Plan 
review and update 

The Select Committee will review the effectiveness of the 
Planning Enforcement Plan in light of an up to date 
performance report. 

 Darran Eggleton  Gary Hall, Darran 

6 April 2023 Member Engagement in 
Planning – 12-month 
progress update 

 The Select Committee will review the progress of work on 
implementation of the 6 recommendations made in the 
Member Engagement in Planning review which was 
presented to Cabinet on 1st March 2022. 

 Steve 
Bambrick/Chrissy 
Urry 

 Peter Strachan 

     
  

P
age 38



 

 

Health and Adult Social Care Select Committee (Chairman: Jane MacBean, Scrutiny officer: Liz Wheaton) 

Date  Topic Description & Purpose Lead Presenters Contributors 

17 November 
2022 
 

Buckinghamshire 
Healthcare NHS Trust’s 
(BHT) Clinical Strategy 
and Estates Strategy 

The Committee reviewed BHT’s clinical strategy 
in its early stages in February 2022.  Five themes 
are identified in this strategy – the services 
under each theme are due to start the 
reconfiguration process in early 2023.  This item 
provides an opportunity for Members to hear 
more about the plans under each theme. 
 
This item to also include an update on BHT’s 
Estates Strategy. 

Neil Macdonald, Chief 
Executive, Buckinghamshire 
Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

 Buckinghamshire 
Healthcare NHS Trust’s 
Business Case for 
Supporting Sustainable 
Intermediate Care 

At its February 2022 meeting, the Committee 
reviewed the progress in the development of 
the community hubs in Marlow and Thame.  As 
part of this review, Members remain concerned 
about the provision of services for people who 
are fit to be discharged from Hospital but need 
further support services.  The Committee will 
hear more about the business case for 
supporting intermediate care. 

Neil Macdonald, Chief 
Executive, Buckinghamshire 
Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

 Director for Public 
Health Annual Report 

For the Committee to review and discuss the 
Director for Public Health Annual Report. 

Dr Jane O’Grady  

P
age 39



 

 

9 February 
2023 

System-wide approach 
to tackling obesity 

Following a 2018 HASC Inquiry into child 
obesity, the Committee heard at its November 
2021 meeting about the work underway to 
develop a system-wide approach to tackling 
obesity.  This item will be an opportunity for 
Members to review the progress being made in 
this area. 

TBC  

 Dementia Item to be developed in light of any refreshed 
Government strategy on Dementia.  This issue 
has already been identified as part of Adult 
Social Care’s refreshed Better Lives Strategy.  
The Committee will hear about the progress 
made in developing services to meet the needs 
of people with dementia and their carers and 
review how this delivers against the national 
agenda. 

TBC  

20 April 2023 PCN Inquiry – 6 month 
recommendation 
monitoring 

For the Committee to receive a progress report 
on the implementation of the recommendations 
made in the HASC’s Inquiry into Primary Care 
Development in Buckinghamshire. 

TBC  

     

 
 
  

P
age 40



 

 

Transport, Environment and Climate Change Select Committee (Chairman: Bill Chapple, Scrutiny officer: Chris Ward) 

Date  
 

Topic Description & Purpose Lead Officer Contributors 

3 November 
2022 

Climate Change & Air Quality 
Strategy: Annual Review 

To review the strategy one year after its implementation. Ed Barlow 
Alexander 
Beckett 

Gareth Williams 
 

 School Transport To receive an update on the service including SEND 
transport and PTBs 

Sara Turnbull 
Neil Beswick 
Cheryl Platts 

Steve Broadbent 

 Electric Vehicle Action Plan The Action Plan will be the council's plan to increase EV 
charging infrastructure in Buckinghamshire, in support of 
its commitment to net zero carbon by 2050. 

Hannah Joyce 
Richard Lumley 

Steve Broadbent 
Gareth Williams 
Peter Strachan 

 Inquiry Report: Pollution in 
Buckinghamshire’s Rivers and 
Chalk Streams 

To consider the inquiry report before it is submitted to 
Cabinet.   

Chris Ward Robert Carington 

2 February 2023 East West Rail To receive an update on the project Dr Laura Leech 
Richard Lumley 

Steve Broadbent 
Peter Martin 
EWR Reps 

 Public Transport To receive a report including progress on Demand 
Responsive Pilots 

Richard Barker 
Sara Turnbull 
James Loader 

Steve Broadbent 

 Overall Performance on 
Waste Collection 

To consider the last six months of performance. Martin Dickman 
Richard Barker 

Gareth Williams 
Veolia Reps 
 

30 March 2023 HS2 To receive an update on the project Dr Laura Leech 
Richard Lumley 

Steve Broadbent 
Peter Martin 
HS2 Reps 

 New Highways Model To hear details regarding the mobilisation of the new 
Highways model 

Richard Barker 
Kevin Goad 

Steve Broadbent 

P
age 41



 

 

David Farquhar 
 Air Quality Monitoring in 

Buckinghamshire 
To provide an overview of air quality monitoring across the 
county 

Ben Coakley Gareth Williams 

 

P
age 42



 

 

Report to Cabinet 
Date:     11th October 2022 

Title:  Director of Public Health Annual Report: Hearts and 
Minds – Preventing Heart Disease and Stroke in 
Buckinghamshire 

Cabinet Member(s):   Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member Health and 
Wellbeing 

Contact officer:  Dr Jane O’Grady, Director of Public Health and 
Community Safety 

Ward(s) affected:   All Wards 

Recommendations:  Cabinet is requested to note the Director of Public 
Health Annual Report and endorse the 
recommendations within it and the draft action plan. 

Recommendations within the Director of Public Health Annual Report: 

We need to work together with partners and communities across Buckinghamshire to 

1. Act on the broader determinants of health such as income, debt, good quality 
employment, high quality education and healthy environments to level up outcomes 
across Buckinghamshire. Tackling these issues is an essential component of reducing 
inequalities in health and cardiovascular disease.  

2. Support a systematic large-scale improvement in behavioural risk factors by  
• ensuring the physical, social, commercial and economic environments in which 

people live, work and learn support healthy behaviours  
• increasing the understanding and the skills required to design effective behaviour 

change interventions across Buckinghamshire Council, the NHS and partners 
including rolling out the behaviour change Making Every Contact Count 
programme. This enables people to have “healthy conversations” to support 
behaviour change in their day-to-day interactions  

• working with communities to understand what would support them to reduce 
their risk of cardiovascular disease and co-design and evaluate appropriate 
approaches 

Page 43

Agenda Item 8



 

• supporting NHS trusts to implement the NHS Long Term Plan smoking cessation 
support requirements as smoking is the single biggest modifiable driver of health 
inequalities 

• working together with partners and communities to develop a whole system 
approach to healthy eating and physical activity to combat the rise in unhealthy 
weight and obesity.  

• working together to tackle smoking via the Tobacco Control Action Plan. 
• working together to address harmful alcohol misuse through development of our 

new drug and alcohol strategy 
3. Increase detection and management of modifiable risk factors in people at higher 

risk of cardiovascular disease including those living in more deprived areas, ethnic 
groups at higher risk of cardiovascular disease and those with mental illness by 
• increasing capacity in primary care in more deprived areas to undertake NHS 

health checks and detect and manage clinical risk factors such as high blood 
pressure and diabetes, and refer to appropriate interventions such as smoking 
cessation 

• working with people from ethnic minority groups to design effective, culturally 
competent approaches to increase detection of risk factors and management of 
risk factors  

• working with NHS and local authority partners to develop and implement the 
whole system plan to tackle inequalities in cardiovascular disease  

4. Improve data collection and monitoring to track progress 
• Improve data collection in primary and secondary care to enable monitoring of 

outcomes by ethnicity and areas of deprivation and improve the quality, accuracy 
and completeness of ethnic monitoring data 

• Undertake equity audits to determine access to and uptake of prevention and 
treatment initiatives of cardiovascular disease by different groups 

 

Reason for decision:  The Director of Public Health is required to produce an annual 
report on the health of Buckinghamshire population. This report 
provides an overview of the impact of cardiovascular disease on 
the health and wellbeing of Buckinghamshire residents. 
Cardiovascular disease is one of the largest drivers of poor health 
and death in the county and the biggest contributor to the gap in 
life expectancy between residents. The report highlights the need 
for a renewed focus on preventing cardiovascular disease and the 
risk factors that lead to it. This means tackling the key social, 
economic and environmental risk factors. The Council has a key 
role in this agenda through its day to day services and the 
Opportunity Bucks programme. Addressing the key risk factors 
will improve health in a variety of other ways including reducing 
the risk of cancer, diabetes, dementia, musculoskeletal problems 

Page 44



 

and poor mental health and produce many other societal and 
economic benefits, making Buckinghamshire an even better place 
to live. 

 

 

 

1. Executive summary 

1.1 Each year the Director of Public Health produces an annual report on the health of 
their population. There are two versions of this year’s report  -  the full version and a 
short read version, both are included in the Cabinet papers. 

1.2 This report focuses the importance of the prevention of cardiovascular disease for 
Buckinghamshire’s population. It serves as a baseline against which progress in 
improving cardiovascular disease prevention and outcomes for our population can 
be measured.  It highlights the opportunities that the Council, the NHS, the voluntary 
sector and residents have to reduce the risks of cardiovascular diseases in the 
County by working together on this agenda. 

1.3 The aim is to support a strategic approach for the Council and partners to address 
the cardiovascular health and risk factors of our population. 

1.4 The report summarises the many risk factors for cardiovascular disease. The risk 
factors include behavioural, clinical and environmental risk factors. It provides 
recommendations on how residents can reduce their risk of cardiovascular disease 
and what partners including the council can do to reduce these risk factors. The 
environmental risk factors include stress at work, the quality of housing and poor air 
quality.  

1.5 Some groups of residents are at an increased risk of cardiovascular disease 
compared to others. These include older residents, men, people on lower incomes, 
those living in deprived areas and people from some ethnic groups. People living 
with severe mental illness are also more at risk.  

1.6 Differences in cardiovascular disease between different groups are a significant 
driver of health inequalities across Buckinghamshire.  Cardiovascular disease is the 
largest contributor to the gap in life expectancy between people living in our most 
and least deprived areas. This makes cardiovascular disease a key concern for 
levelling up health outcomes in Buckinghamshire. 

1.7 The report highlights a range of programmes in Buckinghamshire designed to 
address the main behavioural and clinical risk factors for cardiovascular disease. 

Page 45



 

1.8 A multi-agency plan to address inequalities in cardiovascular disease across 
Buckinghamshire is being developed and implemented. It will be overseen by the 
Buckinghamshire Health and Wellbeing Board.  

1.9 To tackle cardiovascular disease and reduce inequalities in illness and premature 
death in Buckinghamshire we need a multilevel approach, at individual and 
community level and across the whole county. We need a range of programmes that 
will impact over the short, medium and long term. 

2. Content of report 

2.1 Cardiovascular disease describes diseases of the heart and blood vessels. It includes 
heart disease, stroke, transient ischaemic attacks (mini-strokes) and vascular 
dementia which is the second commonest type of dementia. It is responsible for 1 in 
4 premature deaths in the UK and is the biggest contributor to the gap in life 
expectancy between those living in the most and least deprived areas.  

2.2 Buckinghamshire is one of the least deprived and consequently healthiest counties in 
England. However, our residents still suffer from a significant burden of preventable 
diseases including cardiovascular disease. Although our death rate is lower than the 
national average, cardiovascular disease is a significant cause of ill health and 
disability in Buckinghamshire. It causes more than 1 in 5 deaths in Buckinghamshire 
and is the biggest contributor to the gap in life expectancy between people living in 
our most and least deprived areas.  

2.3 Death rates from cardiovascular disease had been falling in Buckinghamshire over 
the last 20 years but progress has been slowing and premature death rates have 
plateaued recently. The good news is that up to 80% of cardiovascular disease can 
be prevented. Many of the risk factors for cardiovascular disease also cause other 
disease such as cancer, lung and liver disease so addressing these risk factors will 
reduce other diseases too. 

2.4 Acting on the risk factors for cardiovascular disease can improve people’s health, 
quality of life and independence as well as the quality of our environment, help 
mitigate the impact of climate change and increase the economic and social success 
of Buckinghamshire. 

2.5 The risk factors for cardiovascular disease are a mix of personal characteristics such 
as age and ethnicity which cannot be changed and factors that are modifiable such 
as the environments and circumstances in which people live, people’s opportunities 
to adopt healthy behaviours and exposure to chronic stress.  

2.6 The modifiable risk factors can be categorised as: behavioural risk factors, clinical 
risk factors and environmental risk factors. These factors are often inter-related and 

Page 46



 

therefore we need a multi-agency and multi-level approach to address them. This 
approach combines actions people can take themselves, actions at a community 
level and Buckinghamshire wide level. National action is also required to help 
address some of the risk factors. 

2.7 Changing behaviour requires much more than a focus on the individual and their 
behaviour but a whole system approach that supports the individual to make healthy 
choices and makes healthy choices the easy choices. Interventions that introduce 
structural changes and require less effort on the part of the individual often have a 
larger health impact and reduce health inequalities more effectively. 

2.8 Anyone can develop cardiovascular disease, but some people are more likely to 
develop it than others. 

2.9 Cardiovascular disease increases with age and is more common in men, people living 
on lower incomes or living in more deprived areas and people from certain ethnic 
groups especially black and South Asian ethnic groups. It is also more common in 
people living with severe mental illnesses such as schizophrenia or bipolar disease. 
People with certain inherited conditions such as familial hypercholesterolaemia are 
also at an increased rate. Although cardiovascular disease increases with age it 
occurs at a younger age in certain groups at risk. 

2.10 Differences in cardiovascular disease between different groups are a significant 
driver of health inequalities across Buckinghamshire.  Cardiovascular disease is the 
largest contributor to the gap in life expectancy between people living in our most 
and least deprived areas.  

2.11 People living in the most deprived areas of England are 4 times more likely to die 
early from cardiovascular disease compared with people who live in the least 
deprived areas.  

2.12 National data shows that people from South Asian groups are more likely to develop 
and die from cardiovascular disease than white groups and have the highest risk of 
death from heart disease of any ethnic group. South Asian people also tend to 
develop cardiovascular disease at a younger age than their white counterparts. 
People from black ethnic groups appear to have a lower risk of heart disease but are 
more likely to have high blood pressure and die from stroke than other ethnic groups 
and more likely to have a stroke at a younger age.  

2.13 Men are more likely to have cardiovascular disease and more likely to die from it 
than women. Before the menopause female hormones have a protective effect on 
cardiovascular disease in women but after the menopause the prevalence of 
cardiovascular disease increases in women. However, when women develop heart 

Page 47



 

disease there are often disparities in treatment when compared to men for a range 
of reasons. 

2.14 The COVID pandemic has also increased the risk of cardiovascular disease both 
directly and indirectly. The pandemic has had an indirect impact on cardiovascular 
disease by worsening some people’s mental health and economic circumstances and 
increasing the proportion of people with unhealthy behaviours such as eating 
unhealthily, being less active, drinking more alcohol and gaining weight.  

2.15 The pandemic also reduced access to routine health care and preventive 
interventions such as NHS health checks and management of blood pressure and 
diabetes. COVID infection has had a direct impact on cardiovascular disease and led 
to an increase in cardiovascular disease events after infection, even in those who 
were not admitted to hospital.   

2.16 We have a range of programmes in Buckinghamshire designed to address the main 
behavioural and clinical risk factors for cardiovascular disease. These include 
smoking cessation, physical activity programmes, weight management, substance 
misuse support and healthy eating programmes. We are also developing and 
implementing a multi-agency plan to address inequalities in cardiovascular disease 
across Buckinghamshire, overseen by the Buckinghamshire Health and Wellbeing 
Board. 

2.17 People may be unaware they have some of the clinical risk factors such as high blood 
pressure, high cholesterol or diabetes as they may not have any symptoms. It is best 
to detect these conditions early as they can be effectively treated which will reduce 
the risk of developing cardiovascular disease. The free NHS health check is offered to 
eligible adults aged 40-74 and is designed to spot risk factors such as high blood 
pressure and high cholesterol or early signs of heart disease, type 2 diabetes, stroke, 
kidney disease or dementia.  

2.18 Buckinghamshire Council and partners have a variety of plans to improve the wider 
environmental risk factors for cardiovascular disease including action on climate 
change, air quality, active travel, employment and housing. 

3. Other options considered  

3.1 The recommendations in this report aim to capitalise on the opportunities afforded 
by the relationship between the Council, community boards, the NHS, the voluntary 
sector and the community to prioritise cardiovascular disease prevention and 
management. If the recommendations are not supported and implemented, there is 
potential that valuable opportunities to improve the health and wellbeing of our 
residents and tackle health inequalities within the County may be missed. 

Page 48



 

4. Legal and financial implications 

4.1 This is a report setting out the high-level summary of cardiovascular disease 
prevention and outcomes for Buckinghamshire’s residents. There are no direct 
financial implications of adopting this report. Any financial implications arising from 
implementing actions in the action plan would be subject to the usual financial 
processes and value for money assessments. 

4.2 No direct legal implications for this report. 

5. Corporate implications  

5.1 Value for Money: This is a high-level report covering a range of areas and therefore 
cannot be covered by a single value for money assessment. Individual policy 
decisions may flow from the report which will have individual value for money 
assessments. 

5.2 Other Consideration: This report is for partners as well as Buckinghamshire Council 
and will be disseminated and presented after approval by Cabinet in a variety of 
forums. 

6. Local councillors & community boards consultation & views  

6.1 The Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Health and Wellbeing and the Deputy 
Cabinet Member for Public Health have reviewed and approved the report.  

6.2 Local Members will be sent copies of the report after Cabinet Decision and the 
report is also being presented at the Health and Adult Social Care Select Committee 
and the Health and Wellbeing Board. 

7. Communication, engagement & further consultation 

7.1 Normal communication channels will be used to disseminate the report to partners 
and residents. 

8. Next steps and review  

8.1 Partners and the council can use the report to understand the potential for 
beneficial impacts on cardiovascular disease of a wide range of their own plans 
including the regeneration of town centres, transport planning and housing 
development or local health and wellbeing plans. The report will also inform the 
work plan being developed as part of the Health and Wellbeing Strategy and the 
Opportunity Bucks programme. A joint high level action plan to implement the 

Page 49



 

recommendations of the DPHAR will be developed and monitored through the 
Health and Wellbeing Board. 

9. Background papers  

9.1 The full Director of Public Health Annual Report and a short read version are 
included as appendices to this report. 

 

10. Your questions and views (for key decisions) 

10.1 If you have any questions about the matters contained in this report please get in 
touch with the author of this report. If you have any views that you would like the 
cabinet member to consider please inform the democratic services team. This can be 
done by telephone 01296 382343 or email democracy@buckinghamshire.gov.uk. 

Page 50

mailto:democracy@buckinghamshire.gov.uk


Hearts and Minds
Preventing heart disease and stroke  
in Buckinghamshire 

SHORT READ VERSION

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2022

Page 51

Appendix 



1. Introduction
Cardiovascular disease describes diseases of 
the heart and blood vessels. It includes heart 
disease, stroke, transient ischaemic attacks 
(mini-strokes) and vascular dementia, which 
is the second commonest type of dementia. 
Cardiovascular disease costs the NHS in 
England £7.4 billion and the wider economy 
£15.8 billion every year. It is responsible for one 
in four premature deaths in the UK and is the 
biggest contributor to the gap in life expectancy 
between those living in the most and least 
deprived areas. 

Buckinghamshire is one of least deprived and 
consequently healthiest counties in England. 
However, our residents still suffer from a 
significant burden of preventable diseases, 
including cardiovascular disease. Although our 
death rate is lower than the national average, 
cardiovascular disease is a significant cause 
of ill health and disability in Buckinghamshire. 
It causes more than one in five deaths in 
Buckinghamshire and is the biggest contributor 
to the gap in life expectancy between people 
living in our most and least deprived areas. 

Death rates from cardiovascular disease had 
been falling in Buckinghamshire over the 
last 20 years but progress has been slowing 
and premature death rates have plateaued 
recently. Risk factors for cardiovascular 
disease, such as obesity and diabetes, are 
rising nationally and locally and could lead to 
rising rates of cardiovascular disease again. 

The COVID pandemic has also had an impact 
on cardiovascular disease risk by increasing 
unhealthy behaviours and affecting other 
cardiovascular disease risk factors. Provisional 
data covering the pandemic period also revealed 
a rise in cardiovascular disease death rates 
between 2020 and 2021. The rise in the cost 
of living may also have an adverse impact on 
the development of cardiovascular disease in 
our residents. We need to act now to reduce 
the burden of ill health experienced by our 
communities.

The good news is that the majority of 
cardiovascular disease can be prevented. Many 
of the risk factors for cardiovascular disease 
also cause other diseases, such as cancer, lung 
and liver disease. Acting on these risk factors 
will reduce these diseases too and bring many 
benefits to individuals and communities. It 
can improve people’s health, quality of life and 
independence as well as the quality of our 
environment, help mitigate the impact of climate 
change and increase the economic and social 
success of Buckinghamshire.

Page 52



2. Risk factors for 
cardiovascular disease
We understand a lot about what increases 
peoples risk of developing cardiovascular 
disease so we can act effectively to prevent 
it developing in the first place. It is estimated 
that up to 80% of cardiovascular disease is 
preventable. 

The risk factors for cardiovascular disease are a 
mix of personal characteristics, such as age and 
ethnicity, which cannot be changed and factors 
that are modifiable, such as the environments 
and circumstances in which people live, people’s 
opportunities to adopt healthy behaviours and 
exposure to chronic stress. 

The modifiable risk factors can be categorised 
as behavioural risk factors, clinical risk factors 
and environmental risk factors and these are 
discussed below. These factors are often inter-
related and therefore we need a multi-agency 
and multi-level approach to address them. This 
approach combines actions people can take 
themselves, actions at a community level and a 
Buckinghamshire-wide level. National action is 
also required to help address some of the risk 
factors.

2.1 Behavioural risk factors
Smoking, being physically inactive, drinking 
too much alcohol and eating an unhealthy diet 
increase the risk of cardiovascular disease. The 
greater the number of risk factors a person has 
the greater the risk of developing cardiovascular 
disease. In Buckinghamshire, 13% of adults 
smoke but this rises to 22% in the most deprived 
areas of Buckinghamshire according to primary 
care data.

Changing behaviour is not just a matter of 
will power. Most health related behaviours 
are shaped in childhood and adolescence 
and are influenced by a wide range of factors 
when we are at an impressionable age. The 
health behaviours of young people are strongly 
influenced by the people they see around them, 

including parents, other adults and their peers. 
For instance, we know that children who have 
parents who smoke are more likely to become 
smokers themselves. 

The conditions in which people live also 
profoundly influences their ability to adopt 
healthy behaviours. For example, to eat healthily 
or keep homes warm requires a sufficient 
level of income. Studies show the poorest 
10% of UK households would need to spend 
75% of their disposable income on food to 
meet the recommendations for healthy eating 
compared to just 8% for the richest 20%. The 
density of fast food outlets is higher in more 
deprived areas increasing the availability of 
unhealthy food. The ability to build physical 
activity into daily routines is supported by 
safe cycling or walking routes and safe places 
to play and be physically active. The pricing, 
advertising and availability of food and alcohol 
affect consumption significantly and the food 
and alcohol industry spend many millions on 
advertising their products to influence cultural 
norms and consumption. For all these reasons 
the prevalence of health promoting or health 
harming behaviours varies across the population 
and over time. 

Changing behaviour requires much more than 
a focus on the individual and their behaviour 
but a whole system approach that supports the 
individual to make healthy choices and makes 
healthy choices the easy choices. Interventions 
that introduce structural changes and require 
less effort on the part of the individual often 
have a larger health impact and reduce 
health inequalities more effectively. The most 
effective approaches combine population level 
interventions and individual support. Smoking 
provides a good example of this combined 
approach. National action helps produce an 
environment that discourages smoking through 
legislation, taxation and advertising and 
individual support is offered to help people stop 
smoking.

Page 53



2.2 ‘Clinical’ risk factors
High blood pressure, being overweight or obese, 
having high levels of cholesterol in the blood 
and diabetes increases the risk of cardiovascular 
disease. The health behaviours described above 
often contribute to the risk of developing these 
conditions and addressing health behaviours 
can help reduce the risk of developing these 
conditions and help treat them. There are also 
effective treatments for these clinical conditions 
that reduce the risk of developing cardiovascular 
disease. 

It is estimated that more than half of cases of 
type 2 diabetes can be prevented or delayed. 
The risk factors for type 2 diabetes are an 
unhealthy diet, being overweight and lower 
levels of physical activity. In Buckinghamshire, 
6% of adults are recorded as having diabetes 
which is lower than the national average of 7%. 

In Buckinghamshire, 16% of adults are recorded 
as having high blood pressure and the 
prevalence is higher than the national average, 
which may reflect better detection or recording. 
The risk of developing high blood pressure is 
increased by being overweight, an unhealthy 
diet ,including eating too much salt, lack of 
physical activity and higher levels of alcohol 
consumption.

People often do not know they have high 
blood pressure, high cholesterol or diabetes 
as clinical tests are required to detect them. 
The recorded prevalence of both high blood 
pressure and diabetes has increased by 8% 
and 16% respectively in Buckinghamshire since 
2012 according to GP data. However, estimates 
suggest that in Buckinghamshire there may be 
10,000 people who have diabetes and 47,000 
people who have high blood pressure but it has 
not yet been recorded or diagnosed. The longer 
any of these conditions remain undetected and 
untreated the greater the risk of developing 
serious complications, such as heart attacks and 
strokes. 

The prevalence of obesity is increasing both in 
children and adults in Buckinghamshire. More 
than six in ten adults in Buckinghamshire are 

overweight or obese and one in three 10-11 year 
olds are overweight or obese. The prevalence of 
obesity in 10-11 year olds in Buckinghamshire is 
highest in the most deprived areas where 26% 
of children are obese and 14% are overweight.

Some people may not be aware that their weight 
is putting them at risk. People with a Body 
Mass Index (BMI) over 30 are classed as obese 
and have an increased risk of diabetes, high 
blood pressure, heart disease and dementia. 
People from South Asian and black ethnic 
groups have a higher risk of diabetes and 
cardiovascular disease at lower BMI than people 
from white groups. Waist circumference is also 
an indicator of cardiovascular disease risk - a 
waist measurement of more than 102cm for a 
man and 88cm for a woman increases the risk of 
cardiovascular disease.

2.3 Environmental risk 
factors
Certain types of stress at work have been found 
to be associated with an increased risk of death 
from cardiovascular disease. Stressful jobs 
are particularly damaging to health, and these 
can be either jobs that make high demands of 
employees but offer little control, or those that 
ask for a great deal of effort but provide little 
reward in the form of pay, recognition or status. 
These jobs are associated with worse physical 
and mental health, including higher risks of 
obesity, heart disease and diabetes. In addition, 
international evidence has shown that people 
who work more than 55 hours per week are 
more likely to die from heart disease and stroke 
than people working 35-40 hours per week.

Very high and very low temperatures are 
associated with increased risk of death from 
cardiovascular disease. Without mitigation 
climate change will lead to increased summer 
deaths. Cold homes are also associated with 
an increased risk of cardiovascular disease 
and other health problems. Before the COVID 
pandemic one in five excess winter deaths were 
due to cardiovascular disease.

Poor outdoor air quality is responsible for up to 
36,000 deaths per year in the UK, the majority of 
which are from heart disease and stroke.

Page 54



3. Who is more at risk of 
cardiovascular disease?
While anyone can develop cardiovascular 
disease, some people are more likely to develop 
it than others. It is important to understand 
who is at greater risk of cardiovascular disease 
to ensure that initiatives to prevent and treat 
cardiovascular disease are reaching those 
who need it most and are effective. Increasing 
people’s awareness of their increased risk also 
enables people to take appropriate steps to 
reduce their risk by acting on the risk factors 
that they can change themselves. 

Cardiovascular disease increases with age 
and is more common in men, people living 
on lower incomes or living in more deprived 
areas and people from certain ethnic groups, 
especially black and South Asian ethnic groups. 
It is also more common in people living with 
severe mental illnesses, such as schizophrenia 
or bipolar disease and people with certain 
inherited conditions, such as familial 
hypercholesterolaemia. Although cardiovascular 
disease increases with age it occurs at a 
younger age in certain groups at risk.

Differences in cardiovascular disease between 
different groups are a significant driver of 
health inequalities across Buckinghamshire. 
Cardiovascular disease is the largest contributor 
to the gap in life expectancy between people 
living in our most and least deprived areas. 

3.1 People living in deprived 
areas
People living in the most deprived areas of 
England are four times more likely to die early 
from cardiovascular disease compared with 
people who live in the least deprived areas. 
This is due to the complex inter-relationship 
of factors, such as income, employment and 
environment, their impact on the opportunity to 
adopt healthy behaviours and the development 
of conditions such as diabetes. Nationally, 
people living in deprived areas have higher 

levels of smoking, physical inactivity and 
harmful alcohol consumption. They also have 
higher levels of clinical risk factors such as high 
blood pressure, diabetes and overweight. They 
are more likely to live in poorer quality housing 
and areas with lower environmental quality, 
have lower incomes and poorer quality jobs, 
all of which increase the risk of cardiovascular 
disease. 

In Buckinghamshire, data shows that people 
living in our most deprived areas have a 
premature death rate from cardiovascular 
disease which is 2.6 times higher than those 
living in the least deprived areas. Emergency 
admission rates to hospital for cardiovascular 
disease are 60-90% higher from our most 
deprived areas compared to our least deprived 
areas but rates of planned admissions are only 
20% higher from these areas.

People living in our more deprived areas 
have higher rates of smoking, overweight 
and diabetes than in other areas of 
Buckinghamshire. The frequency of these 
conditions shows a stepwise increase as area 
deprivation increases. 

3.2 Differences in 
cardiovascular disease risk 
between ethnic groups

South Asian ethnic groups

National data shows that people from South 
Asian groups are more likely to develop and die 
from cardiovascular disease than white groups 
and have the highest risk of death from heart 
disease of any ethnic group. South Asian people 
also tend to develop cardiovascular disease at 
a younger age than their white counterparts. 
South Asian men have been found to develop 
cardiovascular disease on average at around 
60 years of age which is eight years younger 

Page 55



than white men. South Asian women develop 
cardiovascular disease around 63 years of age 
which is 11 years earlier than white women. 
This reflects the complex mix of environmental, 
social, behavioural and clinical risk factors 
highlighted above and is not inevitable. 

The increased prevalence of diabetes in South 
Asian groups is a significant driver of increased 
cardiovascular disease risk. People from South 
Asian groups are up to six times more likely to 
develop diabetes than people from white groups 
and develop diabetes at a younger age at 
around 62 years compared to 67 years for white 
European groups. The risk of developing type 2 
diabetes increases from age 25 in South Asian 
groups compared to age 40 in white groups.

By the age of 80 years 40-50% of South Asian 
people will have diabetes which is twice the 
prevalence in Europeans.

Being a healthy weight, having a healthy diet 
and being physically active help prevent or 
delay the onset of diabetes. Although adults 
of South Asian ethnicity tend to be a lower 
weight than white groups, they develop diabetes 
and cardiovascular disease at a lower weight 
as measured by Body Mass Index than white 
groups.

Other risk factors, such as smoking and drinking 
harmful levels of alcohol, are lower in South 
Asian groups than white groups which helps 
protect their health.

In Buckinghamshire, people of Pakistani 
ethnicity have the highest prevalence of 
coronary heart disease and diabetes.

Black ethnic groups

People from black ethnic groups appear to have 
a lower risk of heart disease but are more likely 
to have high blood pressure and die from stroke 
than other ethnic groups and more likely to have 
a stroke at a younger age. Black ethnic groups in 
the UK may be three to four times more likely to 
have high blood pressure than white groups and 
there is some evidence to suggest when blood 
pressure is detected it is less likely to be well 
controlled in these groups.

People from black ethnic groups are also up to 
three times more likely to develop diabetes and 
have a higher risk of dying from diabetes than 
the white population. People from black ethnic 
groups also tend to develop diabetes at a lower 
weight than white groups. 

People from black ethnic groups are less likely 
to smoke or consume alcohol to harmful levels 
than white groups which helps protect their 
health.

In Buckinghamshire, according to primary care 
records, black ethnic groups have the second 
highest prevalence of diagnosed high blood 
pressure (white British groups have highest 
prevalence) and the second highest prevalence 
of diagnosed diabetes. People from black ethnic 
groups have the lowest prevalence of diagnosed 
heart disease. 

Social and economic factors

Social and economic factors are also likely to 
play a role in the increased risk of cardiovascular 
disease in black and South Asian groups. Some 
ethnic groups are more likely to live in deprived 
areas and it is likely that this is a marker for 
other social factors, such as income, experience 
of work related stress and environmental quality, 
that are important components of the increased 
risk of cardiovascular disease in these groups. 
Experience of racism is also known to affect 
health by increasing stress levels and may also 
play a role.

The accuracy and completeness of ethnic 
recording of hospital health care data for 
Buckinghamshire residents is incomplete 
making assessment of access and outcomes 
by ethnicity more difficult. In addition, death 
certificates do not currently record ethnicity to 
allow analysis at local level.

Page 56



3.3 Differences in 
cardiovascular disease risk 
by gender
Men are more likely to have cardiovascular 
disease and more likely to die from it than 
women. Before the menopause female 
hormones have a protective effect on 
cardiovascular disease in women but 
after the menopause the prevalence of 
cardiovascular disease increases in women. In 
Buckinghamshire, men are 2.3 times more likely 
to die prematurely from cardiovascular disease 
than women. Between 2019 and 2021 death 
rates from cardiovascular disease increased in 
both men and women but much more markedly 
in men.

Men are more likely to have diabetes than 
women at the same age and more likely to 
smoke and drink to harmful levels.

However, international evidence shows that 
women are less likely to correctly identify the 

symptoms of a heart attack, that they are slower 
to seek treatment, that they are 50% more likely 
to receive the wrong initial diagnosis and that 
when a heart attack is diagnosed, they received 
unequal care. Prompt treatment is critical to 
reduce complications and damage after a heart 
attack. 

3.4 People with severe mental 
illness 
People with a severe mental illness (such 
as schizophrenia or bipolar disorder) have 
a greater risk of developing cardiovascular 
disease and dying from it than people without 
a serious illness of a similar age. Some risk 
factors are more common in people with severe 
mental illness, such as smoking and alcohol 
consumption. Diabetes and obesity are also 
more common in people with severe mental 
illness and some of this increase may partly be 
due to the side effects of some medication.

4. Cardiovascular disease 
and COVID
People with cardiovascular disease or the risk 
factors for cardiovascular disease, such as high 
blood pressure, diabetes or obesity ,tended 
to experience more serious outcomes from 
infection with COVID. 

The COVID pandemic has also increased the 
risk of cardiovascular disease both directly and 
indirectly. The pandemic has had an indirect 
impact on cardiovascular disease by worsening 
some people’s mental health and economic 
circumstances and increasing the proportion 
of people with unhealthy behaviours, such as 
eating unhealthily, being less active, drinking 
more alcohol and gaining weight. 

The pandemic also reduced access to routine 
health care and preventive interventions, such 

as NHS health checks and management of 
blood pressure and diabetes. COVID infection 
has had a direct impact on cardiovascular 
disease and led to an increase in cardiovascular 
disease events after infection, even in those who 
were not admitted to hospital.  

COVID will continue to impact on society 
and we are still learning about the impact 
COVID has on long-term health. There is some 
emerging evidence that COVID itself may 
increase the risk of cardiovascular disease in 
people who get infected. COVID will continue to 
circulate and will impact more severely on those 
with pre-existing cardiovascular disease or its 
risk factors, which gives us added incentive to 
tackle cardiovascular disease now.

Page 57



5. What are we doing now?
We have a range of programmes in 
Buckinghamshire designed to address the 
main behavioural and clinical risk factors for 
cardiovascular disease. These are highlighted 
in the main report. We are also developing 
and implementing a multi-agency plan to 
address inequalities in cardiovascular disease 
across Buckinghamshire, overseen by the 
Buckinghamshire Health and Wellbeing Board.

5.1 Addressing behavioural 
risk factors
Smoking is addressed through the multi-agency 
Buckinghamshire Tobacco Control Strategy 
and implementing the NHS Long Term Plan for 
smoking cessation. The council provides free 
smoking cessation support to those who wish 
to quit smoking through the Live Well Stay Well 
service. 

Physical activity is addressed via the multi-
agency Buckinghamshire Physical Activity 
Strategy 2018-2023 and action plan. Examples 
of successful programmes include Active 
Communities, a pilot project taking a whole 
community approach to reduce sedentary 
behaviour in two communities, and an Active 
Movement in Schools programme to reduce 
sedentary behaviour in children and families.  
Other programmes support Active Travel and 
Play Streets.

Healthy eating and a healthy weight are 
addressed through several programmes, 
including the Buckinghamshire ‘Whole Systems 
Approach To Healthy Weight’. The approach 
brings together partners, including housing, 
planning, transport, leisure and schools and 
local communities, to develop and agree on a 
shared action plan that addresses the wider 
environmental factors that make it easier for 
people to maintain a healthy weight. 

Healthy eating activities include increasing 
access to healthy affordable food through 
community growing schemes such as Grow It 
Cook It Eat It, which supports communities to 
grow their own food and offers cookery courses, 

including basic cookery skills and healthy 
meals on a budget. Grow to Give encourages 
people to grow more food in their gardens and 
allotments and donate the surplus to food banks 
and community fridges. In 2021 the community 
of growers donated 3.22 tonnes of produce for 
food parcels that supported over 600 families, 
that’s the same weight as 403 baskets of fruit 
and vegetables, three giraffes or two family 
sized cars.

Buckinghamshire Council commissions some 
weight management services, including through 
our integrated lifestyle service, Live Well 
Stay Well. The NHS also offers some weight 
management support and programmes to 
prevent the development of diabetes. 

5.2 Detecting and managing 
clinical risk factors
The free NHS health check is offered to eligible 
adults aged 40-74 and is designed to spot risk 
factors such as high blood pressure and high 
cholesterol or early signs of heart disease, type 
2 diabetes, stroke, kidney disease or dementia. 

It offers opportunities for people to be tested 
and be given advice about reducing their risk 
of cardiovascular disease and referred on for 
treatment if required. The NHS health check 
was paused during the pandemic but has now 
restarted and we are working to increase uptake 
in groups at greatest risk of cardiovascular 
disease. The NHS is also working to support 
management of high blood pressure and 
diabetes as we adapt to living with COVID.

5.3 Addressing environmental 
risk factors
Buckinghamshire Council and partners 
have a variety of plans to improve the wider 
environmental risk factors for cardiovascular 
disease, including action on climate change, air 
quality, active travel, employment and housing.

Page 58

https://www.healthandwellbeingbucks.org/resources/Councils/bucks-public-health/pdf/Buckinghamshire-Tobacco-Control-Strategy-2019-2024.pdf
https://www.healthandwellbeingbucks.org/activity-strategy
https://www.healthandwellbeingbucks.org/activity-strategy
https://www.healthandwellbeingbucks.org/s4s/WhereILive/Council?pageId=5526
https://www.healthandwellbeingbucks.org/s4s/WhereILive/Council?pageId=5526
https://www.healthandwellbeingbucks.org/s4s/WhereILive/Council?pageId=5504
https://www.healthandwellbeingbucks.org/s4s/WhereILive/Council?pageId=5504
https://www.growtogive.co.uk/


6. Recommendations
We need a renewed focus on preventing 
cardiovascular disease in Buckinghamshire. This 
needs to address the key social, economic and 
environmental risk factors for cardiovascular 
disease, alongside the behavioural and clinical 
risk factors to keep our residents healthy and 
narrow inequalities. Tackling the key risk factors 
will also improve health in a variety of other ways, 
including reducing the risk of cancer, diabetes, 
dementia, musculoskeletal problems and poor 
mental health, and produce many other societal 
and economic benefits, making Buckinghamshire 
an even better place to live.

To tackle cardiovascular disease and reduce 
inequalities in illness and premature death in 
Buckinghamshire we need a multilevel approach 
that addresses risks at the individual, community 
and Buckinghamshire-wide level that will impact 
over the short, medium and long term.

We need to work together with partners and 
communities across Buckinghamshire to:

1. Act on the broader determinants of health, 
such as income, debt, good quality employment, 
high quality education and healthy environments 
to level up outcomes across Buckinghamshire. 
Tackling these issues is an essential component 
of reducing inequalities in health. 

2. Support a systematic large-scale 
improvement in behavioural risk factors by: 

•	 Ensuring the physical, social, commercial and 
economic environments in which people live, 
work and learn support healthy behaviours. 

•	 Increasing the understanding and the skills 
required to design effective behaviour change 
interventions across Buckinghamshire Council, 
the NHS and partners, including rolling out 
the behaviour change Making Every Contact 
Count programme. This enables people to have 
‘healthy conversations’ to support behaviour 
change in their day-to-day interactions. 

•	 Working with communities to understand 
what would support them to reduce their risk 
of cardiovascular disease and co-design and 
evaluate appropriate approaches.

•	 Supporting NHS trusts to implement the NHS 
Long Term Plan smoking cessation support 
requirements as smoking is the single biggest 
modifiable driver of health inequalities.

•	 Working together with partners and 
communities to develop a whole system 
approach to healthy eating and physical 
activity to combat the rise in unhealthy weight 
and obesity. 

•	 Working together to tackle smoking via the 
Tobacco Control Action Plan.

•	 Working together to address harmful alcohol 
misuse through development of our new drug 
and alcohol strategy.

3. Increase detection and management of 
modifiable risk factors in people at higher risk 
of cardiovascular disease, including those living 
in more deprived areas, ethnic groups at higher 
risk of cardiovascular disease and those with 
mental illness by:

•	 Increasing capacity in primary care in more 
deprived areas to undertake NHS health 
checks and detect and manage clinical 
risk factors, such as high blood pressure 
and diabetes, and refer to appropriate 
interventions, such as smoking cessation.

•	 Working with people from ethnic minority 
groups to design effective, culturally competent 
approaches to increase detection of risk factors 
and management of risk factors. 

•	 Working with NHS and local authority partners 
to develop and implement the whole system 
plan to tackle inequalities in cardiovascular 
disease. 

4. Improve data collection and monitoring to 
track progress.

•	 Improve data collection in primary and 
secondary care to enable monitoring of 
outcomes by ethnicity and areas of deprivation 
and improve the quality, accuracy and 
completeness of ethnic monitoring data.

•	 Undertake equity audits to determine access 
to and uptake of prevention and treatment 
initiatives of cardiovascular disease by different 
groups.

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



Hearts and Minds
Preventing heart disease and stroke  
in Buckinghamshire

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2022

Page 61

Appendix 



2

Contents
Foreword	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 3

How to use this report	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 4

1. Introduction	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 6

2. Risk factors for cardiovascular disease	 	 	 	 	 7

2.1 Behavioural risk factors	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 8

2.2 Clinical risk factors	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 21

2.3 Social economic and environmental risk factors	 	 	 	 	 23

3. Who is most at risk?	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 26

3.1 People living in deprived areas		 	 	 	 	 	 	 27

3.2 Differences between ethnic groups	 	 	 	 	 	 	 29

3.3 Differences by gender	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 32

3.4 People with severe mental illness	 	 	 	 	 	 	 33

3.5 People with learning disabilities	 	 	 	 	 	 	 33

4. The Buckinghamshire picture		 	 	 	 	 	 34

4.1 Prevalence of conditions recorded in primary care	 	 	 	 	 36

4.2 Gender differences in cardiovascular conditions recorded in primary care	 38

4.3 Hospital admissions and trends	 	 	 	 	 	 	 39

4.4 Death rates and trends	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 42

4.5 Differences by ethnic group	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 44

5. Summary and recommendations	 	 	 	 	 	 47

5.1 What should we do?	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 48

6. Glossary	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 49

Page 62



3

Foreword

Acknowledgements

This year my annual report is about 
cardiovascular disease in Buckinghamshire 
and how we can prevent it. 

Cardiovascular disease causes heart disease, 
stroke and the second commonest type of 
dementia -vascular dementia. It causes 1 in 5 
of all deaths in Buckinghamshire and is the 
major contributor to the gap in life expectancy 
between people living in our most deprived 
and least deprived areas. Whilst cardiovascular 
disease can affect anyone, it is more common in 
men, some ethnic groups, such as South Asian 
and black ethnic groups and people living in 
more deprived areas. However, cardiovascular 
disease is not inevitable and there is a lot 
we can do as individuals, communities and 
organisations in Buckinghamshire to prevent it.

The main modifiable risk factors for 
cardiovascular disease include behavioural risk 
factors, such as smoking, ‘clinical’ risk factors 
and social and environmental risk factors. 
People can take action themselves on some risk 
factors but there is more that organisations and 
society can do to help people do this. 

For the behavioural risk factors a whole system 
approach that makes healthy choices the easy 
choices is more effective in changing behaviours 
than focusing on the individual alone. 

Raising awareness of other risk factors is also 
important. Many people do not know they 
have ‘clinical’ risk factors, such as high blood 
pressure, high cholesterol or diabetes, as 
they may not have any symptoms. However, if 
these conditions are found early there are very 
effective treatments to manage them and reduce 
the risk of people developing cardiovascular 
disease. 

Finally, the conditions in which people live 
and work can also impact on their risk of 
cardiovascular disease. The social and 
environmental risk factors mean that a diverse 
range of people and organisations can impact 
on our residents’ risk of cardiovascular disease 
through their role in planning, transport, air 
quality, housing conditions and stress at work.

Addressing the key risk factors successfully 
will improve health in many additional ways, 
including reducing the risk of cancer, diabetes, 
dementia, musculoskeletal problems and poor 
mental health. It will also produce many other 
benefits, including improving child health and 
learning, economic productivity, improving 
air quality, helping to mitigate the impacts 
of climate change and improving quality of 
life for our residents. To do this we will need 
action from a wide range of partners, including 
communities and individuals themselves, 
local government, the NHS, voluntary sector, 
businesses and national government but the 
benefits are definitely worth it!

Dr. Jane O’Grady
Director of Public Health and Community Safety, 
Buckinghamshire Council

Thanks to Abigail Moffat, Caroline Thickens, 
David Stoye, Elizabeth Biggs, Elkie Dolling, 
Emma Dillner, Josiane Dyson, Layla Ravey, 
Louise Hurst, Lucie Smith, Michelle Baragona, 
Nicola Higgins, Sally Hone, Sarah Preston, 
Sarah Winchester, Thilina Jayatilleke, Tiffany 
Burch and Victoria Cooke.

Page 63



4

How to use this report
In addition to the report, there are a few tools to help with understanding the content.

•	 A glossary is available at the end of the document to clarify some of the technical 
language used. 

•	 Analysis in this report sometimes mentions ‘deprivation’, ‘least deprived’ and 
‘most deprived’. Deprivation in England is measured using the Index of Multiple 
Deprivation (IMD). It is an official measure of relative deprivation and defines 
deprivation to include a wide range of an individual’s living conditions. Within 
Buckinghamshire, the population for our county is split into five even groups 
(quintiles) containing 20% of the population each, based on the deprivation score 
of the areas they live in. When the term ‘least deprived’ is used, it means the 20% 
of the Buckinghamshire population who live in the least deprived areas within the 
county using the Index of Multiple Deprivation. The ‘most deprived’ means the 20% 
of the Buckinghamshire resident who live in the most deprived areas within the 
county using the Index of Multiple Deprivation. A map of deprivation quintiles for the 
county is on the next page.

•	 Some of the analysis also mentions community boards. These are boards that allow 
council members and communities to come together to address local issues that 
matter to them. There are 16 community boards across the county. A map for the 
boards is below.

�

�

�

�

�

�

� �
�

��
��

��
�� ��
��

��

���������
���
�	�������

��������
���
����������

�����������

������
�������
�������

������
��������

�������� �
�	�������

�������
�­����
��

����������

���
��
���
�	�������
������������
��������
��

����������������
��
����������
������
�������������������
��
�������

������
���
��
��­����

�������
�������
�������

�������
��

Page 64



5

Page 65



6

1. Introduction
Cardiovascular disease describes diseases of the heart and blood vessels. It includes 
heart disease, stroke, transient ischaemic attacks (mini-strokes) and can cause heart 
attacks, heart failure, chronic kidney disease, peripheral arterial disease and vascular 
dementia which is the second most common type of dementia. Cardiovascular 
disease costs the NHS in England £7.4 billion and the wider economy £15.8 billion 
every year. It is responsible for 1 in 4 premature deaths in the UK and is the biggest 
contributor to the gap in life expectancy between those living in the most and least 
deprived areas. 

Buckinghamshire is one of least deprived and consequently healthiest counties in 
England. However, our residents still suffer from a significant burden of preventable 
diseases, including cardiovascular disease. Although our death rates from 
cardiovascular disease are lower than the national average, cardiovascular disease 
is a significant cause of ill health and disability in Buckinghamshire. It causes 1 in 5 
deaths in Buckinghamshire and is the biggest contributor to the gap in life expectancy 
between people living in our most and least deprived areas. 

The good news is that most cardiovascular disease can be prevented.

Page 66



7

2. Risk factors for 
cardiovascular disease
The risk of cardiovascular disease is determined by a range of interlinked factors. 
Some risk factors are personal characteristics that cannot be changed, such as 
age and ethnicity. Modifiable risk factors include health-related behaviours such as 
smoking or biological or clinical risk factors such as high blood pressure. The physical, 
social and economic environment in which people live, learn and work also has a 
profound impact on their risk of cardiovascular disease. These broader determinants 
of health affect people’s stress levels, ability to adopt healthy behaviours or avoid 
exposure to harmful environmental conditions such as poor air quality which all 
impact on their cardiovascular health. 

The risk factors are dealt with in turn in the following sections.

Page 67



8

2.1 Behavioural risk factors

2.1.1 The challenge of changing 
behaviour and best practice

The health behaviours that increase the risk of 
cardiovascular disease are smoking, unhealthy 
eating, drinking too much alcohol and being 
insufficiently physically active. These risk factors 
increase the risk of cardiovascular disease but 
also contribute to the development of clinical 
risk factors such as high blood pressure, 
obesity, diabetes and high cholesterol that also 
increase the risk of cardiovascular disease. 
Addressing these risk factors holistically would 
also decrease the risk of many other diseases, 
including cancer and dementia, and improve 
many other aspects of life from birth to old age, 
increase economic productivity and contribute 
to a better quality of life for residents.

However, changing behaviours is hard and 
these behaviours do not occur in a vacuum. 
These behaviours are influenced by the social, 
economic, cultural and physical environment 
in which people live. For a person to change 
their behaviour they must have the Capacity 
(including knowledge, skills and ability), 
Opportunity and Motivation to perform the 
desired Behaviour – known as the COM-B 
model of behaviour change. For instance, it is 
hard to eat healthily if you do not have enough 
money. It has been shown that families from 
the poorest tenth of the population need to 
spend 75% of their disposable income to eat the 
recommended healthy diet. Likewise, if there are 
not safe places to play, safe walking or cycling 
routes to school, work or shops it is harder to 
build in the required level of physical activity 
into the day. 

In addition, most health-related behaviours 
are shaped in childhood and adolescence 
and are influenced by a wide range of factors 
when we are an impressionable age. The 
health behaviours of young people are strongly 
influenced by the people they see around 
them, including parents, other adults and their 
peers. For instance, we know that children 
who have parents who smoke are more likely 
to become smokers themselves. The pricing, 
advertising and availability of food and alcohol 

affect consumption significantly and the food 
and alcohol industry spend many millions on 
advertising their products to influence cultural 
norms and consumption. The density of fast 
food outlets is higher in more deprived areas. 
For all these reasons the prevalence of health 
promoting or health harming behaviours varies 
across the population and over time. Changing 
behaviour requires much more than a focus on 
the individual and their behaviour but a whole 
system approach that supports the individual 
to make healthy choices and makes healthy 
choices the easy choices.

Stopping smoking is a good example of the 
variety of interventions needed to change 
behaviour: legislation creates ‘smoke free’ 
environments making it harder to smoke in 
public places, cigarettes are less affordable 
because of taxation, pictures on packaging 
show the real effect on people bodies, cigarettes 
are less visible within society due to a lack of 
advertising, and smoking cessation services 
support people develop skills to stop smoking. 

To enable people to live healthy lives we must 
understand their barriers to making behaviour 
change and what would help them make 
a change. This differs for diverse groups of 
people. The best way to do this is to use co-
design to involve people in shaping and testing 
and evaluating services and interventions that 
they will want to use. Co-production takes this 
process one step further where communities 
and individuals help deliver the service or 
intervention themselves. Effective behaviour 
change also requires that we understand 
people’s views on the wider environmental 
changes that would be necessary to enable 
behaviour change. 

Evidence shows that interventions that alter 
our environments to promote health, such as 
structural changes that require little or no action 
from individuals, see the largest population 
health gains and gains in the most vulnerable 
communities compared to individual-based 
approaches. For example, more than 50% of the 
population are overweight or obese. A strategy 
that focuses solely on changing the behaviour of 
individuals one person at a time cannot reverse 
this epidemic. A whole system approach at 
population level is required that addresses a 

Page 68



9

wide range of factors such as food formulation, 
pricing, advertising, availability of healthy food 
and social norms.

2.1.2 What we are doing

Recognising the importance of effective 
behaviour change, we are training teams in the 
council, NHS and wider partners in the use of 
the COM-B model described above to co-design 
services with communities. 

We are also rolling out the Making Every 
Contact Count programme to support behaviour 
change across the council and partners. Making 
Every Contact Count (MECC) is an evidence-
based approach to behaviour change which 
uses the day-to-day interactions people and 
organisations have with others to cascade 
health and wellbeing messages and information, 
whilst supporting people to make plans and 
identify actions that will improve their health. 
MECC gives people the skills to have ‘healthy 
conversations’ with their friends, family and 
community which can help sow the seeds of 
change and improve health and wellbeing 

Public Health and partners have trained 245 
people in MECC, including people from several 
organisations including adult social care 
staff and social care providers, voluntary and 
community organisations, schools, food banks, 
housing trusts and parish councils.

We are also working with partners across 
Buckinghamshire to produce multiagency 
strategies and action plans on the four risk 
factors that consider the impact of the wider 
environment on health behaviours. This 	
includes strategies and plans on:

•	 Physical activity.
•	 Tobacco control.
•	 Whole systems approach to healthy weight.

•	 The Buckinghamshire Drug and Alcohol 
Strategy is being reviewed and updated by 	
the local multi agency partnership in 2022.

The next section looks at each of these 
behavioural risk factors in turn and highlights 
what we can do about them locally.

2.1.3 Smoking and tobacco

Smoking and cardiovascular  
disease risk
Smoking is a major cause of cardiovascular 
disease (CVD) and accounts for approximately 
one of every four deaths from cardiovascular 
disease nationally. Smoking is also the 
single biggest driver of inequality in death 
rates between the least and most deprived 
communities. Over half the difference in the 
risk of premature death between the least and 
most deprived is due to smoking.1 Most smokers 
started smoking in their teenage years and 
the addictive nature of tobacco makes it more 
difficult to stop.

Smokers are two to four times more likely 
to get heart disease compared to people 
who do not smoke, and smoking doubles 
the risk of a stroke and the risk of dying 
from a stroke. 

People who smoke are also 30-40% more likely 
to develop type 2 diabetes and need more 
insulin to regulate their blood sugar.2 Dementia 
is also more likely to develop in smokers than 
people who have never smoked.3

The risk of cardiovascular disease increases 
with the number of cigarettes smoked per day 
and the numbers of years people have been 
smoking. Even people who smoke fewer than 
five cigarettes a day may show signs of early 
cardiovascular disease. People who smoke 20 

Page 69

https://www.healthandwellbeingbucks.org/Resources/Councils/Buckinghamshire/Documents/Physical%20Activity%20Strategy.pdf
https://www.healthandwellbeingbucks.org/resources/Councils/bucks-public-health/pdf/Buckinghamshire-Tobacco-Control-Strategy-2019-2024.pdf


10

cigarettes a day are six times more likely to have 
a stroke compared to non-smokers. Exposure 
to second-hand smoke can also cause heart 
disease, heart attacks and strokes in non-
smokers. 

Smoking rates have been falling nationally for 
many years and during the COVID pandemic 
in 2020, in England at least 300,000 people 
quit smoking successfully. Over two million 
people cut down on the number of cigarettes 
they smoke each day.4 However, during the first 
lockdown in 2020, a study found that there was 
a 25% rise in 18 to 34-year-olds who smoke - 
resulting in more than 652,000 new smokers 
among this age group.5

Smoking prevalence in 
Buckinghamshire
In Buckinghamshire, it is estimated that about 
11.3% of adults smoked in 2019. While the 
prevalence of smoking in Buckinghamshire 
has been falling and is lower than the national 
average, unfortunately our smoking rates have 
increased since 2017 when 9.6% of adults were 
smokers in Buckinghamshire. 

The prevalence of smoking varies across 
residents in Buckinghamshire. Men have 
higher smoking rates than women. One in five 
people living in our most deprived areas are 
smokers compared to one in ten in our least 
deprived areas. Residents in routine and manual 
occupations are 2.5 times more likely to smoke 
in Buckinghamshire compared to people in 
managerial and professional occupations. 
Almost three in ten unemployed residents 
smoke compared to one in ten employed 
residents. 

Residents with serious mental illness are three 
times more likely to smoke (three in ten smoke) 
compared to other residents (one in ten). 

In England, residents from minority ethnic 
groups are less likely to smoke compared to 
residents from predominantly white ethnic 
groups (9.7% of black adults and 10.8% of 
Asian adults smoke compared to 14.7% of white 
adults). Within all ethnic groups, women are 
less likely to smoke compared to men - 15.9% 
of men in England smoke compared to 12.5% of 
women.6 When looking at some minority ethnic 

groups the difference is larger. For example, 
13.9% of Asian men smoke compared to 2.9% of 
Asian women.7

Smoking and the NHS
One in every 20 NHS hospital beds are occupied 
by someone with a smoking-related illness. 

In Buckinghamshire in 2019/20 there were 3,085 
hospital admissions attributable to smoking 
resulting in a rate of 957 per 100,000 which is 
lower than the England average of 1,398 per 
100,000.8 An audit in 2016 of admissions in 
the local hospital found that one in four were 
smokers but the majority were not asked if they 
would like to quit smoking. People who smoke 
are more likely to have complications after 
surgery, such as infections or delayed healing, 
and need to stay longer in hospital. 

Evidence shows that smoking cessation 
interventions delivered as routine within 
hospitals could have a major impact on the 
number of smokers making a quit attempt.

The NHS Long Term Plan has set a goal to 
support people in contact with NHS services 
to quit smoking. This is based on an evidence-
based model already implemented in Canada 
(Ottawa model) and Manchester (CURE model). 

The model relies on health care professionals 
identifying patients who smoke at the time of 
admission. Patients then receive brief advice 
from that health care professional before being 
referred to a tobacco dependency advisor in the 
hospital. Patients receive appropriate nicotine 
replacement therapy and counselling to aid 
them to quit. The Ottawa Model can improve 
long-term quit rates by 11% and could save the 
NHS nearly 100,000 admissions by the end of 
2023/24.

The CURE project is also estimated to save 
30,880 bed days per year across England.

By applying the Ottawa Model outcomes to 
the that in Buckinghamshire population, the 
following benefits over five years:

•	 284 lives saved.
•	 9,429 extra quitters. 
•	 A net saving of £5,490,884.

Page 70



11

Quitting smoking
The best thing all smokers can do for their 
heart and general health is to quit smoking. 
Even long-term smokers can see rapid health 
improvements when they quit. Within one year 
of quitting smoking, the risk of a heart attack 
drops significantly. In addition, within five years 
of quitting smoking, smokers lower their risk of a 
stroke to almost that of a person who has never 
smoked.

People’s success at quitting smoking varies 
44.5% of people under 18 years old report 
successful quitting compared to 61.4% of people 
aged over 60 years old.9 Men are also more 
likely to quit successfully at 62% compared to 
women at 54%. Residents in the most deprived 
areas are just as likely to try to quit smoking, 
but they often find it harder to stop smoking 
compared to people in less deprived areas.10 
Data from ONS (Office for National Statistics) 
2012 showed that of all those people who had 
ever smoked (current and ex-smokers), men and 
women in the most deprived fifth of areas were 
less likely to have given up smoking (46.5% 
and 48.5% respectively) than those in the least 
deprived fifth (74.0% and 76.0% respectively).11 
Ethnicity does not seem to impact on a person’s 
chances of quitting.

What we are doing in 
Buckinghamshire 
A wide range of partner organisations in 
Buckinghamshire, including public and 
voluntary sectors, are working together to help 
people to stop smoking and reduce the harm 
from tobacco. The Buckinghamshire Tobacco 
Control Strategy sets out our ambitions to 
achieve a smokefree future for residents. The 
three main aims of the strategy are to:

1.	 Continue to reduce smoking prevalence 
rates and inequalities caused by smoking for 
adults, children and young people.

2.	 Reduce the harms associated with second-
hand smoke.

3.	 Reduce the supply and demand of illicit 
tobacco.

Partners are now working together as the 
Buckinghamshire Tobacco Control Alliance to 
implement the annual action plan against the 
four themes of the strategy: Prevention first, 

Supporting smokers to quit, Eliminate variations 
in smoking rates and Effective enforcement.  

Work which is taking place to support this 
includes:

Smoking cessation support and e-cigarette 
pilot: Buckinghamshire’s Stop Smoking Service, 
Live Well Stay Well, offers free stop smoking 
support to residents in Buckinghamshire. They 
have launched a new e-cigarette pilot so that 
clients can choose this method to support them 
to quit smoking. 

Surgery waiting lists: Increase the number 
of patients on surgical waiting lists who quit 
smoking while waiting for their operation, 
including training staff in Making Every Contact 
Count (MECC).

NHS Long Term Plan – tobacco dependency 
services: A dedicated inpatient model that will 
ensure that all inpatients for acute, maternity 
and mental health services are screened for 
their smoking status, offered in-house support 
services to quit, including access to stop 
smoking aids such as nicotine replacement 
therapy, and then discharged into community 
services. Services must have a fully functioning 
service, with a trained workforce and 
appropriate IT systems and processes in place 
by 2023/24.

Dedicated campaigns: Promoting national 
campaign such as Stoptober, No Smoking Day 
and Better Health. Partners are encouraged 
to also share messages through their own 
channels. Smokefree Sidelines – a grass roots 
football campaign aimed at encouraging parents 
and spectators not to smoke around the pitch 
sidelines in front of children and young people.

Page 71

https://www.healthandwellbeingbucks.org/resources/Councils/bucks-public-health/pdf/Buckinghamshire-Tobacco-Control-Strategy-2019-2024.pdf
https://www.healthandwellbeingbucks.org/resources/Councils/bucks-public-health/pdf/Buckinghamshire-Tobacco-Control-Strategy-2019-2024.pdf


12

2.1.4 Physical activity

Regular physical activity can reduce the 
risk of heart disease and stroke by 25%.12 It 
also reduces the risk factors that lead to an 
increased risk of these diseases13 such as high 
blood pressure and type 2 diabetes by one 
third. Regular physical activity can improve 
cholesterol levels by raising your HDL (‘good’) 
cholesterol levels and simultaneously lower your 
LDL (‘bad’) levels.14 

Recommended levels of physical activity are at 
least 150 minutes a week of moderate-intensity 
physical activity or at least 75 minutes a week15 
of vigorous-intensity physical activity. 

Physical inactivity (defined as less than 
30 minutes moderate physical activity 
per week) increases the risk of high blood 
pressure, high cholesterol levels and 
increase the chances of being overweight 
or obese and having diabetes, all of which 
are risk factors for cardiovascular disease. 
Increasing levels of activity in inactive 
adults in England to just 30 minutes per 
week could increase overall life expectancy 
of inactive adults by three years.14

Sitting down for long periods also increases 
the risk of heart disease, high cholesterol, type 
2 diabetes, obesity and even some cancers.16 
Increased sitting time is associated with an 
increased risk of death regardless of physical 
activity levels, and therefore is now recognised 
as an independent risk factor in addition to lack 
of exercise.

The Buckinghamshire picture
In 2020 67.5% of people in Buckinghamshire 
said they met the recommended physical 
activity levels which is a slight increase over 
the last four years. However, studies show 
that people often overestimate the amount of 
activity they do. More than one in five adults 
are currently inactive and this has not improved 
over this period. The greatest health gains will 
be made by increasing activity levels in inactive 
people. If we increased physical activity levels 
from current 67.5% of adults meeting national 
guidelines to 71% of Buckinghamshire adults, 

163 deaths could be avoided and 59 cases of 
diabetes prevented over five years (Source: 
Revised Health Impact of Physical Inactivity 
Model [2013], 2018). 

Who is less active?
National data show that men and women 
have similar activity levels with 62% and 60% 
respectively reporting that they meet physical 
activity guidelines.3 Activity levels generally 
fall with age, the sharpest decrease coming 
at age 75+ years. Those who are long-term 
unemployed or have never worked are the 
least likely to be active (52%).15 There are also 
significant differences in activity levels based 
on ethnic background with 63% white adults, 
52% black adults and 48% South Asian adults15 
reporting that they meet the physical activity 
guidelines. 

COVID and physical activity
COVID and lockdown had a significant impact 
on activity levels and the impact has been 
greater on those with long term conditions, 
older adults and people from black, Asian and 
minority ethnic groups.15 The largest fall in 
activity levels was seen in those with the lowest 
activity levels initially and so the inequalities in 
physical activity have widened. Adult physical 
activity levels decrease as deprivation increases, 
and if you live within a deprived area, you are 
almost four times more likely to die early than 
someone in the least deprived area.14 

What we are doing in 
Buckinghamshire 
A wide range of partners are working together 
to help people to increase their physical activity 
levels and have developed the Buckinghamshire 
Physical Activity Strategy 2018-2023. There is 
an annual action plan delivering the four pillars 
of the strategy: Active Environments, Active 
Communities, Skilled Workforce and Working 
Collaboratively.  

Two subgroups focusing on older adults (Live 
Longer Better Alliance) and disabilities (The 
Sport and Physical Activity for All Network) have 
also been developed. Work which is taking place 
includes: 

Skilled workforce: Active Medicine – free 
training for frontline workers and volunteers 

Page 72

https://www.healthandwellbeingbucks.org/activity-strategy
https://www.healthandwellbeingbucks.org/activity-strategy
https://www.leapwithus.org.uk/health-and-social-care-workforces/training-for-health-care-professionals/


13

to improve knowledge, skills and confidence 
to promote physical activity and empower 
patients/residents to be more active. A total of 
1,301 people have been trained via 68 training 
sessions. 

Managing long-term conditions – providing 
specialist training for instructors to develop 
physical activity interventions to support 
residents to manage their long-term 
condition(s). 

Active Communities and reducing sedentary 
behaviour: Active Movement is a whole school 
approach to inspire children and families to sit 
less and move more. The 12 month programme 
educates and empowers teachers to include 
movement into everyday class routines. Four 
Buckinghamshire schools took part in phase 
one, involving 1,579 pupils and two more schools 
joined in January 2022. Schools have reported 
benefits such as improved concentration levels 
and better engagement from pupils. For more 
details on how to implement this programme 
into your school, home and/or office contact the 
Public Health team. 

The Active Communities pilot launched in 
May 2021 for wards in Aylesbury (Aylesbury 
northwest) and Wycombe (Abbey; Booker; 
Cressex & Castlefield; West Wycombe) to 
encourage residents to sit less and move more. 
The programme has been designed to take a 
whole community approach to help everyone 
make small changes to increase movement in 
our daily routine. Within the first six months 
the project has engaged with 2,777 residents, 
introduced four Active Park Walks with 575 
walkers so far and has linked with over 50 
different local services and organisations, 
which include doctors surgeries, pharmacies, 

care homes, nurseries, schools, faith settings 
and community centres. These settings have 
introduced a range of healthier changes. 

Active Environments: Simply Walk – offering 
over 60 volunteer-led walks across the county, 
all walkers are welcome whether fit and active, 
require a walking aid or new to exercise. The 
service runs all year round, in all weathers, 
giving the opportunity for residents to meet 
new people improve physical activity levels and 
general wellbeing. All walks are led by trained 
volunteers and range from 30 minutes to over 90 
minutes. Walkers can either book online or just 
turn up and complete a registration form with 
a walk leader. A map of walk locations can be 
found here. 

Active Travel – multiagency working to increase 
the number of residents cycling and walking as 
part of the Active Travel Fund actions of Tranche 
one and two and supporting schools to achieve 
the mode shift award as part of the national 
school travel awards scheme. 

Play Streets - implementing temporary road 
closures on residential roads, to allow for 
chaperoned children’s play and community 
connection on the street. 

Working collaboratively: Increasing awareness 
of local activity opportunities – all partners 
supporting the use of the Bucks Online 
Directory and the Bucks Family Information 
Service to stakeholders and residents. 

We are working together to support the 
Buckinghamshire leisure strategy and health 
based physical activity programmes across the 
county. 

Page 73

https://www.healthandwellbeingbucks.org/s4s/WhereILive/Council?pageId=5526
https://www.activemovement.co.uk/active-community/active-park-walks
https://www.healthandwellbeingbucks.org/s4s/WhereILive/Council?pageId=5529
https://www.healthandwellbeingbucks.org/s4s/WhereILive/Council?pageId=5529
https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/parking-roads-and-transport/cycling-and-walking/simply-walk/
https://account.buckscc.gov.uk/service/Walker_Registration_Form
https://www.buckscc.gov.uk/media/4515574/map-of-simply-walk-locations.jpg


14

Healthy Eating

A healthy diet can reduce the risk of heart 
disease and stroke significantly. A poor 
diet is one of the biggest risk factors for 
preventable ill health in England.17 

The Eatwell Guide (Figure 1) shows the different 
types of foods and drinks we should be eating – 
and in what portions to have a healthy balanced 
diet.18 Foods high in salt, fat and sugar lead to 
conditions such as high blood pressure, high 
cholesterol and obesity, all of which are risk 
factors for cardiovascular disease.

Eating at least five portions of a variety of fruit 
and vegetables a day could reduce the risk of 
deaths from chronic diseases, such as heart 
disease, stroke and cancer by up to 20%,19 
with each increase of one portion of fruit or 
vegetables a day lowering the risk of coronary 

heart disease by 4% and the risk of stroke by 
6%.20 There are variations in fruit and vegetables 
consumption across communities and only 20% 
of adults meet the recommended five-a-day 
guideline in the most deprived areas.21

Currently, only 55.4% of adults in England eat 
the recommended five portions a day, with 
Buckinghamshire slightly higher at 58.4% 
(2019/20),22 with fewer men than women 
meeting the guideline.23 However, other data 
sources put the figure even lower, according 
to Health Survey for England data only 28% 
of adults and 18% of children are eating 
the recommended five portions of fruit and 
vegetables per day, with fewer men than women 
meeting the guideline.1

Too much salt in our diet leads to high blood 
pressure, which is a major cause of heart 
disease and 69% of adults in England are 
estimated to be eating too much salt. For every 
gram of salt we remove from the average UK 
diet, we can reduce deaths from heart attacks 

Crisps

Raisins

Frozen
peas

Lentils

Soya
drink

Cous

Cous

pasta

Whole 
wheat

Bagels

Porridge

Low fat
soft cheese

Tuna

Plain
nuts peas

Chick

Semi

milk
skimmed

Chopped
tomatoes

lower
salt
and
sugar

Beans

Whole

grain
cereal

Potatoes

Spaghetti

Low fat
Plain

yoghurt

Lean
mince

Lower fat
spread

Sauce

Oil
Veg

Rice

Each serving (150g) contains

of an adult’s reference intake
Typical values (as sold) per 100g: 697kJ/ 167kcal

Check the label on 
packaged foods

Energy
1046kJ
250kcal

Fat Saturates Sugars Salt
3.0g 1.3g 34g 0.9g

15%38%7%4%13%

Choose foods lower 
in fat, salt and sugars

Source: Public Health England in association with the Welsh Government, Food Standards Scotland and the Food Standards Agency in Northern Ireland © Crown copyright 2016

Use the Eatwell Guide to help you get a balance of healthier and more sustainable food. 
It shows how much of what you eat overall should come from each food group.

Eatwell Guide

2000kcal        2500kcal = ALL FOOD + ALL DRINKSPer day

Eat less often and
in small amounts

Choose lower fat and

 lower sugar options

Eat more beans and pulses, 2 portions of sustainably 

sourced  fish per week, one of which is oily. Eat less

red and processed meat

                               Potatoes, bread, rice, pasta and other starchy carbohydrates

         Choose wholegrain or higher fibre versions with less added fat, salt and sugar

Fr
ui

t a
nd

 ve
getables  

Oil & spreads

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
Ea

t a
t l

ea
st

 5
 p

or
tio

ns
 o

f a
 va

rie
ty 

of fr
uit a

nd vegetables every day
LOW LOW HIGH MED

Choose unsaturated oils 
and use in small amountsDairy and alternativesBeans, pulses, fish, eggs, meat and other proteins

6-8
a day

Water, lower fat 
milk, sugar-free 
drinks including 
tea and coffee 
all count.

Limit fruit juice 
and/or smoothies 
to a total of 
150ml a day. 

Figure 1: Eatwell Guide

Page 74



15

and strokes and save 4,147 lives per year. Up to 
75% of the salt we eat comes from processed 
foods (e.g., bread, cheese, meat products like 
bacon) and food eaten out of the home.24

Eating away from home
More than one quarter of adults and one fifth of 
children in England are eating food from out-of-
home food outlets (restaurants and takeaways) 
at least once a week.25 These meals tend to have 
higher fat, saturated fats, sugar and salt, and 
lower levels of healthy nutrients. Often eating 
meals prepared away from home is linked with 
cardiovascular disease, with those regularly 
eating two meals or more per day prepared 
away from the home having a greater risk of 
death from cardiovascular disease and cancer.26 
Fast food outlets (including chip shops, burger 
bars and pizza places) account for more than a 
quarter of all eateries in England. More deprived 
areas tend to have higher concentrations of fast-
food outlets, with five times more outlets found 
in these areas than in the most affluent areas.27

Food insecurity
Food insecurity is when people cannot afford 
enough food to meet their basic needs. 

The poorest 20% of UK households would 
need to spend 39% of their disposable 
income on food to meet the NHS Eatwell 
Guide costs and the poorest 10% would 
have to spend 75%. This is in contrast to 
just 8% for the richest 20%.28 

COVID-19 has increased the number of people 
in food insecurity and the numbers of people 
using food banks. Pre-COVID 7.6% of the 
UK population were facing food insecurity, 
increasing to 9.9% (5.2 million adults) between 
February and July 2021.29 The priority for people 

affected by food insecurity is to put food on the 
table that is filling, rather than focusing on the 
nutritional value of the food. 

Eating habits during the pandemic
During the COVID-19 pandemic 40% of adults 
gained on average half a stone (one stone is 
the same as 14 pounds in weight).30 Eating 
habits during the pandemic changed with a 
third of people reporting snacking on unhealthy 
food and drinks at least once a day (35%), 
an increase from 26% pre-pandemic. Sales 
data also showed an increase of 15% in take-
home snack foods, such as crisps, sweets and 
biscuits. A quarter of alcohol drinkers also said 
their intake had increased since the second 
lockdown, with sales showing a 28% increase in 
shops compared to 2019.31 In Buckinghamshire 
food bank use during the pandemic increased 
significantly compared to pre-pandemic levels. 
There are six food banks in Buckinghamshire 
with the number of food parcels distributed 
increasing from 16,158 in 2019 to 26,514 in 2021.

2.1.5 Body weight

A healthy weight is defined using a measure 
called by a Body Mass Index (BMI).32 A BMI of 
more than 25 is defined as being overweight 
and over 30 as being obese.

Obesity and being overweight is one of 
the leading risk factors for cardiovascular 
disease, particularly where people carry 
excess weight around their waist.33 In the 
UK, around one in six heart and circulatory 
disease deaths are associated with being 
overweight.34 

Page 75



16

Obese people are also more likely to develop 
other risk factors for cardiovascular disease. 
They are more likely to develop high blood 
pressure and type 2 diabetes than those with a 
normal range BMI.35 People who are obese are 
also 30% more likely to develop dementia than 
those with normal range BMIs.36 

The risk of developing cardiovascular disease 
increases the more overweight a person is.37 
Waist circumference is also an important 
indicator of the risk of cardiovascular disease. 
Adults with a very high waist measurement 
(Men: more than 102cm. Women: more than 
88cm) have an increased risk of cardiovascular 
disease compared to adults with the ‘ideal’ waist 
circumference (Men: less than 94cm. Women: 
less than 80cm). 

Most adults in the UK are overweight or 
obese: almost seven in ten men and six in ten 
women are overweight or obese. Furthermore, 
26% of men and 29% of women are obese. 
Unfortunately, during the COVID-19 pandemic 
40% of adults gained on average half a stone in 
weight, of whom 21% gained a stone or more.38, 
Children who are obese are more likely to be 
obese as adults.39, 40 One in five children aged 
ten to 11 are classified as obese.41 

Overweight and obesity in 
Buckinghamshire
In Buckinghamshire six in ten adults (63.1%) 
are overweight or obese, and the numbers who 
are obese has been increasing since 2017/18. 
Almost one in five (18.2%) of four to five-year-
olds and almost one in three (31%) of ten to 
11-year-olds are also overweight or obese. 
Childhood obesity has also increased since 
2017/18 in children aged ten to 11 years.42 

Both cardiovascular disease and obesity are 
strongly associated with health inequalities. 
Both adults and children in the most deprived 
areas have almost double the chance of being 
obese compared with the least deprived.43, 44 In 
the ward of Micklefield in High Wycombe, one 
in four Reception age children are overweight 
or obese, increasing to two in five in Year 6. 
Likewise, in Southcourt one in five Reception 
age children are overweight or obese, increasing 
to two in five in Year 6. This is in comparison 
to the more affluent area of Greater Marlow 

where one in seven Reception age children are 
overweight or obese, increasing to one in five in 
Year 6. People of South Asian ethnicity also have 
an increased risk of cardiovascular disease and 
diabetes at a lower weight compared with white 
groups.45 

What are we doing to support healthy 
eating and a healthy weight?
Obesity is difficult to address, affected by a 
mixture of social, economic, biological and 
environmental factors that shape how we live 
and our individual behaviours. By creating 
healthier places to live and addressing other 
factors that affect our health and choices, such 
as education, employment and income, the 
quality and safety of the environment and the 
places we live and work in, it will help people 
maintain a healthy weight and improve overall 
health.

Whilst eating a healthy diet and maintaining 
calorie balance is down to individuals, the 
availability of food high in calories is now 
making it much harder for people to maintain 
healthier lifestyles. It is important the food 
environment supports people to improve their 
health. Improving the nutrient content of the 
food and drink we buy, cook and eat must be a 
priority at both a national and local level. We can 
take practical steps at a local level to enhance 
the healthy eating options available.

We also need to create an environment which 
provides people with the opportunity to be 
active and move more throughout their day. 
The built environment (e.g., housing, estates, 
workplaces etc.) can play a significant role 
in increasing the opportunities for people to 
be active and can impact on both physical 
and mental wellbeing. By protecting and 
enhancing green spaces for allotments, park 
runs and children’s play areas we can create 
an environment that helps to shape people’s 
preferences and behaviours to encourage 
activity. 

Whole system approach to obesity
Within Buckinghamshire we have recently 
started taking a ‘whole systems approach to 
obesity.’ This brings together partners from a 
wide variety of backgrounds, such as housing, 
planning, transport, leisure, schools and local 

Page 76



17

communities, to develop and agree on a shared 
action plan to address obesity, looking at these 
wider environmental factors.

•	 Food knowledge and environment – 
improving the food environment to support 
people to make healthier choices and improve 
food knowledge and understanding.

•	 Transport – reducing sedentary behaviour 
and encourage communities to increase 
active transport and travel options to increase 
physical activity levels. 

•	 Physical activity – increasing physical activity 
uptake through promotion and increasing the 
range of activities offered.

•	 Schools – enabling schools to contribute 
to children and young people achieving a 
healthy weight, creating consistent messages 
on food and physical activity for both pupils 
and parents.

Some examples of community projects we 
are delivering with communities and partners 
to increase people’s access to fresh fruit and 
vegetables, improve their knowledge to cook 
their own nutritious meals and try their hand at 
growing their own produce are included below:

Grow to Give
Grow to Give encourages people to grow more 
food in their gardens and allotments and donate 
this surplus to food banks and community 
fridges in their local area to support people 
experiencing food insecurity. It was set up by 
residents Justine Hamer and Sheila Bees in 
Aylesbury and Wycombe in 2019. With support 
and funds from Buckinghamshire Council and 
Feedback the scheme has gone from strength 
to strength with 14 allotment sites and 200 
community growers now participating. 	

In 2021 the community of growers donated 
3.22 tonnes of produce for food parcels that 
supported over 600 families, that is the same 
weight as 403 baskets of fruit and vegetables, 
three giraffes or two family sized cars.

In 2022 the project will partner with five new 
allotment sites in the Chesham and Iver/
Wexham area in addition to the 14 existing sites 
in Aylesbury and High Wycombe. The project 
relies on the generosity of local food growers 
and champions at each allotment site, helping 
to keep the scheme running on the ground. We 
are also keen to expand to as many plot holders 
as possible so even more produce could be 
donated.

The project has also developed 20 recipe cards 
and videos to ensure people receiving the 
produce get healthy and simple recipe ideas to 
use the donated food. It also helped develop a 
community of eco-friendly growers and held 
eco-growing master classes to support growers 
get the most out of their site, engaging 100 
people in the sessions.

Starting your own scheme is a simple, fun and 
healthy way to bring your community together 
while helping those in need. On the Grow to 
Give website there are free downloadable 
resources including a how to guide, posters to 
advertise the scheme at your allotment or in 
your local community.

Page 77

http://www.growtogive.co.uk
http://www.growtogive.co.uk


18

Adam Townsend, Foodbank Manager at the Aylesbury Vineyard Storehouse commented:  
“Having fresh, seasonal, locally grown food to give our food bank clients is just fantastic! It’s even 

encouraged some of our customers to start growing themselves. It’s been a really tough year and the 

Grow to Give donations just show how much people care.”

Justine and Sheila who run the project are in awe of the generosity of local growers. The pair said:   
“We just can’t believe people have taken Grow to Give into their hearts so quickly, and it’s all down 

to our local allotment champions and fabulous growers...Each week it’s so uplifting seeing the fabulous 

produce they donate, it’s a great example of community spirit and what can be achieved working 

together.”

A grower from Ashbrook Allotment said:   
“I’ve really enjoyed donating some of my surplus crops to Grow to Give. I always grow too much of most 

crops throughout the year and it is good to know it can be put to such a great cause. If this helps in 

anyway to help get someone through a difficult time that is really satisfying to know. Our allotment site 

has really come together to support Grow to Give and I am sure all who contribute very much enjoy the 

regular updates on how much has been collected so far.”

Community growing sites –  
Grow It, Cook It, Eat It

Grow It, Cook It, Eat It brings communities 
together to create shared growing sites in 
their local area. Open to all, the sites provide a 
supportive area where people can develop their 
skills, knowledge and confidence to grow their 
own fruit and vegetables. There are currently 
four sites across the county in High Wycombe, 
Aylesbury and Chesham, with plans to develop 
a further two sites in the Iver and Buckingham 
areas. Each site is led by an experienced ‘Expert 
Gardener’ who is on hand to offer support and 
guidance as needed, with the aim being the 
local community will take ownership of the site 
and keep it going long-term.

During the set-up phase of the sites this 
year, many community members and local 
organisations have generously stepped forward 
offering workforce, tools, sheds, greenhouses and 
plants to help get the sites off the ground. 

The project also has a cooking element which 
launched late 2021. Local community volunteers 
are trained to empower and inspire others to 
cook healthy and nutritious meals from scratch. 
Delivering a five-week cookery course, volunteers 
cover topics such as healthy meals on a budget, 
basic cookery skills and reducing waste.

For further details of each of the growing sites, 
and to register your interest in getting involved 
on a growing site and/or as a volunteer cookery 
tutor, please visit the Grow It Cook It Eat It 
webpages (healthandwellbeingbucks.org).

Page 78

https://www.healthandwellbeingbucks.org/s4s/WhereILive/Council?pageId=5504
https://www.healthandwellbeingbucks.org/s4s/WhereILive/Council?pageId=5504


19

Weight management
Buckinghamshire Council commissions some 
weight management services through our 
integrated lifestyle service, Live Well Stay Well.46 
Additional funding was received in 2021/22, 
for a one-year period, from the government to 
support weight management in groups with 
higher need of these services. 

A review of current services and people 
accessing them in relation to need for weight 
management services identified three groups 
of people who were not attending services 
in the numbers expected: men, people from 
minority ethnic backgrounds and those with 

Veggies in containers

The veggies in containers project was 
developed to show people how easy it is to grow 
their own food regardless of the space they have 
available whether in the garden, on balconies, in 
window boxes and even indoors. 

As part of the project Restore Hope (Chesham 
and Latimer), The Vineyard Foodbank 
(Aylesbury) and The Women’s Cultural Arena 
(High Wycombe) distributed a total of 251 
growing kits to households who were currently 
using their services. Kits included containers, 
soil, seeds, equipment, and full instructions to 
allow people to try their hand at growing. Each 
kit also came with recipe cards enabling people 
to cook healthy and nutritious meals with the 
foods they have grown.

The project was well received by those 
involved with many stating they had increased 
confidence to try growing their own vegetables. 
Those with young children found the children 
really got engaged and provided opportunities 
for shared enjoyment with parents, but also 
provided educational value and introduced 
children to new foods.

mild learning disabilities. Services were further 
targeted to areas with the highest rates of 
diabetes, and excess weight in adults which 
were Aylesbury and Wycombe. 

We worked with the following organisations to 
help improve healthy eating and healthy weight 
in these groups.

•	 Talkback-UK - a service for adults with a 
mild learning disability, based on developing 
the knowledge and understanding of food, 
nutrition, and weight issues. Taking a practical 
approach, they are educating people around 
shopping for the right food, reading food 
labels, cooking and trying new foods and 
selecting healthy foods, as well as including 
physical activity into everyday life. 

•	 Karima Foundation (High Wycombe) - a local 
community organisation will provide lifestyle 
advice and physical activity sessions that are 
culturally appropriate to the black and ethnic 
minority population of High Wycombe. 

•	 Wycombe Wanderers Sports and Education 
Trust - the charity of Wycombe Wanderers 
Football Club, using the appeal of football to 
deliver healthy weight services. Providing men 
and women only sessions across both High 
Wycombe and Aylesbury.

•	 The Fitness Garden - a community interest 
company working to improve the health 
of the people of High Wycombe through 
education and engagement in health fitness 
and mental wellbeing. Providing dedicated 
services for men and black, Asian, and ethnic 
minority groups, the Fitness Garden deliver 
services using both face to face contact and 
technology to keep people motivated and 
engaged in their journey to losing weight.

•	 Man v Fat - UK’s largest male only weight loss 
programme. Based around a football league 
where all players want to enjoy football, lose 
weight and get healthier. The league is not 
just decided on goals scored, but also weight 
lost. Sessions start with dietary advice (and a 
weigh-in) followed by 28 minutes of football. 
Sessions run in both Aylesbury and High 
Wycombe. 

We are currently reviewing the outcomes of 
each of the above programmes to help support 
future commissioning of services across 
Buckinghamshire.

Page 79



20

2.1.6 Alcohol

Chronic alcohol consumption of more than 3.75 
units per day (approx. 280ml wine or 660ml 
beer) is associated with an increased incidence 
of high blood pressure and of cardiovascular 
diseases, such as heart attack, heart failure and 
stroke.47 One unit is 8g of pure alcohol and a 
standard glass (175ml) of wine contains 2.1 units 
and a bottle (330ml) of beer contains 1.7 units. 
This calculator works out the number of units in 
a particular drink. 

Global estimates indicate that the alcohol 
accounts for 16% of high blood pressure 
worldwide.48 Regular excess alcohol 
consumption also contributes calories which 
may lead to weight gain and abnormal heart 
rhythms can be exacerbated by alcohol 
consumption. 

UK health advice is that, for both men 
and women, it is safest not to drink more 
than 14 units of alcohol a week to keep 
alcohol health risks to a low level. It is 
estimated that over one quarter (29%) of 
Buckinghamshire residents drink more 
than 14 units per week, compared to 
26% nationally. This equates to 120,000 
adults in Buckinghamshire drinking above 
recommended levels.

On average, people on low incomes drink 
less alcohol than people on higher incomes. 
However, people from deprived areas are more 
likely to die or suffer from a disease related to 
their alcohol use.49 

Adults in ethnic minority groups are less likely to 
report drinking alcohol at a hazardous, harmful 
or dependent level compared to white groups.50 

What we are doing
The Buckinghamshire Drug and Alcohol 
Strategy is being reviewed and updated by the 
local multi-agency partnership in 2022. The 
updated Buckinghamshire strategy will also take 
account of the new national drugs plan.

As part of the NHS Health Check simple 
questions are asked about people’s health. 
This includes how much alcohol people drink, 
enabling advice about alcohol to be offered. 
Further details are available on the NHS 
website.

Buckinghamshire Council commissions a range 
of services to support people with problematic 
alcohol use.

Page 80

https://alcoholchange.org.uk/alcohol-facts/interactive-tools/unit-calculator
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/from-harm-to-hope-a-10-year-drugs-plan-to-cut-crime-and-save-lives
https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/nhs-health-check/
https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/nhs-health-check/


21

2.2 Clinical risk factors

2.2.1 High blood pressure

High blood pressure (also called hypertension) 
affects more than one in four adults and 
increases the risk of stroke, heart disease, 
kidney failure and some types of dementia. 

Surveys suggest that 30% of men and 26% 
of women have high blood pressure and the 
prevalence increases with age, rising to more 
than 50% in people aged over 60 years. It is 
more common in men than women up to the 
age of 65 years. High blood pressure is more 
common in people of South Asian, black African, 
black Caribbean or Irish ethnicity and people 
who have a relative with high blood pressure. 
People living in the most deprived areas are 
30% more likely to have high blood pressure 
compared to people living in the least deprived 
areas.

High blood pressure is responsible for 
12% of all visits to GPs with an estimated 
annual cost to the NHS of over £2 billion. 

In England, only 57% of the estimated number of 
adults who have high blood pressure have had it 
detected, and only 56% of people under 80 who 
have been diagnosed with high blood pressure 
have achieved the NICE recommended target of 
BP of 140/90 mmHg.

Modifiable factors that increase the risk of high 
blood pressure include being overweight, being 
insufficiently active, eating an unhealthy diet 
containing too much salt and not enough fruit 
and vegetables, drinking too much alcohol and 
smoking.

The higher the blood pressure the higher the 
risk of harm. Each 2mmHg rise in systolic blood 
pressure is associated with a 7% increase in 
deaths from heart disease and 10% increase in 
deaths from stroke. High blood pressure can 
be reduced by drug treatment. Reducing salt 
in food, eating healthily, drinking less alcohol, 
being more physically active and losing weight 
if overweight can also help to reduce blood 

pressure. Research suggests that for every 
10mmHg reduction in blood pressure the risk 
of heart disease and heart failure reduces by 
17% and 28% respectively and the risk of stroke 
reduces by 27% and deaths from all causes 
reduce by 13%.

Detecting high blood pressure
People with high blood pressure may not know 
they have it because they may not have any 
symptoms. The only way to detect high blood 
pressure is through a simple measurement 
using a blood pressure machine. The longer 
high blood pressure goes undiagnosed or 
uncontrolled, the greater the risk of harm to 
health. 

Residents who are aged 40 to 74 years are 
eligible for the NHS Health Check once every 
five years. This checks for high blood pressure 
and other risk factors for heart disease and 
stroke and staff can give advice to promote a 
healthier life and refer to behaviour change or 
other services. 

High blood pressure and COVID-19
High blood pressure is linked to higher risk of 
serious illness if someone develops COVID-19.51 
Some studies suggest that people with high 
blood pressure are more at risk of getting 
seriously ill with and dying of COVID-19. 
Research into the link between high blood 
pressure and COVID-19 is ongoing. However, 
people with untreated high blood pressure 
seem to be more at risk of complications 
from COVID-19 than those whose high blood 
pressure is managed with medication.

During the COVID pandemic, an 
estimated 49,208 fewer people in the 
Buckinghamshire, Oxfordshire and 
Berkshire West (BOB) area had their high 
blood pressure managed to the target level. 
This means for the BOB area that there is 
now the risk for an extra 736 heart attacks 
and strokes over the next three years. 

Page 81



22

2.2.2 Diabetes

Diabetes is one of the most common chronic 
diseases in the UK with 4.1 million people living 
with a diagnosis of diabetes and a further 
850,000 people estimated to be living with 
diabetes but not yet diagnosed. Diabetes 
diagnoses have doubled in the last 15 years, and 
13.6 million people are estimated to be at risk of 
developing diabetes in future. 

Diabetes comprises a group of disorders 
characterised by persistently raised levels of 
sugar in the blood. There are two main types 
of diabetes – the most common is type 2 
accounting for nine in ten cases. Type 1 and 
type 2 diabetes are both associated with an 
increased risk of cardiovascular disease and 
other health problems. 

People with type 2 diabetes have double 
the risk of cardiovascular disease, such as 
heart attack, heart failure and stroke, and 
have an increased risk of other problems, 
including loss of sight, and kidney disease. 
The life expectancy of people with type 2 
diabetes is reduced by up to ten years. 

There are several risk factors that may make 
someone more likely to be diagnosed with type 
2 diabetes – a combination of characteristics 
people are born with and features of our 
environment and behaviours. The main 
modifiable risk factor for type 2 diabetes is 
being overweight or obese, which accounts for 
80-85% of the overall risk. Being overweight 
is associated with a three-fold increased risk 
and being obese is associated with a seven-
fold increased risk of diabetes compared to 
people of a healthy weight. Another contributor 
is higher levels of sedentary behaviour, which 
itself is associated with a two-fold increased risk 
of diabetes. A further predictor of future type 
2 diabetes diagnosis is elevated blood sugar 
levels during pregnancy – gestational diabetes. 
Gestational diabetes is associated with a seven-
fold increased risk of type 2 diabetes in later life.

Diabetes is also a significant contributor to 
health inequalities. People of Asian, African, 
and Afro-Caribbean ethnicity have up to a three 

to six times increased risk of type 2 diabetes 
compared to people of white ethnicity, and their 
risk of developing type 2 diabetes increases 
earlier from age 25 compared to from age 40 
for people from white groups. Nationally, people 
living in the most deprived areas are 2.5 times 
more likely to develop diabetes compared to 
people in the least deprived areas. People with 
diabetes living in the most deprived areas are 
also three times more likely to develop serious 
complications from diabetes.

It is estimated that more than half of cases of 
type 2 diabetes can be prevented or delayed. 
People can reduce their risk of developing 
diabetes by (1) eating a healthy diet, such as one 
that is high in fibre and with a low glycaemic 
index (the glycaemic index is a rating of how 
quickly carbohydrate foods affect blood sugar 
levels. Low index foods are broken down more 
slowly, thereby causing more gradual rises in 
blood sugar levels); (2) being more physically 
active (not sitting for long length periods of 
time and being physically active in line with 
national guidelines); and (3) losing weight if 
overweight. The NHS Diabetes Prevention 
Programme (DPP) was launched in 2016 and 
aims to provide personalised support to people 
at risk of developing type 2 diabetes, such as 
adults with a fasting plasma glucose between 
5.5-6.9 mmol/L or with a history of gestational 
diabetes. Individuals can find out if they are at 
risk and register for the DPP on the Healthier 
You website.

2.2.3 Cholesterol

Cholesterol is the main fat found in the blood. 
Elevated levels of total cholesterol (above 
5mmol/L) causes narrowing of the arteries with 
fatty deposits leading to cardiovascular disease. 
There are two important types of cholesterol 
– high density lipoprotein (HDL) or non-high 
density lipoprotein (non-HDL). It is now known 
that non-HDL cholesterol, rather than low 
density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol specifically, 
is the key risk factor for cardiovascular disease 
(NICE, 2021). For these purposes the terms are 
interchangeable. Non-HDL cholesterol is often 
referred to as ‘bad’ cholesterol, and a raised 
level (above 4mmol/L) is also an important 
cause of atherosclerosis. HDL cholesterol is 
often referred to as ‘good’ cholesterol as it 

Page 82

https://preventing-diabetes.co.uk/
https://preventing-diabetes.co.uk/


23

has a protective role against cardiovascular 
disease. However, the beneficial effects of ‘good’ 
cholesterol may only occur up to a certain level 
(approximately 1.4mmol/L), and extremely high 
levels (above 2.3mmol/L) may also be harmful.

High levels of ‘bad’ cholesterol are 
estimated to cause one quarter of 
cardiovascular disease in Buckinghamshire.

In the majority of cases, high cholesterol levels 
are due to a combination of environmental 
factors and health behaviours, including a diet 
high in saturated fat, low levels of exercise, 
smoking and drinking excess alcohol, although 
the specific relationships with ‘good’ and ‘bad’ 
cholesterol may vary. For example, evidence has 
shown that, within reasonable limits, the more 
someone is active the more they can raise their 
‘good’ cholesterol; but more intense activity 
may be needed in order to start reducing ‘bad’ 
cholesterol levels. Other risk factors for high 
cholesterol levels include being male, being 
from a South Asian background and being older.

It is estimated that one in 250 people 
have a genetic condition called familial 
hypercholesterolaemia (FH) which results 
in high cholesterol levels. If untreated half of 
men and one third of women with FH develop 
coronary heart disease by the time they reach 
55 years old, but if FH is identified and treatment 
started early enough people with FH can 
have the same life expectancy as the general 
population.

2.3 Social economic and 
environmental risk factors

2.3.1 Healthy work

The work people do can affect their risk of 
cardiovascular disease. Stress at work can take 
several forms described as job strain and low 
effort-reward work. Job strain describes work 
with high demands combined with low control. 
Low effort-reward describes work where there 
are limited career opportunities, low salary and 
low social approval. Both higher job strain and 
low effort-reward work are associated with an 
increased risk of death from cardiovascular 
disease52 and are more common in people with 
lower income or in lower job grades.

A study of 10,000 British civil servants found 
that behavioural risk factors could only explain 
a third of the difference in the incidence of 
coronary heart disease between different civil 
servants.53 Biological risk factors, such as 
metabolic syndrome (a medical term for the 
combination of diabetes, high blood pressure 
and obesity), accounted for around another 
third of the difference.54 The study found that 
work grade affected the risk of central obesity 
(excess fat around the waist – a known risk 
factor for cardiovascular disease) and metabolic 
syndrome and that civil servants in the highest 
grade work were least likely to have central 
obesity or metabolic syndrome.55 Jobs that had 
higher job strain or stress were associated with 
an increased risk of obesity.56 

Working longer hours increases the risk 
of cardiovascular disease – international 
evidence has shown that people that work 
55 hours or more per week are 17% more 
likely to die from heart disease and 35% 
more likely to die from stroke, compared to 
people working 35-40 hours a week.57 

Page 83



24

2.3.3 Housing

The quality of housing and our ability to keep 
our houses warm is important. 

Cold homes are associated with an 
increased risk of cardiovascular disease 
and other health issues.61 

When there is a cold snap in the weather, 
hospitals see an increase in patients with a heart 
attack almost immediately and an increase in 
stroke around five days after the start of the cold 
weather.62 Cold temperatures below 12o cause 
blood vessels to narrow, causing an increase in 
blood pressure and blood viscosity,63 leading to 
an increase in heart attacks and stroke.64 

The risks of ill health are even higher for people 
who are homeless. Homeless people have 
a threefold increased risk of cardiovascular 
disease and an increased risk of death from65 
cardiovascular disease.

2.3.2 Extreme temperatures

Both low and high temperatures are associated 
with increases in death from cardiovascular 
disease.58 Globally ‘non-optimal temperature’ 
accounted for 1.96 million deaths globally 
according to the Global Burden of Disease 
study.59

Higher temperatures increase the risk for death 
from heart disease, heart failure and heart 
attacks. 

Very cold temperatures increase the risk of heart 
attack and stroke. People who have pre-existing 
long-term conditions are most at risk of falling 
ill in the days after temperatures drop. Elderly 
people are especially vulnerable in winter 
months. Before the COVID pandemic circulatory 
diseases accounted for around a fifth of all 
excess winter deaths.60

Page 84



25

2.3.4 Air quality

It is estimated that poor air quality is responsible 
for up to 36,000 deaths per year in the UK, and 
the majority of UK deaths attributable to outdoor 
air pollution are from heart disease and stroke.

Evidence from nine cities across England 
showed that the risk of out of hospital cardiac 
arrests and emergency admission for stroke 
was higher on days with higher pollution.66 Air 
pollution rates are highest in more deprived 
neighbourhoods in England.67

Tackling air quality through active travel can 
have dual benefits in reducing cardiovascular 
disease risk – studies show that people that 
live in places where walking and cycling are 
convenient and safe have lower levels of obesity 
and diabetes.68 

2.3.5 Cardiovascular disease  
and COVID

Studies have shown that cardiovascular 
disease is associated with poorer outcomes 

from COVID-19 infection69 and many of the risk 
factors for developing cardiovascular disease 
(such as being obese, having high blood 
pressure or having type 2 diabetes) are also 
risk factors for worse COVID-19 outcomes. The 
risk is greatest for people with poorly controlled 
disease. 

However, evidence is emerging that the reverse 
is also true – that COVID-19 disease may be a 
risk factor for cardiovascular disease. Firstly, 
cardiovascular complications may occur during 
initial COVID-19 infection, including blood clots 
and damage or inflammation to heart muscle. 

Secondly, cardiovascular events are more likely 
to occur up to a year after COVID-19 infection. 
The risk of any cardiovascular event is 63% 
higher (45 additional people affected per 1,000) 
and the risk of a major event (heart attack, 
stroke or death) is 55% higher (23 additional 
people affected per 1,000) than people who have 
not had COVID-19 infection. These increased 
risks of cardiovascular events affect working 
age adults as well as older adults and affect 
those without as well as those with pre-existing 
cardiovascular disease. 

Thirdly, it is not known what the longer-term 
effects of COVID-19 infection are yet, but 
they could include an increased risk of future 
cardiovascular disease. An estimated 1.7 million 
people in the UK reported experiencing long 
COVID in March 2022, of which common 
symptoms include chest pain, palpitations and 
shortness of breath. 

Lastly, the pandemic itself has had an 
adverse impact on many of the risk factors for 
cardiovascular disease. 

The pandemic has led to a worsening of 
some people’s mental health and economic 
circumstances and increased the proportion 
of people with unhealthy behaviours, such as 
eating unhealthily, gaining weight, doing less 
physical activity and drinking more alcohol. The 
pandemic also reduced access to routine health 
care and preventive interventions, such as NHS 
health checks to detect cardiovascular disease 
risk factors and management of high blood 
pressure and diabetes.

Page 85



26

3. Who is Most at Risk?
This section highlights the national picture. There is less data available at a 
Buckinghamshire level but that which we do have shows a similar picture and is 
included in the following section.

The risk of cardiovascular disease increases with age and is generally higher in men, 
certain ethnic groups and people living in more deprived areas. People with severe 
mental illness and some people with learning disability are also at higher risk of 
developing cardiovascular disease. The reasons for this are complex and reflect a 
mix of interlinked factors such as living and working conditions, exposure to chronic 
stress, opportunities to adopt healthy behaviours and biological factors. If we are to 
tackle inequalities in health it is important to identify the modifiable risk factors that 
can help prevent or delay cardiovascular disease in these groups.

Page 86



27

Figure 2: ENGLAND under-75 mortality for cardiovascular disease

3.1 People living in  
deprived areas
Our health is strongly influenced by the places 
we live, work, and learn. People that live in the 
most deprived areas of England are four times 
more likely to die early from cardiovascular 
disease (before the age of 75), compared with 
people that live in the least deprived areas.70

The link between deprivation and death from 
cardiovascular disease follows a gradient. As 
the level of deprivation increases the death 
rate from cardiovascular disease increases. 
The graph below shows that although 
premature mortality from cardiovascular 
disease in England decreased between 2001 
and 2019, differences between more and less 
deprived groups persisted. In 2020, there was 
a marked increase in premature mortality 
from cardiovascular disease, with the steepest 
increases in the most deprived deciles widening 
the gap. When the population is split into tenths 
(deciles) by deprivation, the risk of early death 
from cardiovascular disease was higher with 
increasing deprivation consistently from 2001 to 
2020.71 

3.1.1 Health behaviours

The health behaviours people adopt are 
influenced by a wide range of factors, including 
their social and economic circumstances and 
the environments in which they live. Health 
behaviours that reduce the risk of cardiovascular 
disease are often more common in less deprived 
areas and those that increase the risk are more 
common in more deprived areas. 

Smoking
Adults who live in more deprived areas or have 
lower paid or manual jobs are more likely to be 
smokers. 

Physical activity
People living in less deprived areas have higher 
physical activity levels. In 2020, 73% of people 
living in the least deprived areas were active 
compared with 57% in the most deprived 
areas.72  

National data show that in 2020/21 adults in 
routine/semi-routine occupations and people 
that were long-term unemployed/had never 
worked (managerial, administrative and 

Page 87



28

professional occupations, e.g. chief executive, 
doctor, or journalist) were 19% less likely to be 
active (52%) compared with those in the most 
affluent employment groups (71%). 

Overweight and obesity
The likelihood of being overweight or obese is 
greatest in the most deprived areas. In 2019, 
39% of women in England in the most deprived 
fifth of the population were obese, compared 
with 18% in the least deprived fifth. 30% of 
men in the most deprived quintile were obese 
compared with 22% in the least deprived.73 This 
gap has increased since 2014. 

Inequalities in overweight and obesity 
begin in childhood and more children in 
deprived areas are overweight and obese 
than those in the least deprived areas. 

Between 2006/7 and 2020/21 the gap in 
the prevalence of obesity between children 
attending school in the most and least deprived 
areas of England has widened.74 

The drivers of obesity are wide ranging and 
linked to the area we live in. For example, the 
availability of affordable and high-quality food 
is likely to influence what we eat and evidence 
from Scotland and England found that the 
density of outlets from four major fast-food 
chains was most concentrated more deprived 
areas.75 There are many other features of the 
place we live that influence the risk of being 
overweight or obese, such as access to safe 
places to play, uncluttered clean pavement and 
access to green spaces.76

Alcohol
People living in more deprived areas have a 
greater risk of harmful drinking behaviours or 
being dependent on alcohol.77

3.1.2 Inequalities in clinical/
biological risk factors

National analysis shows that people living in the 
most deprived communities are 30% more likely 
to have high blood pressure.78 

Living in a more deprived area of England is also 
associated with increasing risk of developing 
diabetes (both diagnosed and undiagnosed).79 
The Health Survey for England in 2016 showed 
that people in the most deprived fifth of the 
population were more than twice as likely to 
have a diagnosis of diabetes, compared with 
the least deprived (7% vs 3% with diabetes). 
People living in the most deprived fifth of areas 
were twice as likely to have diabetes that had 
not been diagnosed compared with the least 
deprived (2.2% vs 1.0%). 

Atrial fibrillation is a heart rhythm disorder that 
is believed to cause 20% of strokes.80 People 
living in more deprived areas of the UK are more 
likely to develop atrial fibrillation and more likely 
to die from it.81

3.1.3 Social and economic factors

Poorer quality jobs, poorer quality housing 
and poorer quality environments are linked to 
an increased risk of cardiovascular disease as 
highlighted in a previous section. These are 
often more common in more deprived areas and 
in people on low income. 

3.1.4 Access to effective 
treatment

Research has indicated that there may be 
inequalities in access to specialist care for 
people living in more deprived areas, including 
longer waiting times and poorer access to 
cardiac interventions and acute stroke care.82 
However, for some interventions in primary care, 
for example provision of NHS Health Checks 
(which detect some key cardiovascular disease 
risk factors) has been found to be higher in 
deprived areas.83

Page 88



29

3.2 Differences between 
ethnic groups
A note on terminology: This section summarises 
what the evidence tells us about cardiovascular 
disease and ethnicity. 

This report has used the UK Government guide 
to writing about ethnicity. However, the ways 
that ethnicity has been defined and analysed by 
researchers varies for some studies. Where this 
is the case, we have used the same language, 
so that we are accurate in our description of the 
evidence but have noted the variation with a *.

Many studies use aggregated ethnic groups 
- in particular South Asian and black groups, 
for whom the risks are higher - as a whole. 
Recognising that these South Asian84 and black 
ethnic categories include diverse groups of 
people, where studies have analysed ethnic 
groups that refer to nationalities, they are 
provided below. 

Different ethnic groups have different risks of 
cardiovascular disease. Asian and black groups 
in the UK have a higher risk of cardiovascular 
disease but the type of cardiovascular disease 
underlying this risk differs between different 
ethnic groups. There is less evidence available 
for European groups living in the UK, although 
Central and Eastern European countries have 
the highest death rates from cardiovascular 
disease in Europe (defined as WHO’s European 
Region) once the age of the population has been 
considered85 (for this reason, much research 
uses ‘white British’ people as a comparator 
group). Gypsy, Romany and Traveller groups 
are known to have worse health outcomes 
compared to other ethnic minorities,86 but 
there is little specific evidence available to 
understand the contribution that cardiovascular 
disease plays. The reason for these differences 
is complex and not always well understood, 
however, by working with people from ethnic 
minority backgrounds to identify and address 
known risk factors, we can reduce their risk of 
cardiovascular disease.

3.2.1 South Asian ethnic groups

People from South Asian groups are more 
likely to develop cardiovascular disease and are 
more likely to die from cardiovascular disease 
compared to white groups. *South Asian 
ethnicity applies to people whose ethnic roots 
originate from India, Pakistan, Bangladesh, Sri 
Lanka, Nepal and Bhutan.87

South Asian people have the highest 
risk of death from heart disease of any 
ethnic group, a 50% higher risk than the 
population of England and Wales. 

South Asian people also tend to develop heart 
disease at a younger age. South Asian groups 
are also more likely to have a stroke and to die 
from stroke, compared to white British groups.87

South Asian men develop cardiovascular 
disease, on average around eight years younger 
than white men (60.4 years vs. 68.2) and South 
Asian women develop cardiovascular disease 
an average of around 11 years earlier than white 
women (62.9 vs. 74.2).88

Death from ischaemic heart disease was 
highest for men and women in the Bangladeshi, 
Pakistani and Indian ethnic groups, compared to 
other ethnic groups.

Inequalities in clinical/biological  
risk factors
The primary clinical conditions that drive the 
difference in risk of death from cardiovascular 
disease for immigrant South Asian groups are 
ischaemic heart disease and type 2 diabetes. 
 
Diabetes

People from South Asian groups are up to 
six times more likely to develop diabetes 
than people in white groups.89 

British South Asian (this paper uses the term 
‘Indian Asian’, defined as from the Indian 
subcontinent) groups are more likely to develop 

Page 89



30

diabetes at a younger age than European* 
groups (age 62 years vs 67).90 By the age of 80, 
close to half (40-50%) of South Asian people will 
have diabetes – this is twice the prevalence in 
Europeans*.91

Obesity (defined as a BMI of 30.0kg/m2 or 
above) is associated with an increased risk of 
developing diabetes. For South Asian ethnic 
groups, the risk of diabetes increases at a 
lower BMI. The same risk of developing type 2 
diabetes as is found in white populations at a 
BMI of 30kg/m2 or over is found at a much lower 
BMI of 23.9 kg/m2 for South Asian populations.92

Ethnic differences in cardiovascular disease 
risk persist and are more pronounced in people 
with diabetes.93 Death from heart disease in 
people from South Asian groups with diabetes is 
around three times higher compared to people 
from white groups with diabetes.94

South Asian adults do not have higher total 
cholesterol overall compared to white people, 
but they have lower levels of HDL (‘good’) 
cholesterol and higher levels of triglycerides 
(associated with poorer heart health).95 

Blood pressure
The prevalence of high blood pressure varies 
between South Asian ethnic groups.96 There 
is evidence that for some South Asian ethnic 
groups (in particular, Indian ethnic groups), 
levels of high blood pressure are slightly 
higher than is seen in the white population. In 
other South Asian groups, levels of high blood 
pressure are moderately lower for Pakistani 
people and markedly lower for people from 
Bangladeshi ethnic groups. However, this 
pattern is not found in children - South Asian 
children have been found to have higher 
blood pressure compared to white children.97 
The proportion of people from Asian groups 
with controlled blood pressure (defined as 
mean systolic BP <140 mm Hg and diastolic 
BP <90 mm Hg, among people who reported 
previously being informed of a hypertension 
diagnosis by a health professional as well as 
use of antihypertensive medication) is higher 
(44.4%) than for white groups (38.0%) in the UK, 
although this is not statistically different when 
adjusted for factors such as age and sex.98

Health behaviours
National data show that adults in Asian (8.3%) 
ethnic groups are less likely to smoke when 
compared with people of white ethnic groups 
(14.4%). Asian men (13.9%) are more likely to 
smoke compared with Asian women (2.9%) but 
less likely to smoke than white men (15.8%). 

National survey data show that fewer Asian 
people (*in this research, the formal ethnic 
category used is ‘Asian, excluding Chinese’) 
have a ‘physically active’ lifestyle (defined as 150 
minutes or more of activity per week) than any 
other ethnic group. The COVID-19 pandemic has 
had a negative impact on activity levels across 
all ethnic groups but has disproportionately 
affected Asian adults. 

Asian women are less active (46%) than Asian 
men (50%) and have the lowest level of activity 
of all gender and ethnicity categories.99

There is some evidence that physical activity 
levels may have increased from first to second 
generation South Asian people living in the 
UK.100 Research suggests that there is variation 
in participation in vigorous physical activity for 
children from certain ethnic minority groups 
– children from mixed ethnicity groups spent 
more time doing vigorous exercise compared to 
white children, whilst Pakistani and Bangladeshi 
children on average performed less.101 

Adults from South Asian ethnicities tend 
to have lower weight compared with white 
groups, but their risk from cardiovascular 
disease and diabetes increases at a lower 
body mass index.102 Weight distribution is also 
associated with cardiovascular disease risk and 
particularly fat around the waist increases the 
risk of cardiovascular disease and this weight 
distribution is known to be higher in South Asian 
people.103

Data from the National Child Measurement 
Programme indicate that in 2020/21, the 
proportion of children in Reception year and 
Year 6 at school that were obese was higher 
than average for children from Asian groups. 

Page 90



31

People from Asian groups are less likely to 
consume alcohol to a hazardous, harmful or 
dependent level104 and South Asian people are 
more likely to abstain from drinking alcohol.105 

Access to treatment
There is evidence that although incidence, 
morbidity and mortality rates from 
cardiovascular disease are higher for people 
of South Asian ethnicity, once people from 
South Asian ethnic groups have a diagnosis of 
coronary disease, they have better outcomes 
compared to white people. Therefore, it has 
been suggested that to address inequalities 
for South Asian groups, efforts should focus 
on stopping cardiovascular disease developing 
in the first place, i.e., primary prevention.106 
However, people from Pakistani, Indian, and 
Bangladeshi groups also report a poorer 
experience of using health care services.107 
There is some evidence of variation in the 
management of cardiovascular disease risk 
specifically for people from ethnic minorities 
with diabetes - analysis of GP records from 
selected practices in UK suggested that people 
of South Asian ethnicity with type 2 diabetes 
were 9% less likely to receive a statin compared 
with European* people, where guidelines 
indicated they should be prescribed.108

3.2.2 Black ethnic groups

People from black ethnic groups tend to 
have a lower risk of heart disease but are 
more likely to have, and die from, high 
blood pressure and stroke than other  
ethnic groups. 

They are also more likely to have a stroke at a 
younger age than white groups.109 Black men 
develop cardiovascular disease, on average, 
five years earlier than white men (62.8 years vs. 
68.2) and black women develop cardiovascular 
disease an average of around 13 years earlier 
(61.4 years vs. 74.2).110 

Inequalities in clinical/biological  
risk factors

High BP (blood pressure)

Prevalence of high blood pressure in black 
people in the UK may be up to three or four 
times higher than in white people.111 

There is evidence that blood pressure is less 
likely to be controlled4 in black groups compared 
to all other ethnic minorities (e.g., 35.7% of all 
hypertensive patients controlled to target vs. 
38.0% white groups) and this difference was 
statistically significant after adjustment for age, 
sex, and other factors.112 

Diabetes
People from black ethnic groups are up to three 
times more likely to develop diabetes and have 
a higher risk of dying from diabetes compared 
with the white population.113

Obesity levels are higher in black groups115 
and the risk of diabetes increases at a lower 
body mass index.116 Obesity (defined as a BMI 
of 30.0 kg/m2 or above) is associated with an 
increased risk of developing diabetes. For black 
ethnic groups the risk of diabetes increases at 
a lower BMI. The same risk of developing type 
2 diabetes as is found in white populations at 
a BMI of 30kg/m2 or over is found at the lower 
BMI of 28.1kg/m2 for black populations.117 

People of African Caribbean heritage have lower 
cholesterol levels than Europeans*,118 higher 
levels of HDL (‘good’) cholesterol and lower 
levels of triglycerides than white people.119 

Health behaviours
National data show that adults in black (9.6%) 
ethnic groups are less likely to smoke when 
compared with people of white ethnic groups 
(14.4%). Black men (13.0%) are more likely to 
smoke than black women (7.0%) but less likely 
to smoke than white men (15.8%). 

Page 91



32

Data from the National Child Measurement 
Programme indicate that in 2020/21, the 
proportion of children in Reception year and 
Year 6 at school that were obese was higher 
than average for children from black ethnic 
groups. 

People from black ethnic groups are less likely 
to consume alcohol to a hazardous, harmful or 
dependent level.120 

Access to treatment

Black populations tend to have lower than 
expected rates of healthcare use.121 

Analysis of GP records from selected practices 
in UK suggested that people of African/African 
Caribbean ethnicity with type 2 diabetes were 
24% less likely to receive a statin compared with 
European people where guidelines indicated 
they should be prescribed.122

3.2.3 Social and economic factors

Some ethnic groups are more likely to live in 
more deprived areas and it is likely that this 
is an important part of a complex relationship 
between biological, environmental and 
behavioural factors driving the increased risk 
of cardiovascular disease in some groups. For 
example, more ethnically diverse areas are more 
likely to have higher levels of air pollution.123 

In addition, experiences of structural racism 
are known to affect health and may play a 
role through other mechanisms, for example 
racial discrimination has been associated with 
increased stress at work124 and stress at work 
has been associated with an increased risk of 
cardiovascular disease.

3.3 Differences by gender  
Men are more likely to have cardiovascular 
disease than women and more likely to die from 
cardiovascular disease.125 

One in eight men and one in 15 women die from 
coronary heart disease.126 

In the years before the pandemic cardiovascular 
disease was the leading cause of death in men.127 

3.3.1 Inequalities in biological/
clinical risk factors

Women have a lower risk of cardiovascular 
disease than men. However hormonal changes 
associated with the menopause lead to a 
decrease in the production of a hormone that is 
protective against heart disease and the risk of 
cardiovascular disease increases in women after 
the menopause. This risk increases in women 
that have an early menopause before the age of 
40.128

Before the age of 65, women have a lower risk of 
high blood pressure but this risk reverses after 
the age of 65.129 

Men aged 25-54 are twice as likely to have 
diabetes as women the same age.130 

Certain pregnancy complications are associated 
with an increased future risk of cardiovascular 
disease for the mother – these include pre-
eclampsia, pregnancy induced high blood 
pressure and gestational diabetes (the latter 
likely because of the increased risk of type 2 
diabetes).131 

3.3.2 Health behaviours

Men are more likely to smoke than women.132 

Men are slightly more likely than women (62.3% 
vs 59.8%) to be physically active.133 Women are 
slightly more likely to be inactive (27.8% vs. 
26.8%) than men.134

Page 92



33

Physical activity levels decreased during 
the pandemic for both men and women but 
as men’s activity levels have seen a partial 
recovery, women’s activity levels have remained 
consistently lower and may require more 
support to return to previous levels.135 

A greater proportion of men (41% vs. 30%) are 
overweight compared to women, but a higher 
proportion of women (29% vs 26%) are obese 
compared to men in England.136

Being overweight or obese increases the risk of 
developing high blood pressure – for men this 
increases the risk by three times and for women 
by four times.137 

Men are more likely to consume more than twice 
the daily limit of alcohol than women.138 Alcohol 
dependence is more common in men (6%) than 
in women (2%) in England.139

3.3.3 Access to treatment

International evidence shows that women are 
less likely to correctly identify the symptoms 
of a heart attack, that they are slower to seek 
treatment, that they are 50% more likely to 
receive the wrong initial diagnosis and that 
when a heart attack is diagnosed, they received 
unequal care.140 Prompt treatment is critical to 
reduce complications and damage after a heart 
attack. 

3.4 People with severe 
mental illness

People with a severe mental illness 
(schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, and major 
depressive disorder) have more than a 
50% higher risk of having cardiovascular 
disease and an 85% higher chance of dying 
from cardiovascular disease compared with 
people of similar age.141 

People with SMI are more likely to develop 
cardiovascular disease at an earlier age.142 
Certain risk factors for cardiovascular disease 
are more common in people with SMI, such as 
smoking and alcohol consumption.143 In addition, 
obesity and diabetes are more common and 
some (but not all) of this association may 
be explained by metabolic effects of some 
medication.144 

3.5 People with learning 
disabilities
Some evidence suggests that people with 
learning disabilities may be at higher risk of 
cardiovascular disease and of developing 
cardiovascular disease earlier but the risk by 
type of cardiovascular disease varies. Rates 
of heart disease may be lower for people with 
learning disabilities, but the risk of heart failure, 
stroke and TIA are higher. Activity levels may 
be lower and obesity levels higher for this 
population.145 

Page 93



34

4. The Buckinghamshire 		
					     Picture
Cardiovascular disease is a significant cause of ill health and death in Buckinghamshire 
and is the largest contributor to the gap in life expectancy between the most and least 
deprived areas is Buckinghamshire.

Men born today in the least deprived area of Buckinghamshire can expect to live for 6.5 
years longer than men born in the most deprived areas.146 For women, the gap in life 
expectancy is 6.4 years. 

Cardiovascular diseases (called circulatory diseases in the chart on the next page) explain 
a quarter (24.6%) of the gap in life expectancy between men living in the most deprived 
fifth (quintile) of areas of Buckinghamshire and those living in the least deprived fifth 
(Segment Tool Update 2017-19 - OHID South East).  

For women, cardiovascular diseases explain 20.5% of the gap in life expectancy between 
the most deprived fifth compare with the least deprived fifth. 

Page 94



35

The chart below shows the breakdown of the life expectancy gap in Buckinghamshire by cause of 
death 2017-19 (see Figure 3). 

During the pandemic COVID was a significant contributor to the gap in life expectancy but 
cardiovascular disease remained very important (see Figure 4).

Figure 3: Chart showing the breakdown of life expectancy gap between the most deprived 
and least deprived quintiles of Buckinghamshire by broad cause of death for 2017 to 2019.

Figure 4: Chart showing the breakdown of life expectancy gap between the most deprived 
and least deprived quintiles of Buckinghamshire by broad cause of death for 2020 to 2021 
(provisional). Page 95



36

4.1 Prevalence of conditions 
recorded in primary care 
Local primary care data are available as a 
snapshot taken in April 2022 for adults aged 18 
and over resident in Buckinghamshire who are 
also registered with a Buckinghamshire CCG 
practice (424,446 individuals). Data from some 
nationally published sources refer to earlier time 
periods and have also been included to allow 
comparison with the national average.

4.1.1 Smoking

Smoking status has been recorded in primary 
care for 86.5% of Buckinghamshire adults. 
13.7% (50,358) adults are identified as a current 
smoker, with a further 24.4% (89,503) being 

ex-smokers. Nationally, data from the Annual 
Population Survey estimate that 13.5% of adults 
(aged 18 and over) were current smokers in 
2019 (due to methodological changes during the 
pandemic, the latest year of comparable data for 
the Annual Population Survey is for 2019). The 
most recent data available for Buckinghamshire 
is 2018. The prevalence of smoking is falling – it 
has fallen at a similar pace in Buckinghamshire 
(a 31% fall between 2011 and 2018) to nationally 
(a 27% fall over the same period).

The prevalence of current smoking is 2.7 times 
higher in the most deprived quintile than the 
least deprived and rises with deprivation from 
8.1% in the least deprived quintile to 21.8% in the 
most deprived quintile in Buckinghamshire.

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

DQ1 (least
deprived)

DQ2 DQ3 DQ4 DQ5 (most
deprived)

Adult prevalence of smoking 
(amongst those with status recorded)

Figure 5: Adult prevalence of smoking by deprivation quintile for Buckinghamshire.

Page 96



37

4.1.2 Diabetes

Local primary care data show that 6.0% 
(25,287) of Buckinghamshire adults aged 18 
and over have a recorded diagnosis of diabetes. 
Buckinghamshire has a lower prevalence of 
recorded diabetes than nationally in the Quality 
and Outcomes Framework (QOF) data for 
2020/21: the prevalence in adults aged 17 and 
over was 6.3% in Buckinghamshire compared 
to 7.1% nationally. The QOF prevalence of 
diabetes is rising – it has risen at a similar 
rate in Buckinghamshire (a 16% rise between 
2012/13 and 2020/21) to nationally (18% over 
the same period). The prevalence of diabetes 
is 1.6 times higher in the most deprived quintile 

than the least deprived quintile, rising with 
each deprivation quintile from 4.8% in the least 
deprived quintile to 7.5% in the most deprived.

Not all cases of diabetes present in the 
population will be detected and recorded. 
The prevalence of diabetes (both diagnosed 
and undiagnosed) for Buckinghamshire local 
authority was estimated to be 8.4% (for adults 
aged 16 and over) in 2020. This figure is 2.4 
percentage points higher than the primary care 
recorded prevalence, which could equate to 
an additional 10,000 adults with unrecorded or 
undiagnosed diabetes who therefore may not be 
receiving treatment.

0%

1%

2%

3%

4%

5%

6%

7%

8%

DQ1 (least
deprived)

DQ2 DQ3 DQ4 DQ5 (most
deprived)

Adult prevalence of Diabetes Mellitus

Figure 6: Adult prevalence of diabetes mellitus by deprivation quintile for Buckinghamshire.

Page 97



38

4.1.3 Hypertension (high blood 
pressure)

Local primary care data show that 15.9% (67,280) 
of Buckinghamshire adults have a diagnosis 
of high blood pressure. Buckinghamshire has 
a higher prevalence of recorded hypertension 
than the national average. This may be due 
to better detection or recording. The QOF 
prevalence of high blood pressure is rising, 
and it is rising faster in Buckinghamshire (8% 
between 2012/13 and 2020/21) than nationally 
(2% over the same period), such that it overtook 
the national level in 2019/20.

Not all cases of high blood pressure present in 
the population will be detected and recorded. 
Public Health England estimated that 26.9% 
of Buckinghamshire adults had high blood 
pressure in 2017. This figure is 11 percentage 
points higher than the primary care recorded 
prevalence, which could equate to an additional 
47,000 adults with unrecorded or undiagnosed 
high blood pressure in Buckinghamshire.

4.1.4 Coronary heart disease

Local primary care data show that 3.4% (14,220) 
of Buckinghamshire adults have coronary 
heart disease (CHD). Buckinghamshire has a 
similar prevalence of coronary heart disease 
to the national average – in the QOF 2020/21 
the prevalence was 2.9% in Buckinghamshire 
compared to 3.0% nationally. Although the 
QOF prevalence of coronary heart disease 
has been falling, it has not fallen as quickly in 
Buckinghamshire (a 2% fall between 2012/13 
and 2020/21) as it has done nationally (9% fall 
over the same period).

4.1.5 Stroke/transient ischaemic 
attack

Local primary care data show that 1.9% (7,877) 
of Buckinghamshire adults have a history of 
stroke or transient ischaemic attack (TIA). 
Buckinghamshire has a similar prevalence of 
stroke to the national average – in the QOF 
2020/21 the all-age prevalence was 1.7% in 
Buckinghamshire compared to 1.8% nationally. 
The QOF prevalence of stroke is rising and it is 

rising faster in Buckinghamshire (9% between 
2012/13 and 2020/21) than nationally (6% over 
the same period).

The prevalence of high blood pressure, coronary 
heart disease and stroke/transient ischaemic 
attack do not show a clear relationship between 
deprivation and prevalence. This could be partly 
due to the younger age profile of the more 
deprived areas as these conditions are more 
commonly found in older age groups and these 
primary care datasets do not take the age of the 
practice population into account. Alternatively, 
this could potentially reflect under-recording 
or under-detection especially of high blood 
pressure as this often has no symptoms.

4.2 Gender differences in 
cardiovascular conditions 
recorded in primary care
The prevalence of coronary heart disease 
is over twice as high in men (4.7%) than in 
women (2.0%). For all risk factors analysed the 
prevalence is greater in men than in women – 
most notably smoking being 1.6 times higher 
in men (of those with a status recorded) and 
diabetes 1.4 times higher. However, high blood 
pressure is only recorded as being 6% higher 
in men than in women. Given the knowledge 
that high blood pressure is a key driver of 
cardiovascular disease, this could represent 
under recording, and therefore undertreatment, 
in men.

Page 98



39

4.3 Hospital admissions  
and trends
The rate of emergency admissions for 
cardiovascular disease in Buckinghamshire 
has been 25% lower than England between 
2010/11 and 2020/21. Over this period there 
has been a 7% rise in emergency admissions 
in Buckinghamshire, compared to a 2% fall 
nationally (the latter being predominantly driven 
by a fall during the pandemic). 

The rise in emergency admissions appears to 
be driven by heart conditions (a 34% rise in 
heart failure and a 15% rise in heart attacks 
and angina), with the rate of admissions for 
stroke/transient ischaemic attack falling 

by 20% between 2010/11 and 2020/21 
in Buckinghamshire. These are all more 
pronounced than the national trends which 
have seen a 12% rise in heart failure, a 15% fall 
in heart attacks and angina and a 13% fall in 
stroke/TIA.

Despite the much lower death rates and 
emergency admission rates for cardiovascular 
disease, the rate of planned admissions for 
cardiovascular diseases in Buckinghamshire 
has been higher than the national average in 
recent years. Pre-pandemic the rate of planned 
admissions was falling faster nationally than 
locally (28% nationally versus 15% locally 
between 2011/12 and 2019/20), but during the 
pandemic the planned admission rates have 
fallen similarly (35% nationally and 36% locally).

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

DS
R 

pe
r 1

00
,0

00
 p

op
ul

at
io

n

Cardiovascular disease admissions, all ages, FY 2010/11 to 2020/21

Bucks emergency CVD admissions England emergency CVD admissions

Bucks planned CVD admissions England planned CVD admissions

Figure 7: Cardiovascular disease admission rates (emergency and planned) for Buckinghamshire and 
England, from 2010/11 to 2020/21.

Page 99



40

The rate of emergency admissions for 
cardiovascular diseases is consistently 
significantly higher in more deprived areas than 
in less deprived areas within Buckinghamshire – 
between 2011/12 and 2020/21 it was on average 
1.6 times higher in the most deprived than 
the least deprived quintile. Acute myocardial 
infarction/angina and heart failure are both 1.9 
times higher and stroke is 1.7 times higher in the 
most deprived than the least deprived quintile 
between 2011/12 and 2020/21.

For most of the cardiovascular conditions 
analysed, the gap between the least and 
most deprived areas in Buckinghamshire 
has remained similar over the past 10 years. 
However, the gap in admission rates between 
deprivation quintiles has widened for stroke and 

transient ischaemic attack. The admission rate 
for stroke/transient ischaemic attack is now 1.9 
times higher in the most deprived than the least 
deprived quintile, compared to an average of 1.7 
times higher over the last ten years.

The rate of planned cardiovascular disease 
admissions was on average 1.2 times higher 
in the most deprived than the least deprived 
quintile between 2011/12 and 2020/21. This 
is despite emergency cardiovascular disease 
admission rates being 1.6 times higher, all-age 
cardiovascular disease death rates being 1.5 
times higher and premature cardiovascular 
disease death rates being 2.6 times higher in the 
most deprived compared to the least deprived 
quintile in Buckinghamshire. The reasons for this 
need to be explored.

0

50

100

150

200

250

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

D
SR

 p
er

 1
00

,0
00

 p
op

ul
at

io
n

Emergency stroke and TIA admissions, all ages 
by Buckinghamshire deprivation quintiles, FY 2010/11 to 2020/21

DQ1 (least deprived) DQ5 (most deprived) Buckinghamshire England

Figure 8: Emergency Stroke and Transient Ischaemic attack admission rates for the most and least 
deprived quintiles in Buckinghamshire from 2010/11 to 2020/21.

Page 100



41

4.3.1 Gender

The rate of emergency admissions for 
cardiovascular diseases is consistently 
significantly higher in men than in women 
– averaging at 1.6 times higher in men in 
Buckinghamshire which is similar to the national 
picture. For both men and women rates of 
cardiovascular disease emergency admissions 
are lower in Buckinghamshire than nationally.

However, despite having lower emergency 
admission rates than the national average, 
Buckinghamshire men have had a 13% higher 
rate of planned admissions for cardiovascular 
disease in Buckinghamshire than the national 
average in 2020/21. Buckinghamshire women 
have generally lower or similar rates of planned 
admissions than the national average. During 
this time the rate of planned admissions in men 
has been 2.6 times higher than in women in 
Buckinghamshire in 2020/21. 

4.3.2 By community board

The rates of emergency cardiovascular 
admissions over the three years pre-pandemic 
(2017/18 to 2019/20) were highest for High 
Wycombe, Aylesbury and Beeches Community 
Boards at 1016, 988 and 943 per 100,000 per 
year – all statistically significantly higher than 
the Buckinghamshire average of 824 per 100,000 
per year.

High Wycombe also has the highest rate of 
elective cardiovascular disease admissions 
over the three years pre-pandemic (2017/18 to 
2019/20) at 869 per 100,000 per year compared 
to a Buckinghamshire average of 723 per 
100,000. However, during the pandemic the rate 
of elective cardiovascular disease admissions 
fell more for High Wycombe to below the 
Buckinghamshire average during 2020/21 (457 
versus 461 per 100,000).

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

DS
R 

pe
r 1

00
,0

00
 p

op
ul

at
io

n

Community Board 2021

Emergency cardiovascular disease admissions, all ages, 
FY 2017/18 to FY 2019/20 (3yr pooled)

DASR CI Buckinghamshire

Figure 9: Emergency cardiovascular disease admission rates for Buckinghamshire’s Community 
Boards from 2017/18 to 2019/20.

Page 101



42

0
100
200
300
400
500
600
700
800
900

1000

DS
R 

pe
r 1

00
,0

00
 p

op
ul

at
io

n

Community Board 2021

Elective cardiovascular disease admissions, all ages, 
FY 2017/18 to FY 2019/20 (3yr pooled)

DASR CI Buckinghamshire

Figure 10: Elective cardiovascular disease admission rates for Buckinghamshire’s Community Boards 
from 2017/18 to 2019/20.

4.4 Death rates and trends

There were 1,070 deaths of all ages due 
to cardiovascular disease in 2020 and 
cardiovascular disease accounted for over 
one in five of all deaths in Buckinghamshire. 

More than one in five deaths from cardiovascular 
disease occurred in people under 75 years of 
age in 2020.

The all-age death rate due to cardiovascular 
disease in Buckinghamshire is 17% lower and 
the premature cardiovascular disease death rate 
is 29% lower than the national average in 2020.

The all-age death rates from cardiovascular 
disease fell by more than half (57% reduction) 

between 2001 and 2019. The reduction in 
cardiovascular disease death rates has 
accounted for the majority (69%) of the fall in all 
cause all age death rates in Buckinghamshire 
over this period. Premature mortality due to 
cardiovascular disease has also more than 
halved, with a 58% reduction between 2001 and 
2019. 

However, provisional data reveal the downward 
trend in deaths from cardiovascular disease 
reversed in Buckinghamshire during the 
pandemic, with a 10% increase in all age 
cardiovascular disease mortality between 2020 
and 2021 – the largest year-on-year increase 
in both relative and absolute terms since 
comparable data started being published in 
2001. The increase in premature deaths from 
cardiovascular disease has shown an even 
greater increase with a 22% rise in premature 
cardiovascular disease death rates between 
2020 and 2021. 

Page 102



43

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
(provisional)

D
SR

 p
er

 1
00

,0
00

 p
op

ul
at

io
n

Cardiovascular disease mortality - Persons, 2001 to 2021 (provisional)

Bucks all age England all age Bucks premature England premature
Source: NHS Digital, ONS, PHE Fingertips and Bucks PH

Figure 11: Premature and all age death rates from cardiovascular disease for Buckinghamshire and 
England, from 2001 to 2021.

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
(provisional)

D
SR

 p
er

 1
00

,0
00

 p
op

ul
at

io
n

Premature (under 75 years) all circulatory disease mortality - Persons
by Buckinghamshire deprivation quintiles, 2001 to 2021 (provisional)

DQ1 (least deprived) DQ5 (most deprived) Buckinghamshire
Source: NHS Digital, ONS and Bucks PH

Figure 12: Premature death rates due to cardiovascular disease for Buckinghamshire for the most and 
least deprived quintiles, from 2001 to 2021 .

On average over at least the last 20 years (2001-
2021) all-age death rate due to cardiovascular 
disease has been 1.5 times higher in the most 
deprived than in the least deprived quintile, 
and the premature death rate 2.5 times higher 
in the most deprived than in the least deprived 

quintile. Provisional data (2020 to 2021) reveal 
greater increases in cardiovascular disease 
mortality in the most deprived quintile (23% all 
age increase) than in the least deprived quintile 
(7% all age increase).

Page 103



44

4.4.1 Differences by gender 

Both all-age mortality rate and premature 
mortality rate due to cardiovascular disease 
have been consistently significantly higher in 
men than in women over the last 20 years – on 
average the all-age rate in men has been 1.5 
times higher than in women and the premature 
death rate has been 2.3 times higher in men 
than in women (2001 to 2019). Pre-pandemic the 
cardiovascular disease all-age and premature 

4.5 Differences by  
ethnic group

4.5.1 Conditions recorded in 
primary care 

Ethnicity is recorded for 82% of all 
Buckinghamshire adults in Buckinghamshire 
CCG. 80% of current smokers, 89% of patients 
with a diagnosis of high blood pressure and 
91% of patients with either diabetes, coronary 
heart disease or stroke/TIA have their ethnicity 
recorded.

The three ethnic groups with the highest 
prevalence of coronary heart disease are 

mortality rates fell by similar proportions in both 
men and women (men 59% and 59%, women 
56% and 55%).

However, over the last two years (2019-2021) 
mortality rates have risen more in men than 
in women. The male all-age cardiovascular 
disease mortality rate has risen by 24%, and 
the premature mortality by 53%. In women, the 
all-age mortality rate has risen by 3% and the 
premature mortality by 15%. 

Pakistani (4.7%), white British (4.1%) and ‘Other’ 
ethnicity (3.3%). The three ethnic groups with 
the highest prevalence of stroke/TIA are white 
British (2.4%), Other (1.8%) and Pakistani (1.6%). 

It appears that different risk factors may be 
at play for these ethnic groups. For example, 
the Pakistani population have the highest 
prevalence of diabetes (14%), but below 
average prevalence of recorded high blood 
pressure (12%). In comparison, the white British 
population has the highest recorded prevalence 
of high blood pressure (19%), but below 
average diabetes (6%). Overall, the prevalence 
of coronary heart disease is recorded as being 
highest in the Pakistani (4.7%) and white British 
(4.1%) ethnicities. Stroke/TIA is highest in the 
white British (2.4%) ethnicity. 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
(provisional)

D
SR

 p
er

 1
00

,0
00

 p
op

ul
at

io
n

Premature (under 75 years) all circulatory disease mortality
2001 to 2021 (provisional)

Males Persons Females
Source: NHS Digital, ONS and Bucks PH

Figure 13: Premature mortality rate due to cardiovascular disease for Buckinghamshire by gender, 
from 2001 to 2021 (provisional).

Page 104



45

Table 1: Primary care recorded cardiovascular disease risk factors and conditions in 
Buckinghamshire, by ethnic group.

The prevalence of coronary heart disease is 
lowest in black groups (1.7%) and people from 
the mixed ethnic group (1.9%). However, these 
data do not take age into account so given that 
these are conditions increase with age some of 
the difference may be explained by differences 
in the age of these ethnic groups. 

4.5.2 Admissions and trends

To enable sufficient numbers for analysis, three 
years of admissions data have been pooled 
(2018/19 to 2020/21).

Ethnicity was known for 84% of emergency 
cardiovascular disease admissions during this 
period. For emergency cardiovascular disease 
admissions when an ethnicity was recorded, 
84% in Buckinghamshire were white British, 
which is in line with 81% of the population being 
listed as white British in Buckinghamshire at the 
last Census in 2011.

Ethnicity was known for a lower proportion 
of elective cardiovascular disease admissions 
at 76%, compared to 84% for emergency 
cardiovascular disease admissions. The 
proportion of cardiovascular disease admissions 
being for white British patients (of those with an 
ethnicity recorded) was 85%. We are awaiting 
more recent data from the 2021 census to 
update our analysis comparing admission 
rates for different ethnic groups.There appears 
to be over-recording of individuals having 
‘Other’ ethnicity in Buckinghamshire hospital 
data. 2% of emergency cardiovascular disease 
admissions and 1.6% of elective cardiovascular 
disease admissions were recorded as being for 

patients of ‘Other’ ethnicity in comparison to 
representing 0.5% of the population at the last 
Census. 

Conversely, there appears to be under-
recording of individuals having ‘Mixed’ 
ethnicity in Buckinghamshire hospital data. 
0.5% of emergency cardiovascular disease 
admissions and 0.6% of elective cardiovascular 
disease admissions were recorded as being 
for patients of ‘Mixed’ ethnicity in comparison 
to representing 2.4% of the population at the 
last Census. This could suggest that some 
individuals who are recorded on the Census 
as being of Mixed ethnicity are being recorded 
as ‘Other’ ethnicity by acute NHS Trusts for 
Buckinghamshire residents.

Page 105



46

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Buckinghamshire
admissions

England
admissions

Buckinghamshire
Census 2011

England
Census 2011

Elective cardiovascular disease admissions, by ethnic group
FY 2018/19 - FY 2020/21 (3yr combined)

White other

White British

Other ethnic group

Other Asian background

Mixed/multiple ethnic groups

Black/African/Caribbean/Black British

Asian – Pakistani

Asian – Indian

Figure 15: Proportion of Elective cardiovascular disease admissions by ethnic group from 2018/19 to 
2020/21 for Buckinghamshire and England.

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Buckinghamshire
admissions

England
admissions

Buckinghamshire
Census 2011

England
Census 2011

Emergency cardiovascular disease admissions, by ethnic group
FY 2018/19 - FY 2020/21 (3yr combined)

White other

White British

Other ethnic group

Other Asian background

Mixed/multiple ethnic groups

Black/African/Caribbean/Black
British

Asian – Pakistani

Asian – Indian

Figure 14: Proportion of Emergency cardiovascular disease admissions by ethnic group from 2018/19 
to 2020/21 for Buckinghamshire and England.

Page 106



47

5. Summary and 
Recommendations
Cardiovascular disease is a major cause of ill health, disability and death in 
Buckinghamshire. It causes heart disease, strokes and the second commonest type of 
dementia. It is the major driver of the inequalities in death rates between people living in 
our most deprived and least deprived areas. Cardiovascular disease is also more common 
in our black and Asian populations and people with serious mental illness. Tackling 
cardiovascular disease and its risk factors is a top priority for reducing inequalities in 
health in Buckinghamshire and increasing life expectancy and healthy life expectancy. 

The good news is that a sizeable proportion of cardiovascular disease can be prevented or 
delayed by tackling the risk factors identified in this report and ensuring uptake of effective 
treatments. 

Page 107



48

5.1 What should we do?
We need a renewed focus on preventing 
cardiovascular disease in Buckinghamshire. This 
needs to address the key social, economic and 
environmental risk factors for cardiovascular 
disease, alongside the behavioural and clinical 
risk factors to keep our residents healthy and 
narrow inequalities. Tackling the key risk factors 
will also improve health in a variety of other 
ways, including reducing the risk of cancer, 
diabetes, dementia, musculoskeletal problems 
and poor mental health, and produce many 
other societal and economic benefits, making 
Buckinghamshire an even better place to live.

To tackle cardiovascular disease and reduce 
inequalities in illness and premature death 
in Buckinghamshire we need a multilevel 
approach that addresses risks at the individual, 
community and Buckinghamshire-wide level 
that will impact over the short, medium and long 
term.

We need to work together with 
partners and communities across 
Buckinghamshire to:

1. Act on the broader determinants of 
health, such as income, debt, good quality 
employment, high quality education and healthy 
environments to level up outcomes across 
Buckinghamshire. Tackling these issues is an 
essential component of reducing inequalities in 
health. 

2. Support a systematic large-scale 
improvement in behavioural risk factors by: 

•	 Ensuring the physical, social, commercial and 
economic environments in which people live, 
work and learn support healthy behaviours. 

•	 Increasing the understanding and the skills 
required to design effective behaviour change 
interventions across Buckinghamshire 
Council, the NHS and partners, including 
rolling out the behaviour change Making 
Every Contact Count programme. This 
enables people to have ‘healthy conversations’ 
to support behaviour change in their day-to-
day interactions. 

•	 Working with communities to understand 

what would support them to reduce their risk 
of cardiovascular disease and co-design and 
evaluate appropriate approaches.

•	 Supporting NHS trusts to implement the NHS 
Long Term Plan smoking cessation support 
requirements as smoking is the single biggest 
modifiable driver of health inequalities.

•	 Working together with partners and 
communities to develop a whole system 
approach to healthy eating and physical 
activity to combat the rise in unhealthy weight 
and obesity. 

•	 Working together to tackle smoking via the 
Tobacco Control Action Plan.

•	 Working together to address harmful alcohol 
misuse through development of our new drug 
and alcohol strategy.

3. Increase detection and management of 
modifiable risk factors in people at higher 
risk of cardiovascular disease, including those 
living in more deprived areas, ethnic groups at 
higher risk of cardiovascular disease and those 
with mental illness by:

•	 Increasing capacity in primary care in more 
deprived areas to undertake NHS health 
checks and detect and manage clinical 
risk factors, such as high blood pressure 
and diabetes, and refer to appropriate 
interventions, such as smoking cessation.

•	 Working with people from ethnic minority 
groups to design effective, culturally 
competent approaches to increase detection 
of risk factors and management of risk factors. 

•	 Working with NHS and local authority 
partners to develop and implement the 
whole system plan to tackle inequalities in 
cardiovascular disease. 

4. Improve data collection and monitoring to 
track progress.

•	 Improve data collection in primary and 
secondary care to enable monitoring 
of outcomes by ethnicity and areas of 
deprivation and improve the quality, accuracy 
and completeness of ethnic monitoring data.

•	 Undertake equity audits to determine access 
to and uptake of prevention and treatment 
initiatives of cardiovascular disease by 
different groups.

Page 108



49

6. Glossary
Body Mass Index (BMI)
BMI is a measure of whether you’re a healthy weight for your height. You can calculate your BMI by 
dividing your weight (in kilograms) by your height in metres squared, or alternatively visit the 	
NHS BMI calculator.	

•	 18.5 to 24.9 means you’re a healthy weight

•	 25 to 29.9 means you’re overweight

•	 30 to 39.9 means you’re obese

•	 40 or above means you’re severely obese
	
The scores mentioned above generally apply to people with a white background. If you have an 
ethnic minority background, the threshold for being considered overweight or obese may be lower. 
BMI is not used on its own to diagnose obesity because people who are very muscular can have 
a high BMI without much fat. But for most people, BMI is a useful indication of whether they’re a 
healthy weight.

Cardiovascular disease
Cardiovascular disease (CVD) is an overarching term that describes a family of diseases (including 
stroke, heart attack and peripheral vascular disease) sharing a common set of risk factors.

Cholesterol
Cholesterol is a fatty substance found in your blood. Your body needs cholesterol to build healthy 
cells, but high levels of cholesterol can increase your risk of heart disease.

Coronary heart disease
Coronary heart disease (CHD) (also known as coronary artery disease or heart disease) is a disease 
in which a waxy substance called plaque builds up inside the coronary arteries. These arteries 
supply oxygen-rich blood to your heart muscle.

Directly age standardised rate
The rate that we would expect to find in the populations (groups) under study if they all had the 
same age composition.

Deprivation
Deprivation in England is measured using the Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD). It is an official 
measure of relative deprivation and defines deprivation to include a wide range of an individual’s 
living conditions. There are seven distinct domains of deprivation:	
 
•	 Income 

•	 Employment 

•	 Health Deprivation and Disability
•	 Education, Skills and Training
•	 Crime

•	 Barriers to Housing and Services
•	 Living Environment

Page 109

https://www.nhs.uk/live-well/healthy-weight/bmi-calculator/


50

Deprivation quintile
Within Buckinghamshire, the population for our county is split into five even groups (quintiles) 
containing 20% of the population each, based on the deprivation score of the areas they live in.

When the term ‘least deprived’ is used, it means the 20% of the Buckinghamshire population who 
live in the least deprived areas within the county using the Index of Multiple Deprivation. The ‘most 
deprived’ means the 20% of the Buckinghamshire resident who live in the most deprived areas 
within the county using the Index of Multiple deprivation.

Diabetes
A condition that arises when the pancreas does not produce enough insulin or when the body 
cannot effectively use insulin. The three most common types of diabetes are: type 1, type 2, and 
gestational (during pregnancy).

Elective admissions
Hospital inpatients admissions that were planned in advance and are not an emergency. 
Sometimes referred to as ‘planned admissions.’

Emergency admission
An admission where the clinician admits the individual to the hospital due to a sudden and 
unexpected change in the individual’s physical or mental condition which is severe enough to 
require immediate admission as an inpatient in a hospital.

HDL cholesterol
High-density lipoprotein is sometimes called ‘good’ cholesterol. High levels of HDL cholesterol can 
lower your risk for heart disease and stroke.

Heart failure
Heart failure (also known as congestive heart failure) is a condition in which the heart can’t pump 
enough blood to meet the body’s needs. 

Hypertension
Hypertension (also known as high blood pressure) is a common condition which increases the risk 
of stroke and heart disease.

LDL cholesterol
Low-density lipoprotein is sometimes called ‘bad’ cholesterol. High levels of LDL cholesterol raise 
your risk for heart disease and stroke.

Mortality rate
Also called ‘death rate’ is a measure of the number of deaths in a population over a specific time 
period. It is usually reported as a number of deaths for a given number of people, e.g. per 1,000 
individuals per year.

Myocardial infarction
A myocardial infarction (also known as a heart attack) happens when the flow of oxygen-rich blood 
to a section of heart muscle suddenly becomes blocked and the heart muscle can’t get enough 
oxygen. If blood flow isn’t restored quickly, the section of heart muscle begins to die.

Obesity 
For adults obesity is defined as having a BMI of 30 or greater. If you have an ethnic minority 
background, the threshold for being considered obese may be lower.

Page 110



51

Prevalence
The proportion of individuals in a population who have a particular disease or characteristic at a 
given time.

Quality and outcomes framework (QOF)
A system designed to remunerate general practices in England for providing good quality care to 
their patients, and to help fund work to further improve the quality of health care delivered.

Quintile
One of five equal groups in a population. For example, the Buckinghamshire population is split into 
five equal sized groups for deprivation.

Stroke
A stroke occurs if the flow of oxygen-rich blood to a portion of the brain is restricted or stopped. 
Without oxygen, brain cells start to die after a few minutes. The majority are caused by a clot 
blocking the flow of blood, but others are caused by a blood vessel bleeding.

Transient ischaemic attack
A transient ischaemic attack (TIA) or ‘mini stroke’ is caused by a temporary disruption in the blood 
supply to part of the brain. The effects of a TIA fully resolve within 24 hours.

Page 111



52

1 Action on Smoking and Health. Health Inequalities - Action on Smoking and Health. Available at: 
ash.org.uk/category/information-and-resources/health-inequalities/
2 U.S. Food and Drug Administration. 2020. Cigarette Smoking: A Risk Factor for Type 2 Diabetes. 
[online] Available at: da.gov/tobacco-products/health-effects-tobacco-use/cigarette-smoking-risk-
factor-type-2-diabetes
3 Alzheimer’s Disease International, 2014. World Alzheimer Report 2014 Dementia and Risk 
Reduction AN ANALYSIS OF PROTECTIVE AND MODIFIABLE FACTORS. Alzheimer’s Disease 
International. Available at: alzint.org/u/WorldAlzheimerReport2014.pdf
4 Smokefree Action on Smoking. Media Release
5 Jackson, SE, Beard, E, Angus, C, Field, M, Brown, J. Moderators of changes in smoking, 
drinking and quitting behaviour associated with the first COVID-19 lockdown in England. Addiction. 
2021; 1– 12.
6 Ons.GOV.uk. 2020. Adult smoking habits in the UK - Office for National Statistics. Available at: 
ons.GOV.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthandlifeexpectancies/
bulletins/adultsmokinghabitsingreatbritain/2019
7 Office for National Statistics., 2021. Cigarette smoking among adults. Ethnicity-facts-figures.
service.GOV.uk. Available at: www.ethnicity-facts-figures.service.gov.uk/health/alcohol-smoking-
and-drug-use/adult-smokers/latest
8 Fingertips.phe.org.uk. 2021. Local Tobacco Control Profiles - Data - OHID. Available at: 
fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/tobacco-control/data#page/6/gid/1938132888/pat/6/par/E12000008/
ati/302/are/E06000060/iid/93753/age/202/sex/4/cat/-1/ctp/-1/yrr/1/cid/4/tbm/1/page-options/car-
do-0
9 NHS Digital. 2021. Statistics on NHS Stop Smoking Services in England - April 2020 to March 
2021. Available at: digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/statistics-on-nhs-
stop-smoking-services-in-england/april-2020-to-march-2021/introduction
10 
11 Webarchive.nationalarchives.GOV.uk. 2014. Do smoking rates vary between more and less 
advantaged areas?. Available at: webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/ukgwa/20160105204521/
http:/www.ons.GOV.uk/ons/rel/disability-and-health-measurement/do-smoking-rates-vary-between-
more-and-less-advantaged-areas-/2012/sty-smoking-rates.html
12 Assets.publishing.service.GOV.uk. 2017. UK Chief Medical Officers’ Physical Activity Guidelines. 
Available at: assets.publishing.service.GOV.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_
data/file/832868/uk-chief-medical-officers-physical-activity-guidelines.pdf
13 GOV.UK. 2019. Health matters: preventing cardiovascular disease. Available at: www.GOV.
uk/government/publications/health-matters-preventing-cardiovascular-disease/health-matters-
preventing-cardiovascular-disease
14 Mann, S., Beedie, C. and Jimenez, A., 2013. Differential Effects of Aerobic Exercise, Resistance 
Training and Combined Exercise Modalities on Cholesterol and the Lipid Profile: Review, 
Synthesis and Recommendations. [online] National Library of Medicine. Available at: ncbi.nlm.nih.
gov/pmc/articles/PMC3906547/ 
15 Assets.publishing.service.GOV.uk. 2017. UK Chief Medical Officers’ Physical Activity Guidelines. 
Available at: assets.publishing.service.GOV.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_
data/file/832868/uk-chief-medical-officers-physical-activity-guidelines.pdf
16 Talty, R., 2015. The Danger of Sitting Down: A Summary of the Health Risks of Excessive 
Sedentary Behavior. Inquiries Journal. Available at: inquiriesjournal.com/articles/1299/the-danger-
of-sitting-down-a-summary-of-the-health-risks-of-excessive-sedentary-behavior
17 The Health Foundation. 2017. Our food and our health. Available at: health.org.uk/infographic/
our-food-and-our-health

7. References

Page 112

http://ash.org.uk/category/information-and-resources/health-inequalities/
http://da.gov/tobacco-products/health-effects-tobacco-use/cigarette-smoking-risk-factor-type-2-diabetes
http://da.gov/tobacco-products/health-effects-tobacco-use/cigarette-smoking-risk-factor-type-2-diabetes
http://alzint.org/u/WorldAlzheimerReport2014.pdf
https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/action/showCitFormats?doi=10.1111%2Fadd.15656
https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/action/showCitFormats?doi=10.1111%2Fadd.15656
https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/action/showCitFormats?doi=10.1111%2Fadd.15656
http://ons.GOV.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthandlifeexpectancies/bulletins/adultsmokinghabitsingreatbritain/2019
http://ons.GOV.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthandlifeexpectancies/bulletins/adultsmokinghabitsingreatbritain/2019
http://www.ethnicity-facts-figures.service.gov.uk/health/alcohol-smoking-and-drug-use/adult-smokers/latest
http://www.ethnicity-facts-figures.service.gov.uk/health/alcohol-smoking-and-drug-use/adult-smokers/latest
http://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/tobacco-control/data#page/6/gid/1938132888/pat/6/par/E12000008/ati/302/are/E06000060/iid/93753/age/202/sex/4/cat/-1/ctp/-1/yrr/1/cid/4/tbm/1/page-options/car-do-0
http://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/tobacco-control/data#page/6/gid/1938132888/pat/6/par/E12000008/ati/302/are/E06000060/iid/93753/age/202/sex/4/cat/-1/ctp/-1/yrr/1/cid/4/tbm/1/page-options/car-do-0
http://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/tobacco-control/data#page/6/gid/1938132888/pat/6/par/E12000008/ati/302/are/E06000060/iid/93753/age/202/sex/4/cat/-1/ctp/-1/yrr/1/cid/4/tbm/1/page-options/car-do-0
http://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/statistics-on-nhs-stop-smoking-services-in-england/april-2020-to-march-2021/introduction
http://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/statistics-on-nhs-stop-smoking-services-in-england/april-2020-to-march-2021/introduction
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/ukgwa/20160105204521/http:/www.ons.GOV.uk/ons/rel/disability-and-health-measurement/do-smoking-rates-vary-between-more-and-less-advantaged-areas-/2012/sty-smoking-rates.html
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/ukgwa/20160105204521/http:/www.ons.GOV.uk/ons/rel/disability-and-health-measurement/do-smoking-rates-vary-between-more-and-less-advantaged-areas-/2012/sty-smoking-rates.html
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/ukgwa/20160105204521/http:/www.ons.GOV.uk/ons/rel/disability-and-health-measurement/do-smoking-rates-vary-between-more-and-less-advantaged-areas-/2012/sty-smoking-rates.html
http://assets.publishing.service.GOV.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/832868/uk-chief-medical-officers-physical-activity-guidelines.pdf
http://assets.publishing.service.GOV.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/832868/uk-chief-medical-officers-physical-activity-guidelines.pdf
http://www.GOV.uk/government/publications/health-matters-preventing-cardiovascular-disease/health-matters-preventing-cardiovascular-disease
http://www.GOV.uk/government/publications/health-matters-preventing-cardiovascular-disease/health-matters-preventing-cardiovascular-disease
http://www.GOV.uk/government/publications/health-matters-preventing-cardiovascular-disease/health-matters-preventing-cardiovascular-disease
http://ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3906547/ 
http://ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3906547/ 
http://assets.publishing.service.GOV.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/832868/uk-chief-medical-officers-physical-activity-guidelines.pdf
http://assets.publishing.service.GOV.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/832868/uk-chief-medical-officers-physical-activity-guidelines.pdf
http://inquiriesjournal.com/articles/1299/the-danger-of-sitting-down-a-summary-of-the-health-risks-of-excessive-sedentary-behavior
http://inquiriesjournal.com/articles/1299/the-danger-of-sitting-down-a-summary-of-the-health-risks-of-excessive-sedentary-behavior
http://health.org.uk/infographic/our-food-and-our-health
http://health.org.uk/infographic/our-food-and-our-health


53

18 Public  Health England. 2018. The Eat Well Guide. Available at: assets.publishing.service.
GOV.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/742750/Eatwell_Guide_
booklet_2018v4.pdf
19 Department of Health. The NHS Plan: A Plan for Investment, a Plan for Reform.; 2000:144 p. 
doi:10.1136/bmj.321.7257.315.
20 Aune, D., Giovannucci, E., Boffetta, P., Fadnes, L., Keum, N., Norat, T., Greenwood, D., Riboli, 
E., Vatten, L. and Tonstad, S., 2017. Fruit and vegetable intake and the risk of cardiovascular 
disease, total cancer and all-cause mortality—a systematic review and dose-response meta-
analysis of prospective studies. PubMed Central Available at: ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/
PMC5837313/
21 Schwaller, E., Green, M., Patterson, G., O’Flaherty, P. and Kypridemos, C., 2021. Area 
inequalities in fruit and vegetable intake in England: a spatial microsimulation, cross-sectional 
study. The Lancet, 398, p.S78. Available at: thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140-
6736(21)02621-0/fulltext
22 Fingertips. n.d. Public Health Outcomes Framework - Data - OHID.  Available at: fingertips.phe.
org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework/data#page/4/gid/1000042/pat/6/par/E12000008/
ati/402/are/E06000060/iid/93077/age/164/sex/4/cid/1/tbm/1
23 NHS Digital. n.d. Health Survey for England Fruit & vegetables. Available at: healthsurvey.hscic.
GOV.uk/data-visualisation/data-visualisation/explore-the-trends/fruit-vegetables.aspx?type=adult
24 Action on Salt. n.d. UK Salt Reduction - Action on Salt. Available at: www.actiononsalt.org.uk/
uk-20salt-20reduction-20programme/145617.html/#:~:text=The%20average%20person%20in%20
the%20UK%20is%20thought,increased%20risk%20of%20suffering%20later%20on%20in%20life
25 UK Health Security Agency, 2017. Available at: khsa.blog.GOV.uk/2017/03/31/health-matters-
obesity-and-the-food-environment/
26 Association Between Frequency of Eating Away-From-Home Meals and Risk of All-Cause and 
Cause-Specific Mortality - Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics (jandonline.org)
27 Public Health England, 2018. England’s poorest areas are fast food hotspots.  Available at: 
www.GOV.uk/government/news/englands-poorest-areas-are-fast-food-hotspots
28 Foodfoundation.org.uk. 2020. THE BROKEN PLATE 2020 The State of the Nation’s Food 
System. [online] Available at: foodfoundation.org.uk/sites/default/files/2021-10/FF-Broken-Plate-
2020-DIGITAL-FULL.pdf
29 Foodfoundation.org.uk. n.d. Food Insecurity Tracking. Available at: foodfoundation.org.uk/
initiatives/food-insecurity-tracking
30 GOV.UK. 2020. Excess weight can increase risk of serious illness and death from COVID-19. 
Available at: www.GOV.uk/government/news/excess-weight-can-increase-risk-of-serious-illness-
and-death-from-covid-19
31 GOV.UK. 2021. Seven in 10 adults are motivated to get healthier in 2021 due to COVID-19. 
Available at: www.GOV.uk/government/news/seven-in-10-adults-are-motivated-to-get-healthier-in-
2021-due-to-covid-19
32 The Body Mass Index (or BMI) is a way of seeing if your weight is appropriate for your height - 
BMI calculator | Check your BMI - NHS | Please fill in your details (www.nhs.uk)
33 Van Gaal LF, Mertens IL, De Block CE. Mechanisms linking obesity with cardiovascular disease. 
Nature. 2006 Dec;444:875–80. [PubMed] [Google Scholar]
34 Bhf.org.uk. n.d. Obesity. Available at: www.bhf.org.uk/informationsupport/risk-factors/obesity
35 GOV.UK. 2017. Health matters: obesity and the food environment. Available at: https://www.
GOV.uk/government/publications/health-matters-obesity-and-the-food-environment/health-matters-
obesity-and-the-food-environment--2
36 UCL. 2020. Obesity linked to higher dementia risk. Available at: www.ucl.ac.uk/news/2020/jun/
obesity-linked-higher-dementia-risk
37 NICE. 2014.  Available at: www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg189/resources/obesity-identification-
assessment-and-management-pdf-35109821097925
38 GOV.UK. 2020. Excess weight can increase risk of serious illness and death from COVID-19. 
Available at: www.GOV.uk/government/news/excess-weight-can-increase-risk-of-serious-illness-
and-death-from-covid-19

Page 113

http://assets.publishing.service.GOV.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/742750/Eatwell_Guide_booklet_2018v4.pdf
http://assets.publishing.service.GOV.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/742750/Eatwell_Guide_booklet_2018v4.pdf
http://assets.publishing.service.GOV.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/742750/Eatwell_Guide_booklet_2018v4.pdf
http://ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5837313/
http://ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5837313/
http://thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140-6736(21)02621-0/fulltext
http://thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140-6736(21)02621-0/fulltext
http://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework/data#page/4/gid/1000042/pat/6/par/E12000008/ati/402/are/E06000060/iid/93077/age/164/sex/4/cid/1/tbm/1
http://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework/data#page/4/gid/1000042/pat/6/par/E12000008/ati/402/are/E06000060/iid/93077/age/164/sex/4/cid/1/tbm/1
http://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework/data#page/4/gid/1000042/pat/6/par/E12000008/ati/402/are/E06000060/iid/93077/age/164/sex/4/cid/1/tbm/1
http://healthsurvey.hscic.GOV.uk/data-visualisation/data-visualisation/explore-the-trends/fruit-vegetables.aspx?type=adult
http://healthsurvey.hscic.GOV.uk/data-visualisation/data-visualisation/explore-the-trends/fruit-vegetables.aspx?type=adult
http://www.actiononsalt.org.uk/uk-20salt-20reduction-20programme/145617.html/#:~:text=The%20average%20person%20in%20the%20UK%20is%20thought,increased%20risk%20of%20suffering%20later%20on%20in%20life
http://www.actiononsalt.org.uk/uk-20salt-20reduction-20programme/145617.html/#:~:text=The%20average%20person%20in%20the%20UK%20is%20thought,increased%20risk%20of%20suffering%20later%20on%20in%20life
http://www.actiononsalt.org.uk/uk-20salt-20reduction-20programme/145617.html/#:~:text=The%20average%20person%20in%20the%20UK%20is%20thought,increased%20risk%20of%20suffering%20later%20on%20in%20life
http://khsa.blog.GOV.uk/2017/03/31/health-matters-obesity-and-the-food-environment/
http://khsa.blog.GOV.uk/2017/03/31/health-matters-obesity-and-the-food-environment/
https://www.jandonline.org/article/S2212-2672(21)00059-9/fulltext
https://www.jandonline.org/article/S2212-2672(21)00059-9/fulltext
http://www.GOV.uk/government/news/englands-poorest-areas-are-fast-food-hotspots
http://foodfoundation.org.uk/sites/default/files/2021-10/FF-Broken-Plate-2020-DIGITAL-FULL.pdf
http://foodfoundation.org.uk/sites/default/files/2021-10/FF-Broken-Plate-2020-DIGITAL-FULL.pdf
http://foodfoundation.org.uk/initiatives/food-insecurity-tracking
http://foodfoundation.org.uk/initiatives/food-insecurity-tracking
http://www.GOV.uk/government/news/excess-weight-can-increase-risk-of-serious-illness-and-death-from-covid-19
http://www.GOV.uk/government/news/excess-weight-can-increase-risk-of-serious-illness-and-death-from-covid-19
http://www.GOV.uk/government/news/seven-in-10-adults-are-motivated-to-get-healthier-in-2021-due-to-covid-19
http://www.GOV.uk/government/news/seven-in-10-adults-are-motivated-to-get-healthier-in-2021-due-to-covid-19
http://www.bhf.org.uk/informationsupport/risk-factors/obesity
http://www.ucl.ac.uk/news/2020/jun/obesity-linked-higher-dementia-risk
http://www.ucl.ac.uk/news/2020/jun/obesity-linked-higher-dementia-risk
http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg189/resources/obesity-identification-assessment-and-management-pdf-35109821097925
http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg189/resources/obesity-identification-assessment-and-management-pdf-35109821097925
http://www.GOV.uk/government/news/excess-weight-can-increase-risk-of-serious-illness-and-death-from-covid-19
http://www.GOV.uk/government/news/excess-weight-can-increase-risk-of-serious-illness-and-death-from-covid-19


54

39 Freedman D, Dietz WH, Srinivasan S et al. The relation of overweight to cardiovascular risk 
factors among children and adolescents: The Bogalusa Heart Study. Pediatrics 1999;103:1175-
1182.
40 Cote AT, Harris KC, Panagiotopoulos C et al. Childhood obesity and cardiovascular dysfunction. 
Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2013;62:1309-1319
41 NHS Digital. 2020. Statistics on Obesity, Physical Activity and Diet, England, 2020 - NHS Digital. 
Available at: digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/statistics-on-obesity-
physical-activity-and-diet/england-2020
42 Fingertips. n.d. Obesity Profile - Data – OHID. Available at: fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/national-
child-measurement-programme/data#page/0/gid/1938133368/pat/6/par/E12000008/ati/302/are/
E06000060/yrr/1/cid/4/tbm/1
43 NHS Digital. 2019. Health Survey for England 2018 [NS]. Available at: digital.nhs.uk/data-and-
information/publications/statistical/health-survey-for-england/2018/summary 
44 NHS Digital. 2020. National Child Measurement Programme, England 2019/20 School 
Year. Available at: digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/national-child-
measurement-programme/2019-20-school-year/deprivation
45 NICE. 2013. BMI: preventing ill health and premature death in black, Asian and 
other minority ethnic groups. Available at: www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph46/chapter/1-
Recommendations#recommendation-1-preventing-type-2-diabetes
46 Live Well Stay Well - Live Well Stay Well (livewellstaywellbucks.co.uk)
47 PubMed, 2016. Alcohol-induced hypertension: Mechanism and prevention. Available at: www.
ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4038773/#B18
48 Puddey, I. and Beilin, L., 2006. ALCOHOL IS BAD FOR BLOOD PRESSURE. Clinical and 
Experimental Pharmacology and Physiology, Available at: pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/16922819/
49 Public Health England 2016. The Public Health Burden of Alcohol and the Effectiveness and 
Cost-Effectiveness of Alcohol Control Policies. Available at: assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/
government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/733108/alcohol_public_health_burden_
evidence_review_update_2018.pdf
50 Raleigh, V. and Holmes, J., 2021. The health of people from ethnic minority groups in England. 
The Kings Fund. Available at: www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/health-people-ethnic-minority-
groups-england
51 British Heart Foundation. 2021. Coronavirus: what it means for you if you have heart or 
circulatory disease. Available at: www.bhf.org.uk/informationsupport/heart-matters-magazine/
news/coronavirus-and-your-health#Heading2
52 Kivimaki, M., 2002. Work stress and risk of cardiovascular mortality: prospective cohort 
study of industrial employees. BMJ, 325(7369), pp.857-857. Available at: www.bmj.com/
content/325/7369/857
53 Marmot, M., Shipley, M., Hemingway, H., Head, J. and Brunner, E., 2008. Biological and 
behavioural explanations of social inequalities in coronary heart disease: the Whitehall II study. 
PubMed, Available at: pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/18777168/
54 nhs.uk. 2019. Metabolic syndrome.  Available at: www.nhs.uk/conditions/metabolic-syndrome/
55 Brunner, E., Marmot, M., Nanchahal, K., Shipley, M., Stansfeld, S., Juneja, M. and Alberti, K., 
1997. Social inequality in coronary risk: Central obesity and the metabolic syndrome. Evidence 
from the Whitehall II study. PubMed, Available at: pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/9389428/
56 Brunner, E., Chandola, T. and Marmot, M., 2007. Prospective Effect of Job Strain on General 
and Central Obesity in the Whitehall II Study. American Journal of Epidemiology, 165(7), pp.828-
837. Available at: academic.oup.com/aje/article/165/7/828/158160
57 Pega, F., Náfrádi, B., Momen, N., Ujita, Y., Streicher, K., Prüss-Üstün, A., Descatha, A., Driscoll, 
T., Fischer, F., Godderis, L., Kiiver, H., Li, J., Magnusson Hanson, L., Rugulies, R., Sørensen, 
K. and Woodruff, T., 2021. Global, regional, and national burdens of ischemic heart disease 
and stroke attributable to exposure to long working hours for 194 countries, 2000–2016: A 
systematic analysis from the WHO/ILO Joint Estimates of the Work-related Burden of Disease 
and Injury. Environment International, Available at: www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/
S0160412021002208

Page 114

http://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/statistics-on-obesity-physical-activity-and-diet/england-2020
http://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/statistics-on-obesity-physical-activity-and-diet/england-2020
http://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/national-child-measurement-programme/data#page/0/gid/1938133368/pat/6/par/E12000008/ati/302/are/E06000060/yrr/1/cid/4/tbm/1
http://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/national-child-measurement-programme/data#page/0/gid/1938133368/pat/6/par/E12000008/ati/302/are/E06000060/yrr/1/cid/4/tbm/1
http://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/national-child-measurement-programme/data#page/0/gid/1938133368/pat/6/par/E12000008/ati/302/are/E06000060/yrr/1/cid/4/tbm/1
http://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/health-survey-for-england/2018/summary
http://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/health-survey-for-england/2018/summary
http://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/national-child-measurement-programme/2019-20-school-year/deprivation
http://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/national-child-measurement-programme/2019-20-school-year/deprivation
http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph46/chapter/1-Recommendations#recommendation-1-preventing-type-2-diabetes
http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph46/chapter/1-Recommendations#recommendation-1-preventing-type-2-diabetes
http://livewellstaywellbucks.co.uk
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4038773/#B18
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4038773/#B18
http://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/16922819/
http://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/733108/alcohol_public_health_burden_evidence_review_update_2018.pd
http://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/733108/alcohol_public_health_burden_evidence_review_update_2018.pd
http://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/733108/alcohol_public_health_burden_evidence_review_update_2018.pd
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/health-people-ethnic-minority-groups-england
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/health-people-ethnic-minority-groups-england
http://www.bhf.org.uk/informationsupport/heart-matters-magazine/news/coronavirus-and-your-health#Heading2
http://www.bhf.org.uk/informationsupport/heart-matters-magazine/news/coronavirus-and-your-health#Heading2
http://www.bmj.com/content/325/7369/857
http://www.bmj.com/content/325/7369/857
http://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/18777168/
http://www.nhs.uk/conditions/metabolic-syndrome/
http://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/9389428/
http://academic.oup.com/aje/article/165/7/828/158160
http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0160412021002208
http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0160412021002208


55

58 Watts, N., Amann, M., Arnell, N., Ayeb-Karlsson, S., Belesova, K., Boykoff, M., Byass, P., 
Cai, W., Campbell-Lendrum, D., Capstick, S., Chambers, J., Dalin, C., Daly, M., Dasandi, N., 
Davies, M., Drummond, P., Dubrow, R., Ebi, K., Eckelman, M., Ekins, P., Escobar, L., Fernandez 
Montoya, L., Georgeson, L., Graham, H., Haggar, P., Hamilton, I., Hartinger, S., Hess, J., Kelman, 
I., Kiesewetter, G., Kjellstrom, T., Kniveton, D., Lemke, B., Liu, Y., Lott, M., Lowe, R., Sewe, M., 
Martinez-Urtaza, J., Maslin, M., McAllister, L., McGushin, A., Jankin Mikhaylov, S., Milner, J., 
Moradi-Lakeh, M., Morrissey, K., Murray, K., Munzert, S., Nilsson, M., Neville, T., Oreszczyn, T., 
Owfi, F., Pearman, O., Pencheon, D., Phung, D., Pye, S., Quinn, R., Rabbaniha, M., Robinson, 
E., Rocklöv, J., Semenza, J., Sherman, J., Shumake-Guillemot, J., Tabatabaei, M., Taylor, J., 
Trinanes, J., Wilkinson, P., Costello, A., Gong, P. and Montgomery, H., 2019. The 2019 report of 
The Lancet Countdown on health and climate change: ensuring that the health of a child born 
today is not defined by a changing climate. The Lancet, Available at: www.thelancet.com/journals/
lancet/article/PIIS0140-6736(19)32596-6/fulltext
59 Global burden of 87 risk factors in 204 countries and territories, 1990–2019: a systematic 
analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. The Lancet, 396(10258), pp.1223-1249. 
Available at: www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140-6736(20)30752-2/fulltext
60 Office for National Statistics. 2020. Excess winter mortality in England 
and Wales - Office for National Statistics. Available at: www.ons.GOV.uk/
peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/bulletins/
excesswintermortalityinenglandandwales/2019to2020provisionaland2018to2019final
61 The King’s Fund. n.d. Housing. Available at: www.kingsfund.org.uk/projects/time-think-differently/
trends-broader-determinants-health-housing
62 NHS England. 2018. NHS England North » Cold weather increases risk of heart attack and 
stroke. Available at: www.england.nhs.uk/north/cold-weather-increases-risk-of-heart-attack-and-
stroke/
63 COLLINS, K., 1986. LOW INDOOR TEMPERATURES AND MORBIDITY IN THE ELDERLY. Age 
and Ageing, 15(4), pp.212-220. Available at: academic.oup.com/ageing/article-abstract/15/4/212/3
4583?redirectedFrom=fulltext
64 COLLINS, K., 1986. LOW INDOOR TEMPERATURES AND MORBIDITY IN THE ELDERLY. Age 
and Ageing, 15(4), pp.212-220. Available at: academic.oup.com/ageing/article-abstract/15/4/212/3
4583?redirectedFrom=fulltext
65 Al-Shakarchi, N., Evans, H., Luchenski, S., Story, A. and Banerjee, A., 2020. Cardiovascular 
disease in homeless versus housed individuals: a systematic review of observational and 
interventional studies.BMJ. Available at: heart.bmj.com/content/106/19/1483.info
66 Kings College London. 2020. Personalising the Health Impacts of Air Pollution: Interim Statistics 
Summary for a Selection of Statements. Available at: erg.ic.ac.uk/Research/docs/personalised-
health-impacts.pdf
67 Fecht, D., Fischer, P., Fortunato, L., Hoek, G., de Hoogh, K., Marra, M., Kruize, H., Vienneau, 
D., Beelen, R. and Hansell, A., 2015. Associations between air pollution and socioeconomic 
characteristics, ethnicity and age profile of neighbourhoods in England and the Netherlands. 
Environmental Pollution,198, pp.201-210. Available at: www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/
pii/S0269749114005144
68 New Scientist. 2022. Diabetes and obesity: Pedestrian-friendly cities have lower rates | New 
Scientist. Available at: www.newscientist.com/article/2309343-pedestrian-friendly-cities-have-
lower-rates-of-diabetes-and-obesity/
69 Williamson, E.J., Walker, A.J., Bhaskaran, K. et al. Factors associated with COVID-19-related 
death using OpenSAFELY. Nature 584, 430–436 (2020). doi.org/10.1038/s41586-020-2521-4
70 GOV.UK. 2019. Health matters: preventing cardiovascular disease. Available at: www.gov.
uk/government/publications/health-matters-preventing-cardiovascular-disease/health-matters-
preventing-cardiovascular-disease
71 Fingertips. n.d. Public health profiles - OHID. Available at: fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/
cardiovascular#page/7/gid/1/pat/159/par/K02000001/ati/15/are/E92000001/iid/40401/age/163/
sex/4/cat/-1/ctp/-1/yrr/1/cid/4/tbm/1/page-options/tre-do-1

Page 115

http://www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140-6736(19)32596-6/fulltext
http://www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140-6736(19)32596-6/fulltext
http://www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140-6736(20)30752-2/fulltext
http://www.ons.GOV.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/bulletins/excesswintermortalityinenglandandwales/2019to2020provisionaland2018to2019final
http://www.ons.GOV.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/bulletins/excesswintermortalityinenglandandwales/2019to2020provisionaland2018to2019final
http://www.ons.GOV.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/bulletins/excesswintermortalityinenglandandwales/2019to2020provisionaland2018to2019final
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/projects/time-think-differently/trends-broader-determinants-health-housing
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/projects/time-think-differently/trends-broader-determinants-health-housing
http://www.england.nhs.uk/north/cold-weather-increases-risk-of-heart-attack-and-stroke/
http://www.england.nhs.uk/north/cold-weather-increases-risk-of-heart-attack-and-stroke/
http://academic.oup.com/ageing/article-abstract/15/4/212/34583?redirectedFrom=fulltext
http://academic.oup.com/ageing/article-abstract/15/4/212/34583?redirectedFrom=fulltext
http://academic.oup.com/ageing/article-abstract/15/4/212/34583?redirectedFrom=fulltext
http://academic.oup.com/ageing/article-abstract/15/4/212/34583?redirectedFrom=fulltext
http://heart.bmj.com/content/106/19/1483.info
http://erg.ic.ac.uk/Research/docs/personalised-health-impacts.pdf
http://erg.ic.ac.uk/Research/docs/personalised-health-impacts.pdf
http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0269749114005144
http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0269749114005144
http://www.newscientist.com/article/2309343-pedestrian-friendly-cities-have-lower-rates-of-diabetes-and-obesity/
http://www.newscientist.com/article/2309343-pedestrian-friendly-cities-have-lower-rates-of-diabetes-and-obesity/
http://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-020-2521-4
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-matters-preventing-cardiovascular-disease/health-matters-preventing-cardiovascular-disease
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-matters-preventing-cardiovascular-disease/health-matters-preventing-cardiovascular-disease
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-matters-preventing-cardiovascular-disease/health-matters-preventing-cardiovascular-disease
http://fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/cardiovascular#page/7/gid/1/pat/159/par/K02000001/ati/15/are/E92000001/iid/40401/age/163/sex/4/cat/-1/ctp/-1/yrr/1/cid/4/tbm/1/page-options/tre-do-1
http://fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/cardiovascular#page/7/gid/1/pat/159/par/K02000001/ati/15/are/E92000001/iid/40401/age/163/sex/4/cat/-1/ctp/-1/yrr/1/cid/4/tbm/1/page-options/tre-do-1
http://fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/cardiovascular#page/7/gid/1/pat/159/par/K02000001/ati/15/are/E92000001/iid/40401/age/163/sex/4/cat/-1/ctp/-1/yrr/1/cid/4/tbm/1/page-options/tre-do-1


56

72 NHS Digital. n.d. Part 5: Physical activity - NHS Digital. Available at: digital.nhs.uk/data-and-
information/publications/statistical/statistics-on-obesity-physical-activity-and-diet/england-2020/
part-5-adult-physical-activity-copy
73 Holmes, J., 2021. Tackling obesity The role of the NHS in a whole-system approach. The Kings 
Fund. Available at: www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/default/files/2021-07/Tackling%20obesity.pdf
74 NHS Digital. n.d. Part 4: Deprivation - NHS Digital. Available at: digital.nhs.uk/data-and-
information/publications/statistical/national-child-measurement-programme/2020-21-school-year/
deprivation
75 Macdonald, L., Cummins, S. and Macintyre, S., 2007. Neighbourhood fast food environment and 
area deprivation—substitution or concentration?. Appetite, 49(1), pp.251-254. Available at: www.
sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0195666306006519?via%3Dihub
76 The Health Foundation. 2020. Health Equity in England: The Marmot Review 10 Years 
On.Available at: www.health.org.uk/publications/reports/the-marmot-review-10-years-on
77 GOV.UK. 2016. Health matters: harmful drinking and alcohol dependence. Available at: www.
GOV.uk/government/publications/health-matters-harmful-drinking-and-alcohol-dependence/health-
matters-harmful-drinking-and-alcohol-dependence
78 GOV.UK. 2019. Health matters: preventing cardiovascular disease. Available at: www.GOV.
uk/government/publications/health-matters-preventing-cardiovascular-disease/health-matters-
preventing-cardiovascular-disease
79 Moody, A., Cowley, G., Ng Fat, L. and Mindell, J., 2016. Social inequalities in prevalence of 
diagnosed and undiagnosed diabetes and impaired glucose regulation in participants in the Health 
Surveys for England series. BMJ. Available at: bmjopen.bmj.com/content/6/2/e010155
80 www.england.nhs.uk/midlands/clinical-networks/west-midlands-clinical-network/our-networks/
cardiovascular/cardiac/atrial-fibrillation/
81 Chung, S., Sofat, R., Acosta-Mena, D., Taylor, J., Lambiase, P., Casas, J. and Providencia, R., 
2021. Atrial fibrillation epidemiology, disparity and healthcare contacts: a population-wide study 
of 5.6 million individuals. The Lancet Regional Health - Europe, 7, p.100157. Available at: www.
thelancet.com/journals/lanepe/article/PIIS2666-7762(21)00134-4/fulltext
82 Asthana, S., Moon, G., Gibson, A., Bailey, T., Hewson, P. and Dibben, C., 2016. Inequity 
in cardiovascular care in the English National Health Service (NHS): a scoping review of the 
literature. Health &amp; Social Care in the Community, 26(3), pp.259-272. Available at: eprints.
soton.ac.uk/419823/1/Asthana_et_al_2018_Health_Social_Care_in_the_Community.pdf
83 As above 
84 Office for National Statistics. 2012. Ethnicity and National Identity in England and Wales - 
Office for National Statistics. Available at: www.ons.GOV.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/
culturalidentity/ethnicity/articles/ethnicityandnationalidentityinenglandandwales/2012-12-11
85 Movsisyan, N., Vinciguerra, M., Medina-Inojosa, J. and Lopez-Jimenez, F., 2020. Cardiovascular 
Diseases in Central and Eastern Europe: A Call for More Surveillance and Evidence-Based Health 
Promotion. Boston College. Available at: annalsofglobalhealth.org/articles/10.5334/aogh.2713/
86 Matthews, Z., 2008. The health of Gypsies and Travellers in the UK. Gypsy-traveller.org. 
Available at: www.gypsy-traveller.org/wp-content/uploads/health-brief.pdf
87 Raleigh, V. and Holmes, J., 2021. The health of people from ethnic minority groups in England. 
The Kings Fund. Available at: www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/health-people-ethnic-minority-
groups-england
88 George, J., Mathur, R., Shah, A., Pujades-Rodriguez, M., Denaxas, S., Smeeth, L., 
Timmis, A. and Hemingway, H., 2017. Ethnicity and the first diagnosis of a wide range of 
cardiovascular diseases: Associations in a linked electronic health record cohort of 1 million 
patients. PLOS ONE,12(6), p.e0178945. Available at: journals.plos.org/plosone/article/
file?type=printable&id=10.1371/journal.pone.0178945
89 Raleigh, V. and Holmes, J., 2021. The health of people from ethnic minority groups in England. 
The Kings Fund. Available at: www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/health-people-ethnic-minority-
groups-england#diabetes
90 Tillin, T., Hughes, A., Godsland, I., Whincup, P., Forouhi, N., Welsh, P., Sattar, N., McKeigue, 

Page 116

http://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/statistics-on-obesity-physical-activity-and-diet/england-2020/part-5-adult-physical-activity-copy
http://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/statistics-on-obesity-physical-activity-and-diet/england-2020/part-5-adult-physical-activity-copy
http://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/statistics-on-obesity-physical-activity-and-diet/england-2020/part-5-adult-physical-activity-copy
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/default/files/2021-07/Tackling%20obesity.pdf
http://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/national-child-measurement-programme/2020-21-school-year/deprivation
http://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/national-child-measurement-programme/2020-21-school-year/deprivation
http://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/national-child-measurement-programme/2020-21-school-year/deprivation
http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0195666306006519?via%3Dihub
http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0195666306006519?via%3Dihub
http://www.health.org.uk/publications/reports/the-marmot-review-10-years-on
http://www.GOV.uk/government/publications/health-matters-harmful-drinking-and-alcohol-dependence/health-matters-harmful-drinking-and-alcohol-dependence
http://www.GOV.uk/government/publications/health-matters-harmful-drinking-and-alcohol-dependence/health-matters-harmful-drinking-and-alcohol-dependence
http://www.GOV.uk/government/publications/health-matters-harmful-drinking-and-alcohol-dependence/health-matters-harmful-drinking-and-alcohol-dependence
http://www.GOV.uk/government/publications/health-matters-preventing-cardiovascular-disease/health-matters-preventing-cardiovascular-disease
http://www.GOV.uk/government/publications/health-matters-preventing-cardiovascular-disease/health-matters-preventing-cardiovascular-disease
http://www.GOV.uk/government/publications/health-matters-preventing-cardiovascular-disease/health-matters-preventing-cardiovascular-disease
http://bmjopen.bmj.com/content/6/2/e010155
http://www.england.nhs.uk/midlands/clinical-networks/west-midlands-clinical-network/our-networks/cardiovascular/cardiac/atrial-fibrillation/
http://www.england.nhs.uk/midlands/clinical-networks/west-midlands-clinical-network/our-networks/cardiovascular/cardiac/atrial-fibrillation/
http://www.thelancet.com/journals/lanepe/article/PIIS2666-7762(21)00134-4/fulltext
http://www.thelancet.com/journals/lanepe/article/PIIS2666-7762(21)00134-4/fulltext
http://eprints.soton.ac.uk/419823/1/Asthana_et_al_2018_Health_Social_Care_in_the_Community.pdf
http://eprints.soton.ac.uk/419823/1/Asthana_et_al_2018_Health_Social_Care_in_the_Community.pdf
http://www.ons.GOV.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/culturalidentity/ethnicity/articles/ethnicityandnationalidentityinenglandandwales/2012-12-11
http://www.ons.GOV.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/culturalidentity/ethnicity/articles/ethnicityandnationalidentityinenglandandwales/2012-12-11
http://annalsofglobalhealth.org/articles/10.5334/aogh.2713/
http://www.gypsy-traveller.org/wp-content/uploads/health-brief.pdf
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/health-people-ethnic-minority-groups-england
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/health-people-ethnic-minority-groups-england
http://journals.plos.org/plosone/article/file?type=printable&id=10.1371/journal.pone.0178945
http://journals.plos.org/plosone/article/file?type=printable&id=10.1371/journal.pone.0178945
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/health-people-ethnic-minority-groups-england#diabetes
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/health-people-ethnic-minority-groups-england#diabetes


57

P. and Chaturvedi, N., 2013. Insulin Resistance and Truncal Obesity as Important Determinants 
of the Greater Incidence of Diabetes in Indian Asians and African Caribbeans Compared 
With Europeans. Diabetes Care, 36(2), pp.383-393. Available at: diabetesjournals.org/care/
article/36/2/383/38145/Insulin-Resistance-and-Truncal-Obesity-as
91 As above
92 The Lancet Respiratory Medicine, 2021. Ethnicity-specific BMI cutoffs for obesity based on type 
2 diabetes risk in England: a population-based cohort study. Available at: www.thelancet.com/
action/showPdf?pii=S2213-8587%2821%2900088-7
93 Chaturvedi, N. and Fuller, J., 1996. Ethnic differences in mortality from cardiovascular disease 
in the UK: do they persist in people with diabetes?. Journal of Epidemiology &amp; Community 
Health, 50(2), pp.137-139. Available at: www.jstor.org/stable/25568228
94 As above 
95 GOV.UK. 2021. Ethnic disparities in the major causes of mortality and their risk factors – a rapid 
review. Available at: www.GOV.uk/government/publications/the-report-of-the-commission-on-race-
and-ethnic-disparities-supporting-research/ethnic-disparities-in-the-major-causes-of-mortality-and-
their-risk-factors-by-dr-raghib-ali-et-al
96 Agyemang, C. and Bhopal, R., 2002. Is the blood pressure of South Asian adults in 
the UK higher or lower than that in European white adults? A review of cross-sectional 
data. Journal of Human Hypertension, 16(11), pp.739-751. Available at: www.nature.com/
articles/1001488#:~:text=5%E2%80%937%2C10%20In%20the,South%20Asians%20
compared%20to%20whites
97 Battu, H., Bhopal, R. and Agyemang, C., 2018. Heterogeneity in blood pressure in UK 
Bangladeshi, Indian and Pakistani, compared to White, populations: divergence of adults and 
children. Journal of Human Hypertension, 32(11), pp.725-744. Available at: www.nature.com/
articles/s41371-018-0095-5
98 Tapela, N., Collister, J., Clifton, L., Turnbull, I., Rahimi, K. and Hunter, D., 2021. Prevalence and 
determinants of hypertension control among almost 100 000 treated adults in the UK. Available at: 
openheart.bmj.com/content/8/1/e001461.info
99 Sportengland-production-files.s3.eu-west-2.amazonaws.com. 2020. Active Lives Adult Survey 
November 2018/19 Report. Available at: sportengland-production-files.s3.eu-west-2.amazonaws.
com/s3fs-public/2020-04/Active%20Lives%20Adult%20November%2018-19%20Report..
pdf?VersionId=BhkAy2K28pd9bDEz_NuisHl2ppuqJtpZ
100 Bhatnagar, P., Shaw, A. and Foster, C., 2015. Generational differences in the physical activity of 
UK South Asians: a systematic review. International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical 
Activity, 12(1). Available at: ijbnpa.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12966-015-0255-8
101 Love, R., Adams, J., Atkin, A. and van Sluijs, E., 2019. Socioeconomic and ethnic differences 
in children’s vigorous intensity physical activity: a cross-sectional analysis of the UK Millennium 
Cohort Study. BMJ Open, 9(5), p.e027627. Available at: bmjopen.bmj.com/content/9/5/e027627
102 NICE. 2013. 1 Recommendations | BMI: preventing ill health and premature death in black, 
Asian and other minority ethnic groups | Guidance | NICE. Available at: www.nice.org.uk/guidance/
ph46/chapter/1-Recommendations
103 Raleigh, V. and Holmes, J., 2021. The health of people from ethnic minority groups in England. 
The Kings Fund. Available at: www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/health-people-ethnic-minority-
groups-england#cvd
104 GOV.uk. 2021. Harmful and probable dependent drinking in adults. Available at: www.ethnicity-
facts-figures.service.GOV.uk/health/alcohol-smoking-and-drug-use/harmful-and-probable-
dependent-drinking-in-adults/latest
105 Joseph Rowntree Foundation. 2010. Ethnicity and alcohol: a review of the UK literature. 
Available at: www.jrf.org.uk/sites/default/files/jrf/migrated/files/ethnicity-alcohol-literature-review-
summary.pdf
106 Zaman, M., Philipson, P., Chen, R., Farag, A., Shipley, M., Marmot, M., Timmis, A. and 
Hemingway, H., 2012. South Asians and coronary disease: is there discordance between effects 
on incidence and prognosis?. [online] BMJ. Available at: heart.bmj.com/content/99/10/729.info

Page 117

http://diabetesjournals.org/care/article/36/2/383/38145/Insulin-Resistance-and-Truncal-Obesity-as
http://diabetesjournals.org/care/article/36/2/383/38145/Insulin-Resistance-and-Truncal-Obesity-as
http://www.thelancet.com/action/showPdf?pii=S2213-8587%2821%2900088-7 
http://www.thelancet.com/action/showPdf?pii=S2213-8587%2821%2900088-7 
http://www.jstor.org/stable/25568228
http://www.GOV.uk/government/publications/the-report-of-the-commission-on-race-and-ethnic-disparities-supporting-research/ethnic-disparities-in-the-major-causes-of-mortality-and-their-risk-factors-by-dr-raghib-ali-et-al
http://www.GOV.uk/government/publications/the-report-of-the-commission-on-race-and-ethnic-disparities-supporting-research/ethnic-disparities-in-the-major-causes-of-mortality-and-their-risk-factors-by-dr-raghib-ali-et-al
http://www.GOV.uk/government/publications/the-report-of-the-commission-on-race-and-ethnic-disparities-supporting-research/ethnic-disparities-in-the-major-causes-of-mortality-and-their-risk-factors-by-dr-raghib-ali-et-al
http://www.nature.com/articles/1001488#:~:text=5%E2%80%937%2C10%20In%20the,South%20Asians%20compared%20to%20whites
http://www.nature.com/articles/1001488#:~:text=5%E2%80%937%2C10%20In%20the,South%20Asians%20compared%20to%20whites
http://www.nature.com/articles/1001488#:~:text=5%E2%80%937%2C10%20In%20the,South%20Asians%20compared%20to%20whites
http://www.nature.com/articles/s41371-018-0095-5
http://www.nature.com/articles/s41371-018-0095-5
http://openheart.bmj.com/content/8/1/e001461.info
http://sportengland-production-files.s3.eu-west-2.amazonaws.com/s3fs-public/2020-04/Active%20Lives%20Adult%20November%2018-19%20Report..pdf?VersionId=BhkAy2K28pd9bDEz_NuisHl2ppuqJtpZ
http://sportengland-production-files.s3.eu-west-2.amazonaws.com/s3fs-public/2020-04/Active%20Lives%20Adult%20November%2018-19%20Report..pdf?VersionId=BhkAy2K28pd9bDEz_NuisHl2ppuqJtpZ
http://sportengland-production-files.s3.eu-west-2.amazonaws.com/s3fs-public/2020-04/Active%20Lives%20Adult%20November%2018-19%20Report..pdf?VersionId=BhkAy2K28pd9bDEz_NuisHl2ppuqJtpZ
http://ijbnpa.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12966-015-0255-8
http://bmjopen.bmj.com/content/9/5/e027627
http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph46/chapter/1-Recommendations
http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph46/chapter/1-Recommendations
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/health-people-ethnic-minority-groups-england#cvd
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/health-people-ethnic-minority-groups-england#cvd
http://www.ethnicity-facts-figures.service.GOV.uk/health/alcohol-smoking-and-drug-use/harmful-and-probable-dependent-drinking-in-adults/latest
http://www.ethnicity-facts-figures.service.GOV.uk/health/alcohol-smoking-and-drug-use/harmful-and-probable-dependent-drinking-in-adults/latest
http://www.ethnicity-facts-figures.service.GOV.uk/health/alcohol-smoking-and-drug-use/harmful-and-probable-dependent-drinking-in-adults/latest
http://www.jrf.org.uk/sites/default/files/jrf/migrated/files/ethnicity-alcohol-literature-review-summary.pdf
http://www.jrf.org.uk/sites/default/files/jrf/migrated/files/ethnicity-alcohol-literature-review-summary.pdf
http://heart.bmj.com/content/99/10/729.info


58

107 The Kings Fund. 2016. Access to health care and minority ethnic groups. Available at: www.
kingsfund.org.uk/sites/default/files/field/field_publication_file/access-to-health-care-minority-ethnic-
groups-briefing-kings-fund-february-2006.pdf
108 Eastwood, S., Mathur, R., Sattar, N., Smeeth, L., Bhaskaran, K. and Chaturvedi, N., 2021. 
Ethnic differences in guideline-indicated statin initiation for people with type 2 diabetes in UK 
primary care, 2006–2019: A cohort study. PLOS Medicine, 18(6), p.e1003672. Available at: 
journals.plos.org/plosmedicine/article?id=10.1371/journal.pmed.1003672
109 Raleigh, V. and Holmes, J., 2021. The health of people from ethnic minority groups in England. 
The Kings Fund. Available at: www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/health-people-ethnic-minority-
groups-england#cvd
110 George, J., Mathur, R., Shah, A., Pujades-Rodriguez, M., Denaxas, S., Smeeth, L., Timmis, 
A. and Hemingway, H., 2017. Ethnicity and the first diagnosis of a wide range of cardiovascular 
diseases: Associations in a linked electronic health record cohort of 1 million patients. PLOS ONE, 
12(6), p.e0178945. Available at: journals.plos.org/plosone/article/file?type=printable&id=10.1371/
journal.pone.0178945
111 Schofield, P., Saka, O. and Ashworth, M., 2019. Ethnic differences in blood pressure monitoring 
and control in south east London. British Journal of General Practice, Available at: www.ncbi.nlm.
nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3063048/#b6
112 Tapela, N., Collister, J., Clifton, L., Turnbull, I., Rahimi, K. and Hunter, D., 2021. Prevalence 
and determinants of hypertension control among almost 100 000 treated adults in the UK. BMJ. 
Available at: openheart.bmj.com/content/8/1/e001461
113 Raleigh, V. and Holmes, J., 2021. The health of people from ethnic minority groups in England. 
The Kings Fund. Available at: https://tes
114 Tillin, T., Hughes, A., Godsland, I., Whincup, P., Forouhi, N., Welsh, P., Sattar, N., McKeigue, 
P. and Chaturvedi, N., 2013. Insulin Resistance and Truncal Obesity as Important Determinants 
of the Greater Incidence of Diabetes in Indian Asians and African Caribbeans Compared 
With Europeans. Diabetes Care, 36(2), pp.383-393. Available at: diabetesjournals.org/care/
article/36/2/383/38145/Insulin-Resistance-and-Truncal-Obesity-as
115 Raleigh, V. and Holmes, J., 2021. The health of people from ethnic minority groups in England. 
The Kings Fund. Available at: www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/health-people-ethnic-minority-
groups-england#cvd
116 The Lancet Respiratory Medicine, 2021. Ethnicity-specific BMI cutoffs for obesity based on type 
2 diabetes risk in England: a population-based cohort study. Available at: www.thelancet.com/
action/showPdf?pii=S2213-8587%2821%2900088-7
117 As above
118 Raleigh, V. and Holmes, J., 2021. The health of people from ethnic minority groups in England. 
The Kings Fund. Available at: www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/health-people-ethnic-minority-
groups-england#cvd
119 GOV.UK. 2021. Ethnic disparities in the major causes of mortality and their risk factors – a rapid 
review. Available at: www.GOV.uk/government/publications/the-report-of-the-commission-on-race-
and-ethnic-disparities-supporting-research/ethnic-disparities-in-the-major-causes-of-mortality-and-
their-risk-factors-by-dr-raghib-ali-et-al
120 GOV.uk. 2021. Harmful and probable dependent drinking in adults. Available at: www.ethnicity-
facts-figures.service.GOV.uk/health/alcohol-smoking-and-drug-use/harmful-and-probable-
dependent-drinking-in-adults/latest
121 Asthana, S., Moon, G., Gibson, A., Bailey, T., Hewson, P. and Dibben, C., 2016. Inequity 
in cardiovascular care in the English National Health Service (NHS): a scoping review of 
the literature. Health &amp; Social Care in the Community, 26 (3), pp.259-272. Available at: 
onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/hsc.12384
122 Eastwood, S., Mathur, R., Sattar, N., Smeeth, L., Bhaskaran, K. and Chaturvedi, N., 2021. 
Ethnic differences in guideline-indicated statin initiation for people with type 2 diabetes in UK 
primary care, 2006–2019: A cohort study. PLOS Medicine, 18(6), p.e1003672. Available at: 
journals.plos.org/plosmedicine/article?id=10.1371/journal.pmed.1003672

Page 118

http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/default/files/field/field_publication_file/access-to-health-care-minority-ethnic-groups-briefing-kings-fund-february-2006.pdf
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/default/files/field/field_publication_file/access-to-health-care-minority-ethnic-groups-briefing-kings-fund-february-2006.pdf
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/default/files/field/field_publication_file/access-to-health-care-minority-ethnic-groups-briefing-kings-fund-february-2006.pdf
http://journals.plos.org/plosmedicine/article?id=10.1371/journal.pmed.1003672
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/health-people-ethnic-minority-groups-england#cvd
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/health-people-ethnic-minority-groups-england#cvd
http://journals.plos.org/plosone/article/file?type=printable&id=10.1371/journal.pone.0178945
http://journals.plos.org/plosone/article/file?type=printable&id=10.1371/journal.pone.0178945
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3063048/#b6
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3063048/#b6
http://openheart.bmj.com/content/8/1/e001461
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/health-people-ethnic-minority-groups-england#diabetes
http://diabetesjournals.org/care/article/36/2/383/38145/Insulin-Resistance-and-Truncal-Obesity-as
http://diabetesjournals.org/care/article/36/2/383/38145/Insulin-Resistance-and-Truncal-Obesity-as
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/health-people-ethnic-minority-groups-england#cvd
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/health-people-ethnic-minority-groups-england#cvd
http://www.thelancet.com/action/showPdf?pii=S2213-8587%2821%2900088-7
http://www.thelancet.com/action/showPdf?pii=S2213-8587%2821%2900088-7
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/health-people-ethnic-minority-groups-england#cvd
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/health-people-ethnic-minority-groups-england#cvd
http://www.GOV.uk/government/publications/the-report-of-the-commission-on-race-and-ethnic-disparities-supporting-research/ethnic-disparities-in-the-major-causes-of-mortality-and-their-risk-factors-by-dr-raghib-ali-et-al
http://www.GOV.uk/government/publications/the-report-of-the-commission-on-race-and-ethnic-disparities-supporting-research/ethnic-disparities-in-the-major-causes-of-mortality-and-their-risk-factors-by-dr-raghib-ali-et-al
http://www.GOV.uk/government/publications/the-report-of-the-commission-on-race-and-ethnic-disparities-supporting-research/ethnic-disparities-in-the-major-causes-of-mortality-and-their-risk-factors-by-dr-raghib-ali-et-al
http://www.ethnicity-facts-figures.service.GOV.uk/health/alcohol-smoking-and-drug-use/harmful-and-probable-dependent-drinking-in-adults/latest
http://www.ethnicity-facts-figures.service.GOV.uk/health/alcohol-smoking-and-drug-use/harmful-and-probable-dependent-drinking-in-adults/latest
http://www.ethnicity-facts-figures.service.GOV.uk/health/alcohol-smoking-and-drug-use/harmful-and-probable-dependent-drinking-in-adults/latest
http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/hsc.12384
http://journals.plos.org/plosmedicine/article?id=10.1371/journal.pmed.1003672


59

123 Fecht, D., Fischer, P., Fortunato, L., Hoek, G., de Hoogh, K., Marra, M., Kruize, H., Vienneau, 
D., Beelen, R. and Hansell, A., 2015. Associations between air pollution and socioeconomic 
characteristics, ethnicity and age profile of neighbourhoods in England and the Netherlands. 
Environmental Pollution, 198, pp.201-210. Available at: www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/
abs/pii/S0269749114005144
124 Hse.gov.uk. 2005. Ethnicity, work characteristics, stress and health. Available at: www.hse.gov.
uk/research/rrpdf/rr308.pdf
125 HSCIC 2018. Health Survey for England 2017 Cardiovascular diseases. Available at: 
healthsurvey.hscic.GOV.uk/media/78646/HSE17-CVD-rep.pdf 
126 British Heart Foundation 2022. UK Factsheet. [online] Available at: www.bhf.org.uk/-/media/
files/research/heart-statistics/bhf-cvd-statistics---uk-factsheet.pdf
127 Office for National Statistics. 2020. Leading causes of death, UK - Office for National 
Statistics. Available at: www.ons.GOV.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/
causesofdeath/articles/leadingcausesofdeathuk/2001to2018
128 British Heart Foundation. n.d. Menopause and heart disease. Available at: www.bhf.org.uk/
informationsupport/support/women-with-a-heart-condition/menopause-and-heart-disease
129 GOV.uk. 2014. Tackling high blood pressure From evidence into action. Available at: assets.
publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/527916/
Tackling_high_blood_pressure.pdf
130 Diabetes UK 2009. Middle-aged men twice as likely to have diabetes as women. Diabetes UK. 
Available at: www.diabetes.org.uk/about_us/news_landing_page/middle-aged-men-twice-as-likely-
to-have-diabetes-as-women
131 Gao, Z., Chen, Z., Sun, A. and Deng, X., 2019. Gender differences in cardiovascular disease. 
Medicine in Novel Technology and Devices, Available at: www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/
pii/S2590093519300256#:~:text=Although%20the%20incidence%20of%20CVD,heart%20
failure%20and%20aortic%20diseases
132 Office for National Statistics. 2020. Adult smoking habits in the UK - Office for National 
Statistics. Available at: www.ons.GOV.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/
healthandlifeexpectancies/bulletins/adultsmokinghabitsingreatbritain/2019
133 Sport England. 2021. Active Lives Adult Survey May 2020/21 Report. Available 
at: sportengland-production-files.s3.eu-west-2.amazonaws.com/s3fs-public/2021-10/
Active%20Lives%20Adult%20Survey%20May%202020-21%20Report.
pdf?VersionId=YcsnWYZSKx4n12TH0cKpY392hBkRdA8N
134 GOV.uk. 2014. Tackling high blood pressure From evidence into action. Available at: assets.
publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/527916/
Tackling_high_blood_pressure.pdf 
135 Sport England. 2021. Active Lives Adult Survey May 2020/21 Report. Available 
at: sportengland-production-files.s3.eu-west-2.amazonaws.com/s3fs-public/2021-10/
Active%20Lives%20Adult%20Survey%20May%202020-21%20Report.
pdf?VersionId=YcsnWYZSKx4n12TH0cKpY392hBkRdA8N
136 NHS Digital. 2020. Statistics on Obesity, Physical Activity and Diet, England, 2020. Available at: 
digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/statistics-on-obesity-physical-activity-
and-diet/england-2020/part-3-adult-obesity-copy
137 GOV.uk. 2014. Tackling high blood pressure From evidence into action. Available at: assets.
publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/527916/
Tackling_high_blood_pressure.pdf
138 GOV.uk. 2014. Tackling high blood pressure From evidence into action. Available at: assets.
publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/527916/
Tackling_high_blood_pressure.pdf 
139 GOV.UK. 2016. Health matters: harmful drinking and alcohol dependence. Available at: www.
gov.uk/government/publications/health-matters-harmful-drinking-and-alcohol-dependence/health-
matters-harmful-drinking-and-alcohol-dependence

Page 119

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0269749114005144
http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0269749114005144
http://www.hse.gov.uk/research/rrpdf/rr308.pdf
http://www.hse.gov.uk/research/rrpdf/rr308.pdf
http://healthsurvey.hscic.GOV.uk/media/78646/HSE17-CVD-rep.pdf
http://www.bhf.org.uk/-/media/files/research/heart-statistics/bhf-cvd-statistics---uk-factsheet.pdf
http://www.bhf.org.uk/-/media/files/research/heart-statistics/bhf-cvd-statistics---uk-factsheet.pdf
http://www.ons.GOV.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/causesofdeath/articles/leadingcausesofdeathuk/2001to2018
http://www.ons.GOV.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/causesofdeath/articles/leadingcausesofdeathuk/2001to2018
http://www.bhf.org.uk/informationsupport/support/women-with-a-heart-condition/menopause-and-heart-disease
http://www.bhf.org.uk/informationsupport/support/women-with-a-heart-condition/menopause-and-heart-disease
http://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/527916/Tackling_high_blood_pressure.pdf
http://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/527916/Tackling_high_blood_pressure.pdf
http://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/527916/Tackling_high_blood_pressure.pdf
http://www.diabetes.org.uk/about_us/news_landing_page/middle-aged-men-twice-as-likely-to-have-diabetes-as-women
http://www.diabetes.org.uk/about_us/news_landing_page/middle-aged-men-twice-as-likely-to-have-diabetes-as-women
http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2590093519300256#:~:text=Although%20the%20incidence%20of%20CVD,heart%20failure%20and%20aortic%20diseases
http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2590093519300256#:~:text=Although%20the%20incidence%20of%20CVD,heart%20failure%20and%20aortic%20diseases
http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2590093519300256#:~:text=Although%20the%20incidence%20of%20CVD,heart%20failure%20and%20aortic%20diseases
http://www.ons.GOV.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthandlifeexpectancies/bulletins/adultsmokinghabitsingreatbritain/2019
http://www.ons.GOV.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthandlifeexpectancies/bulletins/adultsmokinghabitsingreatbritain/2019
http://sportengland-production-files.s3.eu-west-2.amazonaws.com/s3fs-public/2021-10/Active%20Lives%20Adult%20Survey%20May%202020-21%20Report.pdf?VersionId=YcsnWYZSKx4n12TH0cKpY392hBkRdA8N
http://sportengland-production-files.s3.eu-west-2.amazonaws.com/s3fs-public/2021-10/Active%20Lives%20Adult%20Survey%20May%202020-21%20Report.pdf?VersionId=YcsnWYZSKx4n12TH0cKpY392hBkRdA8N
http://sportengland-production-files.s3.eu-west-2.amazonaws.com/s3fs-public/2021-10/Active%20Lives%20Adult%20Survey%20May%202020-21%20Report.pdf?VersionId=YcsnWYZSKx4n12TH0cKpY392hBkRdA8N
http://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/527916/Tackling_high_blood_pressure.pdf
http://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/527916/Tackling_high_blood_pressure.pdf
http://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/527916/Tackling_high_blood_pressure.pdf
http://sportengland-production-files.s3.eu-west-2.amazonaws.com/s3fs-public/2021-10/Active%20Lives%20Adult%20Survey%20May%202020-21%20Report.pdf?VersionId=YcsnWYZSKx4n12TH0cKpY392hBkRdA8N
http://sportengland-production-files.s3.eu-west-2.amazonaws.com/s3fs-public/2021-10/Active%20Lives%20Adult%20Survey%20May%202020-21%20Report.pdf?VersionId=YcsnWYZSKx4n12TH0cKpY392hBkRdA8N
http://sportengland-production-files.s3.eu-west-2.amazonaws.com/s3fs-public/2021-10/Active%20Lives%20Adult%20Survey%20May%202020-21%20Report.pdf?VersionId=YcsnWYZSKx4n12TH0cKpY392hBkRdA8N
http://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/statistics-on-obesity-physical-activity-and-diet/england-2020/part-3-adult-obesity-copy
http://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/statistics-on-obesity-physical-activity-and-diet/england-2020/part-3-adult-obesity-copy
http://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/527916/Tackling_high_blood_pressure.pdf
http://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/527916/Tackling_high_blood_pressure.pdf
http://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/527916/Tackling_high_blood_pressure.pdf
http://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/527916/Tackling_high_blood_pressure.pdf 
http://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/527916/Tackling_high_blood_pressure.pdf 
http://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/527916/Tackling_high_blood_pressure.pdf 
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-matters-harmful-drinking-and-alcohol-dependence/health-matters-harmful-drinking-and-alcohol-dependence
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-matters-harmful-drinking-and-alcohol-dependence/health-matters-harmful-drinking-and-alcohol-dependence
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-matters-harmful-drinking-and-alcohol-dependence/health-matters-harmful-drinking-and-alcohol-dependence


60

140 British Heart Foundation. n.d. Bias and Biology. Available at: www.bhf.org.uk/
informationsupport/heart-matters-magazine/medical/women-and-heart-disease/download-bias-
and-biology-briefing
141 Chhetri, N., Fornaro, M., Gallicchio, D., Collantoni, E., Pigato, G., Favaro, A., Monaco, 
F., Kohler, C., Vancampfort, D., Ward, P., Gaughran, F., Carvalho, A. and Stubbs, B., 2017. 
Prevalence, incidence and mortality from cardiovascular disease in patients with pooled and 
specific severe mental illness: a large-scale meta-analysis of 3,211,768 patients and 113,383,368 
controls. World Psychiatry, 16(2), pp.163-180. Available at: onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1002/
wps.20420
142 Public Health England. 2019. NHS RightCare Toolkit: Physical ill-health and CVD prevention in 
people with severe mental Illness (SMI). Available at: www.england.nhs.uk/rightcare/wp-content/
uploads/sites/40/2019/03/nhs-rightcare-toolkit-cvd-prevention.pdf
143 GOV.UK. 2018. Severe mental illness (SMI) and physical health inequalities: briefing. Available 
at: www.gov.uk/government/publications/severe-mental-illness-smi-physical-health-inequalities/
severe-mental-illness-and-physical-health-inequalities-briefing
144 GOV.UK. 2018. Severe mental illness (SMI) and physical health inequalities: briefing. Available 
at: www.gov.uk/government/publications/severe-mental-illness-smi-physical-health-inequalities/
severe-mental-illness-and-physical-health-inequalities-briefing
145 Fingertips. n.d. Health inequalities: Cardiovascular disease. Available at: fingertips.phe.org.uk/
documents/Health_inequalities_cardiovascular_disease.pdf
146 Analytics.phe.gov.uk. 2021. Health Inequalities Dashboard. Available at: analytics.phe.gov.uk/
apps/health-inequalities-dashboard

Page 120

http://www.bhf.org.uk/informationsupport/heart-matters-magazine/medical/women-and-heart-disease/download-bias-and-biology-briefing
http://www.bhf.org.uk/informationsupport/heart-matters-magazine/medical/women-and-heart-disease/download-bias-and-biology-briefing
http://www.bhf.org.uk/informationsupport/heart-matters-magazine/medical/women-and-heart-disease/download-bias-and-biology-briefing
http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1002/wps.20420
http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1002/wps.20420
http://www.england.nhs.uk/rightcare/wp-content/uploads/sites/40/2019/03/nhs-rightcare-toolkit-cvd-prevention.pdf
http://www.england.nhs.uk/rightcare/wp-content/uploads/sites/40/2019/03/nhs-rightcare-toolkit-cvd-prevention.pdf
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/severe-mental-illness-smi-physical-health-inequalities/severe-mental-illness-and-physical-health-inequalities-briefing
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/severe-mental-illness-smi-physical-health-inequalities/severe-mental-illness-and-physical-health-inequalities-briefing
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/severe-mental-illness-smi-physical-health-inequalities/severe-mental-illness-and-physical-health-inequalities-briefing
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/severe-mental-illness-smi-physical-health-inequalities/severe-mental-illness-and-physical-health-inequalities-briefing
http://fingertips.phe.org.uk/documents/Health_inequalities_cardiovascular_disease.pdf
http://fingertips.phe.org.uk/documents/Health_inequalities_cardiovascular_disease.pdf
http://analytics.phe.gov.uk/apps/health-inequalities-dashboard
http://analytics.phe.gov.uk/apps/health-inequalities-dashboard


Director of Public Health Annual Report 2022: DRAFT Action Plan (version 5) – additional actions to be added 
Action plan timescale: July 2022 to June 2023  

Detail of action Timescale Outcomes Included in the Buckinghamshire 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy action 
plan .  

  

  

Lead 
Organisation(s) 

From Completed 
by 

   

Recommendation 1:  
Act on the broader determinants of health such as income, debt, good quality employment, high quality education and healthy environments to level up outcomes 
across Buckinghamshire. 
1.2 The Buckinghamshire 

Levelling Framework 
‘Opportunity Bucks’ 
programme is delivered. 

Levelling Up 
Board 

July 2022 July 2025 The levelling up agenda for 
Buckinghamshire delivered by all the 
member organisations will improve the 
broader determinants of health and 
contribute to reducing cardiovascular 
disease. 
Actions as part of this programme, 
under the 5 priority themes, are well 
linked to the prevention of 
cardiovascular disease. 
The five Opportunity Bucks themes are: 

• Education and Skills  
• Jobs and Career Opportunities  
• Quality of our Public Realm  
• Standard of Living  
• Health and Wellbeing 

Yes. Some of the work on health and 
wellbeing that is being and will be done 
as part of the Opportunity Bucks 
programme will be included in the 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 

Recommendation 2:  
Support a systematic large-scale improvement in behavioural risk factors 

 

2.1 All partner organisations to 
identify a Making Every 
Contact Count lead and roll 
out behaviour change 
training. 

Public Health 
All health and 
wellbeing board 
partners 

July 2022 April 2023 
 

Increase in the understanding and the 
skills required to design effective 
behaviour change interventions across 
Buckinghamshire Council, the NHS and 
partners.  This enables people to have 
“healthy conversations” to support 
behaviour change in their day-to-day 

Yes. Making Every Contact Count is a 
key approach to delivering the breadth 
of preventative activity outlined in the 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 

P
age 121

A
ppendix 



interactions with residents. 

An increase in these interactions will 
result in more residents being referred 
for lifestyle support from the Council’s 
integrated lifestyle service (Live Well 
Stay Well). 

2.2 Inpatient (acute and 
mental health) and 
maternity NHS trusts to 
deliver in-house tobacco 
dependency services by 
April 2023.  

Buckinghamshire 
Healthcare Trust 
Oxford Health 
NHS Trust 

October 
2021 

April 2023 Deliver in house tobacco dependency 
services that enable an increase in 
smoking cessation support to adults 
who smoke in the county.  

Yes. Smoking actions for the NHS are 
included in the Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy actions. Metrics are included in 
the strategy. 

2.3 Continue the development 
and delivery of a whole 
systems approach to 
healthy weight for 
Buckinghamshire. 

Public Health 2021 2024 Increase the system wide understanding 
of how to increase healthy weight in 
Buckinghamshire. 
 
Develop and deliver system wide 
approaches and interventions to 
achieve the aim of increasing healthy 
weight. 
 
Deliver the agreed actions as set out in 
the Whole System Healthy Weight 
Action Plan for the county. 

Yes. Obesity in adults and children are 
key priorities for the Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy. Metrics are included 
in the strategy. 

2.4 All partners to support the 
further development of the 
annual countywide 
multiagency physical 
activity action plan, 
focusing on encouraging 
priority groups to start 
being more active.  
 

Public Health 2021 2023 Develop an approach to work with 
communities and partners to reduce 
sedentary behaviour and increase 
movement as the social ‘norm’.  
 
Ensure more social care settings and 
services develop opportunities for older 
adults to engage with physical activity to 
help prevent falls and maintain physical 
and mental health. 

Yes. Physical activity reduces the risk of 
cardiovascular disease, improves mental 
health and increases the health and 
wellbeing of older people. 

2.5 All partners to deliver the 
Buckinghamshire Tobacco 
Control Strategy and 

Public Health 2021 2024 Increase tobacco control activities that 
are joined up and have a larger impact 
on our residents’ health and wellbeing. 

Yes. Smoking cessation is a key priority 
for the Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 

P
age 122



associated action plan  
Increase the number of residents 
accessing smoking cessation services in 
hospital and in the community.  

Recommendation 3:  
Increase detection and management of modifiable risk factors in people at higher risk of cardiovascular disease including 
those living in more deprived areas, ethnic groups at higher risk of cardiovascular disease and those with mental illness 

 

3.1 Increase the capacity of 
Primary Care Networks in 
deprived areas to increase 
cardiovascular disease 
prevention and smoking 
cessation in general 
practice. 

NHS  - Integrated 
Care Board and  
Primary Care 
Networks 

Septembe
r 2021 

September 
2023 

Increase capacity in primary care in 
priority areas to undertake NHS Health 
Checks to detect and manage clinical 
risk factors such as high blood pressure 
and diabetes, and refer to appropriate 
interventions such as smoking cessation. 
 
Increase the number of residents aged 
15+ who have had their blood pressure 
checked in the last year. 
 
Increase the number of NHS Health 
Checks delivered in at risk residents. 

Yes. This action supports the reduction 
of the rates of cardiovascular disease 
and smoking cessation metrics. 

3.2 Co-design a community 
based blood pressure 
initiative in a community 
with an increased risk of 
cardiovascular disease. 

Public Health March 
2022 

December 
2022 

Communities at increased risk of poor 
cardiovascular disease outcomes are 
better able to access the support and 
advice they require to make behaviour 
changes. 
 
The first faith community is in High 
Wycombe. The insight phase is 
complete, so the design phase is 
beginning. 
 
Work with people from ethnic minority 
groups to design effective, culturally 
competent approaches to increase 
detection of cardiovascular disease risk 
factors and the management of these 
risk factors. 

Yes. This action supports the reduction 
of the rates of cardiovascular disease. 

P
age 123



Recommendation 4:  
Improve data collection and monitoring to track progress. 

 

4.1 Improve data collection in 
primary and secondary care 
on risk factors for 
cardiovascular disease and 
associated outcomes. 

NHS 2022 2024 Increase ability to monitor 
cardiovascular outcomes by ethnicity 
and areas of deprivation and improve 
the quality, accuracy and completeness 
of ethnic monitoring data. 
 
Increase the number of residents who 
have their blood pressure recorded in 
their GP record. 
 
Increase the number of people with 
hypertension who are managed to their 
clinical target. 

Yes. This action supports the reduction 
of the rates of cardiovascular disease by 
improving the ability to identify where 
we need to target interventions and 
monitor impact. 

4.2 Undertake equity audits to 
determine access to and 
uptake of prevention and 
treatment initiatives of 
cardiovascular disease by 
different groups. 

NHS TBD  Gain a better understanding of where 
inequalities are in the full cardiovascular 
disease pathway and where work 
should be focused. 

 

 

P
age 124



 

 

Report to Cabinet  
Date:   11/10/2022 

Title:   Safer Buckinghamshire Board Annual Report 

Cabinet Member(s):   Cllr Steve Bowles - Cabinet Member for Communities 

Contact officer:   Gideon Springer 

Ward(s) affected:  None specific 

Recommendations:  For information 

 

1. Executive summary 

1.1 The Safer Buckinghamshire Board Annual Report provides an update on the activities 
and outcomes of the Community Safety Partnership in Buckinghamshire during 
2021/22. 

2. Content of report 

2.1 The Safer Buckinghamshire Plan 2020-23 was approved by the Safer 
Buckinghamshire Board (SBB) in July 2020, with the aim that Buckinghamshire 
continues to be one of the safest places to grow up, raise a family, live, work and do 
business. The Plan set out the five priorities explaining how, through working in 
partnership, we will reduce crime and disorder and protect vulnerable people in 
Buckinghamshire. 

2.2 This annual report provides an overview of the Partnership and SBB activity and 
impact during 2021/22.  It covers a demanding time for the Partnership, following a 
review of the SBB processes and Delivery Plans, the introduction of Priority 
Sponsors, and a restructure within the Council’s Community Safety Team. 

3. Other options considered  

3.1 Not applicable 

Page 125

Agenda Item 9



 

 

4. Legal and financial implications 

4.1 Not applicable 

5. Corporate implications  

5.1 Not applicable 

6. Local councillors & community boards consultation & views 

6.1 The report was reviewed and approved by Cllr Bowles on 10th May 2022. 

7. Communication, engagement & further consultation  

7.1 The paper was taken to the Adults and Health Board for information on the 10th May 
2022. 

7.2 The paper was taken to the Safer Buckinghamshire Board for review and agreement 
on 17th May 2022. 

7.3 The paper was taken to a senior officer meeting on 7th July 2022.  A query was raised 
in relation to the reference within the report to an increase in serious violence, and 
the following explanation was provided. 

7.4 The increase in serious violence is a small numerical increase, but as we were at a 
relatively low baseline it reflects as a large percentage increase.  Our rates per 1000 
population are still lower than the average for the Thames Valley, the Southeast and 
the figure for England.  

7.5 There has been a general upward trend in reports of serious violence which is 
believed to be mainly due to increased reporting of sexual offences which has been 
reflected nationally. There is a drive to record and take positive action around this 
type of offence and recording standards have changed. 

7.6 Youth Offending Service data shows there is no discernible increase in young people 
committing serious violence offences in Buckinghamshire.  

7.7 Therefore, comparatively, the Buckinghamshire performance is still good when 
viewed at local, regional, or national levels. 

8. Next steps and review  

8.1 The report will be published on the Buckinghamshire Council website and work is 
underway to deliver the next steps outlined in the report, such as: 

– Undertaking the Strategic Assessment 

Page 126



 

 

– Implementing a new anti-social behaviour case management system 

– The Violence Reduction Unit data sharing tool, Thames Valley Together, is 
being implemented for Buckinghamshire, with data testing programmed in 
for later this year. 

9. Background papers  

9.1 Safer Buckinghamshire Plan 2020-23 

10. Your questions and views (for key decisions) 

10.1 If you have any questions about the matters contained in this report please get in 
touch with the author of this report. If you have any views that you would like the 
cabinet member to consider please inform the democratic services team. This can be 
done by telephone [01296 382343] or email [democracy@buckinghamshire.gov.uk ] 

Page 127

https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/community-and-safety/safety-and-crime-in-your-community/the-safer-buckinghamshire-board/safer-buckinghamshire-plan-2020-2023/


This page is intentionally left blank



1

Safer Buckinghamshire Board

Annual Report 2021/22

Working in partnership
Buckinghamshire Council
Thames Valley Police
Buckinghamshire & Milton Keynes Fire and Rescue Service
Buckinghamshire Clinical Commissioning Group
National Probation Service – Buckinghamshire and Oxfordshire
Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner Page 129

Appendix 



2

Introduction  
Page 2

With the establishment of the unitary council for Buckinghamshire, 
a single new Community Safety Partnership, governed by a new 
Safer Buckinghamshire Board, was created. Alongside the creation 
of the Safer Buckinghamshire Board, a community safety strategic 
assessment and public survey was carried out which supported 
the establishment of new priorities in the three year Community 
Safety Plan for Buckinghamshire.

The Safer Buckinghamshire Plan 2020-23 was approved by the 
Safer Buckinghamshire Board in July 2020, with the aim that 
Buckinghamshire continues to be one of the safest places to grow 
up, raise a family, live, work and do business. The Plan set out the 
five priorities explaining how through working in partnership we 
will reduce crime and disorder and protect vulnerable people in 
Buckinghamshire.

This annual report provides an overview of the Partnership and 
Safer Buckinghamshire Board activity and impact during 2021/22. 
In view of the period covered by this report, the impact of the 
global Covid-19 pandemic must be acknowledged. During the 
course of the year, the pandemic has forced the agencies involved 
in the Safer Buckinghamshire Board to adopt new ways of 
working. Across all of our priorities, we have addressed the impact 
of Covid-19 and taken steps to reduce its impact on crime and the 
causes of crime.  

This has undoubtedly been a difficult year, but the strengths 
of partnership working in Buckinghamshire has enabled the 
Community Safety Partnership to remain assured that community 
safety issues across Buckinghamshire are identified, addressed 
and reviewed.

IntroductionContents

Page 130



3

About the Safer Buckinghamshire Board
The Crime and Disorder Act 1998 (as revised by the Police and Justice Act 2006) gave the police 
and local authorities powers to join with other organisations to form a local Community Safety 
Partnership. The role of the partnership is to develop an action plan to reduce crime within the local 
area. In Buckinghamshire the partnership is accountable to the Safer Buckinghamshire Board. 

The Board also has a number of legal duties. These are:

•	 Working together to form and implement strategies to prevent and reduce crime and anti-social 
behaviour, and the harm caused by drug and alcohol misuse. This will include producing an 
annual plan.

•	 Producing plans to reduce reoffending by adults and young people.
•	 Manage the Community Trigger process.
•	 Commissioning Domestic Homicide Reviews.
•	 To work in partnership to reduce serious violence – This duty is led by the Violence Reduction 

Unit (VRU).
•	 Preventing extremism.
•	 Tackling modern slavery.
•	 Consulting and engaging with the community.

With the commencement of a unitary authority in Buckinghamshire in April 2020, the Community 
Safety Partnership initiated a review of its structure and processes. There had been notable 
concern about duplication of discussion and attendance across many of the existing partnership 
groups and the accountability/governance of these groups, including partnership groups, that sit 
under the Safeguarding Boards and the Health and Wellbeing Board.

However, Covid-19 delayed plans for the completion of this review and focus was placed, instead, 
on delivering our statutory duties with the agreement of the Safer Buckinghamshire Plan for 
2020-23 and associated delivery plans. In addition, new legislation introduced further statutory 
responsibilities around serious violence (Serious Violence Duty) and domestic abuse (Domestic 
Abuse Act 2021). It was agreed that strategic groups would be the most effective way to implement 
these new areas of work; the Serious Violence Taskforce and Domestic Abuse Board were both 
established.

In 2021 the Safer Buckinghamshire Board re-commenced the work to review its structure and 
processes. Board members agreed to become Priority Sponsors for each of the five priorities 
set out in the Safer Buckinghamshire Plan and undertook deep dives of quarterly summary 
of performance and progress, considering barriers and opportunities for change. This work 
highlighted the need for the Board to become more focused, prioritising areas for discussion with a 
small number of agenda items to enable discussions, contributions and to add value.

Page 131



4

Following the review, the Safer Buckinghamshire Board has become a smaller executive group with 
one representative from each of the responsible authorities, as set out in legislation. The Office of 
the Police and Crime Commissioner (OPCC) is also represented at the Board. The Board continue 
to meet quarterly, with a small number of agenda items to enable discussion whilst also including 
statutory requirements, progress against the priorities and new and emerging legislation. The Board 
continue to ensure it fulfils its responsibilities around partnership expenditure and the effective 
distribution of Police and Crime Commissioner funding.

Buckinghamshire Council hosts the Safer Buckinghamshire Board, and is chaired by the Deputy 
Chief Executive who provides leadership, vision and support, and who is responsible for ensuring 
that all organisations contribute effectively to the work of the Safer Buckinghamshire Board. The 
Vice Chair is the Chief Superintendent for Buckinghamshire. 

The Safer Buckinghamshire Board is now supported by groups which link directly to the five 
priorities as set out in the Safer Buckinghamshire Plan. These are either strategic groups which 
already exist or tactical/implementation groups.

The Joint Protocol underpins and strengthens partnership work between the Safeguarding Boards, 
the Safer Buckinghamshire Board and the Health and Wellbeing Board in Buckinghamshire. It 
ensures a transparent, efficient and clear process for sharing knowledge, skills, information and 
resources. It clarifies roles and responsibilities, inter-relationships and effective co-ordination over 
shared priorities and common ground.

Our Vision 

1

2

3

4

5

Our aim is for Buckinghamshire to continue to be one of the safest places to grow up, raise a family, 
live, work and do business.  

We want to reduce crime and disorder and protect vulnerable people in Buckinghamshire. Crime is 
constantly changing and we face increased pressure on our resources. So it is important that we 
work together to tackle these challenges. 

Our five priorities are:

Helping communities to become more resilient. We will target support to those 
communities experiencing greater levels of crime and anti-social behaviour.

Protecting vulnerable adults and children. We will work with them to reduce their chances 
of experiencing or committing serious crime, especially violent crime, or being exploited. 

Addressing the impact of drugs, alcohol and poor mental health. We will work to reduce 
levels of crime and harm linked to these factors. 

Tackling domestic violence and abuse. We will focus on early intervention and improving 
services for victims.

Dealing with offending. We will act as early as possible to prevent first time offending. We 
will bring offenders to justice and work hard to stop re-offending.

Page 132



5

Our Partners
The members of the Safer Buckinghamshire Board are:

•	 Buckinghamshire Council
•	 Thames Valley Police
•	 Buckinghamshire & Milton Keynes Fire and Rescue Service
•	 Buckinghamshire Clinical Commissioning Group
•	 National Probation Service – Buckinghamshire & Oxfordshire
•	 Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner

The Safer Buckinghamshire Board also works closely with many 
other organisations including community and voluntary groups and 
local businesses. Although these groups do not sit on the Board, 
they may be invited to meetings and get involved in the work of the 
Partnership.

Page 133



6

Crime Statistics
Data source: Local insight found at data.police.uk

Year* Anti-Social 
Behaviour Burglary**

Drug 
Crime 
Offences

Other 
Crime 
Offences

Robbery Vehicle 
Crime

Violent 
& Sexual 
Offences

2018/19 9.6 11.8 1.6 1.3 0.5 6.6 17.4
2019/20 9.5 11.7 1.7 1.2 0.5 6.7 18.9
2020/21 9.1 7.8 2.3 1.2 0.3 5.0 21.9
2021/22 8.0 6.7 2.0 1.2 0.3 5.3 26.3

England 
2021/22 19.4 9 2.6 1.6 0.9 5 31.6

South East 
2021/22 15.8 8 2.3 1.7 0.5 4.6 34.9

Crime Rate by Crime Type in Buckinghamshire

* March - February for most current data.
** Burglary crime rate calculated on the basis of ‘000 households rather than population.

Anti-Social Behaviour
8.0 crime rate
Crime rate fell in 2021/22 and 
has remained significantly 
lower than England (19.4) and 
South East (15.8).

Drug Crime
2.0 crime rate
Crime rate marginally decreased 
over the last three years, and is 
slightly lower than England (2.6) 
and South East (2.3).

Vehicle Crime
5.3 crime rate
Crime rate slightly decreased 
over the last three years, but 
remains marginally higher than 
England (5) and South East (4.6).

Burglary
6.7 crime rate (per 000 households)

Crime rate fell in 2021/22. This 
is a pattern seen nationally. The 
local crime rate is lower than 
England (9) and South East (8).

Robbery
0.3 crime rate
Crime rate remained at a similar 
level over the last three years. 
Marginally lower than England 
(0.9) and South East (0.5).

Violent and Sexual 
Offences - 26.3 crime rate
Crime rate has increased over 
the last three years but remains 
lower than England (31.6) and 
South East (34.9).

(The above shows 12 month total of neighbourhood-level incidents of crime, as a rate per 1,000 resi-
dents. The incidents were located to the point at which they occurred and allocated to the appropri-
ate output area and lower super output area (LSOA).  Please note that the raw data is published at 
small area level, therefore the data showing at local authority or a higher level has been aggregated 
from smaller geographies).

Page 134



7

In September/October 2021 we asked people in Buckinghamshire what they thought the biggest 
community safety issues were.  The survey included multiple choice questions and the opportunity 
for people to given comments.

•	 The survey received 1,041 responses.
•	 98% of respondents live in Buckinghamshire.
•	 44% of respondents work in Buckinghamshire.
•	 3% of respondents are elected members .
•	 The crimes with the highest levels of concerns in 2021 are (where possible, comparisons have 

been made to the results from the 2020 survey):
Fraud/scams (including online) – 69% of respondents felt this was a ‘very big’ or  
‘fairly big concern’.
Theft of equipment/tools from van – 49% of respondents felt this was a ‘very big’ or  
‘fairly big concern’.
Theft from a motor vehicle – 48% of respondents felt this was a ‘very big’ or  
‘fairly big concern’.
Cyber crime/cyber bullying – 44% of respondents felt this was a ‘very big’ or  
‘fairly big concern’.
Criminal damage – 43% of respondents felt this was a ‘very big’ or ‘fairly big concern’.

•	 Concerns around criminal damage have increased in 2021, with 43% of respondents having 
‘very big’ or ‘fairly big’ concerns, compared for 36% in 2020.

•	 Whereas concerns around robbery have decreased slightly; in 2020, 36% of respondents have 
concerns regarding robbery, which fell to 30% of respondents in 2021.

•	 The most common reason for responding that a type of crime was a ‘very big’ or ‘fairly big’ 
concern is ‘it happened to someone you know’ or ‘you heard about it in the local news’. This was 
also the case in the 2020 survey.

•	 The categories of anti-social behaviour with the highest levels of concern in 2021 are:
Speeding – 77% of respondents felt this was a ‘very big’ or ‘fairly big concern’.
Fly tipping/litter – 76% of respondents felt this was a ‘very big’ or ‘fairly big concern’.
Parking – 64% of respondents felt this was a ‘very big’ or ‘fairly big concern’.
Dog fouling – 51% of respondents felt this was a ‘very big’ or ‘fairly big concern’.
Criminal damage/vandalism – 43% of respondents felt this was a ‘very big’ or  
‘fairly big concern’.

•	 Begging and vagrancy received a similar proportion of concerned responses (33%) to last year 
(34%).

•	 Concerns relating to crime are more commonly based on information that respondents have 
heard or seen, instead of personal experience. Concerns around anti-social behaviour and drugs 
are more commonly based on an individuals’ personal experience.

What you told us

Page 135



8

What we achieved during 2021/22

Priority 1: Building community resilience, targeting areas and groups which are 
experiencing increasing crime and anti-social behaviour.

•	 The Street Warden Team has expanded to cover not only High Wycombe town centre, but also 
Aylesbury and have been working with partners to address town centre issues of begging 
and rough sleeping. They have supported and referred several individuals who are genuinely 
homeless and identified those who are exploiting visitors to the town centres. 

•	 Community Safety Officers have attended crime prevention events with the police, handing 
out signal blocking pouches to those people with keyless cars, along with providing crime 
prevention advice to tackle vehicle crime. New partnership materials and literature have been 
developed to support campaigns and raise awareness of specific crime trends, such as key-less 
car theft, rural crime and seasonal concerns.

•	 Environmental Visual Audits (EVAs) have been regularly undertaken alongside community 
members, Thames Valley Police and representatives from other partner agencies in some of our 
local areas, to identify issues of concern. Partners have then developed a holistic approach in 
taking action to address the problems.

•	 Each Community Board has a Community Safety Officer assigned as a point of contact within 
the team. They are working alongside Community Board members to identify local issues and 
co-design solutions, which will have the best impact on local crime and anti-social behaviour. 

OUTCOMES:

•	 The Street Warden team have dealt with over 1600 incidents, including shoplifting, begging, 
emergency first aid and supporting vulnerable people with High Wycombe and Aylesbury town 
centres.

•	 The Community Safety newsletter, which includes a variety of community safety information and 
signposting to local services, now reaches over 400 subscribers each quarter.

•	 The Anti-Social Behaviour Team have received over 490 referrals from the public and partners 
for support with anti-social behaviour incidents.

•	 The Anti-Social Behaviour Team have also undertaken full case reviews with partners on seven 
Community Triggers applications.

Priority 2: Working with vulnerable people to reduce the likelihood of experiencing 
or perpetrating serious violence, or being exploited.

•	 The Buckinghamshire Council Serious Violence officers are linked into the Thames Valley 
Violence Reduction Unit funded Hospital Navigator post that sits within Stoke Mandeville 
Hospital. The Navigator plus vetted volunteers work within Accident and Emergency and 
identify individuals who may be a victim or perpetrator of serious violence. They are approached 
and offered support and if accepted, signposted onto further services. 

•	 We developed and finalised a new e-learning resource for Buckinghamshire Council staff and 
created a Modern Slavery and Exploitation training resource specifically for Councillors. We 
increased service and partnership representation at our regular Anti-Slavery and Exploitation 
Network which aims to share good practice and increase partnership awareness. Speakers 
have included nationally recognised organisations such as the Salvation Army, Gangmaster and 
Labour Abuse Authority and Anti-Slavery Commissioners Office.  

Page 136



9

•	 Hotel Watch works across Bucks to raise awareness of exploitation with hoteliers and their 
staff. After evaluating best practice from other areas, we are expanding the existing Hotel Watch 
Scheme to incorporate the night-time economy. We will utilise the current model in places 
such as late-night eateries, businesses and taxi services. Licensing continue to provide training 
to raise awareness of exploitation with taxi and private hire services, as part of the licensing 
process.

•	 The Prevent Team continue to work with Wycombe Youth Action who specialise in working with 
vulnerable young people, who often fall within the category of Not in Education, Employment 
or Training (NEETs). They regularly work with a cohort of around 40 vulnerable young men and 
women. The Prevent funding allowed them to carryout intense one to one mentoring with ten 
individuals, who had been identified as being most at risk of being drawn into radicalisation, 
gangs and criminality such as County Lines, or having mental health issues. 

•	 Following hate crime training which raised awareness and encouraged repointing, three 
community hubs have been created focusing on LGBTQ, Disability and Ethnic communities. 
Terms of Reference for these hubs are being progressed to enable these hubs to deliver 
awareness projects in collaboration with Thames Valley PCC office for National Hate Crime 
week in October 2022.

OUTCOMES:

•	 During 2021 we delivered 6 virtual modern slavery and awareness sessions to over 100 staff 
across the Partnership.

•	 Over 80 hotels across Buckinghamshire are members of the Hotel Watch scheme, all of which 
have been provided with information and guidance on how to spot the signs and report 
concerns, of exploitation.

•	 Resilient Families Programme have provided awareness raising to 155 parents on digital 
resilience.

•	 Solutions Not Sides have delivered an interactive and thought-provoking workshop on the 
Israel/Palestine conflict to 781 students.  

•	 32 referrals to the Hospital Navigator between January and March 2022.
•	 295 knives handed in at the Aylesbury Knife Amnesty bin between August 2021 and March 

2022.

Priority 3: Reducing the crime, harm and vulnerability caused by drugs, alcohol 
and poor mental health.

•	 Partners are delivering the Blue Light project, which utilises behaviour change and assertive 
outreach strategies with complex drinkers, whose alcohol use and associated lifestyle 
contributes to a pattern of more frequent contact with a range of frontline public services. This 
is a highly diverse service user group whose social circumstance range from being housed 
to homeless, involved in the criminal justice system, commonly experiencing mental health 
problems, facing financial difficulties, and lacking in social capital or support networks.  

•	 One Recovery Bucks (ORB) are exploring raising awareness of Naloxone with the Probation 
Service with the view to delivering training and potentially provision of Naloxone to probation 
staff.

•	 Commissioners and Probation Service have agreed £50k funding from Probation’s Recovery 
and Dependency Fund for one year for a senior post to strengthen the criminal justice team, 
enhance provision and outcomes for clients on a Probation Orders. 

•	 Buckinghamshire Council Community Safety funding has been given to projects which support 

Page 137



10

young people. The Youth Boxing Diversion scheme is aimed at preventing 11-16 year olds from 
becoming involved in anti-social behaviour, and also support those at risk of being groomed and 
showing signs of low self-esteem or struggling at home. Whilst Redeeming our Communities 
will be training mentors to support young people and families to improve their resilience, 
confidence and low self-esteem, and help them make better life choices.

OUTCOMES:

•	 Blue Light workers have been recruited and employed by One Recovery Bucks and as at March 
2022, 14 clients have met the criteria and been accepted on to the Blue Light pathway.

•	 The PCC funded Street Community Connector role has supported 46 clients who are in 
treatment. Of the 46 clients, 27 of these have been engaging with the scheme for over a year 
and have continued with treatment, demonstrating the positive long-term impact this scheme is 
having on participants.  

•	 TVP have signed-off their internal governance for front line officers to carry Nasal Naloxone. 
ORB have trained 30 local police officers on the use of Naloxone.

Priority 4: Tackling domestic violence and abuse; including early intervention to 
reduce harm and improving services for victims. This also encompasses the need 
to address increasing levels of violence against women and girls.

•	 The Buckinghamshire Community Safety team were successful in obtaining funding from the 
Ministry of Justice. With this, Women’s Aid successfully appointed a Complex Needs Floating 
Support Worker in December 2020. The worker provides intensive one to one work with clients 
of all risk levels who are survivors of domestic abuse but are unable to access emergency refuge 
accommodation and offering them support, information and advocacy when dealing with other 
issues relating to the domestic abuse whilst in the temporary accommodation. 

•	 The Community Safety Team at Buckinghamshire Council commissioned HM Healthcare 
Solutions Ltd to process map, in detail, the current domestic violence and abuse (DVA) pathway 
across the system in Buckinghamshire, considering the range of vulnerabilities and protected 
characteristics and trying to identify pathway gaps and practice deficits. This work was crucial 
in understanding several areas: referral pathways, training details, qualitative and quantitative 
information collected, the perception of the quality of DVA services received, practitioner 
understanding of other partner’s roles and responsibilities and more. 

•	 Talkback were commissioned by Buckinghamshire Council in March 2020 to produce a research 
and recommendations report into domestic abuse and learning disability and or autism in 
Buckinghamshire. Following this, Talkback Advice Bureau (a drop-in service) was launched in 
Wycombe in November 2021. A second drop-in centre will open in Chesham in 2022. Funding 
is in place for 16-18 months to develop this service online. Talkback and Aylesbury Vale Milton 
Keynes Sexual Assault Service have worked together to create an education package focused 
on preventing sexual abuse.

•	 Working with police and other key partners, a dedicated Violence against Women and Girls 
subgroup is being established to focus on the increasing number of reports of sexual violence in 
the county.

•	 Staff within the Community Safety Team are now trained to deliver the Bystander course, which 
focusses on intervention around sexual violence.  A training delivery schedule is now being 
rolled out for professionals and community representatives in the county. 

•	 Virtual Champions Network meetings continued to run every quarter throughout the pandemic 
and offered nationally renowned guest speakers.

Page 138



11

•	 There has been huge enthusiasm and organisational buy in for the Buckinghamshire Domestic 
Homicide Review Learning Events. The events take place every six months and three have 
been delivered so far (covering suicide, BAED, male victims) with ‘Gypsy, Roma, Travellers and 
domestic abuse’ being discussed at the June 2022 event. 

OUTCOMES:

•	 There are 441 trained Domestic Abuse Champions within a range of organisations in 
Buckinghamshire.

•	 PCC funded Aylesbury Vale Milton Keynes Sexual Assault Service (AVMKSAAS) Project has 
worked with 36 male victims of domestic abuse.  Following their work with AVMKSAAS 97% of 
men felt more informed and empowered to act and reported that they had improves health and 
wellbeing.

•	 There were 277 referrals to the PCC funded Independent Domestic Violence Advocate service, 
where 262 were female and the remaining 15 male. Positive outcomes for some clients included 
improvement in financial situation (claiming benefits) housing situation, accessing health 
support (physical and mental) legal support, accessing employment or education, support with 
immigration.

•	 227 professionals attended the DHR Learning event in January 2022, where the topic was male 
victims.

Priority 5: Intervening as early as possible to prevent first time offending, bringing 
offenders to justice and preventing re-offending.

•	 The PCC funded Women’s offender housing project has received 26 referrals for female ex-
offenders either recently released or vulnerably housed in the community. The majority of these 
have been received in the last six months. Of these, two have been supported into private rented 
accommodation as they have been identified as ready to sustain tenancies, four have been 
supported to access supported accommodation and two have been successfully supported to 
move out of area and reconnect with family. 

•	 The PCC funded YOS multi-agency project has enabled effective prevention work to be carried 
out across 16 schools in Buckinghamshire with young people at risk of offending.  

•	 The Safer Bucks Board also used PCC funding to support the BAME mentoring project which 
challenges the over-representation of BAME children in the Youth Justice System in Bucks. 20 
young people have been supported and 17 of these have been individuals mentored through 
school transitions; and a weekly Summer Club was held for eight young people.

OUTCOMES:

•	 Since April 2021, 177 young people at risk of offending engaged with the YOS Youth Workers.
•	 Over the last year, 70 professionals have been trained in Restorative Justice approaches.
•	 National data shows that Buckinghamshire had 132 First Time Entrants per 100,000 young 

people aged 10-18 in the October 2020 to September 2021 period. This is a decrease from 
October 2019 – September 2020 where there were 153 First Time Entrants per 100,000.  
Buckinghamshire YOS is performing better than the national and Thames Valley rates against 
this indicator.

•	 Since April 2021, 26 volunteer mentors have been trained to offer support to young people, as 
part of the YOS BAME mentoring project.

•	 Through the PCC funded RESET Offender Housing Project we have supported 21 ex-offenders 
into accommodation. Only one of these clients has reoffended and ongoing support is being 
provided to all the other clients to make the positive changes needed to stop them from 
reoffending. 

Page 139



12

Safer Buckinghamshire Board delivery groups
The Safer Buckinghamshire Board is supported by various groups which link directly to the five 
priorities as set out in the Safer Buckinghamshire Plan. These are either strategic groups which 
already exist or tactical/implementation groups.

Crime and Anti-Social Behaviour Sub-Group

Following the Safer Buckinghamshire Board review, it was decided that a multi-agency group, led 
by TVP and Buckinghamshire Council’s Community Safety Team, should be established to monitor 
and report on the Priority 1 delivery plan.

This group is currently being formed, and terms of reference are to be agreed.

Joint Modern Slavery and Exploitation Sub-Group

The Joint Modern Slavery and Exploitation Sub-Group is a multi-agency group which aims to:

•	 Support the strategic development of an effective and coordinated multi-agency response to all 
forms of modern slavery and exploitation within Buckinghamshire.

•	 Develop and implement the delivery of a multi-agency action plan in relation to this agenda. 
•	 Provide assurance around the way agencies are working individually to safeguard and support 

adults, children & young people at risk of exploitation.

The Group meets quarterly and is responsible for developing and implementing a multi-agency 
action plan to support the delivery of Priority 2 in the Safer Bucks Plan 2020-2023. The Group 
reports to the Safer Buckinghamshire Board. It also links with the Safeguarding Boards under the 
governance of the Joint Protocol and the Serious Violence Taskforce to ensure effective activity and 
avoid duplication. 

Serious Violence Task Force

The Serious Violence Task Force is a multi-agency group which aims to:

•	 Provide a multi-agency co-ordinated approach to address the issue of serious violence across 
Buckinghamshire with an emphasis the underlying causes and drivers of serious violence 
during strategic decision making, in order to ensure interventions, achieve long term sustainable 
solutions.

•	 Provide oversight and management of the Serious Violence Reduction Delivery Plan (forming 
part of the Safer Buckinghamshire Plan). 

•	 Monitor the impact and value of the delivery plan, implementing mitigation as required and 
taking advantage of new opportunities.

•	 And be responsible for the delivery of the recommendations action plan for the Children’s 
Safeguarding Partnership Thematic Review of Youth Violence. 

The Serious Violence Task Force (SVTF) sits quarterly to discuss progress of the Buckinghamshire 
Violence Reduction Plan, raise issues and identify any blockages. It was noted in the January 
SVTF that actions within the plan were 95% complete so with this in mind, a refreshed Violence 
Reduction Plan has now been drafted and will be presented to the SVTF/Chair to be agreed. This 

Page 140



13

revised plan will have a focus on evidencing outcomes, developing engagement with the Voluntary 
and Community Sector and expanding intervention work to those deemed vulnerable to being 
drawn into serious violence.

The Task Force reports to the Safer Bucks Board, linking to Priority 2 in the Safer Buckinghamshire 
Plan 2020-2023.  The Task Force is also responsible to the Buckinghamshire Children’s 
Safeguarding Partnership for the delivery of the Thematic Review of Youth Violence action plan.

Drug and Alcohol Strategic Group 

The purpose of the Drug and Alcohol Strategic Group is to deliver a multi-agency Drug and Alcohol 
Action Plan which will be designed to implement a new Buckinghamshire Drug and Alcohol 
Strategy. Both the Strategy and Action Plan will be developed with multi-agency partners, and 
success is reliant on multiagency delivery. The group meets quarterly and in between meetings, ad-
hoc working meetings take place for specific topics that feed into the strategic group who oversee 
delivery of the Plan.

The Group oversees the delivery of Priority 3 in the Safer Bucks Plan 2020-2023 and will provide 
reports to the Safer Buckinghamshire Board. 

Coexisting Mental Health and Substance Misuse Group

The purpose of the Coexisting Mental Health and Substance Misuse Group is to develop a joint 
protocol and operational pathway for adults living with both mental health (MH) and substance 
misuse (SM) needs to ensure co-ordinated care helps to address both conditions. The terms 
of reference sets out core principles for lead providers of SM services and secondary care MH 
services. Key actions are set out in an action plan agreed and regularly monitored by the group.
Some aspects of the Priority 3 Delivery Plan will be delivered by this group.

Domestic Abuse Board

Under the new Domestic Abuse (DA) Act which came in on 29th April 2021, councils across 
England have a legal duty to provide life-saving support such as therapy, advocacy and counselling 
in safe accommodation, including refuges. Buckinghamshire Council received £854,917 for the year 
in order to discharge its duty under the Act. A spend plan has been worked up to utilise the money 
and the funding remains at the same level for a second year. Under the Act, Local Authorities were 
to convene a multi-agency DA Board. Buckinghamshire had its first DA Board in October 2021 and 
one of the priorities of the new DA Strategy 2021-2023 is early intervention and prevention.

The DA Action Plan is the delivery mechanism for Priority 4 of the Safer Buckinghamshire Plan, and 
reports will be provided to the Board on progress.

Priority 5 Delivery Plan will be implemented and monitored via pre-existing Youth Offending Service 
and Probation Service meetings, and updates will be provided to the Safer Buckinghamshire Board 
by the Priority Sponsor.

Page 141



14

What’s next for 2022/23?
Throughout 2022/23 the various delivery groups will implement and monitor the progress of the 
five Delivery Plans and provide updates to the Safer Buckinghamshire Board. Activities this year will 
include:

Priority 1

•	 Evaluate the Street Warden deployment and explore opportunities for the further expansion, 
along with the implementation of additional powers under the Community Safety Accreditation 
Scheme.

•	 Commission seasonal trend analysis to identify proactive opportunities for partnership working 
around crime and anti-social behaviour.

•	 Utilise the new anti-social behaviour case management system to identify repeat victims and 
adopt a problem-solving approach. 

•	 Take a partnership approach in understanding the local picture of fraud and cybercrime across 
Buckinghamshire. A local communications group to be established, to raise awareness of these 
crimes, along with prevention and reporting advice.

Priority 2

•	 Develop a menu of evidenced based provision, include edge of care interventions, with clear 
impact measures.

•	 Commission expertise to steer plans towards a contextual safeguarding approach across the 
partnership.

•	 Review the referral process for adult victim of modern slavery to ensure they are supported at 
the earliest opportunity.

Priority 3

•	 Establish a multi-agency panel to review nominations recommended to go on to the Blue Light 
pathway.

•	 Appoint a designated worker to oversee the joint protocol between One Recovery Bucks and 
Oxford Health for people with dual diagnosis (substance misuse and mental health) to ensure 
they are supported at the right time and place.

•	 Complete a local health Needs Assessment of drugs and alcohol to inform a new local strategy.

Priority 4

•	 Establish a Violence against Women and Girls sub group and multi-agency action plan.
•	 Commission a Perpetrator programme based on successful pilots e.g. Drive project.
•	 Prepare and deliver a comprehensive multi-agency training offer that can be shared and 

delivered across the partnership.
•	 Establish Domestic Abuse Board website with key documents, advice and local referral/support 

pathways.
•	 Encourage housing services and registered providers to attain DAHA accreditation and/or work 

to the DAHA toolkit and standards.

Page 142



15

Priority 5

•	 Develop a relationship model between partners to achieve the best outcome for prisoners 
released from custody.

•	 Buckinghamshire Council and Probation to work with local employers to identify opportunities 
for employment and work experience for prison leavers.

•	 Across the partnership, establish a network of mentoring scheme for under 25 year olds at risk 
of reoffending.

Safer Buckinghamshire Plan 2023-2026

During 2022 the Strategic Assessment and public consultation on the new community safety 
priorities will take place. The information gathered by these pieces of work will inform the 
production of the Safer Buckinghamshire Plan 2023-2026, which will be published by 1 April 2023.

Thames Valley Police and Crime Commissioner funding

In previous years the Thames Valley Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) has provided a grant 
to the Council to fund work to achieve the community safety priorities. However, in May 2021, 
following a review the PCC committed to a three-year funding settlement for local councils, 
allowing them to fund projects for up to three years from April 2022. 

In September 2021, the PCC advised the Council that its Community Safety grant for 2022/23 
would be £436,567, with the following amounts for the next two years:

•	 2022/23 - £436,567
•	 2023/24 - £486,132
•	 2024/25 - £537,585

Domestic Abuse Act 2021

In Buckinghamshire we are taking a zero tolerance approach and feel ending domestic abuse is 
everyone’s business. Making people feel safe requires a thorough co-ordinated response from 
government, local authorities, partners and the public. We were pleased to see the Domestic Abuse 
Act received Royal Assent on 29 April 2021; this gives more resources to tackle this critical issue. 
With the new duties Buckinghamshire Council has published its intentions to drive forward a three-
year strategy for victim support and safe accommodation. 

We want Buckinghamshire to be a place where as few people as possible are affected by domestic 
abuse, but those who are can get help to end the abuse and go on to live the lives they want. The 
strategy is about how we want to develop and improve domestic abuse services over the next three 
years. Over the next three years the delivery of the SMART action plan by the Domestic Abuse 
Board will be monitored by the Safer Buckinghamshire Board.

Page 143



16

Serious Violence Duty

The Policing, Crime, Sentencing and Courts Bill was introduced to Parliament on 9 March 2021. 
It contains further detail on the proposed Serious Violence Duty to drive multi-agency working 
in tackling serious violence. It is anticipated, following the passage of the Bill, that the Serious 
Violence Duty will come into force in the summer of 2022 and it is a major strategic driver to our 
work.

A key principle to the Duty is that tackling serious violence requires a whole-system, place 
based approach. All partners – the emergency services, criminal justice, health, education, local 
authorities, youth offending services, prisons – will hold a duty to work together to understand the 
causes and consequences of serious violence and are required to shift the focus of their response 
towards prevention and much earlier intervention. The Safer Buckinghamshire Partnership is in a 
strong position to meet the new duty with ‘the Strategic Partners dots joined up ‘.

Safer Buckinghamshire website

Finally, during 2022/23 we intend to begin development of a dedicated Safer Buckinghamshire 
website. This will provide a central location for performance data, information on community safety 
projects, links to training and support services, along with information on our various partners.

Page 144



1  

 

 

 
Report to Cabinet 
Date: 11 October 2022 

 

Title: Buckinghamshire Youth Justice Strategic Plan 2022-2023 
 

Cabinet Member(s): Cllr Anita Cranmer, Cabinet Member for Education and 
Children’s Services 

 
Contact officer: John Macilwraith, Corporate Director Children’s Services 

 
Ward(s) affected: All 

 
Recommendations: Cabinet is recommended to endorse the 2022-2023 

Youth Justice Strategic Plan and recommend its 
adoption by Council 

 

1. Executive summary 
 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to present the Buckinghamshire Youth Justice Strategic 
Plan 2022-2023. The Youth Justice Plan provides details of progress made against 
agreed outcomes for Children and Young People. It outlines priorities, alongside 
potential future challenges for the partnership over the coming year. The Youth 
Justice Plan highlights the partnership arrangements and budget position for the 
Youth Offending Service Partnership. 

 

2. Content of report 
 

2.1 Buckinghamshire Youth Offending Service is a multi-agency partnership funded by 
the following statutory partners: Thames Valley Police, Buckinghamshire Council 
Children’s Services, Health Services and Probation. Other partners including 
Community Safety and the voluntary sector also make up the partnership. 

2.2 The Youth Offending Service (YOS) plays a key role in keeping our communities, 
families, children and young people safe through the prevention of offending and 
reoffending, reduction in the use of custody and through contribution to multi- 
agency public protection and safeguarding. 

2.3 The Youth Justice Strategic Plan is produced in compliance with the Crime and 
Disorder Act 1998, Section 40 which stipulates the following: 

Page 145

Agenda Item 10



2  

‘It shall be the duty of each local authority, after consultation with the relevant 
persons and bodies, to formulate and implement for each year a plan (a “youth 
justice plan”) setting out: 

a) How youth justice services in their area are to be provided and funded; and 
b) How the Youth Offending Team (YOT) or teams established by them (whether 

alone or jointly with one or more other local authorities) are to be composed 
and funded, how they are to operate, and what functions they are to carry out.’ 

2.4 The Youth Justice Plan for 2022/23 was produced in consultation with strategic 
partners. This was done through a series of focus groups held with representatives 
from the police, probation, magistrates, health, and Buckinghamshire Council 
services, including Children’s Social Care, Education and Community Safety. As well 
as representatives from voluntary organisations such as Barnardo’s and ‘SAFE!’. 

2.5 The plan is produced in line with guidance published by the Youth Justice Board (YJB) 
and must be submitted to the Youth Justice Board for England and Wales and 
published in accordance with the directions of the Secretary of State. 

2.6 The requirement for local authorities to have Youth Offending Teams has existed 
since 2000, following the 1998 Crime and Disorder Act. The intended function of 
Youth Offending Teams is to reduce the risk of young people offending and re-
offending, and to provide counsel and rehabilitation to those who do offend. The act 
stipulates the composition of the YOT and identifies statutory partners to work 
alongside the Local Authority. 

2.7 The Youth Justice Board (YJB) has set three national outcome indicators for all YOTs 
which form the baseline for performance information included within this year’s 
plan. These are as follows: 

• Reduce the number of First Time Entrants (FTE) to the Youth Justice System 
• Reduce Re-offending 
• Reduce the Use of Custody 

 

Local Context 
 

2.8 First Time Entrants: The number of young people entering the youth justice system 
for the first time has continued to fall in Buckinghamshire. Data for October 2020 to 
September 2021 shows a rate of 132 young people per 100,000 of the local 10-17 
year old population, which represents stronger performance than that seen 
nationally, across Thames Valley and within the YOT family. This also represents a 
reduction from the 153 young people per 100,000 entering the youth justice system 
for the first time between October 2019 and September 2020. 

2.9 Reoffending: The rate of young people reoffending in Buckinghamshire is currently 
lower than that seen nationally, across the South East, Thames Valley and the YOT 

Page 146



3  

family. For the January to March 2020 cohort, only 16.2% of young people went on 
to reoffend within a 12 month follow up period. This represents a total of 6 
reoffenders. This particular tracking period included 2 periods of extended national 
lockdown which in part explains why the rate is so much lower than the 31.3% figure 
for the January to March 2019 cohort. However, all of the comparator groups were 
also affected by the pandemic in the same way. The data therefore shows 
particularly strong performance in Buckinghamshire. 

2.10 Use of Custody: The rate of young people receiving a custodial sentence per 1000 
of the local 10–17-year-old population has risen slightly to 0.07 from 0.04. This 
represents an increase from 2 custodial sentences in 2020 to 4 in 2021. Performance 
is stronger than seen at a national level, is in line with Thames Valley and only 
slightly above that seen across the South East and within the YOT family.  

2.11 There was a significant reduction in the number of new custodial remands and in 
associated bed nights during 2021-22. The 876 bed nights accrued in 2020-21 was in 
part due to lengthy remands of almost a year for 2 young people charged with 
serious violent offences. 

2.12 The YOS reports quarterly on Prevention cases that have gone on to become a First 
Time Entrant within 12 months of beginning their intervention with the service. Of 
the 66 young people engaged in preventative work between October 2019 and 
March 2021, only 3 (4.5%) went on to receive a substantive outcome within 12 
months. 

 

Priorities for the coming year 
 

2.13 Whilst 2021/22 saw the YOS still in a phase of recovery from the pandemic, there 
remained a clear focus on achieving our overarching long-term strategic priorities 
and maintaining strong performance against national and local indicators. The 
development of ongoing work with partners to influence systemic change and to 
increase the targeted secondary prevention offer has contributed to the falling 
numbers of First Time Entrants. For the first time ever, the YOS now works with more 
children in a voluntary prevention and diversion capacity than those on a statutory 
basis (Youth Conditional Cautions and Court Orders). This is a significant shift that 
demonstrates the effectiveness of recent developments in prevention provision and 
the intention is to continue on this trajectory. 

2.14 The following key strategic priorities that have helped to drive this good progress in 
recent years will remain, and a continued focus on developing the transition towards 
a predominantly prevention-based model of working will cut across all three. 

 

• Continuing to address disproportionality 

• Addressing exploitation of young people 

• Strengthening an evidence-based model of practice / focus on intervening as early 
as possible.  

Page 147



4  

 

2.15 The long-term vision for the YOS will be to continue to expand the prevention offer, 
specifically by exploring funding opportunities to grow the existing model of youth 
work support for schools. These priorities are consistent with other local long term 
strategic priorities, such as those set by the Safer Bucks Board and the Violence 
Reduction Unit. 

2.16 As referenced earlier in this report, data on numbers of children and young people 
who receive prevention interventions that go on to enter the Youth Justice System, 
demonstrate that this approach is effective. However, we also know that the picture 
locally is complex and that there are some children and young people whom this 
approach will not benefit, such as those who move in to Buckinghamshire from other 
areas.  

2.17 It is unclear whether the reduction in first time entrants will be sustained or if we 
will see an increase as partners in the Police and other areas of the justice system, 
return to pre-pandemic ways of working. We continue to work hard to prevent this 
from happening through the increased focus on prevention  work whilst ensuring we 
retain sufficient capacity to deliver the statutory Youth Justice work should numbers 
increase. 

 

3. Other options considered 
 

3.1 N/A. 
 

4. Legal and Financial implications 
 

4.1 The local authority must carry out its statutory obligations in compliance with the 
Crime and Disorder Act 1998, Section 40. In addition, the local authority must also 
carry out its statutory obligations in respect of safeguarding Children and Young 
People, as set out in the Children Act 2004 and in Working Together to Safeguard 
Children 2018. 

4.2 The Youth Offending Service is funded through a combination of grant funding from 
the Youth Justice Board and contributions from the partners. Contributions may also 
be in kind, for example staffing employed by partner organisations but dedicated to the 
YOS. 

4.3 The following partnership resources make up the Youth Offending Service budget for 
2022-2023: 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 148



5  

4.4 The council contribution to the budget has increased by £29,581, to cover inflationary 
staffing costs. The annual Youth Justice Board grant has increased by £40,779, which 
will fund direct interventions with young people. Thames Valley Police, National 
Probation Service and CCG continue to provide posts in kind and contributions from 
the Police and Crime Commissioner fund 2 prevention projects in schools. 

 

5. Corporate implications 
 

5.1 N/A 
 

6. Local councillors & community boards consultation & views 
 

6.1 N/A 
 

7. Communication, engagement & further consultation 
 

7.1 Communication of the Youth Justice Strategic Plan will be managed through the YOS 
Partnership Management Board, ensuring a multi-agency approach across partner 
organisations. 

 

8. Next steps and review 
 

8.1 The Youth Justice Plan should be reviewed and agreed annually. Progress of the plan 
will be monitored through the YOS Partnership Management Board which reports 
into the Safer Buckinghamshire Board. 

 

9. Background papers 
 

• Youth Justice Strategic Plan 2022-2023 
 

10. Your questions and views (for key decisions) 
 

10.1 If you have any questions about the matters contained in this report please get in 
touch with the author of this report. If you have any views that you would like the 
cabinet member to consider please inform the democratic services team. This can be 
done by telephone [01296 382343 ] or email [democracy@buckinghamshire.gov.uk]  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 149

mailto:democracy@buckinghamshire.gov.uk%5D


This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

Youth Justice Plan 2022-2023 
 
 
Service 
 

Buckinghamshire YOS 

Service Manager/ Lead Ollie Foxell, Head of Service (Interim) 

Chair of YJS Board Superintendent Rebecca Mears, Area Commander Aylesbury 
Vale, Thames Valley Police 

 
 

Contents  

1. Introduction, vision and strategy 
2. Local context 
3. Child First 
4. Voice of the child 
5. Governance, leadership and partnership arrangements 
6. Resources and services 
7. Progress on previous plan 
8. Performance and priorities 
9. National standards 
10. Challenges, risks and issues 
11. Service improvement 
12. Evidence-based practice and innovation 
13. Looking forward  
14. Sign off, submission and approval 
15. Appendix 1 – Service Structure Chart 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 151

Appendix 



2 
 

1. Introduction, Vision and Strategy  

Foreword 
 
Welcome to the 2022-2023 Youth Justice Plan, which lays out the plans of the 
Buckinghamshire Youth Offending Service (YOS), explains our achievements during the 
last twelve months and our priorities for the coming year. The plan aligns to the 
Community Safety Partnership’s ‘Safer Buckinghamshire Plan’ and its priorities.  
 
Our aim is that Buckinghamshire remains one of the safest places to grow up, raise a 
family, live, work and do business. 
  
The YOS plays a key role within the Partnership to help prevent offending and 
reoffending, reducing the use of custody where appropriate and working together to 
safeguard our most vulnerable. The YOS does this by working together with key partners 
in particular Children’s Services, Health Services, Probation, Police, Community Safety 
and both third sector and private sector providers to deliver high quality and effective 
services to young people, their families and the victims of offending.  
  
In my role as chair of the Partnership Board, I have had the privilege of working with a 
wide ranging and committed group of partners, representing both statutory and voluntary 
organisations. The Board and YOS have continued to adapt to the ever changing 
environment due to the developing pandemic and the engagement of all partners has 
remained strong throughout, demonstrating the resilience to achieve our shared 
objectives. The Board focuses on supporting and analysing progress to deliver constant 
improvements to youth justice services across the county. Our strategic priorities for 
2020/21 and 2021/22 were themed to contribute to systemic change across the wider 
organisation and within criminal justice as a whole, and 2022/23 moves beyond recovery 
planning to achieve the overarching priorities: 
 

1. Continuing to address disproportionality       
2. Addressing exploitation of young people       
3. Embedding an evidence-based model of practice  

 
This plan provides a summary of how we have made progress against the specific goals 
set under these themes as well as working towards securing positive outcomes against 
our three national indicators.  
  
It has been a pleasure to work with Ollie Foxell as the Interim Head of the Youth 
Offending Service for Buckinghamshire as he has continued to take forward and 
strengthen the structures, resourcing and processes. The YOS, with the support of our 
Partnership Board, continues to strive for high quality services to support young people, 
families and victims irrespective of the challenges of the health crisis. As always, the 
Partnership Board is extremely grateful for the skill and dedication of those working in 
this arena. On behalf of the Partnership Board, I am pleased to present this updated 
Youth Justice Strategic Plan. 

 
Superintendent Rebecca Mears BA (Hons) MSc,  

LPA Commander for Aylesbury Vale, Thames Valley Police 
 
 

Page 152



3 
 

 
Vision and Strategy 
 
Whilst 2021/22 saw the YOS still in a phase of recovery from the pandemic, there 
remained a clear focus on achieving our overarching long-term strategic priorities and 
maintaining strong performance against national and local indicators. The development 
of ongoing work with partners to influence systemic change and to increase the targeted 
secondary prevention offer has contributed to the falling numbers of First Time Entrants. 
For the first time ever, the YOS now works with more children in a voluntary prevention 
and diversion capacity than those on a statutory basis (Youth Conditional Cautions and 
Court Orders). This is a significant shift that demonstrates the effectiveness of recent 
developments in prevention provision and the intention is to continue on this trajectory. 
 
The following key strategic priorities that have helped to drive this good progress in recent 
years will remain, and a continued focus on developing the transition towards a 
predominantly prevention-based model of working will cut across all three.  
 

1. Continuing to address disproportionality.  
2. Addressing exploitation of young people.  
3. Strengthening an evidence based model of practice / focus on intervening as early 

as possible.  
 

The long-term vision for the YOS will be to continue to expand the prevention offer, 
specifically by exploring funding opportunities to grow the existing model of youth work 
support for schools. These priorities are consistent with other local long term strategic 
priorities, such as those set by the Safer Bucks Board and the Violence Reduction Unit. 
 

2. Local Context  
 
On 1 April 2020, the former District Council areas of Aylesbury Vale, Chiltern, South 
Bucks and Wycombe and Buckinghamshire County Council came together to form a 
single Unitary Authority, Buckinghamshire Council.  
 
Buckinghamshire has a fast growing population with a 0.6% annual change (between 
2019-2020) according to the 2021 ONS report with a total population of 551,560. The 
south is densely populated, and the north is more sparse; however, there has been a 
particularly large population change in Aylesbury Vale which has seen a 10.4% rise since 
2011, the highest rate of growth of any local authority in Great Britain. In terms of who 
make up this population, in recent years the general trend is an increasing amount of 
residents aged 0-15 as well as residents aged 80 and over. Buckinghamshire has an 
underrepresentation of people in their 20s and 30s (21.8 and 6.4 per cent below the 
national level). 
 
Our vision for Buckinghamshire is one where growth will be carefully planned and 
managed, so that all our residents benefit. This includes well designed, more affordable 
homes in thriving communities; providing excellent education opportunities for our young 
people, developing a skilled workforce with access to great job opportunities in highly 
productive sectors; and a world-class physical and digital infrastructure to support our 
businesses to flourish. We want our county to be a place everyone can be proud of, with  
excellent services, thriving businesses and outstanding public spaces for everyone. We  

Page 153



4 
 

want our residents, regardless of background, to have access to great opportunities, 
living healthy, successful lives and ageing well with independence. The Covid-19 
pandemic has changed the way we live, work and think and presents a number of 
challenges in ensuring we continue to protect and support people who are vulnerable 
and in need; whilst meeting the extra service demands produced from the Covid 
pandemic. While we do this, we will continue to lay the foundations for what is best  
for Buckinghamshire in the longer term. 
 
The following infographic provides an overview of Buckinghamshire in numbers.  
  

 
Like all local authorities, we face challenging financial circumstances. There are more 
people turning to the council for support, but the resources available to help them have 
not increased to match the demand. We have to be realistic and focus on greater 
efficiency and value for money. However, we are still ambitious to keep investing in our 
communities, sustaining the vital services on which our most vulnerable residents rely. 
The following infographic shows a breakdown of how the Council’s budget is allocated. 

Page 154



5 
 

 

During 2021/22, Buckinghamshire Children’s Service was inspected twice. Firstly, in 
December 2021, Ofsted conducted their Inspecting Local Authority Children’s Services 
(ILACS) reinspection of services for children in need of help and protection, children 
looked after and care leavers. This inspection found that Buckinghamshire was no longer 
‘Inadequate’, and the overall judgement of Children’s Services was ‘requires 
improvement to be good’. This follows two previous Inadequate inspection ratings and, 
whilst there is still considerable work needed, is considered a significant achievement, 
especially in the context of the impact of the Covid 19 pandemic. This outcome is 
testament to the hard work, dedication and skill of our colleagues across the Council and 
partner agencies. The second took place in March 2022 when Ofsted and the Care 
Quality Commission (CQC) inspected the services provided for children and young 
people with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) in Buckinghamshire. 
The inspection found a number of strengths across the local area, despite the ongoing 
Covid-19 challenges. It recognises the considerable activity that is happening as part of 
our SEND improvement programme and confirms that our self-evaluation accurately 
reflects our progress. That said, inspectors also identified 3 area of significant weakness: 
  

• The lack of a cohesive area strategy to identify and meet the needs of those 
children and young people requiring speech and language, communication and 
occupational therapy 

• Waiting times for assessments on the autism and attention deficit and 
hyperactivity disorder diagnosis pathways and the system-owned plans in place 
to address this 

• Waiting times to see a community paediatrician. 
 

Page 155



6 
 

As a result of the inspection findings, the local area is required to submit a Written 
Statement of Action (WSOA) to address significant areas of weakness. The local 
authority and the area’s clinical commissioning group (CCG) are jointly responsible for 
submitting the written statement to Ofsted. We will of course focus our efforts on 
improving the areas of significant weakness identified, while continuing with our broader 
improvement journey across organisations to ensure the support children with SEND 
receive in Buckinghamshire is high quality and effective. 
 
3. Child First  
 
Buckinghamshire YOS is committed to the principles of Child First and can demonstrate 
this in the following ways. 

1. Prioritise the best interests of children and recognising their particular needs, 
capacities, rights and potential. All work is child-focused, developmentally informed, 
acknowledges structural barriers and meets responsibilities towards children.  

The YOS has invested in good quality trauma informed practice and psychological 
formulation training and is continuing to do so, with refresher training this year. Trauma 
informed practice is overseen and guided by CAMHS (Child and Adolescent Mental 
Health Service) colleagues who provide support in a number of areas, such as chairing 
of case formulations and delivering group complex case supervision. 

There is a strong focus on quality in the work that the YOS do, with a robust quality 
assurance framework and regular quality reports submitted to the Partnership Board. 
This ensures strategic oversight of the effectiveness of work delivered with children and 
young people.  

2. Promote children’s individual strengths and capacities to develop their pro-social 
identity for sustainable desistance, leading to safer communities and fewer victims. All 
work is constructive and future-focused, built on supportive relationships that empower 
children to fulfil their potential and make positive contributions to society.  

There has been a recent focus on developing family work within the YOS. The creation 
of Restorative Family Meetings, which allow children and families to address conflict 
within the safety of a restorative process, ensures that the child has the opportunity to 
share their voice.  

3. Encourage children’s active participation, engagement and wider social inclusion. All 
work is a meaningful collaboration with children and their carers.  

The YOS uses the LifePath model to seek feedback from children and young people. 
This has proven an effective way to gain frank, useful feedback which has led to tangible 
outcomes. Findings are presented to the Partnership Board and appropriate actions 
taken where needed. An example of this is the constructive feedback given in relation to 
experiences of children held in police custody. Following discussion at the Partnership 
Board, trauma informed practice training was delivered by CAMHS to custody staff.  

Work is planned in the current period for representatives of the Partnership Board to 
directly engage with children open to the YOS, seeking their views on how the current 
strategic priorities would best be delivered.  

Page 156



7 
 

4. Promote a childhood removed from the justice system, using pre-emptive prevention, 
diversion and minimal intervention. All work minimises criminogenic stigma from contact 
with the system. 

Since 2018, the YOS has pursued a path of very deliberately seeking to grow the 
prevention and diversion offer available to children and young people. As a result, the 
YOS now works with more children in a prevention capacity than those in a statutory 
capacity. This is primarily driven by our innovative school’s model, which places Youth 
Workers across 16 secondary schools (originally 8) across the county, delivering 
diversionary intervention with children who have not entered the youth justice system. 
The vision is to seek further opportunities to grow this model.  

4. Voice of the Child  
 
Buckinghamshire YOS actively promote the LifePath model as a way of gaining feedback 
from young people and ensuring their voices play a key role in service development. 
Every individual is encouraged to complete this activity at the end of their intervention, 
considering their thoughts and feelings about each step on their path from offending to 
completion of their work with the YOS. One of the greatest benefits of this is the way it 
asks service users to reflect on their journey through the whole youth justice system, 
ensuring invaluable feedback for all the agencies they have had contact with. This 
information is collated on a 6-monthly basis and shared with the Partnership Board and 
actions are agreed to address the findings.  
 
A powerful example of the way this has led to tangible change relates to the feedback 
young people provided on their interaction with the Police. This led to the commission of 
a more in-depth piece of work specifically around relationships with law enforcement, as 
documented above in the Child First section. There are indications that experiences of 
the Police are becoming more positive as a result. 
 
For the first time, young people will be consulted on the strategic priorities of the YOS 
and how they consider these can be best delivered. This activity will provide direct face 
to face contact between strategic decision-makers and service users and will play an 
important role in developing services moving forward. 
 
 

5. Governance, Leadership and Partnership Arrangements  
 
Buckinghamshire Youth Offending Service is located within Buckinghamshire Council, 
Children’s Services. The YOS Head of Service post is jointly responsible for the 
Children’s Social Care, Missing and Exploitation Hub, reporting to the Service Director 
for Children’s Social Care and part of the Senior Management Team.  
 
Strategic oversight of the Youth Offending Service is provided by the Partnership Board, 
which is chaired by the Local Area Commander for Aylesbury Vale, Thames Valley Police 
and attended by all statutory partners, as well as many non-statutory.  
 
At an operational level, the YOS contains the following specialist posts:  
 

• 2 x Social Workers (YOS Officers with social work qualifications).  
• 2 x Seconded Police Officers.  

Page 157



8 
 

• 0.5 Probation Officer (at the time of writing, the National Probation Service have 
provided funding in lieu of a seconded Probation Officer, but have committed to a 
secondment in the current period).  

• Health input provided via access to CAMHS forensic psychology support 2 days 
per week as well as 2 x safeguarding nurses, each providing one day per week.  

• 1 x Education Officer post funded by the Council, currently occupied by a qualified 
teacher.  

• Statutory youth justice cases are held by generic YOS Officers posts, who can 
hold a range of qualifications, including Youth Work, Probation and Social Work, 
as well as those alternative qualifications. There are 3 grades of YOS Officer post 
and a process that allows them to progress once certain criteria are met in relation 
to knowledge, skills and experience.  

• 1 x full time dedicated Performance Review and Information Manager.  
 
Full details of the staffing structure is provided in Appendix 1. 
 

6. Resources and Services  

The following partnership resources contribute towards the aims and expected outcomes 
in the plan: 

 

The Youth Justice Grant will be used exclusively to deliver the following outcomes: to 
reduce numbers of First Time Entrants into the youth justice system; to reduce 
reoffending; to reduce numbers of children in custody; to protect the public from serious 
harm; and to ensure effective safeguarding of children in the youth justice system. The 
following activities will be funded by the grant: 

• Delivery of effective assessment, intervention planning and supervision for young 
people who have offended or are at risk of offending in Buckinghamshire. 

• Delivery of services to the victims of youth offending. 

Partner 
Contributions 2022-
2023 

Staffing 
Costs (£) 

Posts In 
Kind 

Other 
Delegated 
Funds (£) 

Total (£) 

Buckinghamshire 
Council 

 694,121 
 

65,547 759,668 

Thames Valley 
Police 

 
175,348 

 
175,348 

Clinical 
Commissioning 
Group 

 
76,285 

 
76,285 

National Probation 
Service 

 
22,680 8,580 31,260 

Police Crime 
Commissioner 

134,663 
 

65,000 199,663 

Youth Justice Board 
Grant 

454,838  
  

454,838 

TOTAL 1,283,622 274,313 139,127 1,697,062 

Page 158



9 
 

• Development of key areas of practice such as SEND, Liaison and Diversion and 
Restorative Justice. 

• Analysis of performance information to inform practice development across all 
areas. 

• Delivery and development of Community Reparation. 
• Expenses incurred by staff in carrying out core duties. 
• Development and training of staff in effective practice. 
• Provision of the Core+ database, to support effective case management, timely 

submission of statutory data and the use of connectivity to ensure mandatory 
documentation is shared securely with the Youth Custody Service. 

Funding from the Police and Crime Commissioner will be used to deliver two projects: 

• The YOS Multi-Agency school’s project - this provides Youth Workers to deliver 
diversionary support to 16 secondary schools across the county. The aim of this 
project is to reduce numbers of First Time Entrants to the youth justice system.  

• The Community Coaching project - this funds an external provider, Spark2Life, to 
deliver community coaching to support transition from primary school to 
secondary school for children from ethnically diverse communities. The project 
seeks to address structural inequality and provide improved outcomes for 
students across a range of areas that can sometimes be pathways into the youth 
justice system. 

A more detailed description of these projects is provided in a later section of this plan. 

 
7. Progress on Previous Plan  

The following table outlines the actions identified in last year’s Youth Justice Strategic 
Plan and the progress made against these. 

 
Addressing Over-Representation 

 
ACTION 

 
PROGRESS  

Evaluate overall impact of 
disproportionality work to date 
 

Completed - all of the disproportionality work initiated by the YOS has 
been pulled together into one report evaluating impact and taken back 
to the Partnership Board.  
 
 

Expand the community coaching 
project to include siblings of YOS 
clients in addition to supporting 
young people in Year 8 
 
 

Completed – the referral process has been successfully rolled out to 
YOS practitioners and 3 siblings were engaged via the project during 
2021/22. 

Facilitate a session on Culture, 
Diversity, Knowledge and 
Understanding for key strategic 
partners with a view to developing 
an action plan for each service 

Completed - a session was delivered on Culture, Diversity, 
Knowledge and Understanding at a YOS Partnership Board meeting. 
Ongoing work around disproportionality within each agency and plans 
moving forward were subsequently captured via Partnership Board 
Focus Groups, which followed this session. 

Page 159



10 
 

area to positively address 
disproportionately 
 
Re-audit identity within 
assessments to ensure good 
practice guidance is fully 
embedded 
 

Completed – a re-audit took place and positive indicators of improving 
practice were identified. An additional session was delivered for all 
practitioners on Culture, Diversity, Knowledge and Understanding to 
further support their understanding and assessment of identity.  
 

Addressing Exploitation of Young People 
 

Increase knowledge and strength 
of YOS prevention youth workers 
on exploitation, so universal 
services can be supported to 
understand risk factors 
 

Completed – YOS Prevention Youth Workers have attended training 
and now participate in a monthly meeting to discuss exploitation 
concerns for those children they are working with, alongside other 
professionals.  

 

Implement parenting support 
through funding secured with third 
sector provider to create 
community champions 
 

Completed - parenting groups are now being delivered by the local 
authority Children’s Services department. 3 members of YOS staff 
have been trained to deliver The Teen Nurture Programme. 

Pilot sessions from those with 
lived experience to support 
learning across the organisation 
 

Ongoing – this piece of work is being led by wider Children’s Services 
and will carry over into 2022/23. 

Actively participate in Serious 
Violence Task Force meetings in 
light of revised duty on YOS 
 

Completed – the YOS Head of Service sits on the Serious Violence 
Task Force group. Work is ongoing to ensure access to the Serious 
Youth Violence dashboard and contribute data to this as appropriate. 

Embedding Evidence Based Practice 
 

Deliver refresher training on 
Trauma-Informed Practice in 
partnership with CAMHS 
 

Completed – training was delivered in July 2021 to all practitioners. 
Additional training will be delivered in September 2022. 

Explore the low level of Liaison 
and Diversion referrals across 
Buckinghamshire to ensure 
appropriate young people are 
receiving support 
 

Ongoing - this has now been subsumed within a wider piece of work 
for the whole of Thames Valley. An information sharing agreement has 
now been made at Thames Valley level. 

Support those attending 
Restorative Justice training in 
completing case studies to 
evaluate the impact on their day to 
day work 
 

Completed – support has now been built into the training programme 
to ensure all attendees are confident in measuring effectiveness. This 
has led to an increase in case studies being returned by participants. 

 
 
8. Performance and Priorities  
 
National Indicator – First Time Entrants 
 
The number of young people entering the youth justice system for the first time has 
continued to fall in Buckinghamshire. Data for October 2020 to September 2021 shows 

Page 160



11 
 

a rate of 132 young people per 100,000 of the local 10-17 year old population, which 
represents stronger performance than that seen nationally, across Thames Valley and 
within the YOT family. This also represents a reduction from the 153 young people per 
100,000 entering the youth justice system for the first time between October 2019 and 
September 2020. 
 
 

 
 
 
With an ever-increasing focus on prevention and diversion in Buckinghamshire, 
significant work is taking place to both sustain and improve this performance. Activities 
include: 
 

• Delivery of the Multi-Agency Schools project (funded by the Office of the Police 
and Crime Commissioner). 

• Ongoing mentoring project to support black and minority ethnic children in primary 
school year 6, straddling their transition to year 7 in secondary school (funded by 
the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner). 

• Increased support for young people receiving Community Resolutions. 
• Delivery of restorative training to those working in a range of settings, such as 

care homes and schools, to support appropriate management of challenging 
situations. 

 
 
 
National Indicator – Reoffending 
 
The rate of young people reoffending in Buckinghamshire is currently lower than that 
seen nationally, across the South East, Thames Valley and the YOT family. For the 
January to March 2020 cohort, only 16.2% of young people went on to reoffend within a 
12 month follow up period. This represents a total of 6 reoffenders. This particular 
tracking period included 2 periods of extended national lockdown which in part explains 
why the rate is so much lower than the 31.3% figure for the January to March 2019 
cohort. However, all of the comparator groups were also affected by the pandemic in the 
same way. The data therefore shows particularly strong performance in 
Buckinghamshire. 
 
 

Oct 19 - Sep 20 Oct 20 - Sep 21
Buckinghamshire 153 132
Thames Valley 185 137
South East 143 129
National 173 154
YOT Family 147 133

100
110
120
130
140
150
160
170
180
190

Page 161



12 
 

 

 
 
The YOS continue to attribute this performance to the trauma-informed approach taken 
to working with young people, which focuses on building an effective relationship with 
every individual engaged by the service. A stable workforce and closer working 
relationships with partners have further contributed to the positive diversion of young 
people from reoffending.  
 
Activities taking place in the next 12 months to sustain this include: 
 

• Significant investment in staff training for 2022/23: further input on trauma 
informed practice and case formulations; contextual safeguarding; AIM3 (sexually 
harmful behaviour); and restorative practice. 

• Continuing to prioritise staff well-being and recognising the risk of vicarious 
trauma: reflective supervision; CAMHS group complex case formulation; 
individual case consultations; and staff feedback activity every 6 months. 

• Focus on enhanced recruitment process to diversify workforce. 
• Ongoing audit activity on a monthly basis to ensure practice quality is regularly 

reviewed. 
 
 
National Indicator – Custody 
 
The rate of young people receiving a custodial sentence per 1000 of the local 10-17 year 
old population has risen slightly to 0.07 from 0.04. This represents an increase from 2 
custodial sentences in 2020 to 4 in 2021. Performance is stronger than seen at a national 
level, is in line with Thames Valley and only slightly above that seen across the South 
East and within the YOT family.  
 
Due to low numbers, an analysis of gender and ethnicity has not been provided, as there 
is the potential for individual young people to be identified from this. However the data is 
reviewed locally on a quarterly basis to identify learning. 

 

Jan - Mar 19 Jan - Mar 20
Buckinghamshire 31.3% 16.2%
Thames Valley 32.7% 23.4%
South East 36.4% 30.7%
National 36.4% 34.0%
YOT Family 35.7% 29.0%

10.0%

15.0%

20.0%

25.0%

30.0%

35.0%

40.0%

Page 162



13 
 

 
 
In addition to this, the YOS also monitor the number of young people remanded to 
custody and the number of bed nights this entails. As the table below shows, there was 
a significant reduction in the number of new custodial remands and in associated bed 
nights during 2021-22. The 876 bed nights accrued in 2020-21 was in part due to lengthy 
remands of almost a year for 2 young people charged with serious violent offences. 
 
 

 
No. of Young People 

  
No. of Bed Nights 

  
2020-21 

  
4 

  
876 

  
2021-22 

  
1 
  

34 
  

 
Ongoing activity is in place to ensure custody is only used when all community options 
have been considered. This includes: 
 

• Taking a trauma-informed approach to assessing and engaging with young people 
• Custody panels for all appropriate cases, whereby a manager supports the report 

author in building their proposal 
• A comprehensive quality assurance framework that ensures all assessments and 

report proposals are subject to robust management oversight. 
 
 
Over-Representation 
 
Both national and local data clearly shows that young people from a Black, Asian and 
Minority Ethnic backgrounds are over-represented within the criminal justice system. 
Local data shows that Black Asian and Minority Ethnic children who have entered the 
youth justice system also experience disproportionately poor outcomes across school 
exclusions, exploitation and Social Care involvement. Since 2018, Buckinghamshire 
YOS have been actively identifying ways to address this inequality.  
 
The YOS caseload is monitored each month by ethnicity, comparing the percentages of 
each cohort with the overall 10-17 year old population. Whilst the data below shows a 
positive reduction in the disproportion of Black Asian and Minority Ethnic children and 
young people open to the service, this relates to a period of time when overall caseload 
numbers have reduced, meaning percentages can be misleading. It is also important to 

Jan - Dec 20 Jan - Dec 21
Buckinghamshire 0.04 0.07
Thames Valley 0.03 0.07
South East 0.05 0.06
National 0.15 0.11
YOT Family 0.06 0.06

0
0.02
0.04
0.06
0.08

0.1
0.12
0.14
0.16

Page 163



14 
 

note that publication of the new census data (expected in 2022) may have an impact on 
disproportionality rates nationally and in Buckinghamshire. 
 

 
 
Following the Thematic Inspection into the Experiences of Black and Mixed Heritage 
Boys in the Youth Justice System, the Partnership Board commissioned more detailed 
data analysis of a cohort of First Time Entrants to assess the level of disproportionate 
outcomes for those from a Black Asian and Minority Ethnic background. Findings based 
on this cohort are as follows: 
 

• Whilst the numbers were low, it is of note that no White young people entered the 
youth justice system with an outcome above a Referral Order. 

• There was no clear correlation between ethnicity and offence type, with Violence 
Against the Person the most common for all ethnic groups aside from the Other 
category. 

• Only young people from a White or Black background had reported missing 
episodes. Additional data gathered on the number of times each young person 
had been reported missing did not reveal any patterns in relation to ethnicity. 

• Whilst there was no discernible pattern relating ethnicity to type of involvement, it 
is significant to note that only 1 young person in the whole cohort had not had any 
previous contact with Social Care. All of the Black young people in the cohort had 
been subject to a Child Protection Plan or been a Child Looked After. 

• Young people from Black, Asian, Mixed and Other backgrounds were more likely 
to have a recorded disability than White young people. 

• Individuals from the Mixed and Other groups had the highest rate of Fixed Term 
exclusions. There was no clear correlation between the number of Fixed Term 
Exclusions and ethnicity. 

• Those from a Black or Mixed background had the highest rate of Permanent 
Exclusion. 

• White young people were most likely to be receiving either SEN Support or 
support via an EHCP. 

• Asian young people were the least likely to be stopped and searched. There is no 
clear correlation between the number of stop and searches and ethnicity. 

10-
17 

Pop

Apr
-21

May-
21

Jun
-21

Jul-
21

Aug-
21

Sep-
21

Oct-
21

Nov-
21

Dec-
21

Jan-
22

Feb-
22

Mar-
22

Unknown 0% 2% 0% 2% 2% 2% 2% 2% 2% 2% 2% 2% 2%
Other 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 2% 2% 2% 4% 4% 5% 5%
Black / Black British 2% 13% 8% 13% 13% 18% 17% 16% 13% 10% 9% 12% 9%
Asian / Asian British 11% 6% 5% 5% 5% 4% 6% 6% 4% 2% 6% 5% 7%
Mixed 5% 17% 17% 17% 21% 19% 16% 17% 19% 17% 9% 7% 2%
White 81% 62% 70% 63% 59% 57% 57% 57% 60% 65% 70% 69% 75%

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Page 164



15 
 

This data has been shared with the Partnership Board and will be taken back to individual 
agencies for further discussion / action as appropriate. 

 
 
Local Indicator – Prevention Cases that Become First Time Entrants 
 
The YOS reports quarterly on Prevention cases that have gone on to become a First 
Time Entrant within 12 months of beginning their intervention with the service. The chart 
below shows that of the 66 young people engaged in preventative work between October 
2019 and March 2021, only 3 (4.5%) went on to receive a substantive outcome within 12 
months. 
 

 

The strength of this performance reflects the effectiveness of the YOS Youth Worker in 
Schools project in engaging and diverting individuals from an offending pathway. This 
provides a robust, evidence-based model for the increased focus on prevention work 
moving forward, with the aim of sustaining and building further on these positive 
outcomes. 
 
 
Local Indicator – First Time Entrants Previously Known to the YOS 
 
This measure identifies how many young people enter the youth justice system for the 
first time having been previously engaged by the YOS in a preventative intervention. In 
the 2021/22 period, there were a total of 65 First Time Entrants, of which 12 (18.5%) had 
been previously known to the service.  
 

 

18 17

3

12 13

1

2

0

5

10

15

20

Oct-Dec 19 Jan-Mar 20 Apr - Jun 20 Jul - Sep 20 Oct-Dec 20 Jan-Mar 21

No. not becoming FTE in 12 months No. becoming FTE in 12 months

5 4 5
3

10

5 6

1
3

7

3
1

1 2
1

1

1
2

1

2

1
0

2

4

6

8

10

12

Apr-2
1

May
-21

Jun-21
Jul-2

1

Aug-2
1

Se
p-21

Oct-
21

Nov-2
1

Dec-2
1

Jan
-22

Fe
b-22

Mar-
22

Not previously known Previously known

Page 165



16 
 

 
Measuring this particular indicator has 2 key purposes. Firstly, it allows the YOS to 
monitor the effectiveness of prevention programmes by reviewing individual cases where 
the young person went on to offend, and secondly, it provides a chance to identify if 
opportunities were missed to engage those who have not been worked with. The aim of 
this data analysis is to ultimately reduce the number of those entering the system both 
previously known and not known to the YOS. 
 
 
Local Indicators – Education, Training and Employment (new measures 
introduced in 2021/22) 
 
The YOS monitors the % (number) of young people receiving 25 hours or more of 
provision at the end of their intervention. This includes all young people receiving 
statutory interventions. The data shows that whilst there has been some fluctuation 
throughout 2021/22, approximately one third of those open to the YOS were receiving 
25 hours or more at the end of working with the service. 
  

 
 

In addition, the YOS also monitor the % (number) of young people receiving more hours 
provision at the end of their intervention than at the start. This includes all young people 
receiving statutory interventions. The data shows a significant fluctation quarter on 
quarter. 
 

 

64.3% (18) 65.5% (19) 60.7% (17)
70.6% (12)

35.7% (10) 34.5% (10) 39.3% (11)
29.4% (5)

0.0%
10.0%
20.0%
30.0%
40.0%
50.0%
60.0%
70.0%
80.0%
90.0%

100.0%

April to June 2021 July to September 2021 October to December 2021 January to March 2022

Less than 25 hours 25 hours +

17.9% (5)
31.0% (9)

14.3% (4)
35.3% (6)

10.7% (3)

27.6% (8)

10.7% (3)

5.9% (1)

71.4% (20)

41.4% (12)

75.0% (21)
58.8% (10)

0.0%
10.0%
20.0%
30.0%
40.0%
50.0%
60.0%
70.0%
80.0%
90.0%

100.0%

April to June 2021 July to September 2021 October to December 2021 January to March 2022

Increase in hours Reduction in hours No change

Page 166



17 
 

With both of these measures introduced in 2021/22, this information is intended to 
provide a benchmark for Education, Training and Employment measures moving 
forward. Having been provided with a detailed breakdown of the young people behind 
these statistics, the Partnership Board have requested that this data be presented by age 
moving forward (pre and post 16) to gain a better understanding of the barriers and focus 
on improving outcomes. This will continue to be a key area of focus in 2022/23. 
 
The percentage of young people on the YOS caseload with an Education Health and 
Care Plan (EHCP) is monitored on a monthly basis. The chart below shows a snapshot 
of this data across the last 6 years, with a clear increase evidenced over that period.  
 
 

 
 
 
Part of this increase can be attributed to work that has taken place to improve the 
accuracy of EHCP recording within this period, however significant steps have also been 
taken to improve YOS engagement with the Integrated Special Education Needs and 
Disabilities (SEND) teams within the Council. 
 
Joint working practices have been strengthened in partnership with SEND and the focus 
in 2022/23 will be to embed these. This will form a benchmark for proposed quarterly 
inter-agency audit activity to ensure those known to the YOS with an EHCP are receiving 
the most effective service. 
  
 
Prevention  
 
The YOS Multi-Agency Schools project has now received a further 3 years of funding 
from the Police and Crime Commissioner, reflecting the effectiveness of the project to 
date. The programme aims to deliver the following outcomes: 
 

1. Enhancing school achievement & engagement (including at risk of exclusion) 
2. Preventing crime, violence and antisocial behaviour  
3. Preventing exploitation  
4. Improving relationships within the school, peer or professionals  
5. Improving attendance  
6. Preventing risky teenage behaviour – including drugs 

 

23.2%

29.5%
32.1%

34.9% 33.8%

38.6%

0.0%

5.0%

10.0%

15.0%

20.0%

25.0%

30.0%

35.0%

40.0%

45.0%

Mar-17 Mar-18 Mar-19 Mar-20 Mar-21 Mar-22

Page 167



18 
 

177 young people were referred to this programme during 2021/22 across 16 schools. 
This is a significant increase on throughput from previous years, achieved through an 
increase in the number of schools taking part and in resourcing. 
 
One of the key measures of effectiveness is whether the individuals engaged go on to 
enter the youth justice system within 12 months. Of the 64 young people who started an 
intervention in 2020-21, 7 went on to offend (10.9%). Of the previous year’s cohort, only 
1 out of 79 young people went on to offend (1.3%). Individual case studies are also 
collated to evidence impact and to aid learning around good practice. This represents an 
increase in the number of those going on to offend and the reasons behind this are 
currently being explored. 
 
The YOS Community Coaching project is designed to improve outcomes for these 
children, helping them to achieve their potential. Mentors support individual young people 
through the transition to secondary school and seek to engage them in positive activities 
in their communities. This project has now been extended to include referrals for siblings 
of those engaged by the YOS on statutory interventions. 
 
During 2021/22, 11 young people were successfully supported through this transition. 
Feedback has been overwhelmingly positive from both the individuals supported and 
their parents / carers, with 100% of those providing feedback stating they rated the 
support as 5 out of 5. All of the young people said the support had helped them identify 
different life choices and that they have confidence in sustaining that progress after the 
mentoring draws to a close. 
 
 
Diversion 
 
The Police have ultimate responsibility for making decisions on the suitability of Out of 
Court Disposals, however local arrangements are in place to assist the decision-making 
process, known as the Joint Decision-making Panel (JDP). The YOS Early Intervention 
and Restorative Justice Coordinator, Police Decision Maker, YOS Youth Worker, 
representative from Liaison and Diversion and a representative from the Family Support 
Service make up this panel. If a child is already known to YOS, the current / previous 
case holder will also be invited to attend or provide feedback on the young person’s 
current/previous disposal. If they are known to Social Care, their Social Worker will attend 
the panel, when appropriate. 
 
There are a number of layers of oversight that ensure the quality of this decision-making. 
A Consistency Event takes place every 6 months with all Thames Valley Police decision-
makers and those who are involved from each YOT. In addition, an Out of Court Scrutiny 
Panel is held every 4 months with the Police, YOS and Magistrates to examine decisions 
taken across the force. Buckinghamshire YOS have also been taking part in 
disproportionality scrutiny activity with Oxfordshire YOS to ensure that outcomes are 
consistent regardless of age, gender or ethnicity. 
 
All young people receiving Community Resolutions are reviewed by YOS Team 
Managers to agree if support should be offered, with the exception of those given a Drug 
Diversion Scheme outcome, where young people are referred directly to Switch Bucks 
for substance misuse provision. If support is deemed appropriate from the YOS, the 
worker will complete a locally devised Out of Court assessment to identify the risks and 
needs to be addressed through a bespoke intervention plan. This is a process that has 

Page 168



19 
 

been expanded during the last 6 months due to the reduction in statutory work and the 
subsequent increased capacity to offer more diversionary programmes. 
 
During 2021/22 there were 225 Community Resolutions issued to young people in 
Buckinghamshire. Of these, 60 young people were referred to Switch Bucks and 6 were 
engaged by the YOS. This reflects a period of time where voluntary interventions were 
offered only where a second Community Resolution had been received. In response to 
reducing statutory outcomes and increased capacity, the YOS has recently expanded 
the early intervention offer to include all Community Resolutions and the percentage 
engaged will increase as a result. 
 
 
Serious Youth Violence  
 
The YOS is represented on the Thames Valley wide Violence Reduction Unit (VRU) 
Board by the Head of Youth Offending Service for Oxfordshire, who represents Thames 
Valley YOTs at this forum.  
 
Locally, the YOS is part of the Serious Violence Task Force, which is a forum chaired by 
the Corporate Director of Children’s Services and attended by partners key to ensuring 
adherence to the Serious Violence Duty. As such, the YOS is a key partner in delivering 
the Serious Violence Reduction plan for 2022-23. 
 
The Head of Service has joint responsibility for the Missing and Exploitation Hub, and 
the two services work increasingly closely together to ensure children at risk from 
exploitation and serious violence are safeguarded. Recent developments have included: 
 

• Spot purchasing of lived experience mentoring for children open to the Missing 
and Exploitation Hub and identified as at risk of entering the youth justice system. 

• Identification of YOS Officers with lead responsibility for exploitation, who act as 
the link between services and provide consultation to staff. 

• Expansion of YOS prevention offer to include referrals from the Multi Agency 
Child Exploitation (MACE) panel for children at risk of entering the Youth Justice 
System. 

 
 
 
Constructive Resettlement  
 
With custody levels remaining low in Buckinghamshire, the number of young people 
subject to the resettlement process is also low. Of the 3 young people released from 
custodial sentences in 2021/22: 
 

• 1 was immediately arrested and remanded for new offences. 
• 1 was released to a placement outside of Buckinghamshire overseen by another 

YOT. 
• 1 turned 18 whilst in custody and was transferred to adults’ services.  

 
Of the 3 young people completing a period of remand whilst open to the YOS in the same 
period: 
 

Page 169



20 
 

• 1 was transferred to Probation. 
• 1 was released to a placement outside of Buckinghamshire overseen by another 

YOT. 
• 1 was sentenced to custody. 

 
Please note that due to low numbers, an analysis of gender and ethnicity has not been 
possible, as there is the potential for individual young people to be identified from this. 

 
Despite these low numbers – and in anticipation of potential future resettlement needs – 
the YOS has recently developed a comprehensive Resettlement Policy, which clearly 
outlines the expectations for managing any young person released from custody. 
 
 
Restorative Justice  
 
Data is collected across Thames Valley for a local indicator relating to victim 
engagement. This is collated by the Buckinghamshire YOS Performance Review and 
Information Manager and discussed at the Thames Valley YOT Manager’s Meeting. 
Significant work has taken place during 2021/22 to ensure all YOTs are collecting data 
according to the same counting rules and to identify learning from areas that are 
performing particularly well with regard to victim engagement. 
 
 

  Numbers -
Bucks % Bucks % Thames 

Valley 
Total Number of victims identified in 
period 121     

a) Number of victims identified in period 
- Precourt 67     

b) Number of victims identified in period 
- Court 54     

Number of victims where consent to 
contact is given on the YOT1  42 34.7% 49.9% 

Number of victims who accept the 
service from the YOT (where consent 
has been given) 

24 57.1% 65.1% 

Number of victims engaged in indirect 
Restorative Justice / reparation 8 33.3% 50.4% 

Number of victims engaged in direct 
Restorative Justice / reparation 3 12.5% 15.6% 

 
Buckinghamshire YOS are not performing as well as the Thames Valley average across 
all of these areas and work is taking place to address this. This has included: 
 

• Discussions with the Police regarding the levels of consent received to contact 
victims and what the barriers to this may be 

• Plans to deliver refresher training on Restorative Justice to front line staff as part 
of the 2022/23 training plan 

• A Thames Valley wide meeting to consider how “other” victim work is captured, 
including those who receive significant support but do not engage specifically in 
indirect or direct restorative activity. 

Page 170



21 
 

 
All victims who are engaged are asked if they would like to provide feedback on the 
service they have received. Between January and December 2021, 18 victims 
responded, with all of them either satisfied or very satisfied with their involvement with 
the YOS. 

 
Significant resource has been dedicated to delivering Restorative Justice training to other 
professionals within the local area, to help embed the use of a restorative approach 
across a range of agencies. During 2021/22, 70 professionals were trained in RJ 
approaches including social workers / student social workers, residential workers from 
Buckinghamshire care homes, members of Thames Valley Police, staff from Blueprint 
(Pupil Referral Unit), YOS workers, specialists in Child Sexual Exploitation, members of 
staff from Spark2Life, Newly Qualified Social Workers and a Child and Family worker. 
Case studies received following the training have provided tangible evidence of the 
effectiveness of this in de-escalating conflict. 
 
The YOS has also delivered an innovative Peer Mediator training programme in a local 
primary school to 8 young people. The feedback from this has been exceptionally positive 
and the intention is to use this model to spread the restorative approach throughout other 
local schools. 
 
 
9. National Standards  

Buckinghamshire YOS carried out a thorough review of National Standards (NS) in 
March 2020, in line with Youth Justice Board guidance. All areas were self-assessed as 
Good with the exception of the operational element of NS4, which relates specifically to 
secure settings. This was rated as Requires Improvement due to issues in receiving 
assessment stages from the secure estate, which is beyond the control of the YOS. 
However, the service has continued to proactively challenge this process where it has 
not been followed and has sought ways to support improvements, with the aim of 
providing a more cohesive and effective transition for young people between custody and 
the community.  

Following the audit, an action plan was developed. This plan focused on sustaining the 
positive practice identified through the audit and building on it further to ensure young 
people’s needs are effectively met in line with National Standards. Some example actions 
are included below: 
 

• Developing a tracking system to identify whether young people open to the 
School’s Youth Work programme go on to become First Time Entrants within 12 
months of their involvement (NS1). 

• Producing a 6 monthly Quality Report for the YOS Partnership Board to ensure 
full strategic oversight and scrutiny of practice (NS2). 

• Delivery of training for practitioners on Working with Racial/Ethnic Diversity to 
increase their skills in understanding identity and what this means for young 
people (NS3). 

• Escalation to the YJB and Partnership Board where assessments from the secure 
estate are not being received (NS4). 

• Seeking ways to sustain and improve on good practice around transitions to 
Probation in light of the NPS staffing review (NS5). 

Page 171



22 
 

 
All of these actions have been completed. 
 
Whilst the Standards for Children in the Youth Justice System 2019 removed many of 
the prescriptive timescales of previous guidance, locally the YOS have developed 
standards that are reported to the Partnership Board via the Performance Report on a 
bi-monthly basis. These include: 
 

• Assessment timescales – all assessments should be quality assured and 
countersigned within 35 days of report request / sentence / review being opened. 
Between October 2021 and March 2022, 93% of assessments took place within 
this timescale. 

• Frequency of assessment – all statutory interventions should be reviewed at a 
minimum of every 6 months. This measure is taken as a snapshot at the start of 
each month.  As of 6.4.22, 85% of open cases had been reviewed within these 
timescales. 

• Home Visits – home visits should take place within either 14 days before or after 
a start or review assessment being opened. Between October 2021 and March 
2022, 85% of home visits took place within this timescale. 

• Referral Order Panels – panels should take place within 20 working days of 
sentence. Between October 2021 and March 2022, 50% of panels took place 
within this timescale. 

In conjunction with the bi-annual Quality Report, this gives strategic assurance of both 
quantitative and qualitative performance and a key opportunity for challenge if there are 
concerns with operational practice. 

10. Challenges, Risks and Issues  
 
The growing risk to children and young people from criminal exploitation associated with 
organised crime groups involved in drug supply (often referred to as county lines) is now 
well known. Those becoming involved are at increased risk of being both victims and 
perpetrators of serious violence, directly linked to this model of drug supply. These 
children and young people frequently present with multiple, complex vulnerabilities, often 
with a history of trauma and loss, and including exposure to domestic abuse. 
 
Increasing diversion from statutory services means that often children who receive 
informal out of court disposals, or those referred for prevention, present with increasingly 
complex needs. Adapting to this changing landscape presents some challenges to the 
ways in which the YOS works, with a greater focus on proactively seeking ways to offer 
voluntary support, rather than relying on ‘referrals’ from the Police and Courts. For staff, 
this means being flexible enough to be able to work with children at all stages of the 
youth justice system, as well as those not formally in the system. To support this, the 
service has commissioned refresher training on Psychological Formulation and Trauma 
Informed Practice for all staff who occupy front line roles.  
 
The significant over-representation of Black and Mixed heritage children in the youth 
justice system in Buckinghamshire is a significant challenge and is being actively 
addressed as a key strategic priority.  
 

Page 172



23 
 

The challenges of adapting to a hybrid model of working following recovery from the 
pandemic are common to all public services. We believe that in Buckinghamshire the 
flexibility and focus on staff well-being - from the Council and within Children’s Social 
Care - have helped to respond to this challenge.  
 

11. Service Improvement  

The Workforce Development plan for 2022/23 illustrates how the YOS plans to invest 
significantly in staff development. This includes refresher training in Restorative Justice, 
AIM 3 Sexually Harmful Behaviour training, refresher training on Psychological 
Formulations and Trauma-Informed Practice, and Contextual Safeguarding training. 
Places have been offered to staff in the Missing and Exploitation Hub on the latter 3 
events to reflect increasing collaboration between the two teams.  

It is recognised that the changing nature of the work can present challenges to staff in 
regard to how to work holistically, with a shift away from the focus on statutory 
interventions towards a range of prevention interventions and with increasing complexity 
at an earlier stage. Increasing knowledge and skills in regard to trauma informed practice, 
psychological formulations and contextual safeguarding is designed to increase 
confidence and effectiveness in working holistically.  

Following the HMIP thematic review of the Experience of Black and Mixed Heritage Boys, 
published in October 2021, the following pieces of work are planned for delivery in 
2022/23: 

• Board members to share data on key areas identified as being disproportionately 
experienced by Black and Mixed heritage boys. 

• Provision of youth work resource to work with Black and Mixed heritage boys at 
risk of exclusion. 

• Work with Buckinghamshire University to carry out research into the experiences 
of Black and Mixed Heritage children who have accessed service from the YOS. 

During 2021/22 there was a Critical Learning Review undertaken. Although this was 
triggered prior to the reintroduction of mandatory reporting to the YJB, a full report and 
action plan was produced. Learning was shared with the Partnership Board. The specific 
details are not included within this plan due to potential identifiable information. 

In December 2021, OFSTED carried out an Inspection of Local Authority Children’s 
Services for Buckinghamshire. The overall rating was Requires Improvement, having 
previously been rated as Inadequate. Following publication of the report, 
Buckinghamshire Children’s Social Care have produced a comprehensive Improvement 
Plan. The following actions are contained within that plan and are directly relevant to the 
Youth Offending Service: 
 

• Recruit a detached youth worker able to work out of hours, primarily with children 
at risk of criminal exploitation.  

• Develop the MACE (Multi-Agency Child Exploitation) meeting to collate data on 
the specific locations where exploitation takes place, so data on themes and 
trends can be shared across partners in Early Help and Community Safety, in 
order to increase prevention and disruption activity.  

Page 173



24 
 

• Undertake a review with Children in Care, YOS and Exploitation Hub to consider 
whether any targeted work can be identified based on the profile of young people 
to identify the early signs and indicators that might reduce the risks. 

• Conduct a Contextual Safeguarding pilot to evaluate the effectiveness of using an 
Extra Familial Harm category of child protection. 

 

12. Evidence-based Practice and Innovation  
 
Following the findings of the HMIP thematic review of the Experiences of Black and Mixed 
Heritage Boys, the YOS are in the planning phase of commissioning Buckinghamshire 
University to undertake research on the experiences of Black and Mixed Heritage 
children and young people who have worked with the YOS. The findings of this will be 
delivered to the Partnership Board and used to improve services, both within the YOS 
and partner agencies. 
 
In 2021/22 the YOS hosted a post graduate University placement for a student studying 
towards an MSc in Applied Forensic Psychology and Counselling. The dissertation 
involved the creation of a parenting assessment for use with parents of children open to 
youth justice services. This is being launched for use with parents of children who have 
received Court Orders and will be evaluated for impact after a 6 month trial period.  
 
Both projects funded by the Police and Crime Commissioner – the YOS Multi-Agency 
Schools project and the YOS Community Coaching Project – require robust data returns 
and evidence of impact. Both are funded to continue until 2025. Section 7 of this plan 
provides a detailed outline of the impact of each project.  
 
The YOS has also invested in delivering Restorative Justice training to partners as well 
as peer mediator training in schools. This is also outlined in more detail in section 7. 

13. Looking forward  
The following table captures key areas of development over the next 12 months, which 
will feed into the wider, more detailed operational plan for the service: 
 
 

Addressing Over-Representation 

Provide Youth Work resource to schools to support Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic children at risk of 
exclusion 
 
Deliver mentoring support to children to support transition from year 6 to 7 
 
Deliver mentoring support to parents of children who are transitioning from year 6 to 7 
 
Share regular data on drivers for disproportionality with the YOS Board to guide partnership work 
 

Addressing Exploitation of Young People 
 
 

Commission mentoring support for children and young people at risk of exploitation from those with lived 
experience  
 

Page 174



25 
 

Increase scope of YOS Prevention work for those at risk of exploitation 
 
Deliver Contextual Safeguarding training for all front line practitioners 
 
Deliver additional Youth Work resource to Pupil Referral Units to support children missing education  
 

Embedding Evidence Based Practice 
 

Commission research from Buckinghamshire University on the experience of Black and Mixed heritage 
children and young people 
 
Deliver refresher training on Psychological Formulations and Trauma-Informed Practice to all front line 
practitioners 
 
Deliver refresher Restorative Justice training to all front line practitioners  
 
Continue to provide Youth Work provision in 16 identified schools 
 
Increase numbers of professionals from other agencies trained in Restorative Approaches 
 

 

14. Sign off, submission and approval  
Chair of YJS Board - name  
 

Superintendent Rebecca Mears, Area 
Commander Aylesbury Vale, Thames 
Valley Police 
 

Signature 
 

 
 
 

Date 
 

 
30th June 2022 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 175



26 
 

15. Appendix 1 – Service Structure Chart 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
   

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

. 
Business Support 

Administrator

Reparation/
Unpaid Work 

Officer

Mental Health 
Worker

SALT

Liaison and 
Diversion

Business Support 
Administrator

 EI & RJ Co-ordinator

Police Officer - 
Wycombe

Deputy Service Manager

Performance Review & 
Information Manager

Business Support 
Officer

Team Manager (North)

YOS Officer

YOS Officer 

Education Officer

     YOS Officer

Business Support 
Co-ordinator

(external post)

Switch Bucks
Youth Support Worker

Volunteers

Interim Assistant Director for Quality 
Standards and Performance

(external post)

  Youth Worker

YOS Officer

YOS Officer

Senior 
Practitioner

YOS Officer

YOS Officer

Seconded 
Probation 

Officer

     
YOS Officer

YOS Officer

EI Officer

Youth Worker
    

Youth Worker

Team Manager (South) Police Officer – 
Aylesbury

RJ Officer

Information 
Officer

YOS Interim Head of Service

Seconded BHT 
Specialist Nurse 

Seconded BHT 
Specialist Nurse 

Interim Service Director, Children’s 
Social Care

(external post)

P
age 176



 

 

Report to Cabinet  
Date:   11th October 2022 

Title:   Little Marlow Lakes Country Park 

Cabinet Member(s):   Cllr Strachan and Cllr Harriss 

Contact officer:   Steve Bambrick 

Ward(s) affected:  Flackwell Heath, Little Marlow and Marlow South-East 

Recommendations:  For Cabinet to consider and note the contents of this 
report. It is recommended that Cabinet: 

• Consider the report and note the lack of formal designation for Little Marlow Lakes 
Country Park; and 

• Agree in principle and authorise the Service Director of Culture, Sport and Leisure in 
consultation with the Cabinet Members for Affordable Housing & Resources; and Culture 
& Leisure to develop a scheme and pursue formal designation of land within the Council’s 
ownership as a Country Park which as a minimum would be a Suitable Alternative Natural 
Greenspace (SANG) compliant facility; and 

• Agree not to pursue formal designation to regularise the status of the whole area 
allocated in the Wycombe Local Plan (RUR4) as a Country Park as part of the initial phase 
of delivery but instead to retain a commitment to the wider Country Park as and when 
circumstances and resources permit; and 

• Delegate to the Service Directors of Property and Assets and Culture, Sport and Leisure in 
consultation with the Cabinet Members for Affordable Housing & Resources; and Culture 
& Leisure, the authority to agree a suitable business plan and operating model for the 
Country Park which ensures the facility is delivered as a cost neutral enterprise. The 
business plan to be brought back to Cabinet for approval; and  

• Delegate to the Directors of Property and Assets and Planning and Environment in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Affordable Housing & Resources authority to 
negotiate and agree a suitable restoration plan in consultation with Natural England for 
the Spade Oak Lake site which would be SANG compliant; and 

Page 177

Agenda Item 11



 

 

• Note the planning and enforcement strategy that may be required in order to protect the 
Local Planning Authority position and to facilitate an amended restoration plan at Spade 
Oak Lake. 

• Delegate to the Service Director of Property and Assets in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Affordable Housing and Resources and S151 Officer to negotiate and agree 
funding for the Country Park from S106 monies as set out in this report.  

• Delegate to the Director of Property and Assets in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Affordable Housing and Resources authority to enter into negotiations with 
the Thameside Preservation Trust on terms that would see the Country Park proposed in 
this report to include both pieces of land set out in the Appendix. 

 

1. Executive summary 

1.1 This report concerns land between Globe Park/A404 Marlow and Bourne End, 
bounded to the south by the River Thames and to the north by the A4155.  The area 
is washed over by Green Belt designation, most of it - including the former Gravel Yard 
at Spade Oak Lake (and the proposed Marlow Film Studios site at Westhorpe) - is 
former landfill, or former gravel pits. The area is dominated by Thames Water’s large 
sewage works (which uses the Council’s Muschallick Road, which also serves the 
former Gravel Yard, for frequent HGV access).   

2. Content of report 

2.1 Proposals to create a Country Park within the area were first made in the 1960s, but 
neither the former Wycombe District (WDC) nor Buckinghamshire County Council 
(BCC) have taken any measures to progress the proposal since their joint publication 
and approval of the Little Marlow Gravel Pit Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) 
in 2002; until 2019, when the Council acquired Spade Oak Lake at the eastern end of 
the area. Prior to that, the Council’s only land interest in the area was as Trustee of 
Spade Oak Wharf Trust (now Thameside Preservation Trust), which owns a small 
section of river frontage to the south of Spade Oak Lake; as leaseholder of land at 
Westhorpe Farm Lane, on which an athletics track was developed (in about 2018); 
and freeholder of part of the rugby pitches at the western end of the area. 

2.2 In October 2017, following a recommendation from WDC Cabinet, WDC Council 
resolved to provide a Country Park under s.7(1) of the Countryside Act 1968 to be 
known as ‘Little Marlow Lakes Country Park’, and delegated to the Head of Community 
Services in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Community Services, the 
facilitation of delivery of the park. The Resolution was not however, by itself, 
sufficient. 

Page 178



 

 

2.3 The area of land to be designated as a Country Park was and continues to be in 
multiple ownerships, with the Council owning around 16%. For the designation to be 
effective, working arrangements with the other owners are required, potentially 
through a Memorandum of Agreement. This was reflected and acknowledged in the 
WDC Cabinet report but has not been done and, as such, the designation is not 
completed.  

2.4 Public perception, in part is that the designation as a Country Park is already effective, 
through press statements at the time and statements submitted to the WDC Local 
Plan examination by organisations such as Little Marlow Country Lakes Country Park 
Community Partnership, whose membership includes: Little Marlow Parish Council , 
The Marlow Society, Chiltern Society, and Chiltern Rangers, together with 
environmental groups and residents associations.  

2.5 Little initiative has been taken to facilitate and progress development of the Country 
Park since publication of the SPG in 2002. Recently, Little Marlow Parish Council has 
established a working group to undertake a project that aims to produce a vision for 
the park and have recently applied for a grant from the SW Chilterns Community 
Board to fund this. The Country Park has a web site, a Facebook page and appears in 
Wikipedia and on Trip Adviser - it is not known who owns/operates these. 

2.6 The illustration below (prepared in 2021 by Dido) indicates the total extent of the land 
and the land owned by the Council, and by other parties. 

 

2.7 Given that no formal steps have been taken to formally designate the Little Marlow 
Lakes Country Park. The Council should first consider whether there is any merit in 
proceeding with the WDC resolution and legacy policy to create a Country Park 
across the 329ha site. 

2.8 The steps required to proceed will involve negotiations with existing landowners, 
most of whom will expect some form of compensation in return for their agreement.  

Page 179



 

 

Even then, there can be no guarantee that the landowners will agree at which point 
the project may be deemed to be undeliverable. 

2.9 In addition, the Council currently has made no budget provision for either landowner 
compensation or for the revenue cost of operating a new Country Park in this 
location.  Current Buckinghamshire Council Country Parks cost between £1500 and 
£2000 per acre per year to manage depending on the site, infrastructure, and visitor 
numbers.    For the whole area (329ha) the costs are estimated to be between 
£1.22m and £1.62m per annum. However, given that the Council will only be directly 
responsible for the management and maintenance of the land it owns the Councils 
liability could be between £135.4k and £180.6k.  The other landowners may 
challenge this as the designation could lead them to incur additional management & 
maintenance costs resulting from public access on their land. 

2.10 The Council’s current policy requires Country Parks to be self-funded and therefore 
income generating facilities (significant chargeable car park, catering, indoor 
facilities, toilets and play facilities as a minimum) would be required to maintain this 
operational status. 

2.11 Therefore, provided a cost neutral solution could be delivered, a further option for 
the Council would be to consider delivering a Country Park on land that is just within 
the Council’s ownership or control. 

2.12 Following a solicitor’s enquiry regarding the status of the Country Park, Counsel’s 
opinion has been sought as to the risks to the Council in Planning terms, because of 
the lack of a formal designation.  

2.13 The advice received is that the impact on Planning Policy is likely to be limited. The 
Local Plan does not purport to make the Site a Country Park. The Site is designated 
Green Belt and adjacent to the AONB, and any challenge to the policy would now be 
out of time. It is therefore considered that developers would only be able to argue 
that the policy should be accorded reduced weight as it was conceived on the 
understanding that the site was a Country Park. However, Counsel’s view is such 
arguments would be given little weight given the long-standing allocation of the site 
for outdoor recreation and, moreover, any such developer would also have to 
address the Green Belt issue.  The text of the policy itself allocates the site for 
outdoor recreation, although importantly it is proposed that the Country Park should 
act as an alternative leisure destination to the nearby Burnham Beeches Special Area 
of Conservation (SAC)(see RUR4 attached).  This aspect is key to understanding the 
future potential uses of the site. 

2.14 In preparing the Wycombe Local Plan, the Council needed to demonstrate that 
developments allocated in that plan, such as the Hollands Farm and Slate Meadow in 
Bourne End would not have an adverse impact on the European Protected Habitat at 
Burnham Beeches. This meant that the plan needed to undertake an Appropriate 

Page 180



 

 

Assessment to satisfy Natural England that residents of the new developments had a 
suitable alternative natural greenspace (known as a SANG) to use rather than to 
increase the recreational burden on Burnham Beeches. 

2.15 The Appropriate Assessment that was completed did not rely on this area becoming 
a designated Country Park, but there was an expectation that the area would be 
available and used for public recreational purposes as an alternative country park 
destination, in other words, a SANG;  

5.5.22 of adopted local plan "by providing an alternative local Country Park 
destination, improvement to the park provide an opportunity to off-set the impacts 
of proposed housing growth...." 

2.16 The definition of what would make an area SANG compliant (in line with Country 
Park accreditation) is attached as an Appendix to this report. 

2.17 It should also be noted that the Appropriate Assessment supporting the adopted 
development brief for the Hollands Farm allocation identified a number of mitigation 
measures on existing public rights of way that would make access to the Country 
Park SANG compliant.  

2.18 If the Council fails to make any land available for recreational purposes, we could no 
longer rely on this site to mitigate the likely adverse impacts on the SAC. This would 
lead to restrictions in being able to approve at least one site allocated in the 
Wycombe Local Plan and possibly more, impacting on the Council’s 5-year Housing 
Land Supply and increasing the risk of speculative development proposals.  

2.19 The officer assessment of the position is that a suitable area should be provided to 
support the delivery of a SANG in this area.  It is not essential that a formal 
designated Country Park be provided but a SANG compliant greenspace is essential, 
in accordance with Natural England’s requirements, if the assumptions made when 
preparing the Local Plan can continue to be supported.   

2.20 The area of land that should be made SANG compliant will need to be defined in 
consultation with Natural England in order to provide assurance that the site will be 
delivered in a reasonable timescale, it would best be provided by the Council 
resolving to use its own land holdings (55ha) for such a purpose. Much of the land 
that the Council owns in this area, namely the former Gravel Yard at Spade Oak Lake, 
is the subject of a restoration planning condition to return the site to a nature 
reserve.  This condition is currently in breach and needs to be complied with by the 
end of the year (December 2022). 

2.21 A new planning application is therefore likely to be required to secure amendments 
to the approved restoration scheme so that a Country Park or SANG compliant 
solution can be delivered, in accordance with Natural England’s requirements.  In the 
meantime, it may be necessary to serve an enforcement notice on the site (to 

Page 181



 

 

prevent any immunity from enforcement accruing) and to protect the planning 
authority’s position, noting we have received complaints regarding the breach from 
residents.  However, any such notice can still have a suitably extended compliance 
period to recognise the work required to deliver a SANG or Country Park.  

2.22 The total land (329ha) that is proposed to be provided as the Country Park is entirely 
within the Green Belt. It therefore has very limited development potential. Much of 
it is also in the flood plain, and has previous gravel workings, with the lakes now 
used for recreation and inhabited by wildlife. Virtually all the land is in private 
ownership. The site is currently identified as a Country Park under Policy RUR4 (Little 
Marlow Lakes Country Park) of the Wycombe District Local Plan (adopted August 
2019). There is little benefit, from a landowner’s viewpoint, to the formal 
designation beyond any compensation negotiated through an MOU.  

2.23 The Council is the owner of some land within the area proposed to be designated 
and as it stands cannot properly rely on powers in the 1968 Act with regards to 
Country Parks without formal designation. For example, the power to extend, 
maintain and manage a  Country Park and; (a) to lay out, plant and improve the site, 
and to erect buildings and carry out works; (b) to provide facilities and services for 
the enjoyment or convenience of the public, including meals and refreshments, 
parking places for vehicles, shelters and  lavatory accommodation; and (c) to provide 
facilities and services for open-air recreation (section 7(2)) or the specific powers in 
relation to sailing, boating, bathing or fishing under section 8 of the 1968 Act). 

2.24  Planning applications have been made on part of the Council’s land holding in this 
area to facilitate a temporary use involving vehicle storage.  If allowed this 
temporary use would be worth circa £1m over the next 5 years.  However, whilst this 
application has not yet been determined, the current assessment by the Planning 
Service, is that the use would represent inappropriate development in the Green 
Belt and there are no special circumstances to justify approval.  This report does not 
pass comment on this current proposal as it will be determined by the appropriate 
planning committee in due course. 

A Country Park can be designated and accredited by Natural England with a minimum 
of 10ha.  Therefore, it is possible for the Council to resolve that instead of progressing 
the wider Country Park, as envisaged in the Local Plan, it could deliver a more modest 
Country Park option on land that is owned by the Council.  Delivering this option would 
enable the Council to benefit from the powers conferred by the 1968 Act and would 
allow for the proper planning of the area, by developing income generating 
opportunities to make the endeavour cost neutral.  Delivering the smaller area as a 
first phases would not change the Local Plan allocation and would not rule out the 
future expansion of the site to cover the whole of the RUR4 area, nor would it rule out 
improvements to adjacent footpaths to improve accessibility in the area, albeit any 
additional areas of land to be added would need to be the subject of a future Cabinet 

Page 182



 

 

decision.  In the meantime, the local Community Board has expressed an interest in 
developing a vision for the wider Country Park area.  Whilst this cannot be binding 
upon any future Council decision, it could be informative to any future direction for 
this area. 

3. Other options considered  

3.1 If the Council chose not to implement a Country Park of any sort, in order to support 
the strategy within the Local Plan then a SANG compliant space would still need to 
be provided.  This would almost certainly have to be on Council owned land and 
whilst would benefit from S106 funding for delivery and ongoing maintenance, 
would offer limited opportunity for generating future income streams given the lack 
of benefit if the power s from the 1968 Act 

3.2 As referred to earlier in this report, there is also a restoration condition on this site, 
from the previous gravel workings, that is not yet complied with.  The Council could 
therefore seek to amend the restoration plan to achieve an outcome which would 
more closely resemble a facility that would satisfy the broader planning 
requirements for the area. 

4. Legal and financial implications 

4.1 The formal provision of this 329ha site as a Country Park requires every owner of 
land within the designated area to enter a MOU to confirm their agreement. The 
owners can provide this agreement freely or on terms which can include the 
payment of monies.  At this stage it is not known how many landowners would be 
affected or what their position on agreement would be.   

4.2 In the development of the Wycombe Local Plan, Natural England identified that 
Burnham Beeches – a Site of Special Scientific Interest, a National Nature Reserve and 
a Special Area of Conservation – is subject to increasing levels of visitor pressure. As a 
result, Natural England sought provision of Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace 
(SANG) to mitigate the impacts on Burnham Beeches.  The Council has secured 
agreement from Natural England that a satisfactory solution to this would be that the 
Council seeks contributions from the development of allocated sites in Bourne End to 
increase the accessibility to the Little Marlow Lakes area to mitigate recreational 
impacts on Burnham Beeches.   This is expected to generate more than £1m in Section 
106 contributions from those housing sites allocated in the Local Plan.  There is also 
existing Section 106 budgets for signage (c£30K) and ‘Improvement of visitor facilities’ 
(c£130K).   

4.3 Providing additional facilities in the Little Marlow Lakes area to these mitigation 
measures could also be funded through CIL, should the Council give this priority in 
future funding cycles.  As part of the original Appropriate Assessment undertaken by 

Page 183



 

 

Wycombe District Council in preparing the Local Plan, an assumption was made that 
future CIL receipts would be invested in the delivery of the recreational facility in this 
area. This is however not binding on Buckinghamshire Council. 

4.4 Therefore, whilst a detailed business case has yet to be prepared, it is entirely feasible 
that the Council could deliver a SANG compliant Country Park on its land holdings by 
utilising these available funds and not introducing a significant additional revenue 
burden. 

4.5 However, the Council’s ownership of Spade Oak Lake carries the burden of outgoings, 
to maintain public access. There is limited potential for ‘enabling development’, to 
generate funding to improve the area due to the policy constraints noting that this 
site is in the Green Belt. In the past however temporary uses of the Lake’s former 
gravel processing/concrete batching plant area, as a Star Wars film set, was pursued, 
generating significant revenue. 

4.6 Two other proposed third-party developments are also ongoing: 

• Marlow Film Studios 

• Marlow Sports Hub 

4.7  Both are contentious in the eyes of Little Marlow residents, but both offer 
considerable scope for further Section 106 contributions towards the improvement of 
the area, including the opportunity for the Council to buy-in the freehold of its 
athletics track and thereby reduce its revenue cost. Nevertheless, as set out above this 
site is designated Green Belt and adjacent to the AONB and as such there several policy 
constraints which is a key consideration in relation to further development.  

4.8 There was also a £0.5m capital budget that came with the acquisition of Spade Oak 
Lake, which is being used to improve the Perimeter Path and to lay on utilities.  
 

4.9 Property & Assets budgets had previously assumed ongoing revenue income of £150k 
pa would come forward from Spade Oak.  This paper sets out a proposal that the 
facility is delivered as a cost neutral enterprise; income generated from the site would 
need to be reinvested in running costs, and will not be available to meet Property’s 
Rental Income target.  Property & Assets will therefore need to make up the difference 
with other lettings.   
 

4.10 Little Marlow Lakes Country Park Community Partnership has the benefit of a Thames 
Water Utilities grant of £0.45m (an Environment Agency fine for a spillage).  Property 
colleagues are in discussion about them using BBOWT (Bucks Berks Oxon Wildlife 
Trust) as the recipient, to undertake habitat improvement works to The Spit, circa 8 
ha island in the middle of the Council’s Spade Oak Lake, that is informally recognised 
as a bird sanctuary. 

4.11 The Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 (S 85) imposes a general duty on public 

Page 184



 

 

bodies which requires the Council, to have regard to the purpose of conserving and 
enhancing the natural beauty of an area of outstanding natural beauty when 
exercising or performing any functions in relation to, or so as to affect, land in an area 
of outstanding natural beauty. The land lies between the Chilterns AONB and the River 
Thames and therefore regard should be had to this in consideration of this matter. 

5. Corporate implications  

5.1 Any corporate implications have been included within the report. 

6. Local councillors & community boards consultation & views 

6.1 A consultation/information session was held with all three ward members on 31st 
March 2022.  This meeting was chaired by the (then) cabinet member, Cllr Williams.  
The ward members were disappointed to learn that the Country Park had not been 
properly made and were keen to stress the importance of delivering a Country Park 
in this location.  They were also keen to point out the relationship between the 
delivery of a Country Park and the Wycombe Local Plan.   

6.2 The Service Director of Planning and Environment has also met with Cllr Wilson (The 
Wooburns, Bourne End & Hedsor) to explain the current situation.  His interest 
relates to the fact that the Hollands Farm site is in his ward.  He has also asked 
questions at Cabinet and Council about the Country Park and continues to press for a 
resolution. 

6.3 A further meeting with all of the affected local members was held on 5th September 
2022.  It was agreed to give the local members prior access to this Cabinet report 
and to report their views directly to Cabinet. 

7. Communication, engagement & further consultation  

7.1 No further engagement has taken place although a communications plan will be 
prepared to accompany any future Cabinet decision. 

8. Next steps and review  

8.1 Having considered all of the options, whilst acknowledging the ambition, in time, to 
create a Country Park which reflect the area of land allocated in the Wycombe Local 
Plan (Policy RUR4), it is not recommended that the Council seeks to pursue the 
formal designation of the wider (329ha) site as the Little Marlow Country Park at this 
time.  However, it is recognised given the reliance placed on the designation in the 
adopted Local Plan, it is essential that a facility in this area is eventually provided.  

Page 185



 

 

The facility must be SANG compliant and will need to be implemented in close 
consultation with Natural England. 

8.2 The greatest opportunity, in terms of delivery but also in terms of potential income 
generation to support a cost neutral venture would be for the Council to pursue an 
appropriately sized Country Park on land within its ownership in this location. 

8.3 Such a facility could be operated and managed by the Council’s Country Parks team 
but given the considerable local community interest in operating a facility in this 
area, it will be appropriate to consider the future management arrangements as part 
of a future Cabinet/Leader decision. 

9. Background papers  

9.1 None 

10. Your questions and views (for key decisions) 

10.1 If you have any questions about the matters contained in this report please get in 
touch with the author of this report. If you have any views that you would like the 
cabinet member to consider please inform the democratic services team. This can be 
done by telephone [01296 382343] or email [democracy@buckinghamshire.gov.uk] 

 

Page 186



 

Page 187

Appendix 



This page is intentionally left blank



SANG – 01 04 2021 Country Park  - 02 10 2014 
Must/Should haves Essential Criteria 

1. For all sites larger than 4 ha there 
must be adequate parking for visitors, 
unless the site is intended for local 
use, i.e. within easy walking distance 
of the developments linked to it. The 
amount of car parking should be 
determined by the anticipated use of 
the site and reflect the visitor 
catchment of both the SANG and the 
SPA. 

• at least 10 hectares in size 

2. It should be possible to complete a 
circular walk of 2.3 – 2.5 km around 
the SANG. 

• defined by a clear boundary – marked 
on a map, whether it’s open or fenced 
in 

3. Car parks must be easily and safely 
accessible by car and should be clearly 
sign posted. 

• accessible – less than 10 miles from a 
residential area 

4. The accessibility of the site must 
include access points appropriate for 
the particular visitor use the SANG is 
intended to cater for. 

• free to enter 

5. The SANG must have a safe route of 
access on foot from the nearest car 
park and/or footpaths. 

• inclusive and accessible – show how 
you’ve met equality and disability 
needs and provided for varied groups 

6. All SANGs with car parks must have a 
circular walk which starts and finishes 
at the car park. 

• predominantly natural or semi-natural 
landscape, for example woodland, 
grassland, wetland, heathland or 
parkland, with no more than 5% of the 
area built upon (excluding car parks) 

7. SANGs must be designed so that they 
are perceived to be safe by users: they 
must not have tree and scrub covering 
parts of the walking routes. 

• signposted and easy to navigate – you 
should show visitors where they can go, 
what they can do and direct them along 
footpaths, bridleways and cycle routes 

8. Paths must be easily used and well-
maintained but most should remain 
unsurfaced to avoid the site becoming 
urban in feel. 

• visibly staffed, for example litter 
collection and maintenance 

9. SANGs must be perceived as semi-
natural spaces with little intrusion of 
artificial structures except in the 
immediate vicinity of car parks. 
Visually sensitive way-markers and 
some benches are acceptable. 

• available for public or educational 
events 

Page 189

Appendix 



10. All SANGs larger than 12 ha must aim 
to provide a variety of habitats for 
users to experience. 

• near public toilets – either on-site or a 
2 minute walk away 

11. Access within the SANG must be 
largely unrestricted with plenty of 
space provided where it is possible for 
dogs to exercise freely and safely off 
lead. 

• informed by the local community – the 
public should have some influence over 
the management and development of 
your site 

12. SANGs must be free from unpleasant 
intrusions (e.g. sewage treatment 
works smells, etc.). 

13. SANGs should be clearly sign-posted 
or advertised in some way. 

14. SANGs should have leaflets 
and/or websites advertising 
their location to potential 
users. It would be desirable 
for leaflets to be distributed 
to new homes in the area and 
be made available at entrance 
points and at car parks. 

 

 

Desirable • Desirable Criteria 

15. The ability of owners to take dogs 
from the car park to the SANG safely 
off the lead. 

• a visitor centre 

16. Where possible, choose sites with a 
gently undulating topography. 

• play facilities 

17. Access points to have signage 
outlining the layout of the SANG and 
the routes available to visitors. 

• catering 

18. To provide a naturalistic space with 
areas of open (non-wooded) 
countryside and areas of dense and 
scattered trees and shrubs. The 
provision of open water on part, but 
not the majority of sites is desirable. 

• bike and horse trails 

19. Where possible, to have a focal point 
such as a viewpoint, monument etc. 
within the SANG. 

• art and sculpture 

• permanent staff presence during the 
day 

 

• detailed information available to 
visitors, such as leaflets 

Page 190



• brown and white tourist directional 
signs and shown on an OS map 

• activities outside, such as water sports 
and adventure sports 

• achieved, or is working towards, Green 
Flag Award (GFA) status 

• a green transport policy, such as buses 
and cycle routes to your site 

• facilities for less able visitors, such as 
easy trails, seats and information 
available in accessible formats 

• planned for the management of 
biodiversity, geodiversity and 
preservation of historical environment 

• opportunities for practical community 
involvement, such as volunteering 

• promoted the health benefits of 
walking 

• an outreach programme promoting 
your site to less represented sectors of 
the community 

• a programme of events and guided 
walks, promoting healthy living and 
environmental awareness 

• a visitor centre 

The wording in the lists above are precise 
and have the following meaning: 

• Requirements referred to as “must” or 
“should haves” are essential 

• SANGs should have at least one of the 
“desirable” features. 

 

 

 

 

Simon Meecham 13 04 2022 

Page 191

http://www.greenflagaward.org.uk/
http://www.greenflagaward.org.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



P
age 193

A
ppendix 



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Report to Cabinet  
Date:  11th October 2022 

Title:  E-scooter trial extension (until May 2024) 

Cabinet Member(s):   Councillor Steve Broadbent, Cabinet Member for Transport 

Contact officer:   Hannah Joyce, Head of Transport Strategy 

Ward(s) affected:  Abbey; Aston Clinton & Bierton; Aylesbury East; Aylesbury North; 
Aylesbury North West; Aylesbury South East; Aylesbury South West; 
Aylesbury West; Booker, Cressex & Castlefield; Downley; Hazlemere; 
Ryemead & Micklefield; Stone & Waddesdon; Terriers & Amersham Hill; 
The Risboroughs; Totteridge & Bowerdean; Tylers Green & Loudwater; 
West Wycombe; Wing. 

Recommendations:  To extend the end date for the e-scooter trials taking place in 
Aylesbury, High Wycombe and Princes Risborough until May 
2024, as part of the national trial. 

Reason for decision:  The Department for Transport (DfT) has extended the national e-
scooter trial to continue their assessment of impacts and allow 
legislation to be put in place to legalise e-scooters. The Council 
therefore needs to decide whether to extend its trials as part of 
the national trial. 

 

 

1. Executive summary 

1.1 The continuation of the e-scooter trials supports the Council’s ambitions to be a 
‘living lab’ for innovation. The scheme also supports the Council’s Climate Change 
and Air Quality Strategy by promoting sustainable low-carbon transport alternatives 
for shorter trips.  The e-scooter trial is managed at zero cost to the Council as they 
will be run as a private business by an operator. 

Page 195

Agenda Item 12



 

 

1.2 This paper seeks approval for Buckinghamshire Council to extend the current e-
scooter rental trial schemes in Aylesbury, High Wycombe and Princes Risborough. 
This would extend the trial period from November 2022 to May 2024.  

1.3 The e-scooter trial is facilitated by the DfT and the Council is therefore required to 
inform DfT of our decision by 31st October 2022. In order to meet this date a decision 
is required at the 11th October Cabinet meeting. 

1.4 There have been over 191,000 rides in Buckinghamshire since the trials began in 
2020.  In contrast, there have been only four reported health and safety incidents 
across the Buckinghamshire schemes, equating to 0.002% of all rides.  However, it is 
acknowledged that a handful of these incidents have received media attention, 
which has resulted in mixed opinions on the safety of e-scooters. 

1.5 The extension of the trial enables the DfT to gather additional usage data post-
COVID, providing a better understanding of ‘normal’ use patterns.  The extension 
also allows the DfT time to finalise legislation making all e-scooters road-legal, 
whether privately owned or part of a hire scheme.  

1.6 Subject to agreement to extend the e-scooter trial, we would continue using Zipp 
Mobility as our preferred operator for e-scooters. The council has a good 
relationship with this supplier, and they have proven fundamental to the success of 
the trial schemes so far. This scheme is zero cost to the Council financially. Due to 
the overall value of this concession contract, we intend to use a waiver to extend the 
contract we already have in place with Zipp to May 2024.    

 

2. Content of report 

Commitment to active travel and trial of innovative forms of transport 

2.1 The continuation of the e-scooter trials supports the Council’s ambitions to be a 
‘living lab’ for innovation.  

2.2 The scheme also supports the Council’s Climate Change and Air Quality Strategy1 by 
promoting sustainable low-carbon transport alternatives for shorter trips. 

Background to the e-scooter trials 

2.3 To support a ‘green’ restart of local travel and help mitigate reduced public transport 
capacity as a result of COVID-19, the DfT fast tracked trials of rental e-scooters. It 
was considered that e-scooters could offer the potential for fast, clean, and 

 
1 https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/environment/sustainability-and-climate-change/energy-and-climate-
change/the-climate-change-and-air-quality-strategy/climate-change-and-air-quality-strategy/ 

Page 196



 

 

inexpensive travel option that could also help ease the burden on transport 
networks and allow for social distancing.  

2.4 The DfT strategic objectives for the trials are: 

• To evaluate safety for riders, other road users and the community 

• To measure the transport mode shift 

• To contribute towards Buckinghamshire’s ambition to improve air quality 
and reduce carbon emissions 

• To evaluate the effectiveness of e-scooters as a new transport mode 

• To evaluate how local characteristics impact on the trial   

2.5 More detail on how our trial is meeting these objectives can be found in Appendix 1 

2.6 The Electric Scooter Trials and Traffic Signs (Coronavirus) Regulations and General 
Directions 2020 came into force on 4th July 2020 to facilitate the e-scooter trials. 
Buckinghamshire launched its trial sites in Aylesbury and High Wycombe later that 
year and Princes Risborough was added in May 2021. A competitive procurement 
process resulted in the selection of Zipp Mobility as the preferred operator. 

2.7 The purpose of the trials is to build robust evidence about the safety, benefits, public 
perceptions, and wider impacts of e-scooters to inform the possible future, 
permanent, legalisation of e-scooters in England.  At present only e-scooters 
participating in the trials are officially classed as legal to use on the highway. 
Privately-owned e-scooters are still considered illegal. The key elements of the DfT 
trials are set out in Appendix 2. 

The future of e-scooters 

2.8 As announced in the Queen’s speech on the 10th May 2022, the Government intends 
to create a new ‘low-speed, zero-emission vehicle’ (LZEV) category which is 
independent from the cycle and motor vehicle categories, covering both new 
vehicles that are familiar to us today, such as e-scooters, and vehicles that have yet 
to be invented.   

2.9 New powers, to be set out in the forthcoming Transport Bill, will establish how these 
vehicles are regulated to ensure the safety of e-scooter users, pedestrians, and other 
road users, whilst still facilitating growth and innovation.  

2.10 The DfT have extended the period of the e-scooter trials to end in May 2024 to 
enable further monitoring of the impacts at trial sites and to enable this legislation 
to be passed. We are required to inform DfT of our decision to continue our trials by 
31st October 2022. It is not permitted to extend the trials beyond their current 
geographic areas. 

Page 197



 

 

2.11 The relevant Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) in Buckinghamshire requires the TRO to 
end when “the e-scooter trials [and/or the e-scooter pilot scheme] as authorised [or 
to be authorised], by the Department for Transport comes to an end.” This means 
that the order will cease to be effective when the trials end in May 2024.  

2.12 Longer term, should Government legalise e-scooter, consideration will be needed 
regarding the future of rental e-scooters in Buckinghamshire. There are significant 
benefits to maintaining our own e-scooters in that we then have control over the 
location of rides (through geo-fencing), the speed of the e-scooters and can use the 
data generated to analyse and improve  popular routes (see Appendix 3 for most 
popular routes by town). However, demand for rental e-scooters may drop 
significantly making them unprofitable and therefore requiring public subsidy to 
maintain. 

 

3. Other options considered  

3.1 The extension of the e-scooter trial is voluntary. The Council could decide not to 
extend the trial, or to only extend the trial in one (or more) of the existing areas, 
beyond the current end point of 30th November 2022. The Council has received 
complaints concerning anti-social behaviour, with some local members in High 
Wycombe opposed to the trial continuing (see section 6). 

3.2 Ending the e-scooter trials would mean the loss of a popular, alternative, innovative, 
and very visible form of transport. There would also be the loss of local employment 
– the e-scooter company’s operational base is in High Wycombe and the scheme 
employs 15 people. 

3.3 The Council completed a rigorous procurement process at the beginning of the trial, 
with 12 respondents. The projected revenue is not due to exceed the thresholds 
outlined in the Concession Contracts Regulations and there is an opportunity to 
reassess our future as an e-scooter hire facilitator following their legalisation (ahead 
of May 2024).   

3.4 However, if we were to go out to procurement now rather than continue with Zipp it 
would mean a large break in service for at least 3 – 6 months whilst we sought to find 
another provider. There would also be a loss of local employment and potential costs 
associated with reviewing and replacing all the bays.  

Page 198



 

 

4. Legal and financial implications 

4.1 Legal services oversaw the implementation of a new Traffic Regulation Order from 31st 
March 2022.  This permanent Order allowed the Council to continue running the trial 
until such a time as it is ended. 

4.2 The e-scooter service is provided on a cost neutral basis to the Council by Zipp 
Mobility.  If the trial end date is extended then a minimal amount of officer time will 
be required to manage the trial with Zipp until the end of May 2024. This would be 
existing officer time so would be at no additional cost. 

4.3 The current contract with Zipp ends in November 2022. We are therefore seeking 
agreement to continue using Zipp Mobility as our preferred operator for e-scooters. 
The Concession Contracts Regulations2 sets the contract value threshold for 
mandatory procurement at £5.3 million.  Due to the overall value of this concession 
contract (estimated at well below this figure) and to prevent a gap in service after 
November 2022, we intend to use a waiver to extend the contract we already have in 
place with Zipp to May 2024.   

4.4 There is a risk that once the trial ends, regular users will purchase their own e-scooters 
and use them illegally. In the event that the Council decides not to continue with the 
trials, we will mitigate this risk using media articles highlighting that the trial has come 
to an end and that private e-scooters remain illegal.    

4.5 Should the Council decide to cancel the current e-scooter trial, this must be 
managed sensitively, or it may reflect poorly on the Council, particularly in terms of 
reducing equality of access to transport to local services.  

5. Corporate implications  

5.1 Participating in the trial fits with the Corporate Plan priorities of “Improving our 
Environment” and being a “living lab” for innovation. 

5.2 Providing innovative forms of transport is also set out in Policy 15 of the adopted Local 
Transport Plan 43. The continuation of the e-scooter trials supports the Council’s 
ambitions to be a ‘living lab’ for innovation.  

5.3 The scheme supports our Climate Change and Air Quality Strategy4 by promoting 
sustainable low-carbon transport alternatives for shorter trips, and therefore support 
our ambition for net zero carbon by 2050.   

 
2 Microsoft Word - Procurement Policy Note 10:21 - New Thresholds Values and Inclusion of VAT in Contract 
Estimates.docx (publishing.service.gov.uk) 
3 https://www.buckscc.gov.uk/services/council-and-democracy/our-plans/local-transport-plan-4/ 
4 https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/environment/sustainability-and-climate-change/energy-and-climate-
change/the-climate-change-and-air-quality-strategy/climate-change-and-air-quality-strategy/ 

Page 199

https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fassets.publishing.service.gov.uk%2Fgovernment%2Fuploads%2Fsystem%2Fuploads%2Fattachment_data%2Ffile%2F1041964%2FProcurement_Policy_Note_10_21_-_New_Thresholds_Values_and_Inclusion_of_VAT_in_Contract_Estimates.pdf&data=05%7C01%7Channah.joyce%40buckinghamshire.gov.uk%7Ce6d90e8b8c624e76fd0608da6af4d13f%7C7fb976b99e2848e180861ddabecf82a0%7C0%7C0%7C637939897106494975%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C2000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=ZQOpLYTYxJadQKWNpmsy7zuJDHxQ76H10XQ2OXjXyJE%3D&reserved=0
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1041964/Procurement_Policy_Note_10_21_-_New_Thresholds_Values_and_Inclusion_of_VAT_in_Contract_Estimates.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1041964/Procurement_Policy_Note_10_21_-_New_Thresholds_Values_and_Inclusion_of_VAT_in_Contract_Estimates.pdf


 

 

5.4 An Equality Impact Assessment (EQIA) screening was completed prior to the start of 
the trial. The EQIA highlighted concerns regarding the impact on residents who may 
be blind, visually impaired or hard of hearing.  The main concern, as with cyclists, is 
the potential for collisions. A key aim of the trial is to provide evidence to assess safety 
for the users, other road users and the wider community. A copy of the EQIA has been 
attached with this paper (see appendices).   

 

6. Local councillors & community boards consultation & views 

6.1 Prior to the extension in March 2022, ward members from each trial area were 
emailed on 23rd December 2021 to update them on how the trials were progressing 
and ask their opinion on extending the trial. They then received a follow up email on 
7th January 2022. Their feedback is summarised below. 

Aylesbury 

6.2 We contacted 18 members for Aylesbury and had three responses. All were 
supportive of the trial extension. Additionally, in previous discussions, other members 
have been supportive of extending the trials. 

High Wycombe 

6.3 We contacted 22 members from High Wycombe and had five responses. Two of these 
are supportive and felt it is a good idea to extend the trial. 

6.4 One councillor was supportive of e-scooters in principle but had concerns about 
underage users, that they seem quite untidy and can lead to anti-social behaviour 
(ASB). If the consensus is that they are a helpful green way for (young) adults to get 
around, and there is no ASB or illegal use, and they work on hills then the councillor 
would support their continued use. 

6.5 Two councillors were unsupportive of the trial extension because they felt the e-
scooters are not safe for those who are elderly or those with restricted sight, as well 
as being concerned about ASB and non-observance of the rules. One councillor also 
believes they only replace walking trips and are being used for leisure, rather than 
replacing car trips. 

Princes Risborough 

6.6 We contacted three members for Princes Risborough and one councillor responded. 
They were supportive as shown by their statement – “Thanks for this, personally I like 
them, they are taking a little time to catch on, so I support the trial extension.” 

6.7 Community Boards were not contacted directly as they cover a wider area than those 
of the trials. However, all the chairs were included in our emails in their capacity as 
local ward members.  

Page 200



 

 

7. Communication, engagement & further consultation  

7.1 Informal engagement was undertaken before the trial commenced with key 
stakeholders, including: 

• Local disability groups  
• Members through the Active Travel Steering Group  
• Town and Parish Councils and Town Committees  
• Town centre partnerships 
• Aylesbury Garden Town 
• Chiltern Railways 
• Thames Valley Police (TVP)    
• BTVLEP 
• Transport for Buckinghamshire  
• Buckinghamshire Road Safety Team 
• Buckinghamshire NHS Trust 

 
7.2 We have a dedicated system on our website to receive anonymised comments from 

members of the public. So far, we have received 202 comments from Aylesbury, 104 
in High Wycombe and 15 in Princes Risborough. Of those comments received, the 
majority are reporting issues with pavement riding and other misuse of the scooters. 
These are routinely passed onto Zipp to take appropriate action. 

7.3 We will be drafting an email to Members with details of the further trial extension and 
the data in this report so that we can get their current views on the trials. This will be 
sent out in September before Members meet for Cabinet in October. 

7.4 There is a very mixed representation in the media from interest groups and 
communities about the benefits and risks associated with micro-mobility vehicles such 
as e-scooters.  Safety has been one of the key issues identified. 

8. Next steps and review  

8.1 If the extension of the e-scooter trial is approved at Cabinet we will inform the DfT 
that we wish to extend and will work with them to bring an appropriate Vehicle Service 
Order into force. We need to inform DfT before 31st October 2022 if we wish to extend 
the trial. 

8.2 We will then work with Zipp Mobility to agree an extension to their contract, 
publicise the extension and inform key stakeholders of the extension.  We will also 
continue to monitor feedback and manage the operator until May 2024.    

 

.  

Page 201



 

 

9. Background papers  

The E-scooter trials: guidance for local areas and rental operators can be found here:  

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/e-scooter-trials-guidance-for-local-
areas-and-rental-operators/e-scooter-trials-guidance-for-local-areas-and-rental-
operators 

The Electric Scooter Trials and Traffic Signs (Coronavirus) Regulations and General Directions 
2020 came into force on 4th July 2020, to facilitate e-scooter trials can be found here:  

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/663/made 

10. Your questions and views (for key decisions) 

10.1 If you have any questions about the matters contained in this report, please get in 
touch with the author of this report. If you have any views that you would like the 
cabinet member to consider, please inform the democratic services team. This can 
be done by telephone 01296 382343 or email democracy@buckinghamshire.gov.uk. 

  

Page 202

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/e-scooter-trials-guidance-for-local-areas-and-rental-operators/e-scooter-trials-guidance-for-local-areas-and-rental-operators
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/e-scooter-trials-guidance-for-local-areas-and-rental-operators/e-scooter-trials-guidance-for-local-areas-and-rental-operators
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/e-scooter-trials-guidance-for-local-areas-and-rental-operators/e-scooter-trials-guidance-for-local-areas-and-rental-operators
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/663/made
mailto:democracy@buckinghamshire.gov.uk


 

 

Appendix 1 – Results of the Trials 

10.2 The trials have so far proved successful with a higher than expected take up of the 
trial e-scooters. 191,000 trips have taken place so far across the 3 trial areas.  

10.3 The trial schemes are not supported by public funding and are zero cost to the 
Council.  The Aylesbury and High Wycombe schemes are operating profitably, whilst 
the more recent trial in Princes Risborough has had a significant impact on carbon 
emissions (based on estimates using the reduction of car/van use).  

10.4 60% of users are under 30 years old, with the majority being between 21-30 years. 
Only 3% of users are over 50 years old. More data on e-scooter user profiles can be 
found in Appendix 3. 

10.5 Our trial success is measured by how we meet the following DfT-set Strategic 
Objectives: 

1. To evaluate safety for riders, other road users and the community 

10.6 So far, we have had four reported health and safety incidents5, either on the roads 
or on shared cycle/pedestrian pavements. Zipp automatically bans  users where 
dangerous riding is reported. These incidents are also reported monthly to the DfT 

10.7 In May 2022 there was an incident in High Wycombe where a dog was killed by an e-
scooter. Zipp worked with the police to identify the rider, who was arrested and has 
been charged with dangerous driving of a motorised vehicle.  

10.8 As a whole, we have had very few reports of negative impacts on the community. 
However, we have received concerns from the public and Members about underage 
users, use for criminal purposes and multiple occupancy riding. These are reported 
to the police, who we meet with monthly, and Zipp blocks repeat offenders of 
antisocial riding. 3 riders have been banned in Buckinghamshire for reckless riding. 

10.9 E-scooters are not Council property which means that any health and safety 
incidents are the responsibility of Zipp Mobility and do not need to be reported via 
the Council’s Health and Safety reporting system. Zipp have sufficient public liability 
insurance to cover any safety incidents. 

10.10 To try and reduce safety risks for riders, other road users and pedestrians on shared 
use pavements, the trials include a number of critical elements: 

 
5 1 injury to a pedestrian in Aylesbury, 1 injury to rider in High Wycombe (bruising), 1 injury to rider in High 
Wycombe (broken kneecap), 1 death of a dog in High Wycombe  

Page 203



 

 

• Maximum speed limit of 15.5mph. In Buckinghamshire we have reduced 
this in key areas in response to local conditions.  

• Rider education/training via the booking app 

• Offering free helmets and £5 voucher as an incentive to wear them 

• Geo-fencing to force reduced speeds and exclude e-scooters from specific 
areas which are considered less suitable for e-scooters or may pose safety 
risks   

• Specifying journey start and end locations in marked bays to promote good 
parking practice and reduce obstructing other members of the community 
such as visually impaired or blind residents    

• E-scooters are all painted in the Zipp branding (yellow) and are fitted with 
identification plate numbers to help aid in reporting riders who break the 
rules 

• All e-scooters are powered down at night to prevent use for criminal 
activities. 

10.11 Out of 3656 collisions in the Thames Valley police region in 2021 (which covers other 
local authority areas and e-scooter rental schemes), there were only 28 collisions 
involving e-scooters, representing less than 1% of all collisions in the Thames Valley 
region. This also represented only 2% of all collisions involving e-scooters reported 
nationally. 

2. To measure the transport mode shift 

10.12 Most journeys take around 10-25 minutes, with 13 minutes the average journey time 
across all three trial sites. 

10.13 User survey data indicates that the majority of e-scooter trips have replaced walking 
trips. Around 20% of rides have replaced car/van/taxi-based trips.    

10.14 36% of trips are for commuting purposes. Unfortunately, the data is unclear 
regarding the ‘other’ purposes for trips which represents a large group. Given the 
age profile of the users it is likely that a significant proportion of these journeys are 
for education purposes, as some of the most popular bays are located outside the 
colleges in Aylesbury and High Wycombe. 

3. To contribute towards Buckinghamshire’s ambition to improve air quality and reduce 
carbon emissions 

Page 204



 

 

10.15 There are currently no published studies in the UK to indicate the level of changes to 
air quality and carbon emissions as a result of introducing e-scooters. Analysis is 
expected to be published by the DfT in due course. 

10.16 However, we estimate that this has prevented around 21 tonnes of carbon emissions 
based on the survey’s estimate of the percentage of car/van-based journeys saved, 
distances travelled by e-scooters, and the carbon dioxide equivalent emissions of the 
average car.6 

4. To evaluate the effectiveness of e-scooters as a new transport mode 

10.17 The numbers of registered and regular users have remained broadly consistent 
across the 18-month trial period. There have been reductions in users during colder 
weather and the lockdowns, as would be expected. 

10.18 E-scooters represent a cheap, clean and convenient form of travel for local journeys 
and their success can be measured in the higher than expected take up across the 
trial sites. 

5. To evaluate how local characteristics impact on the trial   

10.19 We initially had to reduce the e-scooter speed and block off (i.e. geo-fence) certain 
roads in High Wycombe because of the steepness of the hills.  

10.20 Zipp developed bespoke e-scooters with an advanced braking system that has 
allowed us to open up and test more areas in High Wycombe for usage, so the trial 
has already led to improvements in e-scooter design.  

 

  

 
6 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/greenhouse-gas-reporting-conversion-factors-2022 

Page 205

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/greenhouse-gas-reporting-conversion-factors-2022


 

 

Appendix 2 – Key elements of DfT E-scooter trials 

• During the trials, e-scooters are being classed as motor vehicles, requiring all users to 
have a provisional driving licence as a minimum.  

• E-scooters in the trials must be covered by a motor vehicle insurance policy. DfT 
expect all operators to have a policy in place that covers users of the vehicles. 

• Users are not required to complete a mandatory training course. We offer training 
and other safety tutorials on the Zipp App.  

• Wearing a helmet is recommended but not a mandatory requirement – however to 
incentivise use of helmets, Zipp offer a £5 credit to anyone who wears a helmet whilst 
riding. 

• E-scooters are permitted to use the same road space as cycles and Electrically Assisted 
Pedal Cycles. This means e-scooters are allowed on the road (except motorways) and 
in cycle lanes and cycle tracks. 

• E-scooters can be used on shared cycle/pedestrian pavements through an 
amendment to the TRO.  E-scooters are not permitted on pavements which are not 
shared with cycles.    

• The numbers of scooters, potential routes and parking locations were agreed with 
stakeholders and the operator at the outset. These are reviewed on a monthly basis 
to ensure issues such as safety concerns can be resolved quickly and to meet new 
demand where required.   

• Geo-fenced zones are also agreed with stakeholders and the operator to enable 
enforcement of a strict e-scooter use zone. 

• Journeys begin and end in pre-defined parking bay locations.  The operating model of 
painted parking bays was agreed with stakeholders and the operator to ensure it was 
appropriate for the locality. A parking bay is typically indicated by a painted white box 
marking. These are visible to the community. 

• A process has been introduced to ensure engagement with local members and 
parishes before any new bays are implemented. 

 

 
 

Page 206



 

 

Appendix 3 - E-scooter Trial Data (survey 1 July 2021 
to 1 April 2022) 

  

Page 207



 

 

 

 

Page 208



 

 

 

 

Page 209



 

  

Page 210



 

 

Since the introduction of improved e-scooters in High Wycombe there has been an increase 
in the number of rides and area coverage since this solution was put in place. High Wycombe 
saw the highest numbers of ridership in a single day in November 2021. The number of rides 
per week has also increased from around 800 a week to over a 1000. If the trial were to be 
extended it would provide more opportunity to see how the adjustment of geofences could 
impact ridership during the warmer months in an area where hills are considered a barrier to 
walking and cycling. 
 
We also have demographic data across all the trial areas in the tables below:

 

 

As expected, the majority of e-scooter riders are between 21-30, however we do have small 
percentages of riders who are over 40. This does indicate that it is not just young people 
who are riding the e-scooters. There is also a huge disparity between male and female 
riders.  

  

Page 211



 

 

Appendix 4 - E-scooter scheme Equality Impact 
Assessment (EqIA) 

Proposal/Brief Title: e-scooter trial in Buckinghamshire 

Date: 18.10.2020 

Type of strategy, policy, project or service: 

Please tick one of the following: 

� Existing  
� New or proposed  
� Changing, update or revision 
� Other (please explain) 

 

This report was created by 

Name Jo Morphet 

Job Title Transport Strategy Lead Officer 

Email address jo.morphet@buckinghamshire.gov.uk 

 

Briefly describe the aims and objectives of the proposal below: 

Buckinghamshire Council have submitted a proposal to the Department of Transport (DfT) to 
participate in e-scooter rental trials. These trials have been fast-tracked by the DfT across the 
country to help ease the burden on public transport and allow for other social distancing 
options on our transport infrastructure during the current Covid 19 crisis. 

Aims of the trial include: 

• To inform decision making as to the potential to legalise e-scooter use in future 
• To evaluate safety   
• To measure the transport mode-shift 
• Acceptability to other road users and community and the public response to the trials 

 

 

What outcomes do we want to achieve? 

• To provide evidence so a full assessment of safety for riders, other road users and the 
community can be undertaken. 

• To assess the effectiveness of e-scooters as a transport option in response to Covid 19 
and in the future.  

Page 212

mailto:jo.morphet@buckinghamshire.gov.uk


 

 

• Identify levels of transport mode shift. 
• Confirm whether e-scooters make a positive contribution towards the County’s 

ambition to improve air quality and reduce its carbon emissions. 
 

1) Screening Questions  
1.1 Does this proposal plan to withdraw a service, activity or presence? No 

Please explain your answer: This is a new transport option being introduced in the UK 
(currently not legal). No current Bucks service, activity or presence will be reduced to 
accommodate it  

1.2 Does this proposal plan to reduce a service, activity or presence? No 

Please explain your answer: This is a new transport option being introduced in the UK. No 
current Bucks service, activity or presence will be reduced to accommodate it  

1.3 Does this proposal plan to introduce, review or change a policy, strategy or procedure? 
Yes 

Please explain your answer: An Experimental Traffic Regulation Order (ETRO)is required to 
facilitate the trial. The ETRO is for the trial period only. The trial initially lasted 12 months, 
but has since been extended. Since the last extension, this has been updated to a 
Permanent TRO which lasts until the trial ends. 

Does this proposal affect service users and/or customers, or the wider community? Yes 

Please explain your answer: This will be a new mode of transport on the streets and cycle-
paths of Buckinghamshire 

1.4  Does this proposal affect employees? No 

Please explain your answer: In the capacity of an employee of Bucks Council, this proposal 
does not affect employment terms, conditions or contracts. 

1.5 Will employees require training to deliver this proposal? No  

Please explain your answer:  In the capacity of an employee of Bucks Council, training is not 
required. 

1.6 Has any engagement /consultation been carried out? Yes 

Please explain your answer: Internally, engagement and/or papers/briefings have been 
undertaken with Transport for Bucks, Active Travel Steering Group, Planning, Growth and 
Sustainability Management Team; officers required to confirm approval via forward plan 
process to approve ETRO. 

Briefing papers have been circulated to all relevant Community Board Members, Town 
Councils, Parish Councils and town committees. All have been invited to presentations and 
Q & A sessions which are scheduled for the 8th and 14th Sep 2020. 

Page 213



 

 

Briefing papers have been circulated to Bucks Vision, RNIB, BuDS, and PHE. An initial 
meeting has been undertaken with sight loss organisations and other groups representing 
vulnerable people.  

Externally, initial engagement has been undertaken with Thames Valley Police, NHS Bucks 
Trust, Aylesbury Garden Town, Chiltern Railways, BTVLEP.  

Engagement is planned throughout the trial to ensure the needs of our communities are 
met. 

Are there any concerns at this stage which indicate that this proposal could have negative 
or unclear impacts on any of the group (s) below? (*protected characteristics). Please 
include any additional comments. 

A) Age* Yes/No 
B) Disability* Yes 
C) Gender Reassignment* Yes/No 
D) Pregnancy & maternity* Yes/No 
E) Race & Ethnicity* Yes/No 
F) Religion & Belief* Yes/No 
G) Sex* Yes/No 
H) Sexual Orientation* Yes/No 
I) Marriage & Civil Partnership* Yes/No 
J) Carers Yes/No 
K) Rural isolation Yes/No 
L) Single parent families Yes/No 
M) Poverty (social & economic deprivation) Yes/No 
N) Military families / veterans Yes/No 
O) Gender identity Yes/No 

Additional comments (please indicate which of the protected groups you are commenting 
on): 

There are concerns regarding the impact on residents who may be blind, visually impaired 
or hard of hearing.  A key aim of the trial is to provide evidence to assess safety for the 
users, other road users and the wider community.    

 As a result of this screening, is an EqIA required? 

(If you have answered yes to any of the screening questions or any of the group (above), a 
full EqIA should be undertaken)  

� Yes 
� No  

Briefly explain your answer:  

One of the main aims of the trial is to assess safety. E-scooters are currently illegal in the UK 
and the Department of Transport would like evidence from the UK to consider safety before 
the decide whether to make e-scooters legal or not, in the future. This is also a requirement 

Page 214



 

 

for Bucks entering into the trial and will provide evidence to identify whether the protected 
characteristic of disability is significantly impacted. This outcome will feed into our future 
decision-making processes concerning e-scooter rental schemes in Bucks.    

 

 

 

EqIA Screening Sign off  

Officer completing this Screening Template: Jess Everett-Puttur Date: 15/08/2022 

Equality Lead: (Please insert name) Date: (Please insert Date)  

Shadow Buckinghamshire Corporate Board sign off (Please insert name) Date: (Please 
insert Date) 

 

Please continue to the next page to complete a full EqIA.  

EqIA – Full Equality Impact Assessment 
Step 1: Introduction  

Policy or Service to be assessed: E-scooter trial in Buckinghamshire 

 
EqIA - trial 

information.docx  

Service and lead officer: Jess Everett-Puttur – Senior Transport Strategy Officer – Planning, 
Growth and Sustainability 

Officers involved in the EqIA: 
What are you impact assessing? 

� Existing 
� New/proposed 
� Changing/Update revision  

Other, please list: 

�  
�  

Step 2: Scoping – what are you assessing?  

What is the title of your service/strategy/policy/project?  

E-scooter trial in Buckinghamshire 

Page 215



 

 

What is the aim of your service/strategy/policy/project? 

The main aim of the trials is to build robust evidence about the safety benefits, public 
perceptions and wider impacts of e-scooters in order to inform legal changes that may be 
introduced after the trial period ends by the DfT. It will also provide residents with another 
transport mode that can help ease the burden on transport networks and allow for social 
distancing. 

Who does/will it have an impact on? E.g. public, visitors, staff, members, partners?  

The trial is open to the public to use 

Will there be an impact on any other functions, services or policies? If so, please provide 
more detail  

no 

Are there any potential barriers to implementing changes to your service/strategy/policy/ 
project? 

 no 

 

Step 3: Information gathering – what do you need to know about 
your customers and making a judgement about impacts 
What data do you already have about your service users, or the people your policy or 
strategy will have an impact on, that is broken down by equality strand? 

Age: service users are required to possess a provisional driving licence to access the service. 
This is due to the Department of Transport not being able to change primary legislation at 
short notice; the service will be limited to those over 16.  

Disability: There is potential for e-scooters to impact on the daily lives of residents who are 
blind, partially sighted or hard of hearing. There is no current evidence in the UK to support 
perceived or actual impacts. The trial will provide that evidence.     

Gender re-assignment: none – no impact   

Race: none – no impact 

Religion or belief: none – no impact 

Sex: none – no impact 

Sexual orientation: none – no impact 

Pregnancy and maternity: none – no impact 

Marriage & Civil Partnership: none – no impact 
Do you need any further information broken down by equality strand to inform this EqIA? 

� Yes 

Page 216



 

 

� No  

 

If yes, list here with actions to help you gather data for the improvement plan in Step 4 

Ongoing evidence from existing trials and this trial once launched will be constantly 
assessed to ensure impacts on any protected characteristics are mitigated.     

Is there any potential for direct or indirect discrimination? 

� Yes 
� No  

 

If yes, please provide more detail on how you will monitor/overcome this 

The trial could directly impact on residents with disabilities.  

Before the trial begins, we are engaging with national and local disability groups to ensure 
we have considered all their concerns and can provide mitigation where needed. This 
engagement will continue on a formal basis throughout the trial to enable us to respond to 
concerns.   

Monthly reporting is required by the e-scooter operator to both the DfT and 
Buckinghamshire Council.  This will include levels of incidents and complaints received from 
the public. These will be reviewed every month to ascertain whether we need to make any 
changes to the trial details. Should a serious incident take place, the technology behind the 
scooters can be quickly updated to ensure it does not reoccur.  

If the impact on vulnerable residents, other road users, communities and the service users 
should escalate to an extremely dangerous level we can end the trial early.   
Conclusion: 

One of the key aims of the trial is to assess the safety of e-scooters in a controlled 
environment. The DfT have set strict guidelines for operators in terms of the technical 
specification of the scooters to ensure they are as safe as possible for users and the general 
public. 

By participating in the trial, Buckinghamshire can evaluate evidence based on our own 
communities and the impact e-scooters may have on our vulnerable residents. It will enable 
us to control the trial to suit our own local requirements and allow an informed decision-
making process over the future use of e-scooters in Buckinghamshire.   

 

Step 4:  Improvement plan – what are you going to change? 

Page 217



 

 

Issue Action Performance target 
(what difference will 
it make) 

Lead Officer Achieved 

How to take 
into 
consideration 
the impact on 
residents with 
disabilities 

Engage with 
disability groups 
before the trial 
starts to identify 
concerns and 
develop an action 
plan to address 
these. 

Mitigation in place 
before the trial starts 

Jess Everett-
Puttur 

 

Impacts on 
residents with 
disabilities 
that arise 
during the trial 

Monthly reporting 
will identify 
incidents and 
complaints during 
the trial period 

Adjustments to the 
trial details will be 
recorded to mitigate 
against further 
incidents and the 
impact of these 
changes will be 
reported  

Jess Everett-
Puttur 

 

 Formal 
engagement will 
continue with 
disability groups 
throughout the 
trial  

Trial plan updated 
and reviewed on a 
monthly basis. (this 
will be daily at the 
beginning of the trial 
so adjustments and 
additional mitigation 
can be applied).  

Jess Everett-
Puttur 

 

Impacts on 
residents with 
disabilities of 
e-scooters 

Equality Impact 
Assessment to be 
conducted at end 
of the trial. 

Evidence will feed 
into DfT trial 
assessment to 
consider legalisation  

Jess Everett-
Puttur 

 

 

EqIA approved by:  

Date:  

Next review date: 

 

 

Page 218



  

1 
 

Report to Cabinet  
Date:  11th October 2022 

Title:  Cost of Living Support for Buckinghamshire Residents 

Cabinet Member(s):  Steve Bowles – Cabinet Member for Communities 

Contact officer:  Matt Everitt – Service Director, Service Improvement 

Ward(s) affected:  None specific 

Recommendations:  To note the range of support provided by the Council for 
individuals experiencing hardship across the county;  

To approve the arrangements for deploying the new Household 
Support Fund allocation   

Reason for decision:  The Government announced draft allocations for the Household 
Support Fund on 22 September 2022. This report sets out 
proposals for use of the funding to provide support for 
Buckinghamshire residents through to the end of March 2023 in 
line with Government guidance 

This item was submitted under the General Exception Rule under 3.52 of the Cabinet Procedure Rules of 
the Constitution as it has not been possible to give 28 clear days notice of the decision due to the recent 
government announcement.  

 
1. Executive Summary 

 
1.1 As a Council, we recognise the growing pressures being faced by our residents linked to 

the increases in the cost of living.   This report summaries the wide range of support 
that has been developed this year, together with new initiatives which have been put in 
place in anticipation of growing hardship over the forthcoming winter.  

1.2 We are pleased to receive confirmation of the third tranche of Household Support Fund 
allocation for the period from October 2022 to March 2023.  

1.3 This builds on the funding we have received from Government since 2020, initially 
through the Winter Grant and Local Support Grant, and subsequently through the 
Household Support Fund.  

 

Page 219

Agenda Item 13



  

2 
 

1.4 For the period 1st April to 30th September 2022, Buckinghamshire was awarded £2.4m 
of funding from the Household Support Fund to provide support for residents in need 
of help with food, fuel and other essential household costs. 
 

1.5 This paper summarises how the previous funding allocation was used, and sets out a 
proposed use of the additional fund between now and the end of March that will 
ensure this is targeted to residents in need of support and in line with the Government 
guidance. 
 

1.6 Further information about usage of previous Household Support Fund allocations can 
be viewed in previous reports:  
 
https://buckinghamshire.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s42765/Government%20fundin
g%20supporting%20Buckinghamshire%20Residents%202022-05-10%20v1.3%20-
%20Cabinet.pdf 
 
 

2. Cost of Living Initiatives 
2.1 Buckinghamshire Council has made further provision to assist residents who are in 

need, developed through close partnership working, particularly with the voluntary and 
community sector.  
 

2.2 Further information about the range of support available can be found on our website, 
which has been updated as a comprehensive source of information for people who 
need support with the cost of living.  
 

2.2.1 Our updated website ensures people can access information about the range of 
support available, including: support with food, fuel and household bills, finding a 
place to keep warm, obtaining essential household items, support available from 
Government, support for pensioners and how to contact the Helping Hand team: 
https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/cost-of-living/  

 
2.3 The support offer we are developing includes the introduction of Buckinghamshire's 

Welcoming Spaces. 
 

2.3.1 The council is pledging to develop a network of Welcoming Spaces offering a variety 
of facilities around the county, with local partner organisations, where residents can 
come into safe and inclusive spaces, free of charge, to stay warm and enjoy a little 
company. 
 

2.3.2 The scheme has kick-started with the launch of Buckinghamshire's libraries and 
community libraries as the first of the Welcoming Spaces venues. Visitors will be 
welcome for as long as they wish during opening hours and can make use of 
facilities including free wifi and computer access. Library staff will also be on hand to 
offer information and support to visitors struggling with the effects of the cost of 
living crisis. 

 
2.3.3 The council is also keen to support other organisations in local communities to open 

up as Welcoming Spaces. Work is currently taking place with partners and local 
communities to develop this plan. More information will be available soon for 

Page 220

https://buckinghamshire.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s42765/Government%20funding%20supporting%20Buckinghamshire%20Residents%202022-05-10%20v1.3%20-%20Cabinet.pdf
https://buckinghamshire.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s42765/Government%20funding%20supporting%20Buckinghamshire%20Residents%202022-05-10%20v1.3%20-%20Cabinet.pdf
https://buckinghamshire.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s42765/Government%20funding%20supporting%20Buckinghamshire%20Residents%202022-05-10%20v1.3%20-%20Cabinet.pdf
https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/cost-of-living/


  

3 
 

interested community groups and organisations with suitable venues to find out 
more. 

 
2.3.4 We are also currently developing a Warm Box offer, to provide further practical 

support to residents during the winter months. Further information about Warm 
Boxes will be available on our website.  

 
2.4 With our partners Heart of Bucks, we have established a Crisis Fund to raise money to 

help Buckinghamshire families in need. 
 

2.4.1 We absolutely appreciate the rising costs are impacting everyone, and we also know 
the incredible generosity that exists in Buckinghamshire and that in times of crisis, it 
drives many of our residents to want to help or offer financial assistance.  
 

2.4.2 So, with Heart of Bucks, for those in a position to do so, we have invited people to 
donate what they can into this fund so the money can be best channelled to get 
support to the people in our communities who need it most. 

 
2.4.3 The Crisis Fund has already raised more than £80,000 in donations, which will be 

used to support local people who are in the most need with energy, food and other 
essential costs. 

 
2.5 The Buckinghamshire Holiday Activities and Food (HAF) Programme is funded by the 

Department for Education and provides free, high-quality holiday activity clubs with a  
healthy hot meal for children from low-income families. The government has confirmed 
the continuation of the HAF programme for the next two financial years until March  
2025. The programme runs in the longer school holiday periods (Easter, summer and 
Christmas) for children in Reception to Year 11 inclusive who receive benefits-related  
free school meals. 
 

2.5.1 In 2022 the HAF programme has so far enabled over 3,000 individual children and 
young people across the county to enjoy over 14,500 holiday activity club sessions 
and hot meals during the school holidays. With over 4000 holiday activity club 
sessions planned for Christmas 2022, these numbers will continue to grow. This 
growth is expected to continue into the 23/24 financial year with additional 
organisations getting involved; offering an increasing number of holiday sessions.   
 

2.5.2 In 2022, the Council can also offer HAF holiday club places to certain groups of 
children and young people who are not in receipt of benefits-related free school 
meals, but who could benefit from HAF provision. This means that we will be able to 
reach and support more vulnerable children and young people in Buckinghamshire 
to have a more enjoyable holiday experience. So far 325 individual children and 
young people in this category have benefited from HAF provision. 

 
2.6 In addition to the support we are providing locally, the Government has also provided a 

range of support including: 
 

2.6.1 A £650 one-off Cost of Living Payment would be available for residents on means 
tested benefits.  

 

Page 221



  

4 
 

2.6.1.1 This includes all households receiving: Universal Credit, Income-based 
Jobseekers Allowance, Income-related Employment and Support Allowance, 
Income Support, Working Tax Credit, Child Tax Credit, Pension credit. 

 
2.6.1.2 This payment will be made by the Department for Work and Pensions in two 

lump sums. The first of these will have been delivered from July, with the second 
payment following in the autumn. 

 
2.6.2 The Energy Bills Support Scheme has been doubled to a one-off £400, all households 

will receive £400 of support with their energy bills via a discount of £66 applied to 
their energy bills in October and November, rising to £67 each month from 
December through to March 2023. 

 
2.6.3 Pensioner households will receive an extra £300 this year to help cover the rising 

cost of energy this winter, which will be paid to all pensioner households who 
receive the Winter Fuel Payment and will be on top of any other one-off support a 
pensioner household is entitled to. 

 
2.6.4 People who are in receipt of particular disability benefits will have received a one-

off payment of £150 in September, which is exempt from tax and will not count 
towards the benefit cap nor will it have any impact on existing benefit awards. 

 

3. Household Support Fund 1st April – 30th September 2022 

3.1 Funding received during this period totalled £2.4m, via the Household Support Fund. 
 

3.2 This fund was intended to provide support to vulnerable households in most need of 
support to help with significantly rising living costs.  
 

3.3 The following criteria was specified for use of this fund: at least one-third will be 
allocated to support families with children, at least one-third will be allocated to 
pensioners and up to one-third will be allocated to other vulnerable households in need 
of support. 
 

3.4 Within the parameters set out in 3.3, the Household Support Fund could be used to 
cover: 
 
3.4.1 Energy bills relating to heating, cooking or lighting; and water bills 

 
3.4.2 Support with food costs either through vouchers or cash 

 
3.4.3 Other household essentials – which could include those linked to energy and 

water, for example sanitary products, boiler repair or servicing, warm clothing, 
purchase of fridge/freezers; or for wider essentials, for example broadband 
costs, phone costs, clothing, transport-related costs such as car repairs. 

 
3.4.4 Housing costs could be covered in exceptional circumstances and where existing 

housing schemes did not meet this exceptional need. For example, the fund 
could not be used to provide mortgage support but could be used to cover 

Page 222



  

5 
 

historic rent arrears that had been built up prior to receipt of other benefits. The 
fund could not be used to cover mortgage costs and cannot be used to provide 
debt and financial advice services. 

 
3.4.5 The fund could also be used to cover reasonable administration costs, including 

staff costs, web page design, IT system costs and promotional activity and 
content to raise the profile of the scheme. 

 
 

3.5 Use of this funding is detailed in Chart 1: 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3.6 The fund: 
 
3.6.1 Funded more than 8,445 Post Office vouchers, each with a value of £90, have 

been delivered to Pensioners in receipt of Council Tax reduction or who have 
previously requested support from Helping Hand. 
 

3.6.2 Funded more than 26,000 digital food vouchers issued to young people in 
receipt of Free School Meals/Early Years’ Pupil Premium/2-year old funded free 
education places covering both May Half Term and Summer Holiday Periods. 
 

3.6.3 Supported many VCS support activities ranging from Food Banks to Lunch clubs 
to Hot Meal Delivery schemes, providing support to more than 20,000 
households. 

 
3.6.4 In total, enabled support to be provided to over 60,000 households, including 

help with food, help with their energy bills, help to purchase essential white 
goods and essentials to keep them warm including clothing.  

4. Helping Hand 
 

4.1 The Helping Hand team have led and coordinated use of these funds across 
Buckinghamshire for the Council.  
 

4.2 This team works collaboratively across internal Council departments and with partners 
to identify, engage and assist residents who require additional support for Food, 

April to September 2022

Holiday food vouchers £834,184

Partners/Community 
projects £110,665

Heart of Bucks HH Crisis 
Fund £222,800

Helping Hands direct 
support £261,540

Pensioners £800,000

Other £170,000

Page 223



  

6 
 

Warmth and Household living costs. This includes with Adult Social Care and Children’s 
Services, and referrals are received from social workers on behalf of their clients. 
 

4.3 This service model has enabled the development and maintenance of excellent 
relationships between the Council and the voluntary and community sector, and 
ensured that the impact of funding provided through these grants is enhanced through 
further community based-support in areas of need. For example, we have provided 
support into community groups where we know there is the greatest need and where 
perhaps the community were less likely to reach out for support. 
 

4.4 This approach has also resulted in better insight and intelligence to enable better 
understanding of our residents and communities, which can then be used to inform 
activity and interventions delivered by the Council, by the voluntary and community 
sector, and by our strategic partners including housing associations and the 
Department for Work and Pensions.  
 

4.5 The Helping Hand delivery model accepts direct application from residents, ensuring 
that the right support can be provided quickly to those who are in most need. 
 

4.6 The Helping Hand Team has delivered awareness raising activity within job centres, 
with Housing Association Welfare Teams and with the Social Prescriber Network to 
ensure all those who are engaging with residents are aware of what is available.  
 

4.7 There are significant challenges that the service has overcome to enable successful 
utilisation of these funds for vulnerable residents in Buckinghamshire, including: 
 
4.7.1 Quickly scaling up the offer in line with the Government framework, developing 

the Helping Hand approach and ensuring visibility for residents and partners 
 

4.7.2 Managing service delivery tightly in line with the Government framework and 
the short-term nature and notice of the government funding 

 
4.7.3 Ensuring that residents most in need benefited from the funds, including using a 

broad range of data to identify these cohorts and address stigma that can be 
associated with asking the Council for help 

 
4.7.4 Establishing at pace appropriate systems, tools and controls for case 

management, voucher delivery and grant funding to the voluntary and 
community sector. 

 
4.8 Chart 2 shows the number of new applications for support from the Helping Hand 

service, and indicates a general upward trend over this year to date. 
 

Page 224



  

7 
 

 

 
 

5. Household Support Fund 1st October 2022 – 31st March 2023 
 

5.1 The Household Support Fund is being extended, and this equates to a further £2.4m for 
Buckinghamshire to use to support residents between 1st October 2022 and 31st March 
2023. 
 

5.2 In line with previous allocations of the Household Support fund, the new fund is 
intended to provide support to vulnerable households in most need of support to help 
with significantly rising living costs. Whilst the general purpose of the fund is the same 
as that provided previously, there are changes to the criteria which offer more 
flexibility in how the fund is used locally. 
 

5.3 Authorities have flexibility within the fund to identify which vulnerable households are 
in most need of support and apply their own discretion when identifying eligibility, 
ensuring that residents who are not receiving other means of Government support 
have access to this fund.  
 

5.4 Authorities must operate an application-based service for support to ensure those in 
need have a route to emergency support. 
 

5.5 Within the parameters set out in 5.3, the Household Support Fund can be used to 
cover: 
 
5.5.1 Energy bills relating to heating, cooking or lighting; and water bills 

 
5.5.2 Support with food costs either through vouchers or cash 

 
5.5.3 Other household essentials – this may include those linked to energy and water, 

for example sanitary products, boiler repair or servicing, warm clothing, 
purchase of fridge/freezers; or for wider essentials, for example broadband 
costs, phone costs, clothing, transport-related costs such as car repairs 

Page 225



  

8 
 

 
5.5.4 Housing costs can be covered in exceptional circumstances and where existing 

housing schemes do not meet this exceptional need. For example, the fund 
cannot be used to provide mortgage support but can be used to cover historic 
rent arrears that have been built up prior to receipt of other benefits 

 
5.5.5 The fund can also be used to cover reasonable administration costs, including 

staff costs, web page design, IT system costs and promotional activity and 
content to raise the profile of the scheme 

 
5.5.6 As before, the fund cannot be used to cover mortgage costs and cannot be used 

to provide debt and financial advice services. 
 
 
 
 

6. Proposed allocation of the Household Support Fund 1st October 2022 – 31st March 
2023 
 

6.1 Table 1 sets out the proposed allocation of the £2.4m that Buckinghamshire will receive 
from the new Household Support Fund. 
 

6.2 These proposals are in line with Government guidance and are modelled around local 
understanding of need across different categories, informed by local intelligence and 
previous delivery of support through the Helping Hand service.  
 

6.3 Funding will only be used for schemes that are free to residents. 
 
6.4 In addition to the allocations listed in Table 1, approximately £170,000 will be used to 

cover overhead costs in line with the government guidance detailed in 5.5.5. 
 

6.5 Residents may be eligible for support across multiple categories listed in Table 1. 
Residents may also be eligible to receive support on multiple occasions during the 
period. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Table 1: Proposed Allocation of Household Support Fund 1st October 2022 – 31st March 
2023 
 

Page 226



  

9 
 

Allocation % of 
fund 

Target group Type of 
Support 
 

Delivery mechanism 

£500,000 21% Covering all target groups All types of 
support 

Application-based service through the 
Helping Hand team 

£820,000 34% Children/young people: Free 
School Meals / Early Years 
Support / Schools / Colleges 
inc. Afghan/Ukraine refugees  

Food Support Digital food voucher during three school 
holiday periods (October, December, 
February) 
£15 per week 

£300,000 13% Covering all target groups All types of 
support 

Voluntary and Community organisations 
providing free support to residents, 
including Foodbanks 

£250,000 10% Covering all target groups All types of 
support 

Crisis Fund administered by Heart of 
Bucks 

£360,000 15% Targeted support for priority 
cohorts, including Care 
Leavers, Pensioners 

All types of 
support 

Digital Voucher or other appropriate 
support 

£170,000 7% Covering all target groups Other costs Administration costs, including staff 
costs, web page design, IT system costs 
and promotional activity and content to 
raise the profile of the scheme 

£2,399,190 100% Total grant funding allocation for Buckinghamshire 

 
 

7. Summary 
 

7.1 Buckinghamshire Council is committed to ensuring that vulnerable residents who are 
most in need receive support via our Helping Hand service. 
 

7.2 The support and intervention we have provided has benefitted many thousands of 
residents across the County and ensured that families and vulnerable people have had 
access to food, water, clothing, warmth and other essential items. 
 

7.3 The proposals detailed in this paper aim to ensure that the new allocation of the 
Household Support Fund is utilised in a targeted and effective manner between now 

Page 227



  

10 
 

and the end of March, to reduce the impact of the increased cost of living crisis, 
poverty and financial hardship for Buckinghamshire residents. 

 
8. Legal and financial implications 

 
8.1 The Secretary of State determines the authorities to which grant is to be paid and the 

amount of grant to be paid.  
 

8.2 The Household Support Fund Grant indicative funding allocation for Buckinghamshire 
Council for the period 1st October 2022 to 31st March 2023 is £2,399,190.54. Pursuant 
to section 31(3) and 31(4) of the Local Government Act 2003, the Secretary of State 
determines that the grant will be paid in respect of this period. 
 

8.3 The grant is paid to the Authority to support eligible expenditure only, in line with 
guidance from the Department for Work and Pensions; and on the basis overall that 
the provision of grant funding remains subject to the Secretary of State’s ongoing 
satisfaction that all grant usage by the Authority complies fully with the relevant 
conditions. 
 

8.4 Funding is paid in arrears and following completion of a data return to the Department 
for Work and Pensions. The amount of grant funding Buckinghamshire receives from 
the allocation listed in 8.2 will be in line with the evidence provided in the data return. 
This approach is in line with previous grants and the Helping Hand, Business 
Intelligence and Finance teams will work together to complete the required returns. 
 

8.5 County Councils and Unitary Authorities have a statutory duty regarding children and 
are generally responsible for Local Welfare Assistance. The Department for Work and 
Pensions is providing funding to County Councils and Unitary Authorities (including 
Metropolitan Councils and London Boroughs), under section 31 of the Local 
Government Act 2003, to administer the scheme and provide assistance to households 
most in need. 
 

8.6 Local Authorities have discretion on exactly how this funding is used within the scope 
set out in guidance documentation provided by the Department for Work and 
Pensions. The expectation is that it should primarily be used to support households in 
the most need particularly those including children and pensioners who would 
otherwise struggle with energy bills, food, water bills, other essential household costs 
and housing costs in exceptional circumstances. 
 

8.7 An initial Equalities Impact Assessment has been completed and identified no negative 
impact from the proposals in this report. A copy of this is available on request. Criteria, 
eligibility and processes are all being reviewed further to ensure that they comply with 
equalities requirements. 
 

Page 228



  

11 
 

9. Corporate implications  

9.1 This report reflects the priority for the Communities Portfolio to develop the Helping 
Hand programme to tackle food insecurity in local communities. 

 

10. Local councillors & community boards consultation & views 

10.1 Not applicable – Portfolio Holder consulted. 

 

11. Communication, engagement & further consultation  

11.1  Following this decision a communications plan will be developed to continue to 
promote the Helping Hand service and raise awareness of support available to 
residents who are most in need. 

 

12. Next steps and review  

12.1  Following this decision the Helping Hand service will coordinate use of the Household 
Support Fund in line with the allocations set out in Table 1. 

 

13. Background papers  

13.1  Not applicable. 

 

14. Your questions and views (for key decisions) 

14.1 If you have any questions about the matters contained in this report please get in touch with 
the author of this report. If you have any views that you would like the cabinet member to 
consider please inform the democratic services team. This can be done by telephone [01296 
382343] or email [democracy@buckinghamshire.gov.uk] 

 

Page 229



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Report to Cabinet 
Date:   11th October 2022 

Title:   Climate Change & Air Quality Strategy 2021-2022 
Progress Report 

Cabinet Member(s):   Councillor Gareth Williams, Deputy Leader and Cabinet 
Member for Climate Change and Environment 

Contact officer:   Alexander Beckett 

Ward(s) affected:  All  

Recommendations:  1. To note the progress made in 2021-2022 against the 
aims, objectives and actions in the Climate Change & Air 
Quality Strategy 

Reason for decision:  Action 9 in the Climate Change & Air Quality Strategy 
commits the Council to ‘Report annually on progress made 
against actions and reducing emissions’. 

Addressing climate change and poor air quality is relevant 
to all Council Corporate Plan 2020-2025 priorities. 

 

1. Executive summary 

1.1 The Climate Change & Air Quality Strategy 2021-2022 Progress Report provides an 
update on the significant progress made against the aims, objectives, and actions set 
out in our Climate Change and Air Quality Strategy within the year following its 
adoption on 19th October 2021. Details of 51 activities are provided, many of which 
address several actions in the Strategy. These have contributed to greenhouse gas 
emissions (GHG) decreasing by 10.61% from 2019 to 2020 and nitrogen dioxide 
concentrations staying within the annual mean value in the last two calendar years in 
Buckinghamshire; and, the Council’s GHG emissions being 70% lower in ‘21/’22 
compared to its emissions from 1990. 

Page 231

Agenda Item 14



 

 

1.2 The Council was responsible for 6,095 tonnes of greenhouse gas emissions (TCO2e) in 
‘21/’22. We have kept comfortably within the Council’s carbon budget for ‘21/’22 
(7,407 TCO2e) and are on track to reduce the Council’s carbon emissions by at least 
75% by 2030. 

2. Content of report 

2.1 Action 9 in the Climate Change & Air Quality Strategy commits the Council to ‘Report 
annually on progress made against actions and reducing emissions’ and addressing 
climate change and poor air quality is relevant to all Council Corporate Plan 2020-2025 
priorities. The Climate Change & Air Quality Strategy 2021-2022 Progress Report 
(please see Appendix A) provides an update on the significant progress made against 
the aims, objectives, and actions set out in our Climate Change and Air Quality Strategy 
within the year following its adoption on 19th October 2021.  

2.2 Following approval of the Climate Change & Air Quality Strategy 2021-2022 Progress 
Report at Cabinet the Report will be published online and promoted as part of the 
Bucks Climate Challenge communications campaign.  

3. Other options considered  

3.1 The option to not produce Climate Change & Air Quality Strategy 2021-2022 Progress 
Report was considered as not being viable due to the commitment to ‘Report annually 
on progress made against actions and reducing emissions’ (action 9 in the Climate 
Change & Air Quality Strategy. 

4. Legal and financial implications 

4.1 It’s considered that there are no legal or financial implications associated with the 
Climate Change & Air Quality Strategy 2021-2022 Progress Report.  

5. Corporate implications  

5.1 Due to their negative impacts on health, natural and built environments, and the 
economy addressing climate change and poor air quality is relevant to all corporate 
plan priorities: 

• Increasing prosperity 

• Strengthening our communities 

• Improving our environment 

• Protecting the vulnerable 

Page 232



 

 

6. Local councillors & community boards consultation & views 

6.1 Consultation with local councillors and community boards was deemed unnecessary 
regarding the production of the Climate Change & Air Quality Strategy 2021-2022 
Progress Report. 

7. Communication, engagement & further consultation  

7.1 Further consultation was deemed unnecessary regarding the production of the 
Climate Change & Air Quality Strategy 2021-2022 Progress Report. 

7.2 All Council activity detailed in the Climate Change & Air Quality Strategy 2021-2022 
Progress Report has been supported by the Bucks Climate Challenge communications 
campaign. 

8. Next steps and review  

8.1 Following approval of the Climate Change & Air Quality Strategy 2021-2022 Progress 
Report at Cabinet the Report and the Action Plan will be published online and 
promoted as part of the Bucks Climate Challenge communications campaign.  

9. Background papers  

9.1 Buckinghamshire Electric Vehicle (EV) Action Plan 2022-27 (approved by Cabinet on 
7th June 2022) 

9.2 Climate Change and Air Quality Strategy (approved by Cabinet on 19th October 2021) 

9.3 Large Scale Tree Planting on Buckinghamshire Council Land Holding (approved by 
Cabinet on 16th February 2021) 

9.4 Net Zero Carbon Emissions by 2050 Motion (at Full Council on 15th July 2020)  

 

Page 233

https://buckinghamshire.moderngov.co.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?AIId=13091
https://buckinghamshire.moderngov.co.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?Id=618
https://buckinghamshire.moderngov.co.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?AIId=6591
https://buckinghamshire.moderngov.co.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=2656


This page is intentionally left blank



PB 1

Buckinghamshire Council

Climate Change & 
Air Quality Strategy
2021-2022 Progress Report

P
age 235

A
ppendix 



2

Contents

Foreword 3

Introduction 4

Progress against targets 5

Activity against actions
•	 Governance and Management

17 

The Council’s emissions
•	 Behaviour
•	 The Council’s Operational Estate
•	 Transport

23

Suppliers and partners
•	 Partners
•	 Suppliers

29 

County-wide
•	 Transportation
•	 Buildings and Developments
•	 Economy
•	 Environment, Land and Water
•	 Health and Communications

36 

P
age 236



3

Foreword

I am delighted to provide this update on the considerable activity 
undertaken to tackle climate change and poor air quality in 
Buckinghamshire. While giving some reassurance that all parts of 
our community are playing their part in tackling these significant 
environmental challenges, it also recognises the importance of 
continuing emission reduction and climate change adaptation work. 
Having only adopted the Climate Change and Air Quality Strategy 
last year, in October, it’s good to see the innovation, enthusiasm and 
partnership initiatives already underway – from the creation of new 
larger woodland areas, to expanding the number of charging points 
to 1,000 by 2027, and delivering energy performance improvements to 
many more homes. 

Our collective response to the COVID pandemic has proven that, 
together, we can introduce the necessary changes to address 
seemingly overwhelming challenges to our lives. Our efforts have 
contributed to decreasing levels of greenhouse gases and other air 
pollutants in Buckinghamshire and from the Council’s operations. The 
health of those living and working in the area, and plants and animals, 
will have benefitted from NO2 concentrations being lower than the 
40µg/m3 annual mean in 2020 and 2021. I’m also very conscious 
of the fact that initiatives that help communities transition to low 
or zero emissions can result in cost savings, especially with energy 
costs where they are. In the transport sector we have encouraged 
e-scooter and e-bike usage. In the home we have come up with ways 

to help reduce energy consumption via the Green Homes Grant Local 
Authority Delivery and Buckinghamshire Solar Together schemes. 
Workplace energy usage has seen assistance from the Low Carbon 
Workspaces initiative. 

Hopefully this report provides some inspiration to you all to explore 
new ways to reduce your environmental impact – there are some useful 
suggestions available on the AWorld App about some small lifestyle 
choices that everyone can make to save resources. It’s great that 14 
tonnes of CO2 has already been saved by those using it. 

We can all feel immensely satisfied with what has been achieved so 
far. The Council’s ‘21/’22 carbon emissions (6,095 TCO2e) were far 
less than the carbon budget that was set (7,407 TCO2e). We have 
secured Government grants in excess of £10.3m to progress initiatives, 
introduced more electric vehicles into fleets and sizeable solar 
photovoltaic systems on buildings providing Council services, planted 
impressive number of trees with schools and community groups and 
we are now starting to buy renewable energy. I look forward to another 
year of successes, where we can share the benefits of securing a 
sustainable future. 
 

Councillor Gareth Williams  

Cabinet Member for Climate Change and Environment

P
age 237



Introduction

4

The UK experienced its hottest summer on record in 2022 - on 

19 July 40.3°C was recorded at Coningsby and temperatures 

recorded at 46 weather stations across the UK exceeded the 

previous record of 38.7°C. July 2022 has been the driest July 

in England since 1935 (and the driest on record for south-east 

England, according to provisional figures released by the Met 

Office) and every month up to September this year (apart 

from February) has seen below average rainfall. 

These severe weather events have been a useful reminder 

of the urgent need to reduce global carbon emissions and 

implement measures to adapt to a changing climate. This 

document provides an update on the significant progress 

made against the aims, objectives, and actions set out in 

our Climate Change and Air Quality Strategy within the 

year following its adoption on 19 October 2021. Details of 

51 activities are provided, many of which address several 

actions in the Strategy. These have contributed to greenhouse 

gas emissions (GHG) decreasing by 10.61% from 2019 to 

2020 and nitrogen dioxide concentrations staying within 

the annual mean value in the last two calendar years in 

Buckinghamshire; and, the Council’s GHG emissions being 

70% lower in ‘21/’22 compared to its emissions from 1990.

People and organisations’ activities continued to be affected 

by the COVID pandemic in 2022, with Plan B measures being 

in place between 10 December 2021 and 26 January 2022 

(inclusive). Emissions have been positively impacted by the 

changes – most notably the shift to home working has helped 

reduce transport emissions. The Council has continued 

to support this shift through its Work Smart programme, 

and the transition to low emission forms of transport. This 

includes: 111 employees using the Council’s Cycle to Work 

scheme since May 2020, securing more than half a million 

pounds to upcycle and electrify a refuse collection vehicle, the 

introduction of battery electric vehicles into fleets operated 

by Family Times Services and a major supplier to the Council 

(Veolia), committing to more than 1,000 public charging 

spaces being available in the county by 2027, encouraging 

the use of low and ultra low emission taxis and private hire 

vehicles via a new licensing policy, implementing e-scooter 

and e-bike hire schemes, and extensions and improvements 

to active travel routes in Aylesbury, Wendover and Marlow. 

P
age 238

https://www.metoffice.gov.uk/about-us/press-office/news/weather-and-climate/2022/record-high-temperatures-verified#:~:text=The%20UK's%20new%20record%2Dhigh,of%20analysis%20and%20quality%20control
https://www.metoffice.gov.uk/about-us/press-office/news/weather-and-climate/2022/driest-july-in-england-since-1935
https://www.metoffice.gov.uk/about-us/press-office/news/weather-and-climate/2022/driest-july-in-england-since-1935
https://buckinghamshire.moderngov.co.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=27250
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/prime-minister-confirms-move-to-plan-b-in-england
https://www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk/charts/uk-government-coronavirus-lockdowns


5

The achievements outlined in this progress report wouldn’t 

be possible without the cooperation and support of all 

stakeholders – from the Council’s teams, suppliers and 

partners, to the third sector, businesses, and residents in 

Buckinghamshire. As result of collaborative working over 

£203k was secured to support tree planting projects by 

local organisations, water source heat pumps and solar 

panels have been installed at Chiltern Lifestyle Centre and 

Amersham Depot (which will save up to 228 tonnes of CO2e 

per annum), 200 business have been assisted by Low Carbon 

Workspaces to reduce their carbon footprints and energy 

costs, and 64 accredited school travel plans have been 

established.

Results from several schemes have, once again, confirmed 

widespread interest in delivering a zero carbon future for 

Buckinghamshire. Environmentally friendly actions taken and 

recorded on the AWorld App have resulted in 14 tonnes of 

CO2 being saved, 91 domestic properties have been retrofitted 

with energy efficiency measures with funding from the 

Green Homes Grant Local Authority Delivery scheme, and 

there were 6,990 registrations to the Buckinghamshire Solar 

Together initiative. 

Over the forthcoming year many initiatives will come to 

fruition, for instance: the provision of support for 30 large 

employers to increase the number of electric vehicles in their 

fleets, and improving the energy performance of eligible 

homes under the Sustainable Warmth scheme. Activity is 

already underway to build on the success of implementing 

climate change adaptation measures and reducing emissions 

from the Council’s estate (e.g. planting 5,860 trees, procuring 

25% of electricity from renewable sources, and transitioning 

to cloud based servers) which includes the installation of air 

source heat pump technology funded by the Public Sector 

Decarbonisation Scheme, and establishing new woodland 

areas.

P
age 239



Progress against targets

1 Emissions associated with electricity used in the waste industry comes under Industrial and Commercial Electricity. This is also true for emissions from energy 
from waste plants for which the emissions are associated with the end user of the electricity

•	 in addition to covering territorial emissions of carbon 

dioxide (CO2), methane (CH4) and nitrous oxide (N2O) 

emissions have now been included for the first time. 

Fluorinated gases remain unaccounted for.  

•	 the agriculture category now includes emissions from a 

large number of additional agricultural soils and livestock 

emission sources (accounting for these from 2018 onwards) 

(previously it only included CO2 emissions from fuel 

combustion, liming and fertiliser application).

•	 unlike previous statistical releases of local authority 

greenhouse gas emissions data from BEIS, emissions from 

waste management have been separately accounted for. 

These are based on estimated distributions of where the 

waste arises rather than where the emissions occurred1.

There are notable changes to the way that emissions have 

been calculated compared to previous years, including the 

following:The following section details the progress made against the 

aims and objectives of the Climate Change and Air Quality 

Strategy. It is of note that emissions over the reporting year 

have been influenced by changes to behaviours and the 

operations of organisations during the Covid-19 pandemic.

Progress against Aim 1:

Work alongside national Government with the 
objective to achieve net zero carbon emissions for 
Buckinghamshire as a whole by 2050. 

Area greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions are taken from the 

UK local authority and regional greenhouse gas emissions 

national statistics: 2005-2020 and have been calculated 

using a generation based approach. These were published 

by the Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy 

(BEIS) on 30 June 2022 and the data is presented in the 

graph 1 – confirming that emissions from the area the Council 

serves are decreasing at an average rate of 2.51% per annum. 

Emissions decreased by 10.61% from 2019 to 2020. 

6

P
age 240

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-local-authority-and-regional-greenhouse-gas-emissions-national-statistics-2005-to-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-local-authority-and-regional-greenhouse-gas-emissions-national-statistics-2005-to-2020


3,937.97

3,919.84

3,821.17
3,734.19

3,464.06

3,624.95

3,310.84

3,506.25
3,418.45

3,189.98
3,096.36

3,035.39

2,896.78
3,125.66

3,117.82

2,786.92

-500.0

0.0

500.0

1,000.0

1,500.0

2,000.0

2,500.0

3,000.0

3,500.0

4,000.0

4,500.0

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Industry Total Commercial Total Public Sector Total

Domestic Total Transport Total LULUCF Net Emissions

Agriculture Total Waste Management Total Total

Linear (Total)

Graph 1  
Buckinghamshire Carbon Emissions (kilotonnes CO2e) 2005-2020 

7

Emissions generated from all source 

categories have decreased between 

2005 and 2020 apart from waste 

management ‘other’ emissions which 

is influenced by population growth 

in the area (489k people in 2005 and 

547k people in 2020). Emissions from 

settlements, public sector, commercial 

and domestic gas and domestic ‘other’ 

increased between 2019 and 2020 

reflecting the impact that lockdowns 

and home working arrangements 

associated with the COVID pandemic 

had. Table 1 provides details of the 

carbon emissions produced by various 

sources in Buckinghamshire in 2020.

P
age 241



Table 1 - Buckinghamshire 2020 carbon emissions by source

Source Annual Carbon Emissions (kilotonnes CO2) % of Carbon Emissions
Industry Electricity 4.89 1.76%

Industry Gas 20.4 0.73%

Large Industrial Installations 0.6 0.02%

Industry ‘Other’ 83.4 2.99%

Industry Total 153.3 5.5%

Commercial Electricity 87.5 3.14%

Commercial Gas 67.5 2.42%

Commercial ‘Other’ 1.4 0.05%

Commercial Total 156.4 5.61%

Public Sector Electricity 29.0 1.04%

Public Sector Gas 56.1 2.01%

Public Sector ‘Other’ 1.0 0.03%

Public Sector Total 86.0 3.09%

Domestic Electricity 203.7 7.31%

Domestic Gas 575.2 20.64%

Domestic ‘Other’ 105.2 3.77%

Domestic Total 884.1 31.72%

Road Transport (A roads) 313.3 11.24%

Road Transport (Motorways) 461.4 16.55%

Road Transport (Minor roads) 321.1 11.52%

Diesel Railways 44.8 1.61%

Transport ‘Other’ 16.5 0.59%

Transport Total 1,157.1 41.52%

8

P
age 242

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-local-authority-and-regional-carbon-dioxide-emissions-national-statistics-2005-to-2018


9

Source Annual Carbon Emissions  
(kilotonnes CO2) % of Carbon Emissions

Net Emissions: Forest Land -117.5 -4.22

Net Emissions: Cropland 47.3 1.70%

Net Emissions: Grassland -47.7 -1.71%

Net Emissions: Wetland 0.0 0.00%

Net Emissions: Settlements 23.4 0.84%

Net Emissions: Harvested Wood Products 0.0 0.00%

Net Emissions: Indirect N2O 0.9 0.03%

Land use, land-use change and forestry Total -93.7 -3.36%

Agriculture Electricity 7.4 0.26%

Agriculture Gas 14.8 0.53%

Agriculture 'Other' 19.9 0.72%

Agriculture Livestock 155.7 5.59%

Agriculture Soils 52.6 1.89%

Agriculture Total 250.4 8.98%

Landfill 174.2 6.25%

Waste Management 'Other' 19.2 0.69%

Waste Management Total 193.3 6.94%

Grand Total 2,786.9

Table 1 - Buckinghamshire 2020 carbon emissions by source continued

P
age 243

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-local-authority-and-regional-carbon-dioxide-emissions-national-statistics-2005-to-2018


of CO2e emissions from the Council’s fleet and building electricity 

consumption respectively, and bringing emissions from business 

travel down by 40%.  

 

This has led to a 32% reduction of greenhouse 
gas (GHG) emissions compared to our emissions 
from ‘18/’19 and a 70% reduction of GHG emissions 
compared to those from 1990. We have kept 
comfortably within our carbon budget for ‘21/’22 
(7,407 TCO2e) and are on track to reduce our carbon 
emissions by at least 75% by 2030.

Progress against Objective A: Achieve net zero 
carbon emissions across council operations 
no later than 2050 and possibly before this, 
potentially by 2030, subject to resources

The emissions shown in table 2 are those from the Council’s 

operations, such as the buildings and vehicles we operate, 

and those associated with the transmission and distribution 

of electricity that the Council uses. Business travel emissions 

relate to emissions from staff and Councillors in their own 

vehicles where a mileage expense claim was made. Emissions 

from the use of public transport, such as train journeys, for 

work travel weren’t captured as the data is not available. 

We have excluded emissions from our operations where our 

staff do not directly provide the service, for example waste 

collection vehicles operated around Wycombe, Chiltern and 

South Buckinghamshire areas. 

There have been significant emission savings across 

all aspects of our operations in ‘21/’22 compared to our 

emissions from ‘18/’19, including 52% and 50% reductions of 

10

P
age 244



11

Activity

2021/22 
Annual 
Carbon  
Emissions   
 (TCO2e)

% of  
Annual 

Emissions

Buildings – Gas Consumption 1,624 27%

Buildings – Electricity Consumption 1,257 21%

Street Lighting – Electricity Consumption 1,746 29%

Council Fleet 604 10%

Business Travel 593 10%

Electricity Transmission and Distribution 271 4%

Total 6,095

Table 2 - Buckinghamshire Council’s Carbon Emissions Buckinghamshire Council ‘21/’22 Carbon Emissions

Buildings – Gas Consumption

Buildings – Electricity Consumption

Street Lighting – Electricity Consumption

Council Fleet

Business Travel

Transmission and Distribution

P
age 245



There are numerous examples of where the Council has 

supported various communities to date to achieve net zero 

carbon emissions, including the following: 

•	 Financial support for community tree planting (as a result of 

a successful bid to the Local Authority Treescapes Fund)

•	 Provision of Travel Plans and ad-hoc support for Schools

•	 Supporting Buckinghamshire Community Energy regarding 

the Wendover Wharf Road Campus Decarbonisation project

•	 Providing new and innovative electric vehicle charging 

infrastructure for use by the public

•	 Introducing more and better quality active travel routes (e.g. 

the Haydon Hill extension to the Waddesdon Greenway and 

Wendover Cycleway improvements)

•	 Establishing e-scooter and e-bike rental schemes

•	 Promoting a solar PV system group-purchasing (Solar 

Together) scheme for resident and small business owner 

occupiers 

•	 Funding the installation of energy efficiency measures in 

eligible homes via the Green Homes Grant Local Authority 

Delivery Scheme

•	 Launching a Zero Waste Map that shows all the shops, 

recycling points and businesses in Buckinghamshire that 

can help people reduce their waste

•	 Providing information and advice to businesses and 

community groups regarding funding opportunities (e.g. 

Low Carbon Workspaces) and means to reduce emissions 

from fleet vehicles (e.g. the Electric Vehicles for Businesses 

Project)

•	 Encouraging individuals to adopt more environmentally 

friendly behaviours via the AWorld app

•	 Instigating large-scale communication activities (e.g. 

the Green Wheels in Motion event, and Bucks’ Climate 

Challenge) to make information about tackling climate 

change more prevalent and accessible  

Further details are provided in the ‘Activity against Actions’ 

section.

Progress against Objective B: Support communities to achieve net zero carbon emissions

12

P
age 246



13

Progress against Aim 2:

Improve air quality across Buckinghamshire 
pursuant to achieving national air quality 
objectives 

There has been a consistent reduction in recorded levels 

of nitrogen dioxide (NO2) at most monitoring locations for 

the last five years (2017 - 2021) (please see graphs 2-7) and 

in 2020 there was a significant reduction in recorded NO2. 

In 2021, air quality monitoring showed there was only one 

exceedance of the annual mean National Air Quality 

Objective for NO2 within Buckinghamshire. This was located 

within the Stoke Road Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) 

in Aylesbury. However, once the data was bias adjusted and 

the distance was corrected an exceedance was no longer 

recorded.

It’s of note that recorded concentrations of NO2 have not 

returned to pre-Covid pandemic levels. This may be a result 

of a shift of people’s/organistions behaviour following the 

pandemic to work from home more or to use alternative forms 

of transport.

Graph 2 
Annual Mean NO2 Concentrations Recorded in  
Chesham AQMA

P
age 247

https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/assets/documents/National_air_quality_objectives.pdf
https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/assets/documents/National_air_quality_objectives.pdf


Graph 3  
Annual Mean NO2 Concentrations Recorded in 
Friarage Road and Tring Road AQMAs (Aylesbury)

Graph 4 
Annual Mean NO2 Concentrations Recorded in 
Marlow AQMA

14

P
age 248



Graph 5 
Annual Mean NO2 Concentrations Recorded in 
South Buckinghamshire AQMAs

Graph 6 
Annual Mean NO2 Concentrations Recorded in 
Stoke Road AQMA (Aylesbury)

15

P
age 249



Graph 7 
Annual Mean NO2 Concentrations Recorded in 
High Wycombe AQMA

Progress against Objective C: Reduce emissions 
to air from all council operations

As mentioned in the progress made against objective C there 

has been a 32% reduction of the Council’s greenhouse gas 

(GHG) emissions compared to our emissions from ‘18/’19 

and a 70% reduction of GHG emissions compared to those 

from 1990. Similar reductions have been achieved regarding 

emissions of nitrogen oxides, particulate matter, and other air 

pollutants. 

16

P
age 250



Progress against Objective D: Reduce human 
exposure to harmful levels of air pollution

As there has been a consistent reduction in recorded levels 

of nitrogen dioxide (NO2) at most monitoring locations for 

the last five years (2017 - 2021) (please see graphs 2-7) and 

annual mean NO2 concentrations at all recorded locations are 

below the National Air Quality Objective (including the Stoke 

Road Air Quality Management Area where, once the data was 

bias adjusted and the distance was corrected, an exceedance 

was no longer recorded) human health will generally benefit.

 

The Council’s Strategic Environmental Protection Team 

continues to provide comments on planning applications 

regarding the air quality impacts of proposed developments 

with the aim of mitigating human exposure to harmful levels 

of air pollution.

17

P
age 251

http://National Air Quality Objective


Activity against actions

Details of activities against the actions Climate 
Change and Air Quality Strategy are provided in 
the following sections. 

Governance and 
Management

Response to Minimum Energy Efficiency 
Legislation consultation (re Action 1)

In December 2020 the Council issued a response to a 

consultation by the Department for Business, Energy 

and Industrial Strategy (BEIS) - “Improving the energy 

performance of privately rented homes”. The consultation 

asked for views on a range of options for improving the 

Minimum Energy Efficiency Standards legislation which 

currently requires landlords in the private rental sector to 

ensure properties have a minimum EPC (Energy Performance 

Certificate) rating of “E”. The most likely option would see this 

raised to “C” between 2025 and 2028, alongside an increase 

in the financial penalties for non-compliance. 

The council was broadly supportive of the proposals, while 

also raising concerns about the risk of a decrease in the 

available PRS stock should landlords seek to exit the sector 

following the changes. 

Response to Defra’s consultation on the 
Designation of the National Highways as a 
Relevant Public Authority (re Action 1) 

Defra carried out a national consultation from 28 March to 6 

June 2022 on their proposal to designate National Highways 

as a relevant public authority thereby bringing National 

Highways into the statutory Local Air Quality Management 

Framework. The consultation also outlined proposed statutory 

guidance setting out how local authorities and National 

Highways should work together. The Council’s Strategic 

Environmental Protection Team, working with other key 

departments provided a technical response.

18

P
age 252

https://consult.defra.gov.uk/industrial-pollution-control/consultation-on-designation-of-national-highways/


19

Response to Defra’s consultation on the review 
of the Local Air Quality Management Policy 
Guidance (re Action 1) 

Defra carried out a second national consultation from 28th 

March 2022 until 6 June 2022 to seek views on the planned 

revision to the statutory Local Air Quality Management 

(LAQM) Policy Guidance. 

The LAQM statutory guidance sets out what local authorities 

should do and the legal duties with which they must comply 

under Part IV of the Environment Act 1995, to improve local air 

quality.  The guidance is being revised to reflect the legislative 

changes introduced through the Environment Act 2021 and 

clarify roles and responsibilities within local government. The 

Council’s Strategic Environmental Protection Team provided a 

detailed response to the consultation.

P
age 253



Interdepartmental Working Groups (re Action 3)

In addition to the establishment Council Land Tree Planting 

Programme Board (which oversees matters in relation to the planting 

of 543,000 trees on Council Land) 3 interdepartmental groups have 

been created so far to oversee and progress initiatives relevant to the 

Climate Change and Air Quality Strategy: 

•	 The Domestic Retrofit Programme Board is concerned with 

emissions mitigation and climate change adaptation initiatives at 

domestic properties (and includes representatives from the Climate 

Response and Housing Teams)  

•	 The Electric Vehicle Charging Infrastructure (EVCI) Working 

Group deals with matters related to public, and Council fleet 

and staff electric vehicle charging (and includes representatives 

from the Parking Services, Transport Strategy, Air Quality, Energy 

Management, Waste Management, Highways, Property & Assets, 

and Climate Response Teams). 

•	 The Council Estate and Climate Change Board oversees initiatives 

to reduce emissions from and enhance the resilience of (regarding 

climate change) the Council’s estate (and includes representatives 

from Property & Assets, Climate Response, and Energy 

Management Teams).

20

P
age 254



Monitoring and Reporting

Council Emissions

Automatic Meter Reading Meter Rollout Update 
(re Action 7

Automated Meter Reading (AMR) meters send accurate 

meter readings to energy suppliers on a monthly basis (or 

more frequently). The Council has been managing a roll out 

of AMR meters on its gas and electricity supplies to: reduce 

the burden of taking manual meter readings and managing 

matters in relation to estimated energy consumption (e.g. 

financial reconciliation regarding energy bills), and improve 

the management of energy and data accuracy for carbon 

emissions reporting. To date AMR meters have been installed 

on 75% and 80% of the Council’s gas and electricity supplies 

respectively.  

County-wide Emissions 

Air Pollutant Sensor Trial (re Action 8) 

The Council’s Strategic Environmental Protection Team, in 

conjunction with Spelthorne Borough Council, Ricardo E&E 

and Heathrow Airport, was awarded a grant of £124,399 from 

Defra’s Air Quality Grant in 2020/21 to test new real time air 

quality monitoring sensors including electrochemical and 

particulate sensors, and electronic diffusion tubes (EDT) to 

monitor air pollution around Heathrow Airport. Several factors 

including a delay in receiving the funding, EDTs no longer 

being available to test and complications in purchasing multi-

pollutant sensors, in addition to the arrival of the Covid-19 

pandemic, resulted in a review and amendment to the original 

grant proposal. (N.B. a full copy of the report is available on 

the Council’s website Air Quality Review and Assessment - 

Buckinghamshire Council – South Bucks Area). 

21

P
age 255

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/3-million-boost-for-innovative-local-air-quality-improvements--4
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/3-million-boost-for-innovative-local-air-quality-improvements--4
https://www.southbucks.gov.uk/Review-and-Assessment
https://www.southbucks.gov.uk/Review-and-Assessment


Following the review, several different types of sensors were deployed 

and tested to establish how reliable the results of the monitoring obtained 

were. It was concluded that the sensors tested were not yet a ‘fit and forget 

system’ as the air quality data obtained required ongoing quality control. 

Therefore, caution is required when utilising raw data from such sensors. 

In addition, issues with operational requirements, reliability, drift and the 

expense in purchasing and completing the required quality control meant 

there were several major limitations to running such sensors/systems. 

As the sensors are such a new technology manufacturers also produce 

updated models quite frequently resulting in older models being out of date 

quickly and no longer being supported by the manufacturer so they can 

have a short lifespan.  

The Council along with Ricardo E&E are however eager to work with the 

manufacturers of multi-pollutant sensor to enable them to be a more viable 

option in the future.

Photo showing a Vaisala monitoring sensor

Photo showing a Praxis Cube monitoring sensor

22

P
age 256



NO2 Diffusion Tube Monitoring Locations Review 
(re Action 8)

In December 2021 the NO2 diffusion tube monitoring locations 

present throughout the county were reviewed. This is 

completed annually to establish if any additional monitoring 

points are required where there is the potential for breaches 

of the national air quality objectives to occur. This may be 

following significant developments such as new housing or 

new road schemes within the county or from an increase in 

observed levels of traffic. 

The diffusion tube monitoring data collected is also reviewed. 

Where significant data exists to show there are low levels of 

pollution present and that there will be no breaches in the 

national air quality objectives, that monitoring may be closed, 

and the diffusion tube moved to a new monitoring location. 

Maps showing the NO2 diffusion tube monitoring locations 

can be found in the latest Annual Status Report. 

Air Quality Annual Status Report (re Action 9)

The submission of an Annual Status Report (ASR) is 

a statutory requirement under the Local Air Quality 

Management Framework as set out in Part IV of the 

Environment Act (1995) and the relevant Policy and Technical 

Guidance documents. The report provides an annual review of 

air quality, the results of all air quality monitoring undertaken 

and outlines the actions the council has taken in the previous 

calendar year to improve air quality within the county.  

The latest Annual Status Report (ASR) for Buckinghamshire 

was submitted to Defra on 30 June 2022. The report will be 

made available on our website shortly. However the report 

from 2021 is currently available to view. 

23

P
age 257

https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/environment/air-and-water-quality/air-quality-status-report-2021/
https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/environment/air-and-water-quality/air-quality-status-report-2021/


The Council’s emissions 

Modular Solar PV, Battery Storage and Electric 
Vehicle Charging Infrastructure (EVCI) Solution 
(re Actions 10 and 20)

The Council has been exploring the potential to site standard 

solar PV canopies and battery storage technologies alongside 

EVCI solutions. Standard solar canopy products offered 

by the market: require high capital investment or complex 

lease and power purchase agreements to be established; 

can cause significant disruption to car park operations while 

being constructed; and may not be suitable for some car park 

sites [due to shading, size, or matters affecting the ability 

to attain planning permission for their installation (such as 

heritage impacts)]. One company has developed a prototype 

modularised solution that can help overcome these barriers, 

and has recently started trialling it in a private car park.

On 17 June 2022, the Council submitted a bid for £320,076.24 

of LEVI pilot funding trial the modularised hybrid EVCI 

solution for eight years at Wendover Library Car Park. 

It predominantly uses solar photovoltaic canopies (16.56kWp 

total installed capacity), battery storage (240kWh battery 

capacity) and energy management technologies to provide 

power to 12 charge points (CPs). The solution would be 

connected to the Library’s supply and any excess renewable 

energy could be either used by the Library or exported, 

thereby reducing the Council’s emissions.

Solar Car Ports (re Action 12 and 20)

The Council has engaged with two suppliers regarding the 

potential for solar car ports on Council-owned car parks. 

Initial feasibility work, conducted at the same time the carbon 

audit, indicated that 13 systems could be installed on public 

car parks with a total installed capacity of 2,675kWp (subject 

to supplier surveys). An additional desktop assessment has 

identified the potential to site a 428kWp system on a car park 

next to one of the Council’s operational buildings.

24

P
age 258



Council Land Tree Planting Programme  
(re Actions 13 and 14)

Five thousand eight hundred and sixty trees were planted on 

Council Land in the 2021-2022 planting season. This includes 

trees planted: at Billet Field (on the Council’s agricultural 

estate) (3450 trees); next to Spade Oak Nature Reserve and 

the public highway [with funding from the Local Authority 

Treescapes Fund (LATF)] (586 trees); as part of Queens 

Green Canopy (QGC) work in Buckinghamshire (168 trees); 

and, by Chiltern Rangers (1656 trees).

The Council’s Climate Response Team secured an England 

Woodland Creation Offer grant of £28,380.00 for the Billet 

Field Wood project and has registered it with the UK Land 

Carbon Registry. It’s calculated that the project will remove 

~411 TCO2e by 2122.

25

P
age 259

Council Land Tree Planting Programme (re Actions 13 and 14)
Five thousand eight hundred and sixty trees were planted on Council Land in the 2021-2022 planting season. This includes trees planted: at Billet Field (on the Council’s agricultural estate) (3450 trees); next to Spade Oak Nature Reserve and the public highway [with funding from the Local Authority Treescapes Fund (LATF)] (586 trees); as part of Queens Green Canopy (QGC) work in Buckinghamshire (168 trees); and, by Chiltern Rangers (1656 trees).
The Council’s Climate Response Team secured an England Woodland Creation Offer grant of £28,380.00 for the Billet Field Wood project and has registered it with the UK Land Carbon Registry. It’s calculated that the project will remove ~411 TCO2e by 2122.

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/local-authority-treescapes-fund
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/local-authority-treescapes-fund
https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/community-and-safety/the-queens-platinum-jubilee/
https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/community-and-safety/the-queens-platinum-jubilee/
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/england-woodland-creation-offer
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/england-woodland-creation-offer


Behaviour 

Guidance on the management of supplier 
contracts for environmental betterment draft 
(re Action 15)

Following the adoption of the Climate Change and Air Quality 

Strategy, services across the Council have acknowledged 

and responded to it. One notable example is Neighbourhood 

Services – representatives from this service engaged the 

Council’s Climate Response Team regarding options to 

reduce the environmental impacts of a contract to replace 

cremators at Chilterns Crematorium. This prompted the 

Climate Response Team’s production and dissemination of 

draft guidance on the management of supplier contracts for 

environmental betterment.

Climate Change Awareness and Carbon Literacy 
Training (re Action 16)

On 28 April two~1 hour internal climate change awareness 

training sessions were held for members, which included 

details of how the carbon mitigation hierarchy is applied to 

decision-making to help reduce emissions from individuals’ 

activities. The sessions were attended by 52 members.

An external training provider was engaged to deliver a day’s 

worth of training in June to help 13 individuals become 

certified as Carbon Literate against the requirements of the 

Carbon Literacy Project. It’s hoped that the Council can 

become a Bronze tier Carbon Literate Organisation as a result 

of the training.

Internal Communications and Behaviour Change 
(re Action 16)

Weekly ‘Together’ internal emails to all staff have included 

messaging to encourage staff to ‘waste less and save more’ 

(on Earth Day); adopt emissions reducing behaviour (on 

Clean Air Day); use active travel modes (for National Walking 

Month); use the AWorld App; and go plastic free in July. 

Plastic free July staff vlog

26

P
age 260

https://carbonliteracy.com/
https://carbonliteracy.com/organisation/
https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/news/buckinghamshire-council-becomes-the-first-local-authority-in-the-uk-to-support-aworld/


The Council’s  
Operational Estate

Operational Buildings

Heat Decarbonisation Work (re Action 17)

Our work to decarbonise heating systems across our operational estate since 

the adoption of the Strategy includes the following:

•	 the production of heat decarbonisation plans for 13 sites (using a third party)

•	 taking forward two air source heat pump projects with grants of £127,690 and 

£86,580 from the Public Sector Decarbonisation Scheme

•	 submitting an application to the Public Sector Low Carbon Skills Fund for 

heat decarbonisation plans/detailed design plans for 7 sites 

 
Transition to Cloud Based Servers (re Action 17)

Over the past 18 months, we have replaced over 260 of our traditional on-site 

computer servers with the Microsoft ‘Azure’ Cloud service. Moving these out of 

sites in Aylesbury, Amersham and Wycombe to more energy efficient servers 

based in the cloud is estimated to save over 156 tonnes of carbon a year.

27

P
age 261



Transport 

Internal Communications and Staff Travel 
(re Action 22)

Weekly ‘Together’ internal emails to all staff have included  

items on:

•	 the Cycle to Work scheme 

•	 one staff member’s experience of driving an electric car for 12 

months

•	 the benefits of securing an electric car via the car benefit 

scheme from CPC Drive/Tusker

111 employees have used the Cycle to Work scheme since May 

2020 and in 2021 20.6% of all bikes purchased under the scheme 

were e bikes; and 56% of all orders placed with CPC Drive/

Tusker since October 2018 have been for either electric or hybrid 

vehicles.

Travel for Work Purposes

Upcycling and Electrifying a Refuse Collection 
Vehicle (re Action 24)

Following submission of a bid in 2021 to Defra’s Air Quality Grant, 

the Council was awarded £578,000 to upcycle and electrify a 

refuse collection vehicle (RCV). Once the retrofit work has been 

completed it’s anticipated that the zero tailpipe emissions RCV 

will travel 412 miles a week on collection routes in the north 

of Aylesbury, including roads in three air quality management 

areas. As a result it’s estimated over 10 tonnes of greenhouse 

gases (CO2e), 69 kg of oxides of nitrogen (NOx), and half a kilo of 

particulate matter emissions will be saved per year.

28

P
age 262

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/116m-boost-for-local-authorities-to-tackle-air-pollution
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/116m-boost-for-local-authorities-to-tackle-air-pollution
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/116m-boost-for-local-authorities-to-tackle-air-pollution


29

Family Time Services’ New Electric Vehicles (EV)  
and EV Charging Infrastructure (re Action 24) 

Two new fleet electric vehicle charging points were installed at Family 
Time Services’ operational sites in High Wycombe and Aylesbury 
(in March and June) to support the replacement of two diesel multi-
purpose vehicles (MPVs) with battery electric vehicle alternatives. 
Just one of these replacements will result in the following emission 
savings over the next 5 years: 6.97 tonnes of CO2e, 62.36 kgs of 
carbon monoxide, 9.97 kgs of oxides of nitrogen (NOx), and 0.56 kgs 

of particulate matter. 

Commuting and Working from Home

Work Smart (re Actions 26 and 46)

Office based Council employees worked from home during COVID-19 
pandemic lockdown periods as a result of the swift introduction of IT 
systems and hardware that enabled remote working. Exceptions to this 
were those who did not have a suitable working environment at home, 
or access to equipment only available in the office, or had wellbeing 
reasons. Work Smart was introduced in October 21 – reducing the time 
‘any desk’ employees must be in the office to 40% of their working 
week, working from home for the remainder of the week. Managers 
decide on how best to balance the home/office working patterns of 
teams to ensure that required performance standards can be met while 
social and environmental benefits can still be realised.

Work Smart programme workstyles

P
age 263



Suppliers and partners 

Partners
 
Local Authority Treescapes Fund (LATF) 2021 Bid  
(re Action 27)

In 2021, the Council’s Climate Response Team secured over £203k from a 

LATF bid to support tree projects led by several organisations including: 

Transition Town Marlow, Sue Ryder Prayer Fellowship, Chiltern Rangers 

C.I.C., Haddenham Parish Council, Buckland Parish Council, and Transport 

for Buckinghamshire. 817 trees were planted in the ‘21/’22 planting season 

as a result. 

Deputy Cabinet Member for Environment Jilly Jordan

30

P
age 264

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/local-authority-treescapes-fund#what-is-the-local-authority-treescapes-fund


31

Wendover Wharf Road Campus Decarbonisation 
project (re Action 27)

The Council has supported Buckinghamshire Community 

Energy regarding the Wendover Wharf Road Campus 

Decarbonisation project – which assessed the feasibility 

of establishing a district heat network (powered by a 

groundsource heat pump) for seven buildings: John Colet 

School, John Hampden School, Wendover Junior School, 

Wendover Swimming Pool, Wendover Youth Centre, 

Wendover Memorial Hall and Little Acorns Kindergarten. It 

also identified the potential for installing insulation and other 

energy efficiency measures (to reduce energy demand) and 

a solar PV system. The feasibility study was conducted by 

ReEnergise and funded by the Rural Community Energy Fund.

In July 2022 the results of the assessment were published. 

It concluded that the best option would be for air source 

heat pumps to be installed when the (relatively new) existing 

boilers reach the end of their lives. Cavity wall, loft or roof 

insulation, and point of use (PoU) water heaters could reduce 

heat and hot water demand on the Campus by nearly 20%. 

The installation of solar PV panels on the roofs could provide 

as much as 450MWh of electricity, which equates to about 

63% of actual demand.
Imagery ©2022 Getmapping plc, Infoterra Ltd & Bluesky, Maxar 
Technologies, The GeoInformation Group, Map data ©2022

P
age 265

https://buckscommunityenergy.org/
https://buckscommunityenergy.org/


Schools and Academies

School Travel Plan Success (re Action 28)

The Council’s Travel to School team provides advice to schools on travelling 

sustainably. While their primary focus is to encourage active travel and reduce 

the number of car journeys to school altogether, they also provide information 

on anti-idling. Information is provided in newsletters and to schools in the 

course of working with them on their school travel plans. 

The team also deliver initiatives such as the Footsteps training scheme, 

bikeability training and Walk Once a Week (WOW) incentive scheme. In April 

2022 Buckinghamshire Council came 2nd place in the Modeshift STARS 

league table for the country, with a total of 64 accredited school travel plans 

across the county. Three schools have also achieved platinum status. 

 

Ad-hoc Support for Schools (re Action 29)

While a specific service for schools hasn’t been formalised, ad hoc support 

for schools from the Council’s Energy and Climate Change Team continues. 

This included helping Stony Dean School explore the potential to transition 

its vehicles over to electric alternatives in Sept/Oct 2021. Information was 

provided regarding the emission and financial savings that could be achieved.

32

P
age 266

https://schooltravelplanning.com/?dm_i=5438%2CHU9U%2C4CAIDB%2C22XHX%2C1
https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/news/scooting-to-the-stars-buckinghamshire-schools-recognised-with-modeshift-stars-awards/
https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/news/scooting-to-the-stars-buckinghamshire-schools-recognised-with-modeshift-stars-awards/


The Council’s Investment Estate

Planned New Ambulance Resource Facility in 
High Wycombe (re Action 30)

The Council approved a proposal in July 2021 regarding a 

state-of-the-art new ambulance resource facility in High 

Wycombe (subject to a successful planning application). 

Under the existing agreement the Council will build a 

sustainable and environmentally focused new facility 

(including high levels of insulation, a heat pump and electric 

vehicle charging points) to South Central Ambulance 

Services’ design and specification. South Central Ambulance 

Services would then lease the facility through a long-term 

rental arrangement.  

Suppliers

Solar PV at Amersham Depot, Highways Term 
Maintenance Services Contract, Electric Vehicle 
Charging Point Investigation at Leisure Centres 
(re Action 32)

In March 2021 it was announced that Veolia (which delivers the 

South Buckinghamshire Waste Collection and Street Cleaning 

Contract) had completed work on a large solar PV system at the 

Amersham Depot. The system includes 136 solar PV panels and 

saves 12.25 tonnes of CO2e per annum.

Work with other suppliers has included: building in emission 

reduction considerations in the highways term maintenance contract 

that has been awarded to Balfour Beatty (and commences on 1 April 

2023), and asking Everyone Active (in May 2022) to explore the 

potential to install electric vehicle charge points at leisure centre 

sites in Buckinghamshire.

33

P
age 267

https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/news/green-light-for-new-high-wycombe-ambulance-hub-proposal/
https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/news/green-light-for-new-high-wycombe-ambulance-hub-proposal/
https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/news/green-light-for-new-high-wycombe-ambulance-hub-proposal/
https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/news/veolia-working-to-create-a-more-sustainable-future/
https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/news/veolia-working-to-create-a-more-sustainable-future/
https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/news/council-announces-new-partner-to-continue-programme-of-highways-improvements/
https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/news/council-announces-new-partner-to-continue-programme-of-highways-improvements/
https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/news/council-announces-new-partner-to-continue-programme-of-highways-improvements/


Water Source Heat Pumps and Solar PV at the Chilterns Lifestyle Centre (re Action 32)

Funding of £345,386 was awarded to Buckinghamshire Council by BEIS via the Public Sector Decarbonisation Scheme. The funding 

was used to install water source heat pumps and 450 roof-mounted solar photovoltaic panels at the new Chiltern’s Lifestyle Centre in 

Amersham (operated by Everyone Active). The water source heat pumps are the main source of heat for the two new swimming pools, 

providing heating to both the pool water and pool hall environment. The system is highly efficient and will save up to 180 tonnes of 

CO2e per annum, compared to a traditional gas boiler system. The photovoltaic solar panel system is estimated to save 36.74 tonnes of 

CO2e per year.

Solar PV at the Chilterns Lifestyle Centre

34

P
age 268

https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/news/new-grant-to-boost-chilterns-lifestyle-centres-green-credentials/
https://chilternslifestylecentre.com/
https://www.everyoneactive.com/centre/chilterns-lifestyle-centre/


Gas and Electricity Supplies

25% of Purchased Electricity from 
Renewable Sources (re Action 33)

As of 1 October 2022, 25% of the electricity we 

use will be purchased from renewable sources. 

This decision helps support the renewable 

generation sector, reduces emissions of 

greenhouse gases and other air pollutants, and 

our dependence on fossil fuels. The extraction, 

processing, and transportation of fossil fuels has 

various negative environmental impacts so this 

purchasing decision helps improve the Council’s 

environmental performance overall.

This change is forecast to save nearly 1,000 

tonnes of carbon emissions per year.

(left to right) Councillor Gareth Williams, Cabinet Member for Climate Change 
and Environment and Councillor Steven Broadbent, Cabinet Member for 
Transport, at one of Buckinghamshire’s EV charging points

35

P
age 269

https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/news/buckinghamshire-council-to-hit-25-renewable-electricity-target/
https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/news/buckinghamshire-council-to-hit-25-renewable-electricity-target/


South Buckinghamshire Waste Collection  
and Street Cleaning Contract

South Buckinghamshire Waste Collection and Street 
Cleaning Contract Vehicle Emission Reductions 
Activities (re Actions 34, 35, and 36)

Several emissions reduction projects have been implemented by 

Veolia since the company took on the contract to deliver household 

waste collections and street cleansing services in the Chiltern, 

Wycombe and South Bucks areas from 7 September 2020.  All of 

their vacuum sweepers in operation in Buckinghamshire have dust 

suppression systems, electric vehicle charging points have been 

installed at their waste depots, electric vans were introduced to 

their fleet in 2020, and they started to use hybrid street sweepers in 

2021. In addition all their new vehicles are automatically fitted with 

telematics systems. 

The new in-cab technology

36

P
age 270

https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/news/new-recycling-and-waste-contract-announced/
https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/news/new-recycling-and-waste-contract-announced/
https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/news/new-recycling-and-waste-contract-announced/
https://www.veolia.co.uk/press-releases/veolia-working-behalf-buckinghamshire-create-more-sustainable-future
https://www.veolia.co.uk/press-releases/veolia-working-behalf-buckinghamshire-create-more-sustainable-future


37

County-wide

Buckinghamshire Council Electric Vehicle Action 
Plan 2022-2027 (re Action 38) 

On 7 June 2022 the Council adopted a 5-year Action Plan 

to support the transition of the county to electric vehicles 

(EVs). The Action Plan covers a range of measures, including 

doubling the number of EV charging parking spaces across 

Buckinghamshire by 2023/4 and an ambition to have more 

than 1,000 publicly-available charging spaces across the 

county by 2027. This addresses the government’s electric 

vehicle infrastructure strategy, which aims to have 300,000 

publicly-available charge points across the UK by 2030. 

Response to Defra’s consultation on 
Environmental Targets (re Actions 1 and 39) 

The Environment Act 2021 requires the government to set 

at least one long-term target in each of the following areas: 

air quality, water, biodiversity, and resource efficiency and 

waste reduction. The Clean Air Strategy 2019 also gives a 

commitment to set a legally binding target for PM2.5. Defra 

therefore carried out a national consultation from 16 March 

2022 until 27 June 2022 on these new proposed targets. 

For air quality the consultation proposed to introduce the 

following target for PM2.5:

•	 Annual Mean Concentration Target (‘concentration target’) 

– a target of 10 micrograms per cubic metre (µg m-3) to be 

met across England by 2040.

•	 Population Exposure Reduction Target (‘exposure reduction 

target’) – a 35% reduction in population exposure by 2040 

(compared to a base year of 2018).

The Council’s Strategic Environmental Protection Team, 

working with other key departments provided a technical 

response.

P
age 271

https://buckinghamshire.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=337&MeetingId=17440
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Ftracking.news.buckinghamshire.gov.uk%2Ftracking%2Fclick%3Fd%3D6STqbI0j3hQuAQYoKbuChoQ29XUI2jSbBfdMjG6A0hVTy1WVYJqXi1SWpTfu-ENNYuc8PoVyBYXGWGxXMiP5NSoM3OLWqgd-HS3GzdrZn_60EgH_O0K9mEpki1q_pDXyhlpg19ENpSYZiCG22_4VM7neY-9Biq1H8g3AFExVhprEVithOfqh6ibwQmxIJ3pwi4dIl1zMaZb1Afhk0eH5RR81&data=05%7C01%7Cwebupdates%40buckinghamshire.gov.uk%7Ce5ac77d7976e4cab699508da4a2534e3%7C7fb976b99e2848e180861ddabecf82a0%7C0%7C0%7C637903820906356024%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=f3HiZUtRFiET2AjW33u0ssTEMZfK%2FAP9MZnkhjsOqoM%3D&reserved=0
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Ftracking.news.buckinghamshire.gov.uk%2Ftracking%2Fclick%3Fd%3D6STqbI0j3hQuAQYoKbuChoQ29XUI2jSbBfdMjG6A0hVTy1WVYJqXi1SWpTfu-ENNYuc8PoVyBYXGWGxXMiP5NSoM3OLWqgd-HS3GzdrZn_60EgH_O0K9mEpki1q_pDXyhlpg19ENpSYZiCG22_4VM7neY-9Biq1H8g3AFExVhprEVithOfqh6ibwQmxIJ3pwi4dIl1zMaZb1Afhk0eH5RR81&data=05%7C01%7Cwebupdates%40buckinghamshire.gov.uk%7Ce5ac77d7976e4cab699508da4a2534e3%7C7fb976b99e2848e180861ddabecf82a0%7C0%7C0%7C637903820906356024%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=f3HiZUtRFiET2AjW33u0ssTEMZfK%2FAP9MZnkhjsOqoM%3D&reserved=0
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/clean-air-strategy-2019
https://consult.defra.gov.uk/industrial-pollution-control/consultation-on-designation-of-national-highways/


Transportation 

2021 Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing 
Policy (re Action 40)

A new Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 

came into force in September 2021 with the aim of improving 

the environment and air quality by encouraging the use of low 

and ultra-low emission [such as electric, hybrid or liquefied 

petroleum gas (LPG)] taxi and private hire vehicles (PHVs). 

From the date of the implementation of the policy zero and 

ultra-low emission vehicles will be licensed for up to 15 years, 

and all other vehicles will be licensed for up to 10 years 

(except for wheelchair accessible and prestigious vehicles 

which can also be licensed for 15 year).  

As a result of the Council’s vehicle age policy, over 90% of 

taxis and PHVs now meet Euro 5 emission standards as a 

minimum and a third now meet the higher Euro 6 emission 

standards.  The Council aims to only issue licences to ultra-

low or zero emission vehicles by 2030. 

38

P
age 272

https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/parking-roads-and-transport/taxis-and-private-hire/taxi-licence-applications/hackney-carriage-and-private-hire-licensing-policy/
https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/parking-roads-and-transport/taxis-and-private-hire/taxi-licence-applications/hackney-carriage-and-private-hire-licensing-policy/


New and Innovative Electric Vehicle Charging 
Infrastructure (re Action 42)

The Council secured £105k in 2021 from the On Street 

Residential Chargepoint Scheme to install 32 new 

electric vehicle chargepoints (EVCPs) in car parks in 

Buckinghamshire. In addition, the On-Street Residential 

Induction Charger demonstrator project resulted in cutting 

edge induction charging bays and specialised electric hire 

vehicles being introduced in Liston Road Car Park (Marlow) in 

September 2021 and in Summer’s Road Car Park in Burnham 

in October 2021.

On 17th June 2022 the Council submitted an application for 

£2.47m to the LEVI Fund for in-pavement cable channels, 

lamp post/bollard style chargepoints (20 EVCPs), an EV car 

club with induction charging, and a solar canopy car port with 

battery storage and 12 EVCPs. The Council has also submitted 

another bid to the On Street Residential Chargepoint Scheme 

(on the 20th July 2022) which should fund an additional 64 

chargepoints in 16 public car park locations.

39
EV charging points in Chesham 

EV charging points being installed in Aylesbury

P
age 273

http://The Council secured £105k in 2021 from the On Street Residential Chargepoint Scheme to install 32 new electric vehicle chargepoints (EVCPs) in car parks in Buckinghamshire. In addition, the On-Street Residential Induction Charger demonstrator project resulted in cutting edge induction charging bays and specialised electric hire vehicles being introduced in Liston Road Car Park (Marlow) in September 2021 and in Summer’s Road Car Park in Burnham in October 2021.
On 17th June 2022 the Council submitted an application for £2.47m to the LEVI Fund for in-pavement cable channels, lamp post/bollard style chargepoints (20 EVCPs), an EV car club with induction charging, and a solar canopy car port with battery storage and 12 EVCPs. The Council has also submitted another bid to the On Street Residential Chargepoint Scheme (on the 20th July 2022) which should fund an additional 64 chargepoints in 16 public car park locations.

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/grants-for-local-authorities-to-provide-residential-on-street-chargepoints/grants-to-provide-residential-on-street-chargepoints-for-plug-in-electric-vehicles-guidance-for-local-authorities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/grants-for-local-authorities-to-provide-residential-on-street-chargepoints/grants-to-provide-residential-on-street-chargepoints-for-plug-in-electric-vehicles-guidance-for-local-authorities
https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/news/innovative-wireless-electric-vehicle-charging-comes-to-bucks/
https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/news/innovative-wireless-electric-vehicle-charging-comes-to-bucks/
https://www.osric.co.uk/ecar-club-summers-road/
https://www.osric.co.uk/ecar-club-summers-road/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/grants-for-local-authorities-to-provide-residential-on-street-chargepoints/grants-to-provide-residential-on-street-chargepoints-for-plug-in-electric-vehicles-guidance-for-local-authorities


Haydon Hill Extension to the Waddesdon Greenway 
(re Action 42)

A 650m extension to the ‘Waddesdon Greenway’ was opened in 

August 2021 for people using active travel modes (e.g. walking 

and cycling). It runs from Gogh Road, Haydon Hill to Aylesbury 

Vale Parkway railway station, providing an important connection 

from the Emerald Way cycle route through to the Waddesdon 

Greenway.

It includes a new 15 metre long bridge over the River Thame, 

four new bench seats, additional flood mitigation measures and 

special solar eye lights to illuminate sections of the pathway at 

night; and was funded with a £400k grant from the Department 

for Transport.

Opening of Haydon Hill Greenway extension

Steve Broadbent, on one of the e-bikes, leads the way along 
the new extension.

Steve Broadbent, leads the way along the new extension

40

P
age 274

https://www.itv.com/news/meridian/2021-08-24/new-cycle-route-section-linking-waddesdon-and-aylesbury-is-officially-opened
https://www.itv.com/news/meridian/2021-08-24/new-cycle-route-section-linking-waddesdon-and-aylesbury-is-officially-opened
https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/news/new-haydon-hill-greenway-extension-officially-opens/?dm_i=5438,F1P5,30HOJW,1QBPX,1
https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/news/new-haydon-hill-greenway-extension-officially-opens/?dm_i=5438,F1P5,30HOJW,1QBPX,1


41

Emergency Active Travel Fund Schemes Made 
Permanent (re Action 42)

Following £514k investment from the Department for 

Transport into Emergency Active Travel Fund Schemes (trial 

schemes to reallocate road space and encourage active 

travel during the pandemic), two of the schemes were made 

permanent in April 2022.

In Southcourt (Aylesbury) the ‘Jet Way’ cycle route was 

diverted (following previous severance due to the closure 

of the railway crossing at Old Stoke Road) providing a new 

walking/cycling link from Stoke Mandeville to Aylesbury 

town centre. The scheme includes a segregated cycle lane 

on Churchill Avenue and a ‘point closure’ on Old Stoke Road 

to remove through traffic (to provide a safer environment for 

pedestrians and cyclists).

The second initiative was a ‘quietway’ created on Trinity Road 

in Marlow by closing the road off to traffic and only allowing 

access for pedestrians and cyclists.

Wendover Cycleway Improvements (re Action 42)

Improvements have been made to the existing Amber Way in 

Wendover (connecting Wendover to Aylesbury town centre) 

in order to provide a better route for both pedestrians and 

cyclists (including priority side road crossing). A new link to 

Wendover Rail Station has been included to help improve 

connectivity to rail services. The scheme was delivered using 

£500k from HS2 Ltd.

P
age 275

https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/parking-roads-and-transport/cycling-and-walking/active-travel/


Electric Scooters (re Action 44)

Buckinghamshire Council has 

implemented an Electric Scooter 

rental trial to help support a ‘green’ 

alternative to local travel in Aylesbury, 

High Wycombe, and Princes 

Risborough.  

 

It is due to operate until the end of 

November 2022 and since it began 

in November 2020 there have been 

over 190,000 rental e-scooter journeys 

covering over 210,000 miles (with 

average journey distance of 2 miles).   

As approximately 20%-30% of rides 

are replacing motorised vehicle trips 

it’s estimated that the scheme has 

saved 21.7 tonnes of carbon emissions. 

E-scooter rental scheme, operated by Zipp Mobility

42

P
age 276

https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/parking-roads-and-transport/buckinghamshire-electric-scooter-trial/
https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/parking-roads-and-transport/buckinghamshire-electric-scooter-trial/


Upgrading of traffic signals at Stoke Road 
Gyratory, Aylesbury (re Action 47)
 

In 2021, the Council secured a £500k traffic signals 

maintenance grant from the Department of Transport for 

refurbishing the signals at the Walton Street Gyratory in 

Aylesbury. SCOOT (split cycle offset optimisation technique) 

sensors enable groups of traffic lights to pick up traffic data 

which is then used to synchronise the lights to reduce delays. 

MOVA signals are used at standalone junctions, altering the 

length of time a light stays red according to traffic volume. 

The SCOOT and MOVA (microprocessor optimised vehicle 

actuation) systems will be installed as part of the work to 

make the lights work more efficiently to reduce traffic jams.

New Puffin crossings will also be installed with sensors which 

adapt the length of time the lights stay red according to how 

fast a pedestrian crosses the road. 

The Gyratory junction forms the Stoke Road Air Quality 

Management Area (AQMA) and it’s anticipated that the 

upgrade will also benefit air quality in the local area.

Electric Bikes (re Action 44) 

The Council successfully implemented the first e-bike rental 

scheme in the county in March 2021. The bikes charge up at 

docking stations located at Aylesbury Vale Parkway railway 

station and Waddesdon Manor and are available 365 days a 

year. The scheme is operated by Smoove, and the bikes receive 

repair and maintenance work from Cyclefleet (an organisation 

based in Great Missenden).  

The trial is being conducted for an initial period of 12 months 

and was funded through a grant provided by the Department for 

Transport. From August 2020 until December 2021 a total of 20 

bikes were in operation. During this period the bikes were hired 

3,552 times and covered a total distance of 33,995 kilometres. 

43

E-bike rental scheme

P
age 277

https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/news/new-electric-bike-scheme-waddesdon-greenway/
https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/news/new-electric-bike-scheme-waddesdon-greenway/


44 45

Buildings and Developments

Housing

Green Homes Grant Local Authority Delivery 
Schemes and Sustainable Warmth  
(re Actions 52 and 53)

£7.4m has been secured to deliver energy saving measures in 

local domestic properties with Energy Performance Certificate 

ratings of D, E, F, and G and where the household income is 

≤£30k (from 2020 to March 2023). The funding is split across 

three consecutive schemes – the Green Homes Grant Local 

Authority Delivery Scheme (GHGLAD) 1b, GHGLAD2, and 

Sustainable Warmth. GHGLAD1b funding was awarded following 

submission of a consortium bid with Watford Borough Council 

and the scheme was delivered by the National Energy Foundation 

(as the Managing Agent) – it has resulted in 91 properties in the 

area being retrofitted with energy efficiency measures. 

The Council has worked with four major Residential Social 

Landlords (RSLs) to maximise the opportunity under  

GHGLAD2 to improve the energy performance of their eligible 

housing stock. 

The scheme requires a landlord to match fund a third of the cost 

of the measure(s) installed and the outcomes of GHGLAD2 will 

be known after the scheme closes in September 2022.

Sustainable Warmth will follow GHGLAD2 and support energy 

performance improvements in both eligible on and off-gas grid 

homes with more funding being available for measures in off-gas 

grid homes with lower EPC ratings. GHGLAD2 has largely been 

managed by the Greater South East Net Zero Hub and this will 

continue to be the case for Sustainable Warmth.

P
age 278

https://www.gov.uk/find-energy-certificate
https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/news/bucks-with-watford-to-win-green-homes-bid/
https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/news/bucks-with-watford-to-win-green-homes-bid/
https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/news/more-bucks-homes-to-benefit-from-funding-to-improve-energy-efficiency/
https://www.gsenetzerohub.org.uk/


44 45

Buckinghamshire Solar Together Scheme 
(re Action 53)

A Buckinghamshire Solar Together scheme was launched on 

9 May 2022. The aim of the initiative is to help resident and 

small business owner-occupiers interested in installing solar 

PV and battery storage (with an option for an electric vehicle 

charging point) receive offers for installing these measures 

that are up to 30% less than those typically provided by the 

market. Following a postal mailout to 151,340 addresses 

(identified as potentially being eligible for the scheme), there 

were 6,990 registrations to the scheme. Installers, approved 

by IChoosr, competed (via a reverse auction process in 

summer 2022) to have their offer presented to registrants, 

and registrants received their offers by 28 July 2022. As of 

15th August 2022 over 950 offers have been accepted and it’s 

projected that the scheme will result in 675 tonnes of carbon 

emissions being saved per year.

Economy

Zero Waste Map (re Actions 54 and 55)

The Council marked Zero Waste Week in 2020 (7 – 9 

September) by launching its own local zero waste map. The 

map shows all the shops, recycling points and businesses 

in Buckinghamshire that can help people reduce their waste 

(e.g. a nappy library, zero waste refill shop, furniture repairs or 

just somewhere to recycle a carrier bag).

Zero Waste Map - recycleforbuckinghamshire.co.uk/zerowastemap

P
age 279

https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/news/interactive-map-launched-mark-zero-waste-week/
https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/news/interactive-map-launched-mark-zero-waste-week/
https://www.recycleforbuckinghamshire.co.uk/zerowastemap/
https://www.recycleforbuckinghamshire.co.uk/zerowastemap/


Low Carbon Workspaces (re Action 56)

Low Carbon Workspaces helps businesses reach their net 

zero goals, through grant funding for projects at commercial 

premises that reduce carbon emissions. Projects which lower 

on-site carbon emissions, reduce energy usage, or divert 

waste from landfill are supported by the scheme. These 

include the installation of LED lighting, solar PV systems, 

heating upgrades, insulation/glazing, and many more. The 

team also provide free energy saving advice to those who 

engage with the scheme, and are able to suggest further 

actions that can be taken to decrease carbon emissions 

and save energy costs. Since 2017 200 businesses in 

Buckinghamshire have been assisted by the scheme (with 

£589,546 in grant funding) leading to 662 tonnes CO2e and 

£394,337 energy cost savings per year.

Electric Vehicles for Businesses Project 
(re Action 56)  

The Council’s Strategic Environmental Protection Team were 

awarded £97,900 from Defra’s Air Quality Grant 2021/22 

in Spring 2021 to work with Global Action Plan (GAP) and 

local business engagement groups, to lead a campaign to 

accelerate the mode shift to electric vehicles and e-bikes in 

Buckinghamshire. Under the scheme 30 large employers will 

receive tailored, high quality, and independent support to 

implement actions to increase EV and e-bikes in their own 

operations and to encourage and enable 10,000 of their staff 

to buy or lease EVs and e-bikes taking advantage of attractive 

incentives on offer. 

The initial stages of the project including research into the 

provision of EVs were concluded in 2021. Global Action Plan 

working with Bucks Business First and Globe BID (Business 

Improvement and Delivery) are now in the process of 

engaging with the companies who have joined the scheme. 

More information including FAQ’s on the project can be found 

on our website.

46

P
age 280

https://www.lowcarbonworkspaces.co.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/5-million-boost-for-local-authorities-to-tackle-air-pollution
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/5-million-boost-for-local-authorities-to-tackle-air-pollution
https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/parking-roads-and-transport/parking/electric-vehicle-charging/


2022 Clean Air Day Event (re Action 56)

Buckinghamshire Council in conjunction with Bucks Business 

First, Global Action Plan and the University of Buckingham 

held an event on Clean Air Day (16 June 2022) for local 

businesses.

The day included a ‘Focus on Marketing Your Green 

Credentials’ workshop and a Networking Lunch, where 

attendees joined representatives from Buckinghamshire 

Council, Buckinghamshire Business First and Global Action 

Plan for an update on the support available for businesses 

adopting electric vehicles and creating low-carbon 

workspaces. One-to-one advice was also available from Low 

Carbon Advisers and Global Action Plan to help businesses 

reduce their energy and associated cost, measure their 

carbon footprint, and find out what resources are available to 

start the transition to adopting electric vehicles for individual 

businesses. 

Clean Air Day Event - 16 June 2022

Clean Air Day Event - Keith Cotton from Global Action Plan

47

P
age 281



Communication of Opportunities to Community 
Boards and Businesses (re Action 56)  

Community Board Coordinators have passed on information 

provided by the Council’s Climate Response Team to Community 

Boards regarding funding and other opportunities that can help 

organisations address climate change, including details of the 

following: Rural Community Development Fund, The Greening 

Campaign, HS2 Community and Environment Fund, The Tree 

Council Branching Out Fund, Urban Tree Challenge Fund, Veolia 

Environmental Trust Grants, Gawcott Solar C.I.C.’s Bee Green 

Grant Fund, and Heart of Bucks funding.

The Buckinghamshire Solar Together scheme was advertised on 

the Low Carbon Workspaces website and promoted in an e-shot 

to businesses from Low Carbon Workspaces. Furthermore the 

£250 vouchers offer to businesses by Visit Buckinghamshire to 

reduce their carbon footprint was promoted in an e-shot, and the 

Clean Air Day Networking Lunch was mentioned in a Council 

press release.

48

P
age 282

https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/community-and-safety/improving-your-local-community/
https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/community-and-safety/improving-your-local-community/
https://www.energyhub.org.uk/rural-community-energy-fund/how-to-apply/
http://www.greening-campaign.org/
http://www.greening-campaign.org/
https://hs2funds.org.uk/home/community-environment-fund/
https://treecouncil.org.uk/apply-for-one-of-our-tree-planting-grants/
https://treecouncil.org.uk/apply-for-one-of-our-tree-planting-grants/
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/urban-tree-challenge-fund
https://www.veoliatrust.org/
https://www.veoliatrust.org/
https://gawcottsolar.co.uk/#get_involved
https://gawcottsolar.co.uk/#get_involved
https://heartofbucks.org/green-community-fund/
https://www.lowcarbonworkspaces.co.uk/
https://bbf.uk.com/news/get-a-ps250-voucher-to-help-pay-for-climate-friendly-activity
https://bbf.uk.com/news/get-a-ps250-voucher-to-help-pay-for-climate-friendly-activity
https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/news/buckinghamshire-council-launches-ambitious-electric-vehicle-action-plan/
https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/news/buckinghamshire-council-launches-ambitious-electric-vehicle-action-plan/


Environment, Land  
and Water

Environment Agency Supported Flood Risk 
Management Projects (re Action 57)

Flood risk management projects ongoing with Environment 

Agency support and funding include those in Marlow (Newt 

Ditch), at Pednormead End in Chesham [which includes 

culvert replacement construction work (now planned for 

summer 2023), and Property Flood Resilience (PFR) packages 

for property owners], and Willows estate in Aylesbury. 

Feasibility studies are underway to determine if there are 

viable options for a business case in Sands (High Wycombe), 

Hughenden (High Wycombe), West Marlow, Gawcott and 

Tingewick. Natural Flood Management projects are ongoing 

in and around Buckingham and Winslow areas.

49
Excavations showing issues with rainfall and rising water

Pednormead End, Chesham

P
age 283

https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/environment/flooding-and-flood-risk-management/flood-management-projects/the-newt-ditch-marlow-flood-alleviation-scheme/
https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/environment/flooding-and-flood-risk-management/flood-management-projects/the-newt-ditch-marlow-flood-alleviation-scheme/
https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/environment/flooding-and-flood-risk-management/flood-management-projects/the-pednormead-end-project/


50

AWorld App (re Actions 58 and 60) 

On 22nd April 2022 (Earth Day) Buckinghamshire 

Council became the first local authority in the UK to 

support the AWorld app. AWorld is the official platform 

in support of ActNow, the United Nations campaign for 

individual action on climate change and sustainability. 

The app guides users towards living sustainably. It does 

this by showing people how much energy or water they 

can save by making small changes to their daily lives 

and creating new habits – such as putting the washing 

machine in eco wash mode or unplugging a charger as 

soon as a mobile phone is fully charged.

It’s estimated that 14,466 kgs of CO2, 1.11m litres of water 

and 5346 kWhs of electricity have been saved so far as 

a result of environmentally friendly actions taken and 

recorded on the app.

CONTENT 
TIPS/JOURNEYS USER PROFILE

SUSTAINABLE 
HABITS

SAVINGS AND
IMPACT TRACKER GAMIFICATION

REWARD &
LOYALTY SYSTEM

P
age 284

https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/news/buckinghamshire-council-becomes-the-first-local-authority-in-the-uk-to-support-aworld/
https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/news/buckinghamshire-council-becomes-the-first-local-authority-in-the-uk-to-support-aworld/
https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/news/buckinghamshire-council-becomes-the-first-local-authority-in-the-uk-to-support-aworld/
https://aworld.org/


51

Health and 
Communications

Community Board Air Quality Campaign Toolkits 
(re Action 59)

The Council’s Strategic Environmental Protection Team in 

conjunction with Spelthorne Borough Council and Ricardo 

E&E, were awarded a grant of £91,273 from Defra’s Air Quality 

Grant in 2021/22 to create air quality campaign toolkits for 

use by Community Boards. The toolkits will contain materials, 

advice, and information packs on running campaigns, which 

will enable the Boards, and other organisations/groups within 

their areas, to raise awareness of local air quality issues. An 

air quality sensor will also be included in each pack which will 

record air pollution levels. 

The packs will help educate residents, businesses, and 

visitors (to the area) regarding how they can reduce 

emissions, and provide a basic understanding on air pollutant 

dispersion and how to reduce exposure to air pollution, and 

what the Council is doing to reduce air pollution in their area 

and how they can help. The packs are due to be rolled out in 

September 2022. 

‘Green Wheels in Motion’ Event (re Action 59)

A UN Climate Change Conference (COP 26) related 

transport decarbonisation event was held on Wednesday 10 

November 2021 at the Lunaz Group’s headquarters. It featured 

presentations from Buckinghamshire Council, England’s 

Economic Heartland, Buckinghamshire Business First 

(BBF), the Lunaz Group, Buckinghamshire Local Enterprise 

Partnership, and Buckinghamshire Community Energy, and 

videos from Robert Bosch Ltd. These organisations had 

formed a partnership, led by Buckinghamshire Council, for the 

purpose of submitting a bid for funding for the event from the 

Greater South East Energy Hub. The Council was notified on 

10 September that the bid submitted for £28,500 on 27 August 

had been successful. 

P
age 285

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/116m-boost-for-local-authorities-to-tackle-air-pollution
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/116m-boost-for-local-authorities-to-tackle-air-pollution
https://unfccc.int/conference/glasgow-climate-change-conference-october-november-2021
https://lunaz.group/
https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/
http://\\buckscc\bcc_net\TEE\Environment\Energy & Resources\17 Climate Change\03 Net Zero Carbon 2050\Climate Change Strategy\15 Update\OctNov 2022\englandseconomicheartland
http://\\buckscc\bcc_net\TEE\Environment\Energy & Resources\17 Climate Change\03 Net Zero Carbon 2050\Climate Change Strategy\15 Update\OctNov 2022\englandseconomicheartland
https://bbf.uk.com/
https://bbf.uk.com/
https://www.buckstvlep.co.uk/
https://www.buckstvlep.co.uk/
https://buckscommunityenergy.org/
https://www.bosch.co.uk/
https://www.energyhub.org.uk/


52 53

Bucks’ Climate Challenge (re Actions 59 and 60)

In September 2021, Buckinghamshire Council launched a new 

public awareness campaign to help tackle climate change, 

called the Bucks’ Climate Challenge. The campaign aims to 

generate more environmentally sustainable behaviour and 

activity in Buckinghamshire to contribute to the net zero 

carbon emissions goal and improve air quality. 

A new campaign page on our website was launched, to gather 

all the information in one easily accessible place, including 

grants and schemes to improve the energy performance of 

homes and links to calculators or tips to work out individual 

carbon footprints. We have also updated our refuse vehicles 

with campaign artwork, used social media ads and organic 

posts to carry messaging that will help people respond and/or 

adapt to climate change, and ran a radio ad urging people to 

take action.

Local businesses were contracted by the Council to stage 

the event, including Cube Video (event production) and 

Brickhill Bistro (catering). Char.gy, Zipp Mobility, and 

CycleFleet, suppliers of sustainable transport solutions 

in Buckinghamshire, provided electric vehicle charging, 

e-scooter and e-bike displays and interactive demonstrations. 

Cue facilitated a livestream of the proceedings (which was 

connected to the Council’s YouTube and Facebook pages) 

and a school pupil from Stony Dean School, who submitted 

the winning design for the ‘Design a Green Bus’ competition 

for schools, enjoyed a tour of Lunaz’s vehicle upcycling and 

electrification facility.

Buckinghamshire’s COP26 event ‘Green Wheels in Motion’

P
age 286

https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/campaign/bucks-climate-challenge/
https://cube.video/
https://www.brickhillbistro.co.uk/
https://char.gy/
https://www.zippmobility.com/
https://cue.events/
https://cop26regionalroadshows-gseeh.org.uk/green_wheels_in_motion_event.html
https://www.youtube.com/c/BuckinghamshireCouncil/featured
https://www.facebook.com/BucksCouncil/
https://stonydean.bucks.sch.uk/


52 53

Buckinghamshire Council

Climate Change & 
Air Quality Strategy
2021-2022 Progress Report

P
age 287



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Report to Cabinet    
Date:     Tuesday 11 October 2022 

Title:     Children’s Services Update 

Cabinet Member:   Cllr Anita Cranmer, Cabinet Member for Education and 
    Children’s Services  

Author and/or contact officer:  John Macilwraith, Corporate Director Children’s Services  

Ward (s) affected: All 

Recommendations:   Cabinet is asked to note the national and local  
    developments across the Children’s Services Directorate   

 
1. Executive Summary  
 

1.1 The work of Children’s Services has always been diverse, demand led and 
challenging. The impact of Covid-19 has undoubtably increased levels of 
demand and need that could not have been predicted.   

1.2 The child population continues to increase as do the levels of poverty children 
and families are experiencing. Furthermore, the lasting impact of Covid-19 
pandemic and the ongoing cost of living pressures has added an additional 
layer of complexity to the work of Children’s Services. The performance 
information available to the Service demonstrates that the unprecedented 
surge in demand began at the end of 2020 and has continued through to the 
present day. There are currently no indicators to suggest a return to pre 
pandemic demand levels.  

1.3 Given the complex demand challenges within the system there is a need to 
address increasing financial pressures and ensure affordability and financial 
sustainability through delivery of better outcomes that cost less. Whilst there 
has and continues to be significant focus on improving outcomes for our 
children and young people, the Service wants to refresh its evidence base to 
fully understand the root causes of the current demand coming into the 
system.  This will inform the way in which services are developed and delivered 
in the future, especially as the Service looks to build stronger relationships with 
partners. To support the Service with this work, IMPOWER have been 
commissioned to develop a single programme of change based around a clear 
profile of demand, with a plan for delivery. The aim of this plan is to help 

Page 289

Agenda Item 15



 

maximise the impact and effectiveness of early intervention and prevention, 
alongside our intention for more locality-based support 

1.4 In addition to the local challenges alluded to above, on the horizon there are a 
number of national policy developments that when introduced, will impact on 
the way in which services are delivered to the children and young people of 
Buckinghamshire. Whilst many of the reforms currently lack detail, the Council 
is in support of the Government’s proposals.     

1.5 The Service continues on its improvement journey and our number one 
priority is to strengthen services for children, young people and their families. 
Whilst there is more to do, the Service is confident in its understanding and 
knowledge of what needs to be done.   

2. National Context 
 

2.1 The following section gives an overview of the key national policy 
developments relating to Children’s Services announced by the previous 
Administration. At this stage, the Service remains unclear on the future 
direction and implementation of these policies following the Government 
changes and the appointment of a new Secretary of State for Education. 

Schools White Paper 
 

2.2 At the end of March 2022, the Government published the Opportunity for all: 
strong schools with great teachers for your child. This White Paper sets out 
proposed reforms to the education system focused on providing an excellent 
teacher for every child, delivering high standards of curriculum, behaviour and 
attendance, targeted support for every child that needs it and a stronger and 
fairer school system.  

2.3 The main ambitions of the White Paper are: 

i. for 90% of primary school children to achieve the expected standard 
in Key Stage 2 reading, writing and maths by 2030, and; 

ii. to see the national average GCSE grade in both English language and 
maths increase from 4.5 in 2019 to 5.0 by 2030. 

2.4 Within the White Paper a series of new measures to support the delivery of 
these ambitions include: 

i. By 2030, all children will benefit from being taught in a school in, or 
in the process of joining, a strong multi-academy trust, which will 
help transform underperforming schools and deliver the best 
possible outcomes for children.  

ii. Local authorities are to be permitted to establish trusts and gain the 
legal power to request their non-academy schools join a trust, where 
that is the right approach for local schools. The intention is to allow 
greater equalisation in the way schools are treated at national level, 
whilst permitting the continuation of local authority leadership and 

Page 290

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1063602/Opportunity_for_all_strong_schools_with_great_teachers_for_your_child__print_version_.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1063602/Opportunity_for_all_strong_schools_with_great_teachers_for_your_child__print_version_.pdf


 

support for those schools that wish to receive it under 
commensurate Trust arrangements. 

iii. Schools will offer a minimum school week of 32.5 hours by 
September 2023. 

iv. Ofsted will inspect every school by 2025, including the backlog of 
‘outstanding’ schools that have not been inspected for many years. 

v. At least £100m to put the Education Endowment Foundation on a 
long-term footing so they can continue to evaluate and spread best 
practice in education across the country. 

2.5 Other plans in the White Paper to deliver on improving children’s attainment 
at the end of primary and secondary include: 

i. 500,000 teacher training and development opportunities by 2024. 

ii. £30,000 starting salaries to attract and retain the best teachers. 

iii. A register for children not in school to make sure no child is lost from 
the system. 

iv. Every school to have access to funded training for a senior mental 
health lead to deliver a whole school approach to health and 
wellbeing. 

v. The introduction of a new arm’s-length national curriculum body 
which will create packages of expert-crafted optional, free, 
adaptable digital curriculum resources for schools to use. 

vi. New legislation to create new statutory guidance on attendance, 
including a requirement for every school to publish a clear 
attendance policy. Legislation to include new rules on recording 
attendance. 

vii. The school system working as a whole to raise standards with trusts 
responsible for running schools while local authorities are 
empowered to champion the interests of children. 

viii. A ‘Parent Pledge’ that the Government, via schools, will identify 
children who need help and provide targeted support, including 
small group tuition. The Government has invested £1 billion to 
establish the National Tutoring Programme and promises to deliver 
up to six million tutoring packages by 2024. 

2.6 The Council welcomes the government’s ambitious reform agenda and the 
commitment to a stronger, fairer school system. In addition, the Council 
supports the focus on helping each child meet their potential with the right 
support at right time. The Service will be watching carefully and respond 
accordingly as the further consultations to inform the associated future 
legislation and guidance are progressed, and the Service will provide additional 
updates as more information comes to light. 

 
 

Page 291



 

Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) Green Paper 
 

2.7 At a similar time to the release of the Schools White Paper, the Government 
also published the SEND Review: Right support, right place, right time. This 
consultation sets out proposed reforms for a single, national SEND and 
alternative provision system that will introduce new standards in the quality of 
support given to children across education, health and care. 

2.8 The Green Paper is consulting on ambitious proposals to deliver greater 
national consistency in the support that should be made available, how it 
should be accessed and how it should be funded. It sets out plans for an 
inclusive system, starting with improved mainstream provision that offers early 
and accurate identification of needs, high-quality teaching and prompt access 
to targeted support. 

2.9 Detailed proposals in the SEND and alternative provision green paper include: 

i. Setting new national standards across education, health and care to 
build on the foundations created through the Children and Families 
Act 2014, for a higher performing SEND system. 

ii. A simplified Education, Health and Care Plan through digitising plans 
to make them more flexible, reducing bureaucracy and supporting 
parents to make informed choices via a list of appropriate 
placements tailored to their child’s needs, meaning less time spent 
researching the right school. 

iii. A new legal requirement for councils to introduce ‘local inclusion 
plans’ that bring together early years, schools and post-16 education 
with health and care services, giving system partners more certainty 
on who is responsible and when. 

iv. Improving oversight and transparency through the publication of 
new ‘local inclusion dashboards’ to make roles and responsibilities of 
all partners within the system clearer for parents and young people, 
helping to drive better outcomes. 

v. A new national framework for councils for banding and tariffs of High 
Needs Funding, to match the national standards and offer clarity on 
the level of support expected and put the system on a financially 
sustainable footing in the future. 

vi. Changing the culture and practice in mainstream education to be 
more inclusive and better at identifying and supporting needs, 
including through earlier intervention and improved targeted 
support. 

vii. Improving workforce training through the introduction of a new 
National Professional Qualification for school SEND coordinators and 
increasing the number of staff with an accredited level 3 
qualification in early years settings. 

Page 292

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/send-review-right-support-right-place-right-time


 

viii. A reformed and integrated role for alternative provision, with a new 
delivery model in every local area focused on early intervention.  

2.10 The proposals are backed by new funding to implement them, worth £70 
million. This will build on the £9 billion government investment in local 
authority high needs budgets next year and £2.6 billion for new places for 
children with SEND over the next three years. 

2.11 Later this year, following the completion of the consultation, the DfE will 
publish a national SEND delivery plan, setting out the government’s response 
to the consultation and how the proposals will be implemented.  

2.12 Whilst some of the proposals lack detail at this early stage, the Council believes 
that they will help improve the way that SEND support is delivered to the 
benefit of children and young people with special needs. Further updates will 
be provided as more information on the reforms becomes available.   

 

Children’s Social Care Review 
 

2.13 In 2021, the Government commissioned an independent review of children’s 
social care in England. This “once in a lifetime” review, led by Josh MacAlister, 
was published on 23 May 2022.  

2.14 The outcome of the review is a large and expansive report setting out an 
ambitious and wide-ranging review of the present children’s social care 
system, making several dozen recommendations for reform. The key headlines 
from the review are set out below: 

i. The Government should develop a National Framework for Children’s 
Social Care that sets out clear objectives for the system and practice 
within it. 

ii. The Review asserts that the Funding Formula allocating money to local 
authorities for children’s services is out of date. In the absence of the 
Fair Funding Review being published, government must urgently 
reassess how this formula for children’s services is calculated so it is fit 
for purpose.  

iii. The Review recommends £2.6bn of investment over the period of 
reform between 2023 and 2027 (comprising £46 million in year one, 
£987 million in year two, £1.25 billion in year three and £233 million in 
year four). 

iv. The Review’s primary argument is that loving relationships are what 
traumatised children need to overcome adversity. The first port of call 
should be wider family networks followed by care from the state if this 
is not possible.  

v. To reduce the number of handovers between services, the review 
recommends introducing one category of ‘Family Help’ to replace 
‘targeted early help’ and ‘child in need’ work, providing families with 
much higher levels of meaningful support. This would mean the 

Page 293

https://childrenssocialcare.independent-review.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/05/The-independent-review-of-childrens-social-care-Final-report.pdf
https://childrenssocialcare.independent-review.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/05/The-independent-review-of-childrens-social-care-Final-report.pdf


 

creation of multidisciplinary teams made up of professionals such as 
family support workers, domestic abuse workers and mental health 
practitioners - who, alongside social workers, would provide support 
and cut down on referring families onto other services. Where concerns 
about significant harm of a child emerge, an ‘Expert Child Protection 
Practitioner’, who is an experienced social worker, would co-work 
alongside the ‘Family Help’ Team with responsibility for making key 
decisions. This co-working will provide an expert second perspective 
and remove the need for break points and handovers for children and 
families. 

vi. Services should be community-based and work with and across other 
agencies such as health visiting, schools and nurseries, employment 
services, and the police. The services offered will be tailored to meet 
neighbourhood needs based on a robust needs assessment and 
feedback from the families.  

vii. The DCS role should be given greater levers to champion the interests 
of children and families in local areas and hold partners to account – 
such as “a duty on relevant partner agency strategies that are relevant 
to safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children, for instance 
local mental health plans.” In addition, to ensure all sectors are pulling 
their weight locally, the Review recommends partner agencies be 
required to publish details of their spending on child-related services 
and projects. 

viii. The market for children’s social care must be better commissioned, 
recruited to, managed and run. Responsibility for this transformation of 
local children’s care markets should be placed at regional level with 
new Regional Care Co-operatives (RCC).  Local authorities will no longer 
perform functions in this area themselves but will instead have direct 
involvement in running of RCCs collectively in a region. Children will 
continue to be the care of the local authority. 

ix. Ofsted should be empowered to inspect and oversee the operation and 
functioning of the children’s social care market, including a right to 
access to provider finances. 

x. Foster care recruitment processes should be streamlined to make the 
system more accessible, supported by a campaign to recruit 9000 foster 
carers between 2023 and 2026. 

xi. Kinship care (where a child is allowed to be cared for by an extended 
family member such as a grandparent, as opposed to foster or 
residential care) should be extended and these carers receive similar 
payments and benefits as foster carers. 

xii. Better transition support needs to be put in place for children leaving 
care to access housing and jobs/apprenticeships.  

xiii. The responsibility of the Virtual School should be extended to support 
young people from 18 up to 25. 

Page 294



 

xiv. The report recommends establishing a National Technology Taskforce 
to help identify how IT can provide the means to improve efficiency in 
the system.   

2.15 During the next 6 months, the Government will publish a White Paper, which 
sets out a full response to the review; however, the Government’s initial 
response committed to: 

i. Establishing a National Implementation Board, chaired by Ofsted, of 
sector experts, people with experience of leading transformational 
change and with experience of the care system. 

ii. Work with local authorities to boost efforts to recruit more foster 
carers, including pathfinder local recruitment campaigns and providing 
more support throughout the foster carer application process 

iii. Reframing and refocusing the support social workers receive in the 
early part of their careers, particularly to enhance their skills and 
knowledge in child protection 

iv. Joining up data from across the public sector to increase transparency – 
both between safeguarding partners and to the wider public (more 
detail will be set out later this year). 

v. Establishing a new Digital and Data Solutions Fund to help local 
authorities improve delivery for children and families through 
technology. 

vi. Developing a national children’s social care framework which will set 
direction for the system and point everyone to the best available 
evidence to support families and protect children. 

vii. The Government’s response also committed to funding for family hubs, 
social workers in schools and designated safeguarding lead supervision 
programmes. 

2.16 The report urges Government to introduce legislation to back reform in the 
final year of this parliament (next year’s Queen’s Speech), with an expectation 
of this receiving Royal Assent in Spring 2024. 

2.17 Many professional organisations have welcomed the report. The Association of 
Directors of Children’s Services did so while noting the report “doesn’t shy 
away from the big challenges children, families, public services and society 
faces, in particular the report highlights the need for significant investment in 
rebalancing the social care system towards early family support.” 

2.18 This report reflects many issues that councils have been raising for some time, 
including the need to invest further in early help for children and families, 
better support for kinship carers and making sure that there is the right homes 
for children in care, as well as ensuring better futures for those leaving care. 
Whilst the Council agrees with many of the recommendations in this report, 
there are some significant issues that cannot wait for delivery. In particular, 
the cost of placements for children in care, placements for unaccompanied 
asylum-seeking children and the current workforce challenges. As such, the 

Page 295

https://adcs.org.uk/care/article/adcs-response-independent-review-of-cscs-final-report
https://adcs.org.uk/care/article/adcs-response-independent-review-of-cscs-final-report


 

Council has written to Government officials in relation to the above points and 
is awaiting a formal response.  

 

3. Local Context 
   

3.1 The following section gives an overview of the key developments in 
Buckinghamshire Children’s Services. 

Post Ofsted Action Plan   
 

3.2 As reported previously, in December 2021, Ofsted conducted their Inspecting 
Local Authority Children’s Services (ILACS) reinspection of services for children 
in need of help and protection, children looked after and care leavers. This 
inspection found that Buckinghamshire was no longer ‘Inadequate’, and the 
overall judgement of Children’s Services was ‘requires improvement to be 
good’. Ofsted’s report highlights examples of strong practice across the service, 
including the strengthening of performance measures and increased levels of 
managerial scrutiny and support for staff at every level which has led to 
demonstrable improvements in the experience of many children. However, the 
report also highlights areas where improvement is required and made the 
following recommendations:  

i. The understanding, and reduction of, a high rate of re-referrals and 
assessments that result in no services being provided for children and 
their families. 

ii. The consideration and cumulative impact of earlier interventions and 
family histories in children and family assessments. 

iii. The quality of social workers’ direct work with children. 

iv. The support provided to children aged 16 and 17 years who present as 
homeless. 

v. The impact of independent reviewing officers (IROs) in decisively 
escalating children’s cases when there is drift and delay in the progress 
of their care plans. 

vi. The quality of case supervision for social workers in order that it 
promotes consistently effective work with children. 

vii. The engagement and participation of children in care in the corporate 
parenting work of the council. 

3.3 As a result of this continued improvement of services, the revised Statutory 
Direction issued to Buckinghamshire in July 2018 has been lifted and 
Buckinghamshire will now enter a period of ‘support and supervision’, in line 
with all authorities who exit formal intervention.  

3.4 The Service was required to submit a post inspection action plan to Ofsted by 
25 May 2022 clearly indicating what action will be taken to address the 7 
recommendations highlighted above.  

Page 296



 

3.5 Since the inspection, there has been a marked difference in the pace of 
improvement between teams that have not experienced significant changes in 
complexity and demand and those that have. However, despite the 
unprecedented changes in both demand and the recruitment challenges that 
have impacted almost exclusively on the Assessment and Help and Protection 
teams, the Service continues to remain safe. The demand and recruitment and 
retention challenges present a new threat to our ambition to become good or 
better. 

3.6 In contrast, the Children in Care and Care Leaving teams have workforce 
stability and have not experience significant changes in demand. As a 
consequence, the trajectory of these teams continues to demonstrate what 
can be achieved.  

3.7 The morale of staff and managers remains positive despite the long hours 
being worked. The interactions with social work teams and management 
groups from senior managers and HR colleagues continue to prove valuable. 
The actions of the Senior Management Team to check and double check that 
children and young people are being protected in line with their presenting risk 
and that drift and delay does not become a strong feature of casework have 
been effective. It is vital that the Service continues to ask the right questions, 
use performance management data to initiate lines of enquiries and where 
necessary bring in staff from different parts of the service to support front line 
work. 

3.8 In our drive towards delivering the council’s ambition to achieve consistently 
good services, the Service will continue to follow a cycle of improvement, 
reviewing and testing our practice and oversight to ensure that the Service is 
making progress and creating actions to address our priority areas. In addition, 
a suite of key performance indicators will be used to track and monitor 
progress against each recommendation and priority area. 

3.9 In order to support the required improvements in children’s social care and in 
light of the significant areas of weakness identified during the local area SEND 
inspection (further detail in section 3.10 to 3.15 below), John Coughlan, CBE, 
will continue to be the Independent Chair of the Improvement Board. The 
scope of the Board has been broadened and will now maintain oversight of the 
progress being made against the 7 Ofsted recommendations (detailed in 
section 3.2 above) and the areas of improvement included within the SEND 
Written Statement of Action. 
 

Local Area SEND Inspection 
 

3.10 Between the 28 February and 11 March 2022, Ofsted and the Care Quality 
Commission (CQC) inspected the services provided for children and young 
people with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) in 
Buckinghamshire. The inspection team considered how well the local area: 

i. identifies the needs of children and young people with SEND 

ii. assesses and meets the needs of children and young people with SEND 

Page 297



 

iii. ensures positive outcomes for children and young people with SEND 

3.11 The inspection team spoke to a wide range of professionals across heath, 
education and social care and met with children and young people of all 
abilities in education settings and focus groups. They received feedback from 
over 1000 parents and carers. In addition, inspectors reviewed Education, 
Health and Care Plans and over 150 documents and pieces of supporting 
evidence. 

3.12 The inspection found a number of strengths across the local area, despite the 
ongoing Covid-19 challenges. It recognises the considerable activity that is 
happening as part of our SEND improvement programme and confirms that 
our self-evaluation accurately reflects our progress. That said, inspectors also 
identified 3 area of significant weakness:  

i. The lack of a cohesive area strategy to identify and meet the needs of 
those children and young people requiring speech and language, 
communication and occupational therapy 

ii. Waiting times for assessments on the autism and attention deficit and 
hyperactivity disorder diagnosis pathways and the system-owned plans 
in place to address this 

iii.  Waiting times to see a community paediatrician. 

3.13 As a result of the inspection findings, the local area was required to submit a 
Written Statement of Action (WSOA) to address significant areas of weakness.  

3.14 As alluded to in section 3.6 above, the independently chaired Improvement 
Board will provide, where appropriate, scrutiny and direction in order to 
secure the improvements required as well as challenge the pace and quality of 
progress, in terms of both actions and their impact.  

3.15 The Service will of course focus our efforts on improving the areas of 
significant weakness identified, while continuing with our broader 
improvement journey to ensure the support children with SEND receive in 
Buckinghamshire is high quality and effective. 
 

Ofsted Annual Conversation 

3.16 Under the Inspecting Local Authority Children’s Services (ILACS) inspection 
framework, Ofsted arrange an annual conversation with every local authority. 
In Buckinghamshire, the annual conversation was held in July 2022 and in 
preparation for the meeting with Ofsted, the Service shared the latest self-
assessment and performance data for both children’s social care and 
education. Ofsted use the annual conversation as an opportunity to scrutinise 
performance, service development and progress on any actions set at the last 
inspection. This assists Ofsted in determining the timing and scope of any 
subsequent inspection activity.  

3.17 Feedback received from Ofsted at the end of the annual conversation was 
positive and the Service’s self-assessment was accepted in full.  

Page 298



 

3.18 In line with the current framework, the Service anticipates receiving a focused 
visit which will evaluate an aspect of service, a theme or the experiences of a 
cohort of children, towards the end of 2022.  

 

Demand Pressures 
 

3.19 As shown in the table below, when comparing demand levels during 2022 so 
far to those in the early part of 2020, pre pandemic, there have been some 
marked changes in the demand across the Service both in numerical terms and 
the seriousness/complexity of the circumstances children and young people 
find themselves. 

 Early 2020 

(pre-pandemic) 

monthly average 

2022 monthly 
average 

% change 

Contacts 1,375 2,088 52 

Referrals 902 1,282 42 

Section 47 enquires 200 256 24 

Initial Child Protection 
Conferences 

55 74 43 

Children subject to a 
child protection plan  

512 730 43 

Children with an 
allocated social worker  

2,283 4,144 26 

 

3.20 The above indicates a new ‘normal’ for our teams and demand increases for 
statutory services are highly likely to continue to rise in both the short and 
medium term. Societal factors such as worsening mental health in our 
communities and further family pressures driving by the cost of living crisis 
being the main drivers. 

3.21 Given the complex demand challenges within the system there is a need to 
address increasing financial pressures and ensure affordability and financial 
sustainability through delivery of better outcomes that cost less. Whilst there 
has and continues to be significant focus on improving outcomes for our 
children and young people, the Service wants to refresh its evidence base to 
fully understand the root causes of the current demand coming into the 
system.  This will inform the way in which services are developed and delivered 
in the future, especially as the Service looks to build stronger relationships with 
partners. To support the Service with this work, IMPOWER have been 
commissioned to develop a single programme of change based around a clear 

Page 299



 

profile of demand, with a plan for delivery. The aim of this plan is to help 
maximise the impact and effectiveness of early intervention and prevention, 
alongside our intention for more locality-based support. 

3.22 In parallel to the demand increases in children’s social care, the number of 
children with an Education, Health and Care Plan continues to increase. In July 
2022, there were 5,704 EHCPs maintained by Buckinghamshire, an increase of 
10% on the same point in 2021, and a 29% increase on the same point in 2019. 
The most prevalent primary needs for children and young people with EHCPs 
are for autistic spectrum disorder (ASD) and speech, language and 
communication needs (SLCN) which have increased by 49% and 37% 
respectively since January 2019.  Primary needs of specific learning difficulty 
(SLD) have increased by 75%, multi-sensory impairment (MSI) by 60% and 
profound and multiple learning difficulty (PMLD) by 59% in the same period. 

3.23 In response to the growing demand in this area, the Service has developed a 
SEND Education Sufficiency Plan. In essence, it aims to address the following 
areas: 

i. The need to increase the capacity of secondary mainstream schools 
(including alternative provision) for children with Communication and 
Interaction needs (autism), speech, language and communication needs 
(SLCN) and social, emotional and mental health needs (SEMH) 
particularly in both Aylesbury and Wycombe. This is linked to the 
growth in housing in these areas, and the level of need as 
demonstrated in the table above; higher numbers of children with 
EHCPs currently live in Aylesbury and Wycombe. 

ii. The need to increase the capacity of secondary mainstream schools 
(including Alternative Provision) for children in Aylesbury with 
moderate learning difficulties. 

iii. The need to accommodate some growth in numbers of children with 
SEN in primary and post-16 mainstream schools particularly in 
Aylesbury and Wycombe. 

iv. The need for more secondary and post-16 special school places across 
the county, but particularly in Aylesbury, primarily for children with 
autism and learning difficulties. 

v. The need for specialist provision to support children with autism and/or 
SEMH for whom a high-level academic education offers the best 
possible foundation for their future. 

vi. The need for suitable post-16 further education placements across the 
county to accommodate a range of needs. 

3.24 This SEND Sufficiency Strategy will be carried out over three phases and within 
the strategy there is a comprehensive plan, enabling progress to be monitored 
and changes to made in line with variation in forecasts in future years. In order 
to assist with the above, the Service has completed a pre-registration 
application to the DfE. New schools approved through this process are part of 

Page 300

https://schoolsweb.buckscc.gov.uk/media/65271/gd000712-send-education-sufficiency-strategy_v5_web.pdf


 

the central free schools’ programme and will be delivered and funded as such. 
Free schools are legally academies, which are state-funded educational 
institutions operated by academy trusts. Successful local authorities will be 
announced late 2022 to early 2023.  

 

The Assessed and Supported Year in Employment Academy  
 

3.25 In 2019, the Service created a Social Work Academy to enable the Council to 
develop Newly Qualified Social Workers (NQSWs) through their Assessed and 
Supported Year in Employment (ASYE). 

3.26 The ASYE Academy provides a protected and supported environment for the 
induction and training of NQSWs which helps:  

I. Recruit and retain staff.  

II. Drive up the standards of social work practice and in turn outcomes for 
children and young people.  

III. Enable NQSWs to understand the child / young person’s journey 
through our organisation.  

3.27 The Academy works to a 6 month model; NQSWs based within the Academy 
for their first 6 months where they complete a thorough induction and all 
essential and mandatory professional and systems training. They will also have 
worked through a range of more complex cases and tasks, with intensive 
supervision and support. The training follows the young person’s journey 
through the Service with a strong focus on best practice and the voice of the 
child or young person. Managing a small caseload alongside training helps 
NQSWs to effectively integrate learning. NQSWs remain in the Academy for a 
little longer if required and based on individual need which is assessed by our 
Advanced Practitioners. All NQSW case work held in the Academy is overseen 
by the Advanced Practitioners including direction and oversight and signed off 
by the Team Manager. At the end of the first 6 months or when the NQSW is 
ready, they then join their permanent front-line team for the remaining 6 
months of the ASYE with continued support through the programme. This 
support includes regular reflective supervision from an Advanced Practitioner 
who has demonstrable skills and experience in developing others. The focus is 
on learning and developing, critical reflection and supporting the NQSW to 
understand the links between theory and practice.  

3.28 Between 2019 and June 2022, 42 of the 60 NQSWs that have been through the 
Academy remain within the service. Given the success and in order to alleviate 
some of the significant challenge in recruiting high quality social workers, the 
Academy has recently been expanded to support a further 60 newly qualified 
social workers by April 2023.  

3.29 Having a permanent workforce and reducing reliance on agency staff is one of 
the main priorities for the Service and achieving this will no doubt lead to 
better service outcomes for children and young people as well as reducing 
expenditure.  
 

Page 301



 

Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children  
 

3.30 Buckinghamshire Council has now, along with all other local authorities, been 
mandated to take Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC) when they 
are referred via the National Transfer Scheme (NTS). In addition, the Council is 
also now required to continue to receive referrals until it reaches 0.10% of the 
child (0-18) population (127 individuals for Buckinghamshire) compared to the 
previous ask of 0.07%, 89 individuals for Buckinghamshire. Currently, the 
Service supports 32.  

3.31 There are 68 UASC over the age of 18 open to the Service; however, the 
percentage calculated for each local authority does not include care leavers.  

3.32 These decisions by central government will have a significant impact directly 
and indirectly on the Council’s budgets. The direct impacts will be on 
placement costs and on subsistence payments. Indirectly, there will be an 
impact on placement availability for all children that will decrease supply and 
enable providers to increase their charges. 

3.33 The financial burden on this Council is also influenced by the increasing 
timeframe in which the Home Office make final decisions on each individual’s 
asylum claim. It used to be the case that final decisions on claims would take 
about a year (average for 2017). Between 2018 and 2020 this slowed to within 
2 to 3 three years. It appears since the pandemic and now as a result of the 
Ukrainian sponsorship scheme, over 4 years is the norm. 

3.34 A number of commissioning actions are underway to procure increased 
provision for care leavers including UASC. This includes block purchasing ‘semi-
independent’ provision increase the supply of placements at a lower price. The 
Service will also continue to work with colleagues from Housing and our 
Housing Associations to ensure care leavers access their own tenancies in a 
timely and cost-effective way. 
 

 
 
School Inspections 

 

3.35 Since the resumption of regular Ofsted inspections and changes to the 
inspection methodology and framework introduced in September 2021, 30 
Buckinghamshire schools have been inspected (24 primary, 5 secondary and 1 
special school).  

3.36 Overall, our schools have performed well. 4 improved their rating to good or 
better, 22 maintained their previous judgements (18 maintained their good or 
better judgement and 4 remained requires improvement) and unfortunately 
the rating dropped in 4 schools. This was anticipated in light of the changes to 
the inspection methodology and the length of time since the schools’ previous 
inspection.  

3.37 Where inspections have been challenging this academic year, a theme of 
safeguarding is a thread that has been identified in the reports, which is 

Page 302



 

mirrored in feedback across the south east. This is something that the Service 
is working proactively with school leaders to address and have provided 
training and support for all schools as well as bespoke work in schools where 
this is identified as a vulnerability. 

3.38 At the end of the academic year 2022, 90% of Buckinghamshire pupils 
attended a good or outstanding school.  

 

The evolution of the Early Help Offer 
 

3.39 The Buckinghamshire Partnership Early Help Strategy has recently been 
reviewed and refreshed. The emphasis within the refreshed strategy for 2022-
2025 is focused on two broad areas. Firstly, strengthening the partnership 
offer and oversight, as the Service looks to expand and streamline access to 
our increasingly broad early help offer across the county. Secondly, ensuring 
the offer responds effectively to emerging issues, including minimising the 
long-term impact of the pandemic on our children, young people, and families 
in Buckinghamshire.  

3.40 Early help maintained its service offer with some adaptations throughout the 
different stages of the pandemic and, as with all Children’s Service areas 
demand has never been higher. Services have been fully operational for some 
months now and the Service has established the wide range of activities led by 
the Family Support Service, partner agencies and community groups in our 
network of Family Centres.  

3.41 Family Centres were acknowledged by Ofsted during the recent inspection, as 
key support hubs within communities and the Service continues to develop 
locally based programmes. In addition, the Service is keen to develop these 
sites into Family Hubs, in line with the national model, so that they become 
community access points for a wide range of services and support at a locality 
level. 

3.42 The Family Support Service has also launched for the first time, a Participation 
Strategy for Young People. This strategy describes a new approach to engaging 
all young people, building their interest and participation in local democracy, 
working alongside officers so that the Service can develop and design practice, 
policy, and strategy, enabling the Council to benefit from listening to and 
acting upon the views and wishes of young people in the recruitment of staff, 
service improvement and policy development. 

 
4. Other options considered  
 

4.1 N/A 

5. Legal and financial implications 
 

5.1 There are no specific legal or financial implications as a result of agreeing to 
the recommendations the paper. However, there are significant financial 
pressures associated with a number of areas detailed within the report, 

Page 303

https://buckinghamshire-gov-uk.s3.amazonaws.com/documents/Early_Help_Partnership_Strategy_2022-25.pdf
https://buckinghamshire-gov-uk.s3.amazonaws.com/documents/Early_Help_Partnership_Strategy_2022-25.pdf
https://buckinghamshire.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s42498/Appendix%202%20for%20Participation%20Strategy%20for%20Young%20People%202022-25.pdf
https://buckinghamshire.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s42498/Appendix%202%20for%20Participation%20Strategy%20for%20Young%20People%202022-25.pdf


 

particularly pertinent to the mandated transfer scheme for Unaccompanied 
Asylum Seeking Children, demand pressures faced across the Service and the 
reliance on agency staff due to the significant social worker recruitment 
challenges. The financial pressures related to these areas will feature within 
the Service’s 2023/2024 medium term financial planning process.  
  

6. Corporate implications  
 

6.1 Similar to above, there are no specific corporate implications as a result of 
agreeing to the recommendations the paper; however, changes made to 
Government policy as a result of the Schools White Paper, SEND Green Paper 
and Children’s Social Care Review will no doubt require additional support 
from corporate support services such as HR and Finance.   

7. Local councillors & community boards consultation & views 
 

7.1 N/A 

8. Communication, engagement & further consultation  
 

8.1 N/A 

9. Next steps and review  
 

9.1 The next update will be provided to Cabinet on 11 April 2023. 
 

10. Background papers  
 

10.1 N/A 

11. Your questions and views (for key decisions) 
 

If you have any questions about the matters contained in this report please get in 
touch with the author of this report. If you have any views that you would like the 
cabinet member to consider please inform the democratic services team. This can be 
done by telephone [01296 382343] or email [democracy@buckinghamshire.gov.uk] 

Page 304



 

 

Report to Cabinet 
Date:     11th October 2022 

Title:   Adult Social Care Update 

Cabinet Member(s):   Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member Health and 
Wellbeing 

Contact officer:  Clare Capjon,  Clare.Capjon@buckinghamshire.gov.uk 

Ward(s) affected:   (All Wards) 

Recommendations:  Cabinet is asked to note the latest developments in 
relation to adult social care both locally and nationally.  

Reason for decision:   N/A 

 

1. Executive summary 

1.1 Adult social care has been at the frontline of the Covid pandemic response for the 
past two and a half years. Whilst guidance for businesses and the public has relaxed, 
adult social care is still responding to significant demand, part of which built up 
during the pandemic.  In addition, during the past 7 months the Government has 
published a number of reforms, white papers and legislative changes which require a 
different response to the delivery of adult social care services.  This paper provides 
an update on the current position of adult social care services in Buckinghamshire. 

2. The National Picture  

Social Care Reforms 

2.1 In September 2021 the Government published its plan (Build Back Better: Our Plan 
for Health and Social Care) to address challenges in the health and care system, 
including the need to achieve a sustainable adult social care system in the long-term.  
The Government proposals, which will come into effect from October 2023, 
included: 

Page 305

Agenda Item 16



 

• The introduction of a cap of £86,000 on an individual’s personal care costs 
• Raising the capital limit for contributions to care from £23,250 to £100,000, and 
• The introduction of arrangements to allow self-funders to ask the local authority to 

arrange their care, securing better value. 

2.2 The plan was followed by the adult social care White Paper ‘People at the Heart of 
Care’, published in December 2021. This paper set out the government’s 10-year 
vision for adult social care, which is that ‘everyone receives the care they need, 
when they need it, to live the life they want to’. 

2.3 The White Paper confirmed the plan’s ambition and set out funding proposals for 
use of the local government portion (£5.4bn) of the Health and Care Levy.  A Laing 
Buisson report commissioned by the County Council Network demonstrated that the 
funding identified for implementation of the reforms was significantly below that 
needed by councils, to the tune of at least £854m per year. Buckinghamshire Council 
also voiced its concerns to the Department of Health and Social Care. These concerns 
particularly related to the Government’s timeframe for implementation of the 
reforms in the context of significant workforce challenges, including national 
shortages, and dedicated staff who have worked tirelessly to support people during 
the pandemic. 

2.4 Operational Guidance was published for consultation on 14th March and the Council 
again took the opportunity to lobby for changes to ensure the social care reforms are 
implemented successfully and improve outcomes for residents.  

2.5 The final Operational Guidance was published on 7th July 2022 and included two 
significant amendments.  The first was the decision to phase the implementation of 
Section 18(3) of the Care Act 2014.  Section 18(3) gives all self-funders (people who 
currently fund their own care) the right to ask their Council to arrange residential 
care on their behalf, whether or not they have eligible care needs under the Act.  
The implementation of Section 18(3) will begin in October 2023 only for new 
entrants to care homes, with those already in residential care becoming eligible from 
April 2025 at the latest. 

2.6 The second change to the draft Operational Guidance was that any reviews 
undertaken from April 2023 in preparation for the reforms, will no longer need to be 
reviewed when the reforms are implemented in October 2023, as originally 
proposed. 

2.7 The Council continues to engage with Government as details of the implementation 
of the social care reforms emerge. In September, the Council responded to proposals 
for the distribution of social care reform funding. 

Health and Care Act 2022 

Page 306

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/people-at-the-heart-of-care-adult-social-care-reform-white-paper
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/people-at-the-heart-of-care-adult-social-care-reform-white-paper


 

2.8 The Health and Care Act gained Royal Assent on 28th April.  The Act aims to improve 
integration both within the NHS and between partners, with a new duty to 
collaborate for both the NHS and local authorities. The Act also established 
Integrated Care Systems (ICS) as statutory bodies from 1st July 2022 and NHS England 
is now setting budgets for the NHS at this system level.  

2.9 Integrated Care Systems comprise an NHS management body, known as the 
Integrated Care Board, and a partnership forum, the Integrated Care Partnership.  

2.10 For each ‘Place’ within the system, there will be a place-based partnership and the 
Act reinforces the importance of these places within the system, particularly in 
identifying local priorities. Arrangements for governance, including place-based 
governance, will need to be implemented by Spring 2023.   

2.11 The Health and Social Care Levy Act 2021 introduced the mechanism by which the 
ambition of the Government’s Build Back Better plan would be funded. Within the 
first three years, the Levy will raise £36bn, of which local authorities would receive 
£5.4bn, with an indication that this proportion would rise after this period.  

2.12 Finally, the Act also places a duty on the CQC to provide assurance of both local 
authority adult social care services and Integrated Care Systems from April 2023. 

2.13 The Government has issued a number of guidance documents since the Act gained 
Royal Assent. In September, the Cabinet Member for Health and Wellbeing, on 
behalf of the Council, responded to guidance on the relationship between Integrated 
Care Systems and Health and Wellbeing Boards. 

Integration White Paper 

2.14 On 9th February, the Government published a White Paper on integration (Health 
and Social Care Integration: Joining Up Care for People, Places and Populations). The 
vision for integration is that it ‘makes a significant, positive impact on population 
health through services that shift to prevention and address people’s needs 
promptly and effectively’. 

2.15 The White Paper seeks to deliver on the vision through the introduction of shared 
outcomes, agreed by all local health and care organisations, and the delivery for 
which all local leaders are held to account.  Whilst the paper does not explicitly 
include Children’s Services, there is an expectation that integration will include 
services for children. 

2.16 The Paper also emphasises the importance of an holistic approach to care, beginning 
with where people live.  Places are encouraged to ‘think housing and community’.  
The Government will be developing a framework with a focussed set of national 
priorities. Local places will be able to develop additional local priorities, which will 
need to be agreed by the relevant Integrated Care System. 

Page 307



 

2.17 The White Paper sets expectations that local places will increase alignment and 
pooling of budgets over time; that Integrated Care Systems have plans in place by 
June 2022 for improving the digital connectivity across the system, including private 
providers; and reiterates a focus on making it easier for the workforce to move 
around the health and care system.  

Liberty Protection Safeguards 

2.18 Delayed from the original implementation date of April 2022, Liberty Protection 
Safeguards (LPS) are due to replace the Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS). On 
17th March, the Government announced an open consultation on proposed changes 
on the Mental Capacity Act (MCA) Code of Practice, which included guidance on the 
new Liberty Protection Safeguards. The Council and partners provided a joint 
response to the consultation which ended on 7th July 2022 and the Government is 
expected to set an implementation date following consideration of responses.  

2.19 The DoLS process refers to the protection of a person’s rights if they are or may 
become deprived of their liberty in a hospital or a care home.  Although both have 
the same goals, LPS extends the scope to 16/17-year-olds, to people that live in 
supported living and to people in their own homes.  LPS are designed to be more 
streamlined, improving the system by spreading the responsibility across hospitals, 
clinical commissioning groups and social care. However, the changes will require 
significant planning and training to embed the new ways of working.  The Adults and 
Health Transformation Board is overseeing the project to implement LPS in 
Buckinghamshire. 

Down Syndrome Act 

2.20 The Down Syndrome Act received Royal Assent on 28th April.  The Act requires the 
Secretary of State to give guidance to certain health, education and local authorities 
on the steps that would be appropriate for them to meet the needs of people with 
Down syndrome when exercising relevant functions.  Authorities will then need to 
have due regard to the guidance. 

Mental Health Reforms 

2.21 In 2021 the Government published a consultation on reforms to the Mental Health 
Act.  The Council responded to these proposals and the Government published the 
Draft Mental Health Bill on 27th June 2022. The Bill aims to modernise the framework 
for services including the criteria for detention and amending the definition of a 
mental disorder so that people can no longer be detained solely because they have a 
learning disability or are autistic. 

2.22 A Mental Health and Wellbeing Plan Discussion Paper has also recently been 
published. This will lead to the development of a cross-government 10-year plan for 

Page 308



 

addressing disparities in mental health and wellbeing. The Council submitted a 
response to the consultation, which closed on 5th July 2022. 

National Workforce Challenges 

2.23 Figures from Skills for Care show that the number of adult social workers employed 
by Councils fell during the year to September 2021 as turnover and vacancy rates 
rose. These rises are happening at a time of significant pressure on adult social care 
nationally, including mounting backlogs of assessments and reviews and delays in 
arranging care packages.  

2.24 More broadly across the sector, Skills for Care’s Workforce Report 2021 says that 
although there were an estimated 1.67m jobs in the sector, approximately 1.54m 
were in post and staff turnover was 28.5%.  In addition, vacancy rates across the 
sector are now back at their pre-pandemic levels.  

3. Buckinghamshire Health and Social Care System  

Integrated Care System Development  

3.1 Buckinghamshire is a ‘place’ within the Buckinghamshire, Oxfordshire and Berkshire 
West Integrated Care System (BOB ICS). Appointments have been made to the ICS 
Integrated Care Board, with Dr James Kent as CEO and Javed Khan OBE as Chair.   

3.2 Governance arrangements, including local government representation, are currently 
being developed and it is anticipated that the ICS Integrated Care Partnership will 
have its first meeting in the early autumn. Philippa Baker has been appointed at 
Place Director for Buckinghamshire and will be taking up her position in early 
October, replacing Matt Powls, Interim Place MD for Oxfordshire and 
Buckinghamshire. 

3.3 As Buckinghamshire Council boundaries fall within both the Buckinghamshire, 
Oxfordshire and Berkshire West (BOB) Integrated Care System and the Bedfordshire, 
Luton and Milton Keynes (BLMK) Integrated Care System, the Council is a founding 
member of the Integrated Care Partnership in both areas.  

Place Priorities 

3.4 Within Buckinghamshire, Chief Executive Officers from ICS, the Council and 
Buckinghamshire Healthcare Trust meet regularly to discuss and resolve issues 
relating to the Buckinghamshire health and social care system.  In 2021, this place 
Executive meeting identified five priorities which, by organisations working together 
to resolve over the next 18-24 months, could deliver better outcomes for residents.  
These priorities are: 

• Hospital discharge – streamlining processes and maximising opportunities for 
people to regain independence after a hospital admission 

Page 309



 

• Admission avoidance – identifying ways in which unnecessary admissions to 
hospital could be avoided, with people receiving more appropriate care, 
support and advice in the community 

• Health inequalities, focussing on cardiovascular disease – reducing the risk of 
cardiovascular disease, particularly in those areas with higher prevalence 

• Mental health – redesigning community mental health services, and 
• Primary care with a focus on community service development 

3.5 In addition, the Health and Wellbeing Board assisted by the Local Government 
Association, recently reviewed its priorities and has identified three critical areas of 
challenge through which to address health inequalities in the county: 

• Tackling obesity 
• Mental health, and 
• Smoking 

3.6 The Board agreed these and the underlying priorities for the Start Well, Live Well, 
Age Well action plan, at its meeting in May.  The Board also adopted a Pledge for the 
residents of the county and approved the revised Joint Local Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy and underpinning documents at its meeting in September. 

Better Care Fund 

3.7 The Better Care Fund (BCF) provides a framework for driving health and social care 
integration. The BCF requires a jointly agreed plan for use of the pooled budget, 
agreed by the local Health and Wellbeing Board.  

3.8 Allocations for 2022-23 have been announced, with Buckinghamshire receiving 
£44.4m. The fund has three elements: 

• Minimum Clinical Commissioning Group/Integrated Care System contribution: 
totalling £35.3m, with £11.9m of this mandated for adult social care (a 5.6% 
increase on the 2021-22 allocation) 

• Improved Better Care Fund (iBCF): confirmed as £5.0m (an increase of 3% on 
2021-22), and 

• Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG): £4.1m (the same as 2021-22). 

3.9 In September 2022, the Buckinghamshire Health and Wellbeing Board will approve 
the BCF spending plan.   

Winter Planning 

3.10 In preparation for the forthcoming winter period, the health and social care system 
Winter Plan was reviewed during the summer of 2022. The plan built on lessons 
from previous winters and address the likely challenges ahead, including those 
arising from Covid and flu. The Winter Plan provides a clear set of actions and 
mechanisms for partners in the Buckinghamshire health and social care system to 
adopt in response to additional pressures and ensure vital services continue 

Page 310



 

throughout the winter period.  The Winter Plan is being considered by the Health 
and Adult Social Care Select Committee at its September meeting.  

4. Adult Social Care  

Better Lives Strategy 2022-2025 

4.1 In 2018 the Council published its first three-year overarching strategy for adult social 
care, ‘Better Lives’. This was refreshed in January 2022, reinforcing the Council’s 
ambition and demonstrating the impact made to date, with some example case 
studies.  The strategy identified the areas of focus for the next three years to embed 
changes made to date and continue the programme of transformation. 

4.2 Key successes from the first phase of the Better Lives programme included a pre-
pandemic position where admissions to residential and nursing care were reducing 
significantly faster than those seen elsewhere in the country. Social care user survey 
results showed improvements in satisfaction with the Council’s adult social care 
services, despite the pandemic. Satisfaction with care and support received is now 
higher than both CIPFA comparators and the England average, and increases were 
seen in responses around having control over daily lives and feeling safe. The Better 
Lives programme was also primarily responsible for delivering savings of over £10m, 
mitigating pressures on services from increases in demand and complexity of need. 

4.3 The programme for the next three years will focus initially in the following areas: 

• Mental health: reviewing the Section 75 agreement with Oxford Health 
Foundation Trust to ensure social work practise is aligned with the Better Lives 
approach  

• Community opportunities: reinstating and revisiting the pre-pandemic 
programme to develop a broad community opportunities offer with voluntary 
and community sector partners, a county-wide short breaks offer, improved 
access to training and supported employment for working age adults and  
volunteering opportunities 

• Tech-enabled care: mainstreaming and maximising the use of technology to 
enable people to live as independently as possible 

• Specialist housing: developing specialist housing provision to meet demand in the 
county 

• Carers support: making sure that carers in Buckinghamshire have a broad offer of 
support and a better experience of the carers assessment process 

• Dementia services: ensuring the route through to services is easier for people to 
navigate and there are more services on offer for people with dementia and their 
families. 

Social Care Reforms 

Page 311



 

4.4 In light of the tight timescales associated with the social care reforms, including the 
requirement for the publication of a fair cost of care exercise and a market 
sustainability plan by 14th October 2022, the Council secured the services of Ernst & 
Young (EY), in association with SCIE and the Kings Fund. The consultants are working 
with the service to produce implementation plans in four key areas: workforce 
impacts, financial processes & assessments, customer & digital, and care market & 
commissioning, including the fair cost of care exercise. Work includes an analysis of 
Buckinghamshire, identification of gaps, process mapping and the development of 
solutions.  EY is additionally reviewing financial and demand modelling of the impact 
of the reforms for the Council, which are currently estimated at between £40-70m. 

Table 1: Estimated demand impact resulting from social care reforms 

 

4.5 Through the Council’s own initial modelling, there are significant concerns around 
the ability of the organisation to deliver the reforms within the current workforce 
capacity and financial envelope. The Government is providing a Fair Cost of Care and 
Market Sustainability Grant for the Council of £1.2m in 2022-23. Of this, 75% is 
required to be used as a genuine step towards paying providers the fair cost of care 
(to be determined through the cost of care exercise), with 25% towards the cost of 
implementation. The service has concerns that the majority of the costs of 
implementation will be an unfunded burden for the Council. 

Demand for social care 

4.6 Adult social care receives approximately 3,000 contacts each month. At the end of 
June 2022, 50 people were waiting for more than 28 days for a social care 
assessment and just over 1,260 clients were waiting for an annual review. The 
position in Buckinghamshire is similar to the national picture, with the latest ADASS 
survey reporting over 500,000 people waiting for adult social care services. 

4.7 In line with the Better Lives Strategy, over the past year there has been a growth in 
the number of people accessing long-term support to help them to live at home. At 
the same time, however, the complexity in people’s needs has increased (a trend 
from 2020), with each person on average now requiring more homecare hours. In 

Page 312



 

addition to annual reviews, the service is undertaking more interim reviews in 
response to people’s changing needs. The impact of the pandemic has also resulted 
in a reversal of the pre-pandemic trend in relation to nursing care admissions, with 
an increase of 10% over the past year. 

The Care Market 

4.8 There are over 190 organisations delivering adult social care in Buckinghamshire. 
Reflecting the national picture, many of these care providers are struggling, 
predominantly in relation to staffing. With better pay offered outside of the care 
sector, together with increases in the national minimum wage and fuel prices, 
providers are often having to increase rates of pay to remain competitive. As a 
result, the Council is being approached by providers for uplifts to the rates paid by 
the Council to ensure their sustainability. This is particularly the case within the 
domiciliary care market, where staffing equates to at least 70-80% of total costs. The 
Council is finding it increasingly difficult to source care from the market and this is 
impacting on the Council’s waiting lists.  

Improvements in social care 

4.9 As a result of the pandemic, adult social care is experiencing unprecedented demand 
(see Tables 2-4 below). This increase in demand is also impacting other associated 
Council functions such as legal, finance, human resources and business support. For 
adult social care the demand has meant the need to review and reshape the way in 
which services respond, to keep vulnerable residents safe and undertake 
assessments in a timely way. One of the mechanisms has been the implementation 
of Community Cafes.  These are located across the county in the seven day 
opportunities centres and provide face-to-face appointments for residents. With 60 
appointments available each week, waiting times to see a social work professional 
have reduced from 4-6 weeks to 2 weeks. 

Table 2: Increased demand in adult social care: numbers of safeguarding concerns received 

 

 

 

 

Page 313



 

Table 3: Increased demand in adult social care: numbers of people supported to live in the community 
through direct payments, domiciliary care or supported living 

 
Table 4: Increased demand in adult social care: numbers of people supported through residential and 
nursing care 

 

4.10 Waiting times for allocation to a worker for an assessment remain over 4 weeks.  
However, the adoption of a triage approach, which offers people an initial discussion 
by phone call or face-to-face within 2 weeks, has been welcomed by residents. Both 
the discussions and the café appointments have also been useful in signposting 
people to other sources of support, such as within the voluntary and community 
sector, whilst waiting for an assessment.  

4.11 The long-term and review teams located across the county are adopting a ‘named 
worker’ approach in 2022, which will enable the service to deliver a more proactive 
approach for those who use social care services. The named worker will be a 
dedicated worker and co-ordinator who will be a voice of challenge and advocacy for 
the person they support, a trusted support network for people and their families and 
someone who will work towards making the best future a reality for the individual. 

4.12 For residents this change will provide a single point of contact who will support the 
individual to access the right support at the right time. Practitioners will also benefit 
from being given the opportunity to build relationships with individuals and engage 
in meaningful social work practice to help people flourish. 

4.13 Between April 2021 and April 2022, adult social care received 194 compliments from 
those it supports.  This compared with just 42 formal complaints during the same 

Page 314



 

time period. The trend is continuing this year, with 62 compliments since April 2022, 
compared with 11 formal complaints. Over the past three years, the service has 
turned around performance in this area by dealing with concerns promptly before 
they escalate to complaints, and nearly halving the response time to complaints. 

DHSC Visits 

4.14 In March 2022 Michelle Dyson, Director General for Adult Social Care at the 
Department of Health and Social Care, visited Buckinghamshire Council to see some 
of the innovative practices in adult social care and the partnership working across 
the system. Michelle was shown Olympic Lodge, set up and supported by adult social 
care for Buckinghamshire Healthcare Trust to help with hospital pressures at the 
start of the year, before seeing a community café in action. 

4.15 As a result of Michelle’s visit, in May the Council hosted Rosie Seymour, National 
Programme Director for the Better Care Fund, along with other Treasury, DHSC and 
DLUHC colleagues who looked at the integrated discharge hub which was based at 
the temporary Olympic Lodge facility.  

4.16 In August 2022, the DHSC visited the Council to learn more about our approach to 
preparations for the Social Care Reforms, which are considered to be ahead of many 
other authorities nationwide. 

Care Quality Commission (CQC) Inspection Preparation 

4.17 The CQC is reinstating inspections of local authority adult social care services and a 
project being delivered to ensure the council is fully prepared for this event. Initial 
work involves a self-assessment using the tool developed by the Southeast of 
England Principal Social Worker network, alongside the development of a narrative. 
The subsequent document will be tested with internal and external stakeholders 
during the autumn. A comprehensive evidence-base is being established alongside 
inspection planning processes, to ensure services are well prepared for a future 
inspection of Buckinghamshire’s adult social care.   

5. Safeguarding  

Safeguarding campaign 

5.1 From September 2021 to March 2022, the Council delivered a 6-month awareness 
raising campaign ‘See Something, Say Something, Do Something’, to encourage 
people to contact the Council if they had concerns about a vulnerable adult.  Social 
media messages reached nearly 57,000 people on Facebook and 64,000 through 
Twitter, of which 600 people then followed through to the Buckinghamshire Council 
website to seek further information.  In addition, adverts on Greatest Hits radio 
reached 48,800 listeners, along with 4,000 through Spotify. 

Page 315



 

5.2 By the end of March, over 1,300 referrals had been made by both professionals and 
members of the public. The number of concerns reported by family members, 
neighbours or the individual themselves rose by 65% in the second quarter of 2021-
22, compared with the same period in the previous year. 

Safeguarding - demand 

5.3 The service has seen a significant increase in safeguarding cases.  The number of 
safeguarding concerns averaged 953 per month during 2021/22, compared with 914 
per month in 2020/21.  In the first quarter of 2022/23, the Council received an 
average of just over 1,100 per month (a 16% increase on the previous year average). 

5.4 The number of safeguarding enquiries started in 2021/22 was 3,163, compared with 
1,375 in 2020/21. The rate (per 100,000 population) in 2021/22 was 752, twice the 
South East benchmark level, with increases particularly in relation to cases of self-
neglect. A concentrated approach by adult social care to ensure the timely resolution 
of safeguarding cases and streamlining processes to ensure the individual is kept at 
the centre of practise has resulted in a significant decrease in the numbers. 

6. Practice Quality  

Strategic Workforce Plan 

6.1 In line with national shortages, the vacancy rates for adult social care remain high at 
around 29%. Agency staff supplement the permanent workforce and services 
provide a wide range of recruitment initiatives to attract people to the Council.  
These include exploring the oversees recruitment and the return to social work 
scheme; recruitment event days for the Council and social care providers; and 
offering ‘meet the expert’ and ‘try before you apply’ days. 

6.2 Adult social care has a Strategic Workforce plan which delivers a framework for 
developing our workforce for the future. The plan is based on the commitment to 
provide skills development, careers pathways, traineeships, new roles and 
investment in wellbeing. 

6.3 The adult social care Careers Advice and Development Service for staff has been 
launched and the Careers Progression Framework provides an expanded and 
enhanced offer of career development opportunities.  Staff are able to access social 
care apprenticeships, best interest assessor training, ASYE (assisted year in social 
work) programmes for newly qualified social workers, social work apprenticeship 
degrees (with 15 staff currently on the programme) and occupational therapy 
apprenticeship degrees.  Social Work England has accredited the first 
Buckinghamshire Approved Mental Health Professional (AMHP) programme, one of 
only a few in the country.  This programme is the achievement of joint working with 
Bucks New University. 

Page 316



 

6.4 In partnership with Buckinghamshire College Group, through the Buckinghamshire 
Health and Social Care Academy, the Council have provided placements for a second 
cohort of Health and Social Care Cadets.  These young people are working towards 
an Extended Diploma in Health and Social Care and the programme aims to 
encourage more young people to become part of the future social care workforce. 

7. Budget  

7.1 At quarter 1 of the current financial year there is a projected forecast overspend of 
£3.11m on a net budget of £164.43m (1.89%). This is in part due to the pressures 
from 2021-22 being carried forward into 2022-23.  These include increased demand, 
due to increased numbers of clients; increased complexity of the needs of clients; 
and increased price pressures.  Inflationary pressures are one of the largest risks 
with estimates currently around 7%. Reasons for the increase in complexity and 
volume are due in part to a lower death rate than in previous years, an increase in 
the number of service users moving to social care after exhausting their own funds 
and increased flow from the discharge to assess (D2A) process.   

7.2 The Adult Social Care Transformation efficiencies target of £3.258m is currently 
forecast to be fully delivered, with concerns in two specific projects, namely 
procurement vehicles/accommodation strategy and new care packages.  To help 
mitigate the budget pressures a request from contingency to meet the pressures 
carried forward from 2021-22 is proposed, and mitigating plans, including a ‘Home 
First’ approach and proactive reablement, including the use of equipment to help 
reduce demand are underway.  

7.3 The vast majority of the adult social care budget is spent on providing packages of 
care to service users: 
 
• Direct Payments                                       £24.9m 
• Domiciliary Care                                       £19.5m 
• Nursing Placements                                 £33.5m 
• Residential Placements                           £67.5m 
• Supported Living                                       £33.4m 
• Day Care                                                     £1.0m 
• Supported Accommodation                    £0.8m 
• Transport                                                    £2.7m 

8. Corporate implications  

8.1 Implications for the Council are referenced in the content of the report as 
appropriate. 

Page 317



 

9. Corporate implications  

9.1 Adult social care services are provided as part of the Council’s delivery of its 
corporate plan priority of ‘Protecting the Vulnerable’. The update provided above 
has identified implications for the Council.  

10. Local councillors & community boards consultation & views  

10.1 This report does not require consultation with local councillors or community 
boards. 

11. Communication, engagement & further consultation 

11.1 No specific communication or engagement is required in relation to this report. 

12. Next steps and review  

12.1 N/A   

13. Background papers  

13.1 N/A 

14. Your questions and views (for key decisions) 

14.1 If you have any questions about the matters contained in this report please get in 
touch with the author of this report. If you have any views that you would like the 
cabinet member to consider please inform the democratic services team. This can be 
done by telephone 01296 382343 or email democracy@buckinghamshire.gov.uk. 

Page 318

mailto:democracy@buckinghamshire.gov.uk


Document is Restricted

Page 319

Agenda Item 18
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	Cabinet agenda
	Membership:
	Webcasting notice


	2 Minutes
	Cabinet minutes
	Agenda Item


	6 Forward Plan (28 Day Notice)
	Buckinghamshire Council Cabinet/Leader forward plan
	The local authorities (executive arrangements) (meetings and access to information) (England) regulations 2012


	7 Select Committee Work Programme
	8 Director of Public Health Annual Report 2021-2022: Hearts and Minds
	1.	Executive summary
	2.	Content of report
	3.	Other options considered
	4.	Legal and financial implications
	5.	Corporate implications
	6.	Local councillors & community boards consultation & views
	7.	Communication, engagement & further consultation
	8.	Next steps and review
	9.	Background papers
	10.	Your questions and views (for key decisions)
	Appendix 1 for Director of Public Health Annual Report 2021-2022
	Appendix 2 for Director of Public Health Annual Report 2021-2022
	Appendix 3 for Director of Public Health Annual Report 2021-2022

	9 Safer Buckinghamshire Board Annual Report 2021/22
	1.	Executive summary
	2.	Content of report
	3.	Other options considered
	4.	Legal and financial implications
	5.	Corporate implications
	6.	Local councillors & community boards consultation & views
	7.	Communication, engagement & further consultation
	8.	Next steps and review
	9.	Background papers
	10.	Your questions and views (for key decisions)
	Appendix 1 for Safer Buckinghamshire Board Annual Report 2021/22

	10 Buckinghamshire Youth Justice Strategic Plan 2022-2023
	1. Executive summary
	2. Content of report
	Local Context
	Priorities for the coming year
	4. Legal and Financial implications
	5. Corporate implications
	6. Local councillors & community boards consultation & views
	7. Communication, engagement & further consultation
	8. Next steps and review
	9. Background papers
	10. Your questions and views (for key decisions)
	Appendix 1 for Youth Justice Strategic Plan 2022-2023
	1.	Introduction, Vision and Strategy
	3.	Child First
	4. Voice of the Child
	5. Governance, Leadership and Partnership Arrangements
	7.	Progress on Previous Plan
	8.	Performance and Priorities
	9.	National Standards
	15.	Appendix 1 – Service Structure Chart


	11 Little Marlow Lakes Country Park
	1.	Executive summary
	2.	Content of report
	3.	Other options considered
	4.	Legal and financial implications
	5.	Corporate implications
	6.	Local councillors & community boards consultation & views
	7.	Communication, engagement & further consultation
	8.	Next steps and review
	9.	Background papers
	10.	Your questions and views (for key decisions)
	Appendix 1 for Little Marlow Lakes Country Park
	Appendix 2 for Little Marlow Lakes Country Park
	Appendix 3 for Little Marlow Lakes Country Park

	12 E-scooter trial extension (until May 2024)
	1.	Executive summary
	2.	Content of report
	3.	Other options considered
	4.	Legal and financial implications
	5.	Corporate implications
	6.	Local councillors & community boards consultation & views
	7.	Communication, engagement & further consultation
	8.	Next steps and review
	9.	Background papers
	10.	Your questions and views (for key decisions)

	13 Cost of Living Support for Buckinghamshire Residents
	1.2	We are pleased to receive confirmation of the third tranche of Household Support Fund allocation for the period from October 2022 to March 2023.
	1.3	This builds on the funding we have received from Government since 2020, initially through the Winter Grant and Local Support Grant, and subsequently through the Household Support Fund.
	3.	Household Support Fund 1st April – 30th September 2022

	14 Climate Change & Air Quality Strategy 2021-22 Progress Report
	1.	Executive summary
	2.	Content of report
	3.	Other options considered
	4.	Legal and financial implications
	5.	Corporate implications
	6.	Local councillors & community boards consultation & views
	7.	Communication, engagement & further consultation
	8.	Next steps and review
	9.	Background papers
	Appendix 1 for Climate Change & Air Quality Strategy – Annual Update

	15 Children's Services Update
	1.	Executive Summary
	2.	National Context
	3.	Local Context
	4.	Other options considered
	5.	Legal and financial implications
	6.	Corporate implications
	7.	Local councillors & community boards consultation & views
	8.	Communication, engagement & further consultation
	9.	Next steps and review
	10.	Background papers
	11.	Your questions and views (for key decisions)

	16 Adult Social Care Update
	1.	Executive summary
	2.	The National Picture
	3.	Buckinghamshire Health and Social Care System
	4.	Adult Social Care
	5.	Safeguarding
	6.	Practice Quality
	7.	Budget
	8.	Corporate implications
	9.	Corporate implications
	10.	Local councillors & community boards consultation & views
	11.	Communication, engagement & further consultation
	12.	Next steps and review
	13.	Background papers
	14.	Your questions and views (for key decisions)

	18 Confidential Minutes of the meeting held on 22 September 2022

